

Becoming Travelers

Citation for published version (APA):

Goveia da Rocha, B. (2023). Becoming Travelers: Reflecting on the Emerging Practices of Sample Making in Digital Craftsmanship. [Phd Thesis 1 (Research TU/e / Graduation TU/e), Industrial Design]. Eindhoven University of Technology.

Document status and date: Published: 08/03/2023

Document Version:

Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of Record (includes final page, issue and volume numbers)

Please check the document version of this publication:

• A submitted manuscript is the version of the article upon submission and before peer-review. There can be important differences between the submitted version and the official published version of record. People interested in the research are advised to contact the author for the final version of the publication, or visit the DOI to the publisher's website.

• The final author version and the galley proof are versions of the publication after peer review.

 The final published version features the final layout of the paper including the volume, issue and page numbers.

Link to publication

General rights

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

- · Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study or research.
- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal.

If the publication is distributed under the terms of Article 25fa of the Dutch Copyright Act, indicated by the "Taverne" license above, please follow below link for the End User Agreement:

www.tue.nl/taverne

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us at:

openaccess@tue.nl

providing details and we will investigate your claim.

Becoming Travelers

Reflecting on the Emerging Sample Making Practices in Digital Craftsmanship

Becoming Travelers Reflecting on the Emerging Practices of Sample Making in Digital Craftsmanship

Doctoral dissertation Bruna Goveia da Rocha

A catalogue record is available from the Eindhoven University of Technology Library ISBN: 978-90-386-5694-6

© 2023 Bruna Goveia da Rocha

All rights reserved. No part of this book may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronical or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, or by any information storage and retrieval system without permission of the author.

This work was partly funded by the i2-CoRT project, carried out within the context of Interreg V-A Euregio Meuse-Rhine from the European Regional Development Fund.

Becoming Travelers Reflecting on the Emerging Practices of Sample Making in Digital Craftsmanship

PROEFSCHRIFT

ter verkrijging van de graad van doctor aan de Technische Universiteit Eindhoven, op gezag van de rector magnificus prof.dr.ir. F.P.T. Baaijens, voor een commissie aangewezen door het College voor Promoties, in het openbaar te verdedigen op woensdag 8 maart 2023 om 16 uur

door

Bruna Goveia da Rocha

geboren te Curitiba, Brazilië

Dit proefschrift is goedgekeurd door de promotoren en de samenstelling van de promotiecommissie is als volgt:

Voorzitter	prof.dr. L.M.G. Feijs
Promotor	prof.dr. P. Markopoulos
Copromotoren	dr.ir. D. Tetteroo
	dr. O. Tomico Plasencia
Leden	prof.dr. S. Kettley, University of Edinburgh
	prof.dr. I. Posch, Kunstuniversität Linz, Institut für Kunst und Bildung
	prof.dr. R.L. Wakkary
	prof.dr. D. Dumitrescu, University of Borås, EE
Adviseur	dr. H.K.G. Andersen

Het onderzoek of ontwerp dat in dit wordt beschreven is uitgevoerd in overeenstemming met de TU/e Gedragscode Wetenschapsbeoefening.

Table of contents

PROLOGUE	7
1 The Point of Departure	
1.1 Research Methodology	9
1.2 Research questions	12
1.3. Summary	14
1.3.1 Reading Guide	15
2 Understanding Digital Craftsmanship	
2.1 The Wearable Senses Lab	
2.1.1 Crafting Soft Wearables, With and Through Digital Technologies	27
2.1.2 Digital Craftsmanship In The Wearable Senses Lab	37
2.2 My practice of digital craftsmanship	43
3 Making through stitch: from iteration to sample making	
3.1 Inflatable Actuators Based on Machine Embroidery	50
3.2 Crafting Research Products through Digital Machine Embroidery	61
3.3 Becoming Travelers: Enabling the Material Drift	77
4 Making sense of samples	
4.1 Embroidered Inflatables: Exploring Sample Making In Research Through Design	
4.2 A Dialogue Between Weaving and Embroidery Practices	109
4.3 Making Matters: Samples and Documentation in Digital Craftsmanship	
5 Collaborative practices in sample making	
5.1 FabriClick: Interweaving Pushbuttons into Fabrics using 3D Printing and Digital Embroidery	142
5.2 Exquisite Fabrication: Exploring Turn-taking between Designers and Digital Fabrication Machines	
6 Making as a traveler	
6.1 Portfolio of Loose Ends	186
7 What happened here	
7.1 Research as traveling	212
7.2 A traveler's guide	216
REFERENCES	

Prologue

Designerly ways of working often do not get translated into designerly ways of knowing. Instead, for the purposes of publishing and knowledge sharing, design processes get cleaned up to convey clarity or objectivity. Presenting design research as a *hero's journey*, meaning presenting the final design as a reached goal and the process as a quest to success, may be a common way for researchers to deal with the high complexity of practice-based design research projects [9]. However, this way of documenting and disseminating knowledge is disconnected from actual designing experiences which limits the potential of grounding theory on practice and, consequently, the potential of theory impacting future practice. It also helps perpetuate false expectations for what can constitute theory, alienating practitioners from researchers.

My aim with this work was to be both a practitioner and a researcher. For this reason, this dissertation does not report a quest. Rather, this is a *traveler's journey*, an attempt of connecting theory and practice through the telling of a messy process that embraced serendipitous opportunities while *making* soft things *with* and through a digital embroidery machine. Insights from a series of explorations in this design space converged into the design approach of becoming travelers, proposed through this work.

1 The point of departure

Before I get into the details of this dissertation and research methodology, I first introduce my background and personal motivation for starting this work. I was personally motivated to explore curiosity as an instrument of design research and how such curiosity can play a role in connecting design theory and practice. Different authors and practitioners influenced this work. One of the earliest influences I can remember came from my early days as a product design student, when I read "Uma introdução à história do design" [11] (which can be translated to "An Introduction to the History of Design"). Cardoso was explicit about the title being a warning that this book was but one of the many ways of tying together historic events that lead to design becoming a discipline. This idea of history as a narrative curated by someone, and therefore not a definitive and objective account of facts, directly influenced how I discuss the way that design processes are typically reported within this dissertation. In this book, Cardoso also discusses early accounts of the division between conception and labor, which was a key milestone for industrialization and for the emergence of the design field. It was arguably in the production of *gobelins*, tapestry for wall decoration, that we first see the figure of the designer (who was in fact a painter), as someone who conceptualizes things and communicates their vision through a technical language for others (in this case, weavers) to execute. This rupture from making was characteristic of the classic industrial design process in which I was trained when I started to study product design. Based on methodologies

proposed by Bernd Löbach [52] and Bruno Munari [59], I was taught design processes were equivalent to 'following a cake recipe': ingredients may vary, but the main steps are the same. In this, *making* was presented to me as something to be considered during the implementation phase of the design, when the concept and most important design decisions have already been made. In this kind of approach, form is imposed to the material [41] and the real implications of working with specific materials, machines or techniques have room to effectively inform the design phase of the project. Therefore, experiments are either successful or failures in relation to the decisions that have already been made. Then, I could relate to the theory disciplines such as Semiology, but not the practical design approach. Unfulfilled by this kind of approach, during my master program I sought to engage with theory and develop my practice differently, based on first-person perspective and material experimentation. Undertaking such approaches, combined with prior interest in textiles, took me to designing soft wearables. Eventually, the advantages of prototyping wearables through high-fidelity means of fabrication led me towards digital craftsmanship, meaning engaging in research through making with digital fabrication systems. These transitions are entangled with my involvement with the Wearable Senses lab [85], from which I have been part of since 2014.

Through my design practice, I have become ever more intrigued by the growing rekindling between HCI/design researchers and craftsmanship. This renewed interest in craftsmanship was largely enabled by the democratization of digital fabrication machines, made possible by patent expiration of technologies that had been in use for decades but were only accessible in an industrial context [6]. I first engaged with digital machine embroidery for the development of a Smart Sock, sensorized socks for continuous tracking of gait quality (detailed in chapter 3). At the time, the choice for this technique was justified by project requirements related to the reproducibility of the design (needed to create a comparable pair of socks as well as comparable versions of prototypes). By working closely from the capabilities of the digital machine embroidery in this project, I began to see the relationships between parts of socio-techno system as potential links of renegotiations towards new kinds of things and ways of designing them. Observing (and trying to decipher) how the machine operates, I could see new ideas unfold and use that to inform the design process. This way of *collaborating* with the machine, in which we both contribute towards the outcomes of the making process, became an inherent part of my practice, as I will explain in detail in chapter 2. In retrospect, the main factors that led me to this machine were the selection of equipment available at the lab combined with samples that were on display above the machine, that showed the potential of using digital machine embroidery to create self-supporting textiles. I only reflected on the importance of these combined factors later, through the process of this PhD research, and this realization has since become a key aspect of this work.

I believe the field of wearables contributed to expanding the range of digital fabrication machines used in digital craftsmanship. Equipment such as digital weaving looms and embroidery machines have more recently joined this umbrella, that used to only encompass 3D printers, milling machines and laser cutters. I also believe that this field significantly stimulated bridging goal-oriented and explorative practices in HCI and design research. The complexity of creating integrated garments in the high level of fidelity needed to dress a moving body required reaching to crafts and developing new techniques to create soft or textile alternatives to conventional electronics. Tacit knowledge gained a different weight in this field as an important aspect of creating artifacts, but this type of knowledge is still difficult to articulate, particularly in the publishing formats used by researchers to communicate their work. To bring both the field of wearables and digital craftsmanship to their next levels, there is a need to continuously develop approaches to design grounded in the possibilites of materials and fabrication techniques. This motivated me to investigate ways of reporting such work, to better understand the implications of desiging with and through digital fabrication machines, and consequently, how these machines change design practice.

1.1 Research methodology

"Why tell stories like this, when there are only more and more openings and no bottom lines? Because there are quite definite response-abilities that are strengthened in such stories. It is no longer news that corporations, farms, clinics, labs, homes, sciences, technologies and multispecies are entangled in multiscalar, multitemporal, multimaterial worlding; but the details matter. The details link actual beings to actual response-abilities."

Donna Haraway [37]

This PhD research project focused on crafting soft things and wearables as an area of application that allowed investigating how digital fabrication machines have been transforming design practice, and what is the role of sample making in design research and HCI. As digital craftsmanship is still an emerging field and sample making is a nuanced, rich and multifaceted process, the theoretical framing to engage in investigating it was based on research through design approach [23], in which theory emerges from situated design practice [28]. Research through design is a term adopted by design researchers from diverse fields of design to describe practicebased inquiry, not having a particular epistemological basis [18]. Like design practice, research through design is plural and has been subjected to various interpretations by researchers. A common understanding is that research through design employs design processes as a method of inquiry to wicked problems [77], and produces different kinds of theory for design, which can take form as conceptual frameworks, guiding philosophies, and design implications [21]. In other words, it generates knowledge through design activities that, in turn, can be applied in design practice. More specifically, this research was conducted through an emergence-friendly approach [29], meaning that it was an exploratory research that welcomed surprise and in which "methods, understandings, outputs, even overall topics are all left continually in play". This approach was supported by notions from feminist technoscience and posthumanist thinking that promote relationality [3, 36] and multiplicity in design practice [86].

The notion of *situated knowledges* [36] indicates that, rather than aspiring to universality and objectivity, what we generate through research is an entanglement of relations that can be rearranged through new negotiations. This relationality is well illustrated through the metaphor of the string figuring [37], in which a pair of hands holds and lets go of entangled string, forming a different figure at each turn. I find this metaphor particularly fitting to explain the negotiations that occur in digital craftsmanship, which I will unpack in chapter 2. With each turn, we entangle humans, machines, and materials into a sample. We then reflect on it and renegotiate possibilities for the next sample or experiment, forming a process of *itineration* [42] in which each step is both a development of the previous and preparation to the next. Building on the notion of situated knowledge, Ron Wakkary [86] proposed the concept of nomadic practices in which knowledge gained through design research is situated and pluralistic, thus without seeking universality or claiming domains to limit what can be viewed as design or knowledge. "Nomadic practices follow the something they design wherever they lead and, in this way, they traverse in parallel, almost always on the move [86]." Acknowledging the notion of situatedness made it so collaborations with other designers that co-inhabit the Wearable Senses Lab, the textile fabrication lab where this research was conducted, were allowed to emerge and organically grow into projects that became important contributions to the dissertation. My stance as a design researcher and view on samples were also informed by the notions of *diffraction* and *intra-action* [3] as well as matters of care [50]. Intra-action, proposed by Karen Barad, consists of the mutual constitution of objects and agencies. In other words, separate entities only come to exist through each other, meaning that intra-actions "do not produce absolute separations, but rather cut together-apart (one move)" [4]. Building on Bohr's two-slit diffraction experiment, Barad argues for a non-binary view on mattering [3, 4] that highly influenced my view on samples. Instead of a success or a failure, a sample contains several concrete qualities and possibilities. Under certain circumstances, a "failed" sample can open opportunities for new directions. Therefore, in this work I propose seeing them both within and outside the process in which they were created. This leads to a practice of caring for the things we make, as the potentials of a sample can be activated long after the end of a given project through



Figure A. Relation of publications that compose this dissertation and the perspectives used in the sample making processes they discuss

revisiting. *Matters of care* has been proposed by María Puig de la Bellacasa as an understanding that to care for things means remaining responsible for their becomings through a strong attachment and commitment [50]. Revisiting samples, and creating strategies that support revisiting, can be seen as practice of care in which designers remain responsible and open for the other opportunities that samples embody.

In this research, sample making was explored through mixed perspectives [84], mainly through situated first- and second-person perspectives by making "by myself" and in collaboration with others, but also through third-person perspective by analyzing the work and practice of others (Figure A). Firstperson research methods enable researchers to be part of the system object of study thus explore design contexts from within, which means relying on first-hand experience as a mode of knowing [12]. Through rich descriptions and reflective practice, the knowledge generated is rich, inspirational, and situated in material practice. In this process, I have approached first- and second-person perspectives through autoethnographic methods [20], in which I engaged in making and documenting my own processes with the overall aim to explore and unpack digital craftsmanship. Autoethnography is a method that has been adopted in research through design as it supports pinpointing "the mental connections that are generated subconsciously and make their way into the designed" [85]. In my research process, I used the documentation of the samples as tool to document my process of "thinking in making", capturing the flow of expectations (goals) and insights gained through first-person perspective in each experiment. Such documentation supported discussions and reflections with other design researchers (colleagues, coauthors and supervision team), addressing my developing understanding of samples and making processes in digital craftsmanship. These reflections, and consequently my emerging understanding of digital craftsmanship, were documented through journal and conference publications thematically focused on the different projects within this research process. This means that the knowledge gathering process can be followed from paper to paper

as I arrived at a more nuanced stance. Making with others and observing the practice of others (second and third-person perspective, respectively) also served to compare techniques and ways of working, thus supporting the reflections on my own practice. Research through design approach based on first-person methods has been successfully applied in different PhD research projects carried out at the Wearable Senses lab, where this research was carried out, by Kristi Kuusk [49], Martijn ten Bhömer [7], Pauline van Dongen [17], Troy Nachtigall [60] and Angella Mackey [54].

1.2 Research questions

This research is presented through a collection of papers, each investigating different aspects of the design space of explorative *making with* digital fabrication machines. To stay true to a bottom up and exploratory approach, there was a deliberate choice for not using Research Questions to plan and evaluate studies. Rather, questions emerging from the work were seen as research directions, sometimes in the form of simple *'what ifs'* or practical questions and sometimes as more structured questions, that informed the work presented in this collection of papers. As such, these publications show the evolution of my understanding of digital craftsmanship, the knowledge embodied by samples, sample making practices, techniques for crafting interactive materials and wearables based on digital machine embroidery, and strategies for nurturing explorative making. This dissertation is an attempt of threading these publications on the findings of this work.

This research departed from the perception that parts of our design processes are obscured in the way of reporting our projects. Communicating our processes as *hero's journey* is done for the sake of clarity and to conform with the publication formats used by our research communities. As such, this dissertation first tries to unpack points of obscurity in digital craftsmanship.

What is obscured in the practice of digital craftsmanship and the ways in which we describe the practice?

Through early studies, another point of obscurity identified is that in trying to explain the practice of digital craftsmanship (or digital making, or hybrid craft) by dissecting it into its separate and contradicting entities (hand vs machine, digital vs physical), we obscure how they come together. As an alternative, a focus on samples is proposed.

What is unique about the practice of sample making of digital craftsmanship that should be communicated?

Through an intense, long-term engagement with sample making, it was possible to identify different aspects of the practice and reach an understanding of what makes sample making unique. Samples are not only

the outcomes of making processes, but they also embody the full sociotechnical system of production. Thus, understanding samples and how they are used in our processes supports unpacking digital craftsmanship through a relational way. Acknowledging this opens the opportunity to pursue strategies for explorative making.

Can a focus on samples help us devise systems for taking the road less travelled in our making processes?

Samples are embodiments of the questions we ask entangled with our making skills, materials used, settings and state of machines, and other environmental conditions. As such, they can answer other questions than the ones we asked which means that, in the context of research through digital craftsmanship, sample making entails being able to follow a number of these insights without eliminating the traces that could lead to other directions. These could be the detours worth returning to in another journey. For returning to samples (which I call revisiting), we need to devise documentation systems that put attention to difference and to the unexpected in our making processes. To this end, in this thesis I propose a documentation format as an instrument for reflecting in different levels – both on the level of process (the role in the journey), or collection of samples, and on the single sample and its opportunities (what was made and what it does).

What does a focus on sample making reveal about digital craftsmanship? How does it transform the practice?

A focus on sample making practices led me to propose *traveling* as a metaphor for explorative making. In this proposal, explorative making also means collaborative making, in which agency is decentered from the designer and the different entities of digital craftsmanship are all potential collaborators. As such, engaging with this approach revealed that the model of entities that participate of digital craftsmanship (designer, machine, software, material) can be expanded to include the whole community of the lab, the other machines in the space, and the samples of others. This allows for more cross-pollination of ideas and techniques. Samples are at the center of such collaborations both as records from past travels and as invitations for new journeys. It is unpredictable when or under which circumstances will a sample be revisited. If samples are to remain actionable for new journeys, their documentation and the archives (or libraries) where they are stored need to be lively. This demands that we transform our practices to think of our current designs as future legacies. Bringing this approach to the context of research through design, this approach opens opportunities to question what and where is the knowledge being created in digital craftsmanship. New ways of disseminating knowledge gained through making as well as new formats of publication need to be crafted to share the knowledge embodied on the physical outcomes of our sample making processes.

1.3 Summary

"Nothing is ever finished. The artifact is a way station, the way to something else. Maybe, to the next artifact to be made in a series."

Tim Ingold [42]

Keywords: digital craftsmanship; sample making; design journeys; revisiting; making as traveling; itineration; explorative making; fellow travelers; cohabiting timelines

The field of *digital craftsmanship* has been developing at the intersection between maker culture, crafts, HCI and design research. Digital craftsmanship entails the use of digital fabrication tools as expressive mediums [44]. To achieve this, practitioners seek to reconcile craftsmanship values, such as risk and respect for materials, with the limitations and possibilities offered by digital fabrication machines. In this, both digital and physical assets are seen as craft materials that can be configured in various ways to create a wide range of designs and kinds of design (materials, artifacts, fabrication machines, interactive fabrication systems). Examples of designs include programmable materials such as knitted space fabrics [1], personalized 3D printed shoes [61], new fabrication machines like a felting printer [40], and interactive workflows between fabrication systems and CAD environments [22]. While research in the field has been abundant, the focus of research has been mostly on the possible new outcomes such technologies enable and new forms of interaction with fabrication systems. In comparison, the practices emerging in this field, and the role of the samples created through them, are underexplored. To investigate how digital fabrication machines transform design practice, this PhD research project took a research through design approach [23] to reflect on sample making and what a focus on samples can reveal about the practices emerging in *digital craftsmanship*.

The growing interest in exploring the possibilities of engaging with digital fabrication machines has turned sample making into an emerging key area of design research. Commonly used in fields such as textile design, sample making has been introduced into design research and HCI as a form of prototyping that is directly linked to the materials, tools and techniques used. In the context of *digital craftsmanship*, sample making is a fast-paced process which investigates new materials, emerging technologies, and ways of working with and through digital fabrication machines. The knowledge produced through sample making is distributed across the whole sociotechnical system of production. Therefore, each sample offers potential insights related to application, interaction, programming, skill, technique, machines, material, collaborators and so on. Appreciating the potentials of each sample is difficult, which is reflected in the reporting of such processes. The difficulty of reporting material-driven processes often leads design researchers to describe design journeys from the perspective of the final sample as a reached goal. To build a clear narrative of how a project is

successful, samples or experiments that directly contribute to this success are more carefully described in research publications while others are often unaccounted for [80] or summarized as part of an (early) exploratory phase. Rather than discarding such experiments, this dissertation proposes that we look at making as an activity akin to traveling by seeing such experiments and samples as opportunities of new journeys.

The present PhD research project embraced serendipitous opportunities and the complexities (and even messiness) of material-driven processes both as a way of working and as objects of investigation. To reflect on the emerging practices of sample making in digital craftsmanship, sample making was explored from mixed perspectives [84]. This meant engaging with making through first-person perspective, making in collaboration with others and analyzing the practices of others. All of which was based on collaborating with the capabilities of digital embroidery machines to explore new possibilities of creating (interactive) materials and research products. This focus on sample making enabled me to depart from a utilitarian approach to prototypes to question what the notions of *failure* and *exploration* mean in *digital craftsmanship*. As a result, this PhD dissertation contributes with a combination of technical solutions for crafting wearables and soft things based on digital machine embroidery, and a design approach for *digital craftsmanship* that proposes *traveling* as a metaphor for making.

Making as a traveler means welcoming detours of the main inquiry of a given research design project and making time to pursue them. In this, it is understood that while exploration is often used to indicate a phase of looking for a direction, the proposal of making as travelers is to shift the notion of exploration from "not knowing where we are headed" to embracing that "we are here". *Explorative making* is about nurturing practices that allow us appreciating what we have at hand and coming back to it within and outside design journeys. This dissertation presents and reflects on different strategies to support this practice. Among strategies, ways of documenting-while-making and archiving are explored as tools that allow documenting simultaneously the journey of material-driven processes (how each experiment led to the outcome), while also promoting a practice of considering each sample for their individual qualities and potentials through reflection. Ultimately, the body of work here presented should be seen as a provocation to stay in the thick of making while opening our processes to new interpretations and to each other, fostering permeability of ideas, cross-pollination, turn taking, and collaboration through our material samples.

1.3.1 Reading guide

In this first chapter, I presented the motivation and methodology for the research. In the following chapters, I present how my understanding of socio-technical systems of fabrication and sample making practices emerged and

evolved throughout the project. This understanding informed the approach of becoming travelers as a way of making proposed by this dissertation. Each chapter is based on peer reviewed publications. This dissertation treats these publications as it treats its samples, acknowledging that this is one of the possible ways of supporting a story through this body of work. As such, their division in chapters (Figure B) and contextualization within the dissertation is seen as a form of annotation of the design work to draw out design theory [10]. The papers can be read both within and outside the narrative of this dissertation, letting them stand on their own as possible *loose ends* for other explorations and journeys.

To differentiate the papers from previously unpublished content, papers are presented in a double column format and include a citation box at the top of the first page. Some publications consist of pictorials, a format in which the visual components are considered an important part of the contribution. For this reason, the layouts of pictorials were preserved as close to the original as possible. Figure captioning is different between published (numbering, selfcontained to papers) and unpublished content (letters, running throughout the dissertation).

Chapter 2

In chapter 2, I discuss my understanding of digital craftsmanship and my practice with digital machine embroidery. The point of departure for this reflection was revisiting past projects done in the lab through two publications



Figure B. Overview of chapters

"Digital Craftsmanship in the Wearable Senses Lab" and "Crafting Soft Wearables, With and Through Digital Technologies". This exercise of "looking back to look forward" provided the basis for discussing socio-technical systems and the attitude of makers engaging in explorative making.

Chapter 3

In chapter 3 I detail how I transitioned from iterative design (*hylomorphic* [41], top-down) to an *itinerative* (*non-hylomorphic* [41], emergent) process of sample making by looking at the material-driven design processes of three projects: *the Smart Sock, the Embroidered inflatables* and *Becoming Travelers*. The first two projects were longer developments that were discussed in the publications "*Crafting Research Products through Digital Machine Embroidery*" and "*Inflatable Actuators based on Machine Embroidery*", respectively. In both projects, the use of digital fabrication tools was core of the project but while the first was more goal-driven, the second allowed more emerging opportunities to inform and lead the design process. The third paper presented in this chapter, called "*Becoming Travelers: Enabling the Material Drift*", flips this transition into a performative approach to making and exploring. As the title gives away, this provocation is a key piece of this PhD research in which some of the possibilities of becoming travelers the basic attitudes that should be nurtured for supporting this practice were first identified.

Chapter 4

Chapter 4 further investigates sample making practices through two publications and an unpublished study. "Embroidered Inflatables: Exploring Sample Making in Research through Design" explores the potential of revisiting samples proposed at the end of chapter 3 through a creative session with a fashion tech design researcher in which we used the Embroidered Inflatables samples. Through this session, we found that ways of documenting and archiving are important for enabling viewing samples within projects and as research objects on their own. To look at other practices and understand how samples are currently used in the design process by designers in the field, two studies were conducted. One was an unpublished long-term study in which I put my practice in dialogue with that of a textile designer specialized in (digital) weaving using a documentation template for digital craftsmanship developed from my own documentation system of the embroidered inflatables as tool. This documentation format was further developed through her adoption of the template into her practice over time. The second study, presented in "Making Matters: Samples and Documentation in Digital Craftsmanship", investigated the work of other practitioners in the field through interviews conducted by Janne Spork, a master student who did her research semester within my project. These interviews gave insights on how samples are currently used within different practices and validated the importance of integrating documentation as extension of making to enable revisiting samples.

Chapter 5

As a parallel line of inquiry, the projects presented in Chapter 5 explored strategies to push the possibilities of collaborative practices by moving samples between machines. Rather than optimization, *"FabriClick: Interweaving Pushbuttons into Fabrics using 3D Printing and Digital Embroidery"* and *"Exquisite Fabrication: Exploring Turn-taking between Designers and Digital Fabrication Machines"* publications propose different strategies to add complexity of samples. These collaborations showed that the socio-techno system is more complex than we initially thought. Indirectly, the ideas, samples, people, and machines that inhabit the lab in a timeline rub off on each other. To tap into that potential, we need not only look backwards and forwards, but also to the sides. Together, the papers suggest ways of combining textile fabrication techniques and 3D through hardware, software, and strategies for nurturing an attitude for collaboration between designers and machines.

Chapter 6

In chapter 6, I expand the proposal of making as travelers by reflecting on the implication of putting this approach into practice. In the *"Portfolio of Loose Ends"* I explore how to communicate material-driven research in a multifaceted manner by presenting the making of four samples through design memoirs, technical documentation and embedding the vector files into the pictorial. I reflect on the community of practice of the lab, on ways of traveling with fellow travelers, and on the role of documentation in explorative making.

Chapter 7

In Chapter 7, I conclude this dissertation with an overview of the research contributions and reflections on the concepts that emerged from this work.

2 Understanding Digital Craftsmanship

"If we consider machines as our own contraptions that embody us in extended and collaborative ways, rather than as tools of automation and semi-automation, what does it mean to make with, collaborate with, or become a machine? In which ways can we share autonomy rather than delegate automation? That is, in which ways can we make together rather than delegate the making to the machine?"

Andersen et al. [2]

Digital fabrication machines were first developed in an industrial context, thus their designs inherited notions like accuracy, optimization, and control that are important to engineering. The democratization of these machines after patents expired allowed for practitioners of many backgrounds to have first-hand experience with making [5] which prompted new bottom-up methodologies, such as *digital craftsmanship*. Inspired by expanded notions of craftsmanship, including Sennet's well known "desire to do a job well for its own sake" [79], design researchers in HCI have been developing new sorts of collaboration with machines, materials, and digital assets which opened up a design space for exploring emerging technologies and future manufacturing. This design space is very diverse in how engineering, craft and digital thinking are combined.

Researchers in the design space of digital making have, for example, focused on extending the range of additive technologies through new machines that enable the digitization of new fabrication processes or the use of different materials [38, 40, 51]. The development and characterization of (tunable) materials based on different digital fabrication machines and techniques [1, 34, 43, 57, 69, 90] has also been widely explored. Another approach used in this design space involves bringing experiential qualities of handicrafts into the interaction between designers and digital fabrication systems [22, 35, 58, 89]. Among other things, these seek for a less mediated fabrication process, facilitating the process of making design decisions-on-the-fly through direct manipulation of materials and processes.

This research is particularly interested in the approaches that more explicitly engage with the entanglements between humans, machines, materials, and environment. *Being the machine* [16], for example, is a system that guides users to follow instructions typically given to 3D printers. The aim of the system is to elicit reflections on agency and control in *hybrid making*. Iterative personalization [62] was proposed as a way to extend the notion of programming materials by considering the full lifetime of generated objects. In this system, the data from the use of objects created through generative design, in this case 3D printed shoes generated from the wearers data, serves

as a starting point for new iterations of the design. Through an approach that also does not separate computation from the physical material, the *Ruta* Loom [68] engages the digital thinking of industrial jacquard weaving through embodied interaction. This handloom allows designers to physically program the woven structure of their textiles by changing the configuration of the shaft which contains pins that push down the warp yarns, emulating the way a jacquard loom would move individual yarns during the weaving process that allows programming complex textile structures. Both the *Hybrid Bricolage* [19] and the *Hybrid Basketry* [91] explore a complementary relationship between hand work and parametric design with digital tools to increase the complexity of the designed objects. While it is widely understood that digital tools and digital fabrication machines support generating complex objects that could not have been conceived otherwise, these two examples are interesting because they showcase how the opposite also stands. Both combine digital workflows and digital fabrication processes with handwork that cannot be (easily) automatized. The Hybrid Bricolage [19] presents a workflow for creating of three-dimensional objects based on honeycomb smocking technique (a hand embroidery technique based on fabric manipulation) through generative design and laser cutting, used to transfer the designs to the textile that will be hand finished. Hybrid Basketry [91] combines 3D printed structures with handweaving of reed, jute and canvas fibers in different degrees of investment between machine and hand work to create baskets. Nimkulrat and Oussoren [63] have also explored the combination of handicraft and digital tools. Their experience translating a coffee cup shaped object created through knotting into a 3D printed object first "revealed that the properties and characteristics of the handcrafted object were beyond the capacity of this digital tool" [63]. Their first experiment prompted an interesting process of exploration of the limitations and capabilities of 3D printing and other digital tools which resulted in considerations of the intrarelations between subjective decisions and tacit embodied knowledge of the maker, materials and techniques. Considering the role of the maker within the capabilities and limitations of digital tools, "digital processes presented challenges similar to those of craft materials and tools" [63].

The variety of the examples above shows that there are many possible ways to engage in digital making. Although I do not mean to categorize these, a rough division of these approaches in HCI could be between digital fabrication and digital craftsmanship. Digital fabrication is an umbrella for the approaches that lean more into engineering and material science. Digital craftsmanship, as the name may suggest, includes the approaches or practices that have borrowed notions through craft thinking from seminal work such as Sennet [79] and Pye [75] to explore and discuss materiality and making relations in HCI from other perspectives than engineering alone.

Digital craftsmanship is emerging as a form of research through design concerned with generating knowledge through *making with* digital fabrication



Figure C. Digital Craftsmanship consists of negotiations between all elements of the sociotechno system of production. The relational nature of digital craftsmanship makes it so that individual practices and aims of practitioners generating knowledge through sample making may vary greatly depending on their backgrounds and the digital fabrication systems they design with.

machines and other entities of socio-technical systems of production. As such, it shares a lot in common with neighboring fields like digital fabrication and material-driven design. Seeing that making is the main strategy used for this kind of research, samples are the most common kind of material outcome of design processes in this practice. As a bottom-up practice, making processes in *digital craftsmanship* are informed by a feedback loop between the physical samples and the digital files (Figure C). This loop is a big part of what allows such design processes to enter the realm of craft. Michael Nitsche and Anna Weisling [65], the computer can be used as "a tool that allows participants to shape and master its functionality in an as-immediate-as-possible encounter with the technology and material at hand". Similarly, David Pye [75] proposes that instead of separating craftsmanship from manufacturing through tools employed, we focus the sort of workmanship and the degree of risk involved. According to him, workmanship of risk means that "the quality of the result is not predetermined, but depends on the judgement, dexterity, and care which the maker exercises as he works. The essential idea is that the quality of the result is continually at risk during the process of making" [75]. Although machines and jigs lower the risks by increasing precision of reproducibility, their presence alone do not determine the degree of risk in the making process. In *digital craftsmanship*, allowing ideas that emerge during the sample making process to inform the design journey means that the whole process is always at risk.

In many occasions discussing this research, I was asked about what was *the digital* or *the craftsmanship* in this type of work. As this is both a diverse and

emerging field, the terminology to describe a practice based on generating knowledge through *making with* and through digital machines is still being proposed and debated. This discussion matters because terminology carries values which can guide practice. While many practitioners in the fields of design research and HCI have been referring to it as hybrid craft [16, 26, 31, 92], others argue that the term *hybrid* overemphasizes the contrast between the concepts that form the 'hybrid' (like digital and physical or hand- and machinemade) rather than how they come together. Laura Devendorf and Daniela Rosner [15], for example, question the use of the term *hybrid* as it describes the merger of distinct or contradictory entities and offer coproduction as an alternative metaphor for hybridity to draw attention to the tensions instead of the singularities of categories. Similarly, Troy Nachtigall [60] argues that "hybrid craft combines two disparate fields (one of these fields is always understood to be 'technology') in a multidisciplinary understanding. (...) Digital craftsmanship represents the interdisciplinary knowledge that comes from crafting with new technologies". Also adopting *digital craftsmanship* to describe their practice, Tobias Klein [46] suggests that digital craftsmanship consists of different entities merging into a new inseparable something through analogies like syncretism and amalgamation. Klein further pushes the idea of inseparability between digital and physical by comparing the process of 3D scanning to the concept of sublimation, the direct transition of phase from solid to gas without passing through liquid phase, in which the physical object dematerializes into "digital air" [46].

Variations of the term *digital craftsmanship* have also been proposed. Neri Oxman [70] used the term *digital ubiquitous craft* to describe material and fabrication-based design. As an attempt to highlight the creative collaborations and shared autonomy between humans and machines, Kristina Andersen et al. [2] propose the term *digital-crafts-machine-ship*. Maybe none of these terms perfectly describe the complexity of designing within socio-techno-systems of production which include digital assets, physical assets, and machines that share agency with humans. It could be called *digital-work-machine-man-ship*. It will probably end up being called something else as the field continues to develop. So, instead of arguing for yet another way to call it, this dissertation adopted digital craftsmanship to support keeping track of this development. My understanding of it is that while the *digital* in *digital craftsmanship* nods to the complexity of the socio-techno-systems of production; craftsmanship here refers to the commitment to the process of making through a deep understanding of the relationships between tools, materials, people, and ideas involved.

Beyond semantics, my aim in presenting the issue of terminology for the practice is to point out that we are still focusing more on dissecting it into separate entities than on what is unique about their coming together. As such, the interest of this dissertation is looking at how these multiple entities transform each other by being in relation. Therefore, when I say *making with*

in this work, I turn to Donna Haraway's definition of the expression, meaning that different players, or *coproducers*, in more-than-human relations render each other capable of something new, *becoming-with* each other [37]. Ron Wakkary [86] has explored this notion in design research, arguing for *designing-with*. In the context of making with digital fabrication machines, what is observed is not the machine alone or the practice alone, but the activation of two *'becomings-with'*. This means the relations by which digital machines transform designers into digital crafters and by which the digital crafters transform the machines into experimental tools of making new things in new ways.

As a first step in the direction of exploring how the multiple entities that constitute *digital craftsmanship* are entangled and what else might be currently obscured in the way we describe this practice, this chapter will first look at the socio-technical system of production where I developed this research as a way of recognizing the situatedness of this type of work (section 2.1). Then, in section 2.2, I describe my own practice of *digital craftsmanship*.

2.1 The Wearable Senses Lab

"Constituencies are things- before- things that can be more fully expressed as gatherings before designing things. It is to gather those who are concerned, as well as the matters that cause their concerns, to debate and discuss designing something, without assuming or committing to the need for a designer of things, and then to debate and discuss what kind of designer the constituency wants."

Ron Wakkary [86]

In the previous section, examples of research in the design space of *making with* and through digital tools and fabrication machines demonstrated some of the numerous ways to engage in making and *digital craftsmanship*. From a posthuman perspective, this diversity of approaches is possible due to the relational nature of design, meaning we recognize whole socio-technical systems of production, and that their richness is embodied in the material outcomes of design processes. This means that to better understand both collective and individual practices, we should reflect on the socio-technical system of which we participate, this includes the relationships between the people, the work, the equipment and even the physical space where we work. This research happened within the context of the Wearable Senses lab (WS), of which I have been part of for the last eight years. Understanding that a designer is situated and formed within a particular constituency and that, consequently, whatever things designed are a product of such constituency [86], this section looks back at the evolution of the work done at our lab. I do

this with the twofold intention of making my foundation as a designer explicit as well as to reflect on how *digital craftsmanship* has been developed within this socio-technical system of production.

The Wearable Senses lab is constituted by a prototyping space equipped with machinery to support the production of soft things (such as textile-based projects and smart wearables) and a community formed around it, composed by students, researchers, and occasional external partners. The lab has changed configuration many times over the years. The physical space moved buildings three times, new equipment was acquired, people joined and left, different work was created. As configurations change and new research directions emerged, research articles written in collaboration with different researchers active in the lab helped formalizing our shared position in HCI and design research at specific points in time. These publications supported documenting the evolution of the lab, its working culture, and its research direction. The first of such articles was "Crafting a culture of prototyping" [82], written in 2014, which discusses the role of prototyping in collaborative design processes of Smart Textile Services (STS). Prototypes are presented as both drivers of the process, capable of supporting shared ownership of ideas and of embodying the knowledge available in the project and in the lab. Prototyping through an iterative and hands-on approach was described as craft in the way makers become personally and emotionally attached to what they make and their experiences engaging with materials are strong motivators for design decisions. Another publication, "Day in the lab: Wearable Senses, Department of Industrial Design, TU Eindhoven" [83] adds to this view on prototyping culture by describing in more detail how the lab works, the organization of the lab and its infrastructure. Moreover, a commitment to a hands-on approach to design while nurturing a collaborative attitude between people in the lab was made explicit. Together, these two publications indicate that the lab community was focused on creating textile alternatives to hard components as well as exploring smart textiles and new interaction styles for close-to-the-body applications. By positioning the work done in the lab in the fashiontech field, the publication "Towards a Next Wave of Wearable and Fashionable Interactions" [81], published in 2017, sharpens this focus and previous commitments by leaning more towards fashion to achieve cultural relevance and social adoption.

To better understand our most current shared position in the field, an analysis of previous work done in the past years of the lab was done together with other researchers who have been part of the lab for many years. Although I had been a part of the lab as a student and as a researcher prior to this research, analyzing the body of work done in the lab supported me in situating my research. This analysis was used as basis for a journal article and a conference exhibition proposal (Figure D). The journal article, "*Crafting Soft Wearables, With and Through Digital Technologies*" (section 2.1.1), presents three levels of complexity regarding the manner designs relate to data in

and around their own production to point at the vision the lab has for the future of wearables and soft things. In the exhibition "*Digital Craftsmanship in the Wearable Senses Lab*" (section 2.1.2), on the other hand, we formalize our understanding of digital craftsmanship and propose a format of documentation for future work. This documentation template emerged from my process of documenting the Embroidered Inflatables projects (chapter 3) and it continued to be developed throughout my research.

Altogether, these publications show how *digital craftsmanship* emerged within the lab as an extension of previous commitments with embodied practices, experimental and experiential design, and bottom-up methodologies for textile product-service-systems. The focus of the work at the lab progressively evolved from integrating components into textiles to explore close-to-thebody interaction towards exploring different kinds of engagement with (textile) production systems to rethink future manufacturing.

In the context of the present research, these publications particularly contributed with initiating a discussion on ways of documenting design work and proposing a practice of *looking-backwards-to-look-forward* that informed the strategies of nurturing the practices needed to engage in explorative making. This analysis also provided the basis for understanding my own practice (described in section 2.2) and reflecting on the possibilities of *designing with(in)* socio-technical systems, which lead to the approach of traveling proposed in this dissertation.



Figure D. The ISWC 2019 design exhibition included a selection of works created at the WS lab. It also included a proposal for documentation format which originated from my way of documenting the sample making process of the Embroidered Inflatables.

2.1.1 Crafting Soft Wearables, With and Through Digital Technologies

Published as

Goveia da Rocha, Bruna, Kristina Andersen and Oscar Tomico. 2019. Crafting Soft Wearables, With and Through Digital Technologies. Temes de Disseny 35: 76-89.

Keywords

Composite Materials, Hybrid Crafts, Ultra-Personalization, Generative Design, Interaction Design, Dynamic Fabric, Digital Craftsmanship, Product Service Systems, Soft Wearables



ABSTRACT

As wearables and e-textiles enter into another hype cycle (Tomico et al. 2017), we find ourselves with the opportunity to reflect on the work that has been done and the work that remains to be done. In doing this, we hope to shed some light on the moment where we are now, the tools available to us, the materials in development and always central, the human body in all its complexity and unchanging biological functionality. The field of wearable soft things or soft wearables (Tomico and Wilde 2016) has developed from a niche concern to an increasingly well-documented area of research. As high-performing materials have become more widely available and our systems of making and production more sophisticated, we see wearable electronics projects emerge not only from the arts and fields of technology, but also from fashion, design and engineering. With the so-called 4th industrial revolution promising a much more flexible and automated factory work floor, we may soon see increasing levels of simple traditional electronics incorporated into soft things in our everyday lives (Andersen and Berzowska 2006).

In the Wearable Senses lab (Tomico et al. 2014), however, we believe that the future of soft wearables is now expanding include programming, to not iust electronics and interactive behavior, but the programming of the whole garment in terms of its material, its shape, its manufacture, its level of personalization, associated services, and its direct relation to both its user and the social cultural and economic structures around it. In the following, we will provide an overview of projects created in the Wearable Senses lab in the last seven years. We know these projects intimately as we have seen them being built, tested, worn, analyzed and repaired. By looking through these projects we see three levels of complexity in the manner in which they each relate to the data in and around their own production and designs, namely, the product level, the system level and the service level.



Wearable Senses lab, Eindhoven University of Technology.

AT A PRODUCT LEVEL: DIGITAL MATERIAL PRODUCTION

The development of wearable technology is driven in part by the culture of "maker" DIY digital fabrication. Digital knitting, weaving and printing allow us to combine yarns, fibers or filaments with different material properties in different ways (structures) for each part of a garment. This expands the scope of design and production but also allows us to consider the craft aspects of innovative textile work. In the following examples, digital data is the main driver of each design: In **Solemaker** (fig. 1), the shoe is designed based on a temporal data-composite created from the act of walking, either as a single footstep on a capacitive sensor or over the lifetime of wear and tear of a pair of shoes (Nachtigall et al. 2019).

In **Epic** (fig. 2), a thermogram from the body is combined with 3D body scan data to generate patterns based on algorithms to generate Voronoi diagrams with the Grasshopper plugin in Rhinoceros.

Shoemaker (fig. 3) developed a design tool and .gcode slicer with customizable surface textures and self-supporting structures, so support is no longer needed. In Zer Collection (fig. 4), three dimensional patterns in the shape of needle like fabrics were created by generative algorithms through the Grasshopper plugin to Rhinoceros.

Slow Analog Movement (fig. 5) used a binary mapping of black and white digital photos to the sewing direction of the embroidery to create a change in appearance depending on the point of view.



Fig. 1. Solemaker (2016). Troy Nachtigall, Bart Pruijmboom, Admar Schoonen, Henry Lin, and Loe Feijs. Solemaker is an interactive demonstrator for scanning, designing and manufacturing shoes. As an Ultra Personalized Product Service System, this process includes the scanning of feet, the design of the sole, the manufacturing of the sole, the manufacturing of the Upper. This is all coordinated via the solemaker.io website.



Fig. 2 Epic - Expression, performance, identity & control (2016). Kim Sauvé, Lisa Malou Smits, Liu Baisong. EPIC is meant for the amateur athlete who wishes to be able to express and control their performance. The skin temperature is measured and visualized by the color changing interface to give an organic data visualization when the body has warmed up (and is prepared for the exercise). The pattern on the sportswear becomes even more personalized through an algorithm that uses data from a thermogram to create a concentrated pattern at the thermal peak areas.

Fig. 3 Shoemaker (2017). Bart Pruijmboom. (Photo by Bart van Overbeeke)

Shoemaker is a set of generative 3D printable designs, with options for shaping the shoe, adding color, structures and textures, while insuring a good fit for any foot. Solemaker takes single piece production to the extreme. By means of unique patterns it is able to print the large overhangs with flexible materials without adding support material.





Fig. 4 ZER Collection (2017). Ane Castro Sudupe and Núria Costa Ginjaume. The Sweatshirt is one of the pieces designed by ZER Collection which features different uses of digital fabrication. The texture of the textile used to create the garment was generated through 3D printed dots.



Fig. 5 Slow Analog Movement (2018). Armando Rodriguez Perez, Elze Schers, Anne Lamers, and Evy Murraij. The Slow Analog Movement is the result of a design research that explored digital embroidery as means for concealing data on garments. The patterns created change in appearance depending on the light on the fabric and viewing angle.

AT A SYSTEM LEVEL: PERSONALIZED DESIGN PROCCESS

Algorithmic treatment of digital personal data allows the shape, design and finishing to be programmable and therefore modifiable in a way that maintains the identity of the designer while at the same time, matching the customer's identity, moving body and context of use. In the following examples, we see increasing levels of digital complexity on the designs. In **This Fits Me** (fig. 6), a generative line pattern is projected on the digital version of the garment. By adjusting several variables in the generative algorithm, the customer can adjust the line pattern on the garment based on their personal preferences.

Fractal Art Fashion (fig. 7) laser engraves design patterns generated through recursive algorithms, applying tessellation theory and iterated functions systems to make fractals (Feijs and Toeters 2015).

Saiki (fig. 8) uses 15 measurement points of the customer and puts them into a parametric pattern in order to automatically generating G-codes ready for a 3D printer.

In **A Cellular Automaton for Pied-de-poule** (fig. 9), the generator of puppytooth patterns for the jacquard woven fabric is a onedimensional automaton. It is possible to extend the automaton, which offers a rich playground for various types of semi-random yet pied-depoule like behaviors (Feijs and Toeters 2017).



Fig. 6. This Fits Me (2014). Leonie Tenthof van Noorden in collaboration with Eunbi Kim. This Fits Me is a system that allows people to design unique and personalized fashion through 3D body scanning and generative algorithms. The system creates a virtual garment based on a 3D body scan of the customer. This customer can add a personal touch by customizing the generative design of the garment. This way, the garment fits the body as well as the customer's identity.



Fig. 8. Saiki (2017). Brigitte Kock. Saiki proposes a way to design a bra to fit the unique body shape of every individual customer with the use of 15 simple measurement points and a selection of parametric patterns. The design challenges the current practice of massproduced products by large companies that provide 'one size fits most'. Saiki utilizes the possibilities of 3D printing and generative design to create a 'design that fits you'.



Fig. 7. Fractal Art Fashion (2015). Loe Feijs, and Marina Toeters. Fractal Art Fashion is a mini-collection of three attractive, high-tech fashionable garments based on the new fractal line pied-de-poule: a body stocking, a parka (coat) and a jacket. The patterns on the multilayer woven polyester fabric are laser engraved and created through algorithmic design.



Fig. 9. A Cellular Automaton for Pied-de-poule (Houndstooth) (2017). Loe Feijs, Marina Toeters With the use of the cellular automata theory, a more abstract pied-de-poule can be generated. The pattern was used to weave fabric from which garments are made.

AT A SERVICE LEVEL: END USER PROGRAMMING

By adding control systems integrated in the textile, we can use digital sensing and actuating capabilities to enhance its physical properties. In this way, "Self-programmed" behavior and functionality allow us to create new applications by programming the mapping between digital functionality and physical interaction. In the following examples, the complexity present in the designs continues to increase as the wearable is used and experienced by its owner.



Fig. 10. Tender (2012). Kristi Kuusk, Martijn ten Bhömer, Paula Kassenaar, TextielMuseum TextielLab Tilburg and Metatronics. Tender is a garment that reacts to stroking. It lights up separate pockets on the body according to how they have been in contact with the skin. By stroking the garment it is possible to 'move' the lighted part of the wearable. It can be used to gather light around the neck/chest area for reading, and hands area for the spotlight to find something in the dark or for other playful effects. In **Tender**, the programmable electronics connected to capacitive sensors allows the LEDs (fig. 10) to react to the data transferred from the act of stroking the fabric against the wearer's skin.

Flow's (fig. 11) sequences of inflation and deflation of the air chambers are carried out by air pumps controlled through microcontrollers (Goveia and Tomico 2019).

Vigour (fig. 12) collects data about parameters related to movements of the upper body through the stretch of the knitted fabric sensors and sonifies them by means of a mobile application (ten Bhömer et al. 2015).

In **Issho** (fig. 13), textile-based touch sensors are connected to a microcontroller that turns on when it senses that the jacket is being worn. Phem (fig. 14) uses shimmering pastelcolored animated videos digitally composited onto fabrics in real-time via a chroma-key smartphone app (Mackey et al. 2019).



Fig. 11. Flow (2015). Bruna Goveia da Rocha. Flow is a wearable that includes six inflatable chambers that push against the body to cue fundamental joint movements of the wrist and forearm to foster learning physical activities, such as fencing. The integrated chambers and air ways in Flow operate as a material extension of the actuators responsible for the inflation, removing the air pumps from the area of actuation. Consequently, the wearable can be technically and materially sophisticated whilst remaining lightweight.


Fig. 12. Vigour (2016). Martijn ten Bhömer, Pauline van Dongen. (Photo by Joe Hammond) Vigour is a piece of wearable technology for geriatric patients that would enable the physiotherapist to gain more insight in the patient's exercise and their progress. The garment can be worn all day and therefore gathers a lot of data. In addition to this, the garment can be worn when executing rehabilitation exercises and give feedback to the wearer by making a sound or optionally, also vibrate to encourage the wearer.



Fig. 13. Issho (2017). Pauline van Dongen, ItalDenim and with the support of Isabel Berentzen. Issho encourages the wearer to be present in the moment in an increasingly accelerating world in which our minds are often focused on future events. The jacket records social interactions (physical encounters and activity on smartphones) and is able to give feedback to the wearer using small vibration motors that exude the sensation of a gentle stroke on the upper back. Based on the wearer's behavior, the jacket responds to intimate touches to become a mediator of revived experiences in daily life.



Fig. 14. Angella Mackey. Phem is a fashion brand concept for garments that use hybrid digital-physical fabrics. It can also be understood as a design exploration for fabrics that can be digitally animated, or fabrics that have the dynamic abilities of a computer screen.

LOOKING FORWARD AND BACKWARDS

Having worked alongside these projects for the past seven years has taught us that there is an increasingly complex and multifaceted field ahead of us. As e-textiles are partly absorbed into mainstream industrial production, the programmed garment is increasingly related to services. By designing smart textile things as a type of Product Service System (PSS), we have opened up the possibility of integrating the digital and the physical on various levels. As such, these devices can exist both as nontechnological representations of a digital presence, and ultimately as forms owing

their entire structure, presence and form to their digital identity. This broadening of what might constitute a wearable allows us to reconsider and redesign our current functionality, aesthetics, production, and design process (Nachtigall and Andersen 2018). We believe that the future of wearable soft things may still have technology physically embedded, but they may also be non-technical devices, where the technological innovation lies in how they are manufactured, the way they are personalized towards their users and uses and finally, in how they are related to product service systems throughout their use cvcle.



Wearable Senses lab, Eindhoven University of Technology.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to especially thank the authors of the works presented: Liu Baisong, Isabel Berentzen, Ane Castro Sudupe, Loe Feijs, Núria Costa Ginjaume, Bruna Goveia da Rocha, Paula Kassenaar, Eunbi Kim, Brigitte Kock, Kristi Kuusk, Anne Lamers, Henry Lin, Angella Mackey, Lisa Malou Smits, Evy Murraij, Troy Nachtigall, Bart Pruijmboom, Armando Rodríguez Pérez, Kim Sauvé, Elze Schers, Admar Schoonen, Leonie Tenthof van Noorden, Martijn ten Bhömer, Marina Toeters, and Pauline van Dongen. Moreover, we would like to thank all the staff, students and guests that have collaborated with the Wearable Senses Lab at Eindhoven University of Technology over the years.

REFERENCES

- Andersen, Kristina, and Joanna Berzowska. 2006. "Worn Technology: Altering Social Spaces". Open, Hybrid Space 11:148–157.
- Feijs, Loe, and Marina Toeters. 2015. "A novel line fractal pied de poule (houndstooth)".
 Proceedings of Bridges 2015: Mathematics, Music, Art, Architecture, Culture: 223-230.
 Phoenix: Tessellations Publishing.
- Feijs, Loe, and Marina Toeters, 2017. "A cellular automaton for pied-de-poule (houndstooth)". Proceedings of Bridges 2015: Mathematics, Music, Art, Architecture, Culture: 403-406. Phoenix: Tessellations Publishing.
- Goveia da Rocha, Bruna, and Oscar Tomico. 2019. "Flow: Towards Communicating Directional Cues through Inflatables". Extended Abstracts of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (LBW1313). New York: ACM. https:// doi.org/10.1145/3290607.3312828

Mackey, Angella, Stephan Wensveen, Ron

Wakkary, Annika Hupfeld, Oscar Tomico. 2019. "Wearing Digital Shimmers: A fashioncentric approach to wearable technology". Proceedings of the 4th Biennial Research Through Design Conference, 19-22 March 2019, Delft and Rotterdam. https://doi. org/10.6084/m9.figshare.7855862.v1

- Nachtigall, Troy, and Kristina Andersen. 2018. "Making Secret Pockets". Extended Abstracts of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (LBW574). ACM, New York, NY, USA
- Nachtigall, Troy, Oscar Tomico, Ron Wakkary and Pauline van Dongen. 2019. "Encoding Materials and Data for Iterative Personalization". Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. New York: ACM. https://doi.org/ https://doi.org/10.1145/3290605.3300749
- ten Bhömer, Martijn, Oscar Tomico and Stephan Wensveen. 2015. "Designing ultra-personalized embodied smart textile services for well-being". Advances in Smart Medical Textiles: Treatments and Health Monitoring: 155-175. Cambridge: Woodhead Publishing.
- Tomico, Oscar, Stephan Wensveen, Kristi Kuusk, Martijn ten Bhömer, Ren. Ahn, Marina Toeters, and Maarten Versteeg. 2014. "Wearable Senses, Department of Industrial Design, TU Eindhoven". Interactions 21(4):16-19. https://doi.org/10.1145/2628193
- Tomico, Oscar, Danielle Wilde. 2016. "Soft, embodied, situated & connected: enriching interactions with soft wearables". mUX: The Journal of Mobile User Experience 5(1).
- Tomico, Oscar, Lars Halln.s, Ron Hao Liang, Stephan Wensveen. 2017. "Towards a next wave of wearable and fashionable interactions". International Journal of Design 11 (3):1-6.

2.1.2 Digital Craftsmanship in the Wearable Senses Lab

Published as

Kristina Andersen, Bruna Goveia, Oscar Tomico, Marina Toeters, Angella Mackey, Troy Nachtigall. 2019. Digital Craftsmanship in the Wearable Senses Lab. ISWC '19, September 9–13, 2019, London, United Kingdom © 2019 Association for Computing Machinery. ACM, 6 pages. https://doi. org/10.1145/3341163.3346943

ABSTRACT

Wearable and e-textiles as a field has tended to overlook its own documentation, as notions and overarching ideas are developed over time and across individual projects. We would like to begin addressing this by charting the development of Digital Craftsmanship through a number of projects over time. Practically, we propose to show a small selection of garments and samples alongside a simple framework for future documentation of work.

KEYWORDS

Digital craftsmanship; documentation, theory development, soft wearables; interaction design; dynamic fabric.

1 INTRODUCTION

The field of wearable soft things or soft wearables has developed from a niche concern to an increasingly broad area of research [5, 9, 11, 19]. As high performing materials have become more widely available and our systems of making and production more sophisticated, we see wearable electronics projects emerge not only from the arts and fields of technology, but also from fashion, design and engineering. With the so-called 4th industrial revolution promising a much more flexible and automated factory work floor, we may soon see increasing levels of simple traditional electronics incorporated into soft things in our everyday lives [4].

We believe that the future of soft wearables is now broadening up to include

programming, not just electronics and interactive behavior, but programming the whole garment in terms of its material, its form, its manufacture, its level of personalization, associated services, and its direct relation to both its user and the social, cultural and economic structures around it. In order for such complex frameworks to emerge, we need structures and terminologies not just to analyze past work but also to frame new projects and developments as they emerge.

2 DIGITAL CRAFTSMANSHIP

Over the last ten years, the notion of digital craftsmanship has developed through the building of our research projects and teaching in the lab. The term emerged as an attempt to describe the skill of expressing a designerly or artistic aim, manifested through soft physical materials, through a system underpinned by the digital material.

In our understanding, this digital material stretches from technological inspiration, technology envisioned in a project, technology required for execution, to technology for manufacture. Instead of considering the physical execution of an idea as the last and final step of a process, we wanted to allow material exploration, physical craftsmanship and skill to be central to our work with a set of materials that increasingly include digital material and notions.

This means that our projects increasingly

combine programming, mathematics and material explorations, making use of crafting and open-ended making to imagine and craft new digital/physical objects. The digital often constitute the core material to be expressed through embodied objects ranging from the mundane to the complex; cardboard, recycling, fabric, embroidery, metal, printing and laser cutting etc. As a result, we are essentially working on material explorations of immaterial ideas in the context of post-human technology and new materialism [1, 14, 16].

In practice, this means that we consider digital assets design material, to be addressed and worked with in craft-like techniques, through hands-on making and sketching, moving through a number of computational design and manufacturing techniques all aimed at producing explorative designs of material/digital objects. All this is manifested through a very hands-on craft approach to working with machinery such as flexible substrate 3D printers, laser cutters (fabric, vinyl, leather etc.), digital embroidery, weaving and knitting. In this, our aim is to explicate our understanding of both machines and making towards a point, where we can make use of the technologies available to us as expressive mediums for craftsmanship.

3 DOCUMENTATION FRAMEWORK

To this end, we have focused on understanding and analyzing our own lab outcomes, what they explored, how they were expressed, and the extent to which they require a renewed understanding of the industrial work floor and its possibilities, as we work towards developing a renewed understanding of the roles of machines and aesthetics. These projects have already been documented in a number of publications on individual project level [2, 7, 8, 10, 12, 13, 17], but here we wanted to expand the scale, to be able to begin looking across projects over time. In order to do this, we developed a simple framework, ilustrated in fig. 1. By looking through these projects we see three levels of complexity in the manner in which they each relate to the data in and around their own production and designs.

The three levels are the product level, the system level and the service level.

At a product level (digital material production), the development of wearable technology is driven in part by the culture of "maker" DIY digital fabrication. Digital knitting, weaving and printing allow us to combine yarns, fibers or filaments with different material properties in different ways (structures) for each part of a garment. This is widening the design and production space, but also allows us to consider the craft aspects of innovative textile work.

Cruft & Tech	Material	Date	Project name	Project description	Author(s)	Year	Photo
Addressed provided provident scalar patients	A collection of second polarised taken area a first policy policy in a generative of datase and higher control constraining the traditional bargs and write graphing policy patterns.	The generation is a solution of the posterior their posterior the descention of a to indicat proposition pattern. As including to encode the astronautor, armit effects a text paper of anti-context paper of anti-context part of anti-context	Address Address date for Find the lambs phonestreethy	With the use of the settline's laterous there is a new absorpt (and day use) plot agreement). The process of an add use the settler from which generatively related to the settle generatively related to the	Las fairs Marine Bastice	3mir.	And in Advanced State of the State and State of the State of the State of the State of the State of the State of the State of the State of the State of the State of the State of the State of the State of the State of the State of the State of the State of the State of the State
	Moves laters that includes shad- maps encoded image requiring the the software(The Digital (D) Concerns Land Internation - House II to the settle workers in Augmented Newlys	Tarihan (pener Rep Rafina	Solution 4.4 perform 10.1% to the control of errors includes and inclumingual to increasing through the control of the dimensional production and the control control of the control of the control included the control of the control of the trol (Amage 1) then 4.1 (through pagehtine and the control of the control of the control of the control of the control of the control on comparison.	Eller Mysik, Albert ser den Azar Tennifick in, Linsteller Renter Zeinnenin	R	19
Apparty accessed Marine and annualities any	Politicational estimat formatic institucional forma consultativat with doing session moleguit altitular	Orienteering puntet converge anter-quind colores expendie communited onto Nalescy or result (here chi a ghereita-berg tenarrightcore ante	Teen	Phase 6.4 harmon databat serverapi tali generatori tata can opiana sigina a sharana bilanos 4 tata can observe and a sa angge analanatina far balanta tata bara ba digitally secretaria, an balana tata bara tata digitally secretaria, an balana tata tata digitally secretaria da parejuday lacendo	Seguria Mariney	213	
Keller Landy	Nortys and Initial Adult Indoned long Lanne Unit with ining and perdantic peri	Dett slind persenters retaind la recommenda of the appel biols are unitated interact the dettil and backpoint by could a surrogature.	P.	Vigos 1.5 panes of servable technology the private patients from word avoid technology development and page mass complex fits patient sectors part tool pages. The patient sectors part tool pages. The patient sector parts with the patient parts and the sectors also consider parts and the sectors also consider patients of the sector also consider patients and the sector also consider the sectors.	Herrijn ten Britanni, Promi set Bergen, Care Tamin	X	
	The initial series, annual series, annual samathes part to ide part to ide par	The proposition is interview along the (20% of the first first first excellence that the set of anning the false against the records of		Where is present that parts is involving if fight an invariant privity with both introducing an invariant privity and the second privity of the second privity for generate the privity of the fight parts of the second privity of the privity of the second the second privity of second privity of the second privity of the second	Frief Jacob, University for (Fellow), Yani- Coloridat Societati So	2011	Ċ.
II pinted permitian reported properties	A Date with a new make with Padrim, s DH (phenyalianth distance) Ransest for stypesting, and superants can leadbox oppose	formular a composition of covered from the set of auditing shuther house a graph factorizer of a coverchine amount of power the Hotpins of shores of the shores	lamodar	Substantiane is an intraspective procession multi- for sciences, alongenetic period neurodistic science from the second science of the solar ten- corresponding of heat results in the solar ten- terary of heat results, their second science is the theoretic science of the solar, the theoretic-science of the solar, the theoretic-science of the solar, the	Troy Nurthegal Lost. Line Frys	223.	1
Terregister	Senari pititet lietges apping Dartachanti isi an a kand of colline and cietare fabric	A farming ser from the taily ass undered with D linely an above to generate adverse based program and maps appropriate from paraging with the Disamagene shape to Brown and	Nyi Dyemine, permanan shintiy A contra	DPC is mainten the dividual actions are when the action is the exploration and period free participants. The other temperature and the maximum of and scanadian's to the dividual scanadian scale and the scalar to the scalar scalar scalar scalar to the scalar scalar scalar scalar to the scalar scalar scalar to the scalar scalar scalar scalar scalar to the scalar scalar scalar scalar temperature to calars a scalar scalar temperature to the scalar scalar scalar scalar temperature to the scalar scalar scalar scalar scalar temperature to the scalar scala	for Soid, USA Miller Toma La Tapog	1	1
marrier jallers engrend knad o vestisiter iterry	Neder of loant' angupted sublique women particular lains, the particular lains, the particular lains, the particular lains, the collection of a the technologies of the efficiency and welling	Design anthress personnel filmsgall recursion algorithms mortering functionation functional distance. Functional sectors to russe thretail.	Pacel Art Justice	Frechal Ad Fandbard of a North embeddinese of a Univer particulars high lands haddoneselut generators zamer (in the size factors) into part of particular a strengt metal into part of particular a strengt metal and part of particular the particular strengt interparts approximately integrates ables to be a strengt metal and consent through approximately integrates ables to any calculation and any particular failures.	Las forja, Martya Tanton	1	No.

Figure 1. Part of an example page of documentation framework.

- At a system level (personalized design process), algorithmic treatment of digital personal data allows the shape, design and finishing to be programmable and therefore modifiable in a way that still keeps the identity of the designer while the fitting to the customer's identity, moving body, and context of use. In the following examples, we see increasing levels of digital complexity in the designs.
- 2. Ataservicelevel(enduserprogramming), we can use digital sensing and actuating capabilities to enhance its physical properties by adding control systems integrated in the textile. In this way "Self-programmed" behavior and functionality allow us to create new applications by programming the mapping between digital functionality and physical interaction. In the following examples, the complexity present in the designs continues to increase as the wearable is used and experienced by its owner.

As a crucial part of sharing and understanding this process, we believe that making the physical material available alongside the analysis of their context is a key component in allowing digital design and craftsmanship to develop a research culture for the future [3, 6, 15, 18].

4 EXAMPLES OF WORK

In the following figures (figure 2-5) we will show a number of project examples. We propose a selection of them for the exhibition.

5 PROPOSAL

For ISWC, we would like to propose an exhibit of garments and samples originating from our lab over a longer period of time. We will pick three examples, one from each of the categories mentioned above. These



Figure 2. Flow (2015). Bruna Goveia da Rocha. Flow is a wearable that includes six inflatable chambers that push against the body to cue fundamental joint movements of the wrist and forearm to foster learning physical activities, such as fencing. The integrated chambers and air ways in Flow operate as a material extension of the actuators responsible for the inflation; removing the air pumps from the area of actuation. [10]



Figure 3. Solemaker (2016). Troy Nachtigall (and Loe Feijs). Solemaker is an interactive demonstrator for scanning, designing and manufacturing shoes. As an Ultra Personalized Product Service System, this process includes the scanning of feet, the design of the sole, the manufacturing of the sole, the manufacturing of the Upper. [14]



Figure 4. A Cellular Automaton for Pied-de-poule (Houndstooth) (2017). Loe Feijs, Marina Toeters. With the use of the cellular automata theory, a more abstract pied- de-poule can be generated. The pattern was used to weave fabric from which garments are made. [8] Photo by Robin van der Schaft, styling by Maaike Staal (© Marina Toeters)



Figure 5. Phem (2018). Angella Mackey. Phem is a fashion brand concept for garments that use hybrid digital-physical fabrics. It can also be understood as a design exploration for fabrics that can be digitally animated, or fabrics that have the dynamic abilities of a computer screen. [12]

examples are all exhibition ready, but we will make the final selection when we have a better understanding of the space of the exhibition. Together these samples will illustrate and document past work at the lab, but also provide evidence of the process of developing the notion of digital craftsmanship and how we use this term and practice in the lab today.

6 REQUIREMENTS FOR EXHIBIT

Our garments and samples have no technical requirements, in the sense that they are stand alone. If possible, we would like to present at least one on a mannequin, but we can also have them on hangers or lying flat on a table. In addition to this, we would like to distribute our data sheet as seen in figure 1 as a proposal for the beginning of a future taxonomy of digital craftsmanship work.

7 VISION FOR THE FUTURE PAST

We are hoping that through showing not just examples of work at ISWC but also our simple framework for analysis, we can engage the community in conversation not only about what we have done, but also about what we may do next, how this fits with other work and communities and how we may document and share our experiences and knowledge.

8 CONCLUSION

We believe that the future of wearable soft things may still have technology physically embedded, but they may also be non-technical devices, where the technological innovation lies in how they are manufactured, the way they are personalized towards their users and uses, and finally in how they are related to product service systems throughout their use cycle. In order to build such visions of the future, we want to refine and evolve the notion of digital craftsmanship. Exhibiting at ISWC is a step towards doing this in conversation and collaboration with our wider wearable community.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to specially thank the authors of the works and all the staff, students and guests that have been collaborating with the lab over the years.

REFERENCES

- [1] Andersen, K., 2017: Making Speculative Technologies, in Intersecting Art and Technology in Practice: Techne/Technique/Technology, Routledge, pp. 42-49. ISBN-13: 978-1138934115
- [2] Andersen, K. and Knees, P., 2016. The Dial: Exploring Computational Strangeness. in proc. of CHI 2016, ACM, pp. 1352-1358. doi>10.1145/2851581.2892439 Toeters et al.
- [3] Andersen, K., Boucher A., Chatting D., Desjardin A., Devendorf L., Gaver, W., Jenkins, T., Odom, W., Pierce, J. and Vallgårda, A.. 2019. Doing Things with Research thru Design: With What, with Whom, and Towards What Ends? CHI2019.
- [4] Andersen, Kristina, and Joanna Berzowska. 2006. "Worn Technology: Altering Social Spaces". Open, Hybrid Space 11: 148–157.
- [5] Burtch, G., Yoo, Y., & Weiss, A. (2010, December). Digital Innovation and Craftsmanship: the Case of CF Martin & Company. In ICIS (p. 152).
- [6] Devendorf, L., Andersen, K., Wakkary, R. Rosner, D. K., and Pierce, J., 2019. From HCI to HCI-Amusement: Strategies for Engaging what New Technology Makes Old. CHI2019.
- [7] Feijs, Loe, and Marina Toeters, (2015). A novel line fractal pied de poule (houndstooth). In Proceedings of the Conference of Bridges: Mathematics, Music, Art, Architecture, Culture (pp. 223-230).
- [8] Feijs, Loe, and Marina Toeters, 2017. "A

cellular automaton for pied-de-poule (houndstooth)". Proceedings of Bridges 2015: Mathematics, Music, Art, Architecture, Culture: 403-406. Phoenix: Tessellations Publishing.

- [9] Frankjær, R., & Dalsgaard, P. (2018, June). Understanding Craft-Based Inquiry in HCI. In Proceedings of the 2018 Designing Interactive Systems Conference (pp. 473-484). ACM.
- [10] Goveia, Bruna and Oscar Tomico. 2019.
 "Flow: Towards Communicating Directional Cues through Inflatables". Extended Abstracts of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (LBW1313). ACM, New York, NY, USA. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1145/3290607.3312828
- [11] Jacobs, J., Mellis, D., Zoran, A., Torres, C., Brandt, J., & Tanenbaum, J. (2016, June). Digital craftsmanship: HCl takes on technology as an expressive medium. In Proceedings of the 2016 ACM Conference Companion Publication on Designing Interactive Systems (pp. 57-60). ACM.
- [12] Mackey, Angella, Stephan Wensveen, Ron Wakkary, Annika Hupfeld, Oscar Tomico. 2019. "Wearing Digital Shimmers: A fashion-centric approach to wearable technology". Proceedings of the 4th Biennial Research Through Design Conference, 19-22 March 2019, Delft and Rotterdam, The Netherlands, DOI: https://doi. org/10.6084/m9.figshare.7855862.v1
- [13] Nachtigall, Troy, and Kristina Andersen. 2018. "Making Secret Pockets". Extended Abstracts of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (LBW574). ACM, New York, NY, USA
- [14] Nachtigall, Troy, Oscar Tomico, Ron Wakkary, and Pauline van Dongen.
 2019. "Encoding Materials and Data for Iterative Personalization". Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. ACM, New York, NY, USA https://doi.org/https://doi.

org/10.1145/3290605.3300749

- [15] Odom, W., Jenkins, T., Andersen, K., Gaver, B., Pierce, J., Vallgårda, A., ... & Lefeuvre, K. (2018). Crafting a place for attending to the things of design at CHI. interactions, 25(1), 52-57.
- [16] Philp Ross and Stephan Wensveen.
 2010. Designing aesthetics of behavior in interaction: Using aesthetic experience as a mechanism for design.
 International Journal of Design, 4(2), 3-13. http://www.ijdesign.org/index.php/ IJDesign/article/viewFil e/765/294
- [17] ten Bhömer, Martijn, Oscar Tomico, Stephan Wensveen. 2015. "Designing ultra-personalized embodied

smart textile services for well-being". Advances in Smart Medical Textiles: Treatments and Health Monitoring: 155-175. Cambridge: Woodhead Publishing.

- [18] Tomico, Oscar, Danielle Wilde. 2016. "Soft, embodied, situated & connected: enriching interactions with soft wearables". mUX: The Journal of Mobile User Experience, 5 (1).
- [19] Tomico, Oscar, Lars Hallnäs, Rong-Hao Liang, Stephan Wensveen. 2017.
 "Towards a next wave of wearable and fashionable interactions". International Journal of Design 11 (3): 1-6

2.2 My practice of digital craftsmanship

"Looking at a tool commonly gives a hint at the fabrication space in which it is applied, and this is even more so when seen among a collection of tools belonging to the same domain. The tool's physical appearance points at properties of the materials it is supposed to handle. The tool's size, manufacture, and functionality indicate producible forms and frame the possibilities for making."

Irene Posch [74]

My relationship with the digital embroidery machine started due to a combination of project requirements and the infrastructure available in the lab to create the prototypes for the AO Smart Sock project (the design process is detailed in 3.3). After the two interns working at the lab at the time introduced me to the basics of running the machine, I started gaining expertise on crafting soft things and *research products* through digital embroidery. By means of a technique called *chemical embroidery* [55], in which self-supporting embroidered textiles can be created by stitching on a water-soluble stabilizer, it is possible to deal with embroidery as a sort of additive technology. To inform my experimentation, I sought several sources about possible techniques to



Figure E. Me placing needles at the Brother PR1050x digital embroidery machine in the Wearable Senses Lab



Figure F. I had already explored variations of techniques by experiencing different tools for knitting in a project called "Crafts, Design and Motherhood" (six photos on the left). I later had an experience of the different implications of using an industrial knitting machine for the design process of the Smart Sock project (last two photos on the right).

learn the standard embroidery techniques and practices, as well as ways they have been appropriated by designers in the field of wearables and digital fabrication. These sources included embroidered samples hanging above the machine in the WS lab, scientific papers on wearables and digital fabrication, industrial machine companies' websites, video tutorials and the manual of the embroidery digitizing embroidery software. Indirect influences included the work of other practitioners in the lab, handicrafts, and other production techniques. As such, my experimentation processes are informed by *making with* the digital embroidery machine but also with other tools and embroidery techniques.

Exploring variations of a craft technique has been a way of becoming aware of the capabilities of different tools and creating sensibility to the relation between the material qualities of samples and their production process. I started to develop this practice prior to using digital fabrication machines, in a project that explored the crafting experience of knitting (Figure F). Later I applied a similar approach to silicone-casting to develop a technique to create Flow, a wearable designed to provide direction cues to the body through inflatable actuators [33]. When it came to embroidery, I engaged with the digital machine embroidery while also explored in parallel several other embroidery techniques such as tambour embroidery, needlework, free-motion embroidery, and punch needle.

In her reflections on craft productions, Nithikul Nimkurat emphasizes that a rhythmic interplay between bodily and thinking practices is established during making [64]. According to her, this enables her to move her consciousness from the act of making (what her hands are doing) to imagining future steps. In my experience, the same happens when working with digital fabrication machines. Making is a way of thinking and a mode of exploration. As one follows the rhythm of the machine translating digital files into sequences

of action, they enter a process of designing with the machine and the new opportunities that emerge.

There are many ways of engaging with *digital craftsmanship*, such as focusing on (redesigning) the interaction with machines or on generative design. There are also different possible starting points for the process [70]. My practice of explorative *making with* the digital embroidery machine has been developed so far based on the understanding that while this machine is usually used for embellishments on textiles, what it does is interlocking two threads on a ground. It offers stability of the work through the embroidery frame, accuracy in the position of the needle, and freedom of routing. Understanding this was the basis for my collaborations with her, in which I asked what else could we make. Simple questions such as "what does it do?", "what is it usually used for?" and "what else can it be used for?" prompted a curious attitude towards materials and processes (Figure G). Because they are quite open questions, they can target machines but also the samples we make together. The order of the questions depends on the process.



Figure G. Schematic of the questions that supported my collaboration with the digital embroidery machine. I started by asking "what it is usually used for" to collect clues about "what does it do". In turn, these questions help expand towards what else can it be used for. Over time, what it does became my usual departure point for new explorations.

3 Making through stitch: from iteration to sample making

"Design is what, for practical purposes, can be conveyed in words and by drawing: workmanship is what, for practical purposes, can not. In practice the designer hopes the workmanship will be good, but the workman decides whether it shall be good or not. On the workman's decision depends a great part of the quality of our environment."

David Pye [75]

In the previous chapter, I detailed how I developed my approach to designing with the digital machine embroidery. This approach was enabled by a transition from iterative process of design to seeing sample making as a process of *itineration* [41]. This also means a transition from a *hylomorphic* to a *non-hylomorphic* model of creation [41]. In other words, a shift from a top-down approach to design towards designing from a bottom-up approach, in which the designs emerge from the engagement with materials and fabrication techniques. In this chapter, I discuss how I went through this transition by looking at the material-driven design processes of three projects: the Smart Sock, the Embroidered Inflatables and Becoming Travelers.

The Smart Sock and the Embroidered Inflatables were discussed in the publications "*Crafting Research Products through Digital Machine Embroidery*" (section 3.2) and "*Inflatable Actuators based on Machine Embroidery*" (section 3.1), respectively. Comparing the processes of the two projects supported considering models of creation [41] and kinds of workmanship [75] in *digital craftsmanship*. The concept of models of creation is split between *hylomorphic*, in which the idea of a design precedes considerations about the fabrication, and *non-hylomorphic*, meaning the design emerges from the possibilities of materials and fabrication techniques in a bottom-up process [41]. As the samples generated through *digital craftsmanship* support a feedback loop to inform the making process, the model of creation is predominantly *non-hylomorphic*. The kind of workmanship, on the other hand, can range between *workmanship of certainty* or *workmanship of risk*, depending on whether the quality of the outcome is predetermined or not [75].

The Smart Sock was a goal-oriented project in which embroidery allowed creating integrated wearables in the form of *research products* [67], high fidelity prototypes, through a single fabrication machine. This process allowed recognizing a family of design elements that can be integrated through the same machine. To pursue its goal, the project started from a *hylomorphic* model, but it transitioned towards a more *non-hylomorphic* model once the digital machine embroidery entered the project. The reproducibility and

accuracy of the technique allowed making specific changes to the designs. However, because the form factor and technology were developed together, the impact of these changes to the overall design was still considered. Due to their same high level of finish, rather than a prototype being compared to its predecessor, the research products created in the process are comparable among the whole collection, independent from the order of creation. In this, the accuracy of the technique was used to explore possibilities that would not have otherwise been allowed to emerge. Among other things, it was possible to explore how changes to the sewing direction and layering could cause stretch in a specific direction of the fabric. This was used to support a better fit around the toes and heel. Therefore, although the digital embroidery machine increased the level of certainty in the creation of each individual prototype, it can be argued that it also increased the level of workmanship of risk considering the complete design process.

The level of risk in the process of the Embroidered Inflatables was higher than in the Smart Sock. The intention of the project was to extend the family of (interactive) elements that could be integrated into *research products* through embroidery with the development of soft actuators. The versatility and freedom of routing offered by digital machine embroidery made it possible to combine materials (textile and silicone) and create inflatables whose shape as well as behavior were determined by the embroidery. The process, which was *non-hylomorphic* from the start, became increasingly more explorative. The second publication about this project (section 4.1) describes this intention as initially goal oriented. In retrospect, I see this more like a prompt than a goal. In a conversation with Christopher Frayling [24], Pye makes a distinction between a clear idea and a detailed one. According to him, "you must at every stage in making something have a clear idea of what you're trying to do, even if you keep on changing the point of attack slightly as you go on" [24]. The series of the Embroidered Inflatables resulted from a clear idea of exploring the implications of digital machine embroidery to create soft actuators that evolved through collaborating with the machine. The questions that emerged through making and interacting with samples of each series informed and redirected the process of exploring this design space. These questions were captured through a process of documentingwhile-making which supported reflecting both on the sample making process and individual samples. As result, it was possible to identify that each sample embodies different qualities and possibilities.

Reflecting on these two projects also allowed identifying samples as a specific kind of prototype that requires further investigation. Based on the Smart Sock and the Embroidered Inflatables as examples, samples in *digital craftsmanship* share important similarities with *research products*. Both kinds of prototype are made to have high level of finish, and they are evaluated based on what they really are and can do. The notion of relationality is equally important to them. However, this notion is considered differently in

their evaluation since the research questions these two kinds of prototype seek to answer differ in nature. The high level of finish of research products makes it possible for these objects to blend into our everyday lives to support researching questions about human-technology relations over time [67]. The high level of finish of samples in digital craftsmanship, on the other hand, supports researching the *intra-action* [3] between entities of the sociotechnical system of production. Understanding these entanglements allows, for example, identifying relevant variables to designing tunable materials. Unlike *research products*, the intended use of samples is more abstract which makes them especially suitable open for revisiting. Nonetheless, if the high fidelity of *research products* is used to evaluate the relation of properties to fabrication methods, research products can also be dealt with as samples. The stretch of the substrate of some of the *research products* of the Smart Sock, for example, was a point of departure to investigate which variables should be considered for tuning the behavior of the Embroidered Inflatables.

The third paper presented in this chapter, called "Becoming Travelers: Enabling the Material Drift" (section 3.3), was a response to the insight that a focus on samples and sample making could reveal different aspects of digital craftsmanship. Rather than thoroughly analyzing each of the embroidered designs to gather insights about the technique like in the other two projects, making served as a mode of thinking through our hands to reflect on making practices and the meaning of exploring. To support this reflection, the experiment had a component of documenting-while-making as each of the embroidered elements was marked by a tag to keep track of the concepts, and we followed up each of the two sessions with a discussion about our making experiences. Questions emerging from this discussion were also attached to the embroidery. The outcome of this process was a provocation to seek an approach to explorative making that could also support increasing sensibility needed to appreciate the things made in material-driven processes and to embrace detours in such processes. As the title gives away, this provocation is a key piece of this PhD research in which some of the possibilities of becoming travelers and the basic attitudes that should be nurtured for supporting this practice were first identified. The following chapters build on this provocation in two ways. Chapter 4 addresses sample making practices and the potential of samples created within one process leading to different directions. Chapters 5 and, especially, 6 deepen the exploration of the conditions of entering the traveler's mindset proposed by Becoming Travelers, supporting collaborative and explorative making.

> The documentation of the Embroidered Inflatables sample making process and the embroidery files of the samples are accessible through a repository [32].

3.1 Inflatable Actuators Based on Machine Embroidery

Published as

Bruna Goveia da Rocha, Oscar Tomico, Daniel Tetteroo, and Panos Markopoulos. 2019. Inflatable actuators based on machine embroidery. In Textile Intersections. https://doi.org/10.17028/ RD.LBORO.9724688



Fig. 1 Series 1 multi-state inflatable sample in relaxed state (bottom left) and actuated (top left and on right side). Sample made through two parts of embroidered substrate, a water-soluble sheet and silicone.

ABSTRACT

The growing interest in wearable technologies has the prompted development of new techniques for integrating electronics into garments, and more specifically to overcome challenges interfacing the hard and soft components. In comparison to sensors and leads, the textile-based or integrated solutions for actuation remain underexplored. Approaching materials as extensions of actuators, we investigate machine embroidery as means to integrate silicone-based inflatables into garments. Following a research through design methodology, we created inflatables whose design and behavior are determined by machine embroidered substrates. Our iterative process resulted in 24 samples, divided in five series, exploring distinct challenges: 1) sewing attributes to create

properties of inflatables; 2) fit & support; 3) improving integration & resolution of complex shapes; 4) enlarging area of actuation; and 5) textile integration. We discuss the impact of different parameters to the fabrication and the interaction possibilities of soft actuators. We show how machine embroidery allows shifting the complexity of the designs away from the casting process, simplifying fabrication, while enabling the creation of a wide range of shapes and behaviors through layering of textile structures. Our work extends the possibilities of integrating different technologies into garments through а single manufacturing process. We contribute with the detailed description of our design process and reflections on designing inflatables by means of machine embroiderv.

KEYWORDS

Research through design, soft actuation, digital fabrication, machine embroidery, technical embroidery

1 INTRODUCTION

Textile production techniques, such as knitting, weaving and embroidery have been widely employed for the creation of electronic friendly or electronic integrated wearable technologies (wearables). Embroidery, in particular, has shown the potential of supporting the design of interactive garments as it offers more freedom of routing than knitting or weaving [9] to create soft circuits [7, 14]. Moreover, it enables direct interconnections with conventional flexible electronics [9] and fabricating a variety of sensors.

While textile-based sensors have reached a higher level of maturity, having been integrated into commercial products such as smart garments for sports [8, 16], soft alternatives to actuators remains relatively unexplored. Usually, wearables are actuated through external mechanisms, such as motors, which restrain their wearability [3]. Among other forms of actuation, inflatable soft actuators (inflatables) are gaining interest for their use in a range of applications, such as navigation through tactile feedback [15] and augmented reality to create languages of feel effects [2]. Although the integration of air pumps into wearables still needs to be further explored for a completely unobtrusive user experience, inflatables can be produced through many techniques and materials, offering opportunities for customizing their form factor, material properties and dynamic behaviors. Additionally, the air pumps can be removed from the area of actuation [6]. This could be used to respect guidelines of wearability such as weight distribution or proxemics [18].

The challenges of integrating technology

into include bulk/weight/ garments stiffness. thermal and moisture management, flexibility/durability, sizing and fit, and device interface [4]. Additionally, the amount of manual work involved in realizing prototypes often makes it difficult to accurately reproduce them and compare variations/incremental changes. This is particularly an issue in contexts where high standards for reliability and safety are expected, such as in healthcare applications. Digital fabrication can support iterative design processes through highly reproducible prototypes by allowing designers to make isolated and precise changes per iteration. Specifically, digital machine embroidery can support such approaches while requiring a relatively low threshold of experience.

The present body of work builds upon research on silicone-based earlier inflatables for supporting tactile motion instructions [6], combining it with machine embroidery to develop reproducible textile integrated on-body applications. As such, we aim to contribute with new ways of using technical embroidery to develop soft wearables and textile interfaces [5, 12, 14]. The scope of this paper is limited to exploring how to fabricate silicone and embroidery-based inflatables (Fig. 1) to understand the implications of using machine embroidery for their fabrication and some of their actuation possibilities. We do so by reflecting on our research through design (RtD) process of five sample series of inflatables, culminating in three identified behaviors, which we refer to as interaction modes. To support our reflection about the reproducibility of the inflatables, the interaction mode designs were given to industrial design students, without prior experience with machine embroidery or casting, to be reproduced and implemented in their research projects within the context of physical rehabilitation.

2 INFLATABLE ACTUATION IN WEARABLES

While still relatively unexplored, inflatables have been gaining interest by designers of wearable applications due to their versatility and the possibility to conform to the body. Inflatables can be fabricated through a variety of processes and materials, both elastic and inelastic. The customization of the inflatable artifacts allows for creating simple to complex structures that behave in very specific ways.

AeroMorph [13], for example, presented a heat-sealing approach to fabricate inflatables made of different sheet materials coated in TPU (thermoplastic polyurethane) capable of curling, folding and changing texture. Polyurethane heatsealed inflatables have also been adopted by The Force Jacket [2] to adapt a life-vest to support augmented reality experiences. Through 26 inflatables on the upper body, this wearable simulates a variety of sensations like feeling rain, being punched and being hugged. The WRAP [15] also explored the heat-sealing technique for creating inflatables made of plastic sheeting to propose an alternative to vibrotactile stimulation to avoid sensory adaptation in haptic applications. The low-profile switchback channels are used to enlarge the actuation area. As a demonstrator, these actuators were implemented into a wristband to guide movement through four points around the wrist. Rotation was indicated through a directional metaphor, in a similar approach to saltation via vibrotactile stimulation [11], having each actuator inflate and deflate in sequence.

Reporting similar material dynamic behaviors like the Aeromorph, PneUI [17] presented approaches to create soft composites both inelastic and elastic. For their inelastic actuators, plastic welding was used. For the elastic composites, materials of varying elasticities were

embedded into silicone to control their behavior. The casting processes presented by PneUI include inserts to create dynamic textures and two-part 3D printed molds to cast silicone parts that are bonded together after cured to create air channel shapes. The difference in elasticities to control the behavior of inflatables was also explored to create self- sensing soft actuators based on machine embroidery [1]. Spiral patterns made of Kevlar fiber and optical fiber were embroidered on water-soluble film then embedded in silicone to control the shape of inflation and sense the deformation. Flow [6] used a 3D printed mold and 3D printed PVA inserts to cast silicone- based inflatables that provide users with tactile motion instructions to support motor learning. The wearable was entirely made in silicone which unified the process of form giving of the wearable with the design of the air pockets and paths. As an alternative to casting, the Self Assembly Lab [10] has explored additive technologies to develop liquid printed pneumatics which enable creating complex dynamically shapechanging structures.

While heat sealing enables the creation of textile-based inflatables, their integration into garments is limited by the inelasticity of air tight fabrics. Silicone-based inflatables. on the other hand, offer elasticity and work well for wearables designed for smaller areas of the body, such as the wrist or hand. For larger areas of the body such as the torso, however, crafting an entire wearable out of silicone presents challenges to fabrication and usability. Therefore. solutions for integrating silicone-based actuators with textiles are needed in order to broaden the range of applications of this form of actuation. By using chemical embroidery [12] to create a free-standing, lace-like substrate and by exploring the programmable nature of machine embroidery, we present a technique for integrating silicone-based



Fig. 2 Overview of the five-sample series. Each series of samples addressed different challenges: 1) sewing attributes to create properties of inflatables; 2) fit & support; 3) improving integration & resolution of complex shapes; 4) enlarging area of actuation; and 5) textile integration.

inflatable actuators into garments. Our approach considered three strategies facilitated by machine embroidery: *layering & manipulating the fabric character, component alignment,* and *shaping & construction.* In the next section, we describe how we explored designing inflatables through machine embroidery and reflect on our process.

3 DESIGN PROCESS OF THE EMBROIDERY-BASED INFLATABLES

We followed a research through design (RtD) to explore how to create inflatables through machine embroidery and. particularly, chemical embroidery. Chemical embroidery is a technique used to create machine-made lace. Designs are embroidered on a water-soluble film that. when dissolved, results in free- standing substrate [12]. Our explorations resulted in twenty-four designs, divided in five series of samples (Fig. 2) each addressing different challenges: 1) sewing attributes to create properties of inflatables; 2) fit & support; 3) improving integration & resolution of complex shapes; 4) enlarging area of actuation; and 5) textile integration.

The actuators were made through the combination of free-standing embroidered substrates and silicone (Ecoflex 00-30). They were designed using Adobe Illustrator

and PE-Design 10 software. The fabrication process was carried out using semiprofessional digital embroidery machines to sew the designs on water- soluble film, and acrylic laser-cut molds for casting. Apart from some short experiments with alternative materials such as monofilament and elastic thread, the samples were made entirelv using conventional polyester embroidery threads. During the development of the sample series, the inflatables were manually actuated through syringes.

Different procedures were used to construct and cast the samples throughout the process resulting in different inflation dynamics. In some cases, like in Series 1, an additional laver of the water-soluble film was used in between substrates. Similar to the textures created through laser cut fabric described by PneUI [17], the difference in the properties of the embroidered textile and the silicone create the possibility of multi-state deformation. In other cases, like most samples in Series 4. the film used for the embroidery serves to create the air pockets, which means the actuator inflates to both sides. As a third construction possibility, samples have a support pad over which another piece of water-soluble film is sewn in the shape of the actuation area causing the inflation to be one sided. Based on the main learnings



Fig. 3 Embroidered substrates of Interaction modes 1, 2 and 3 integrated into woven textile. Mode 1 is made from two embroidered parts. Mode 2 consists of a single embroidery part. Mode 3 is a single substrate sewn as layers that integrate a sheet of water-soluble film over the substrate and support pad.

from the sample series and these three observed actuation possibilities, a final set was made including three samples which we refer to as interaction modes (Fig. 3).

Below, we present our approach to designing inflatables through machine embroidery and reflect on the insights gained throughout sample series 1 to 5.

3.1 Embroidery-based inflatable sample series

Our approach to designing the sample series considered three strategies: layering & manipulating the fabric character, component alignment, and shaping & construction. Layering & manipulating the fabric character, was the most relevant to this work. It pertains to defining the material properties of the substrate through sewing attributes and by sewing layers of different attributes on top of each other to manipulate the fabric character, globally or locally. We have explored this technique throughout all sample series. In Series 2 and 5 (Fig. 2), for example, we used layering to create support pads used to direct the inflation. We also used layering as a solution for avoiding stitch repetitions when sewing complex shapes (Fig. 4).

The second technique, *component alignment*, concerns the possibility of machine embroidery facilitating iterative



Fig. 4 Series 2 samples explored different sewing attributes to the same complex shape. As seen on the left, Net Fill Stitch causes excessive repetition of stitches to complete the design, deforming the outcome. On the left, the same shape was sewn as layers of Fill Stitch in two different directions that interlock.

design by enabling precise changes to be made to prototypes while the position of components (embroidered or embedded) is preserved. We used this technique in Series 2 in which we recreated in embroidery the design of Flow [6], a wrist worn soft wearable originally made of silicone only, which included six inflatables to push against the body. Between our two designs, the location of the six inflatables was preserved while we experimented with the sewing attributes of the substrate.

Finally, shaping & construction, relates to reducing the amount of manual labor patterning, cutting and assembly in of prototypes by designing complete wearables through embroidery. Entire wearable form factors or garment pieces can be shaped through the embroidered substrate as in Series 2. We focused mainly on the construction of samples and integration to fabric. In Series 5, for instance, we created a technique for integrating the inflatables into fabrics through cutwork needle. This opens up possibilities to increase the accuracy of reproducing the actuators as well as the way they are integrated into garments.

3.2 Reflections on designing embroidery-based inflatables throughout iterative series

Based on our experience, we reflected on the design implications of fabricating inflatables through machine embroidery. Together with the approach presented in section 3.1, the following points can serve as design guidelines to explore this fabrication technique:

• **Material properties:** the type of thread used to embroider effected the casting process more than it influenced the actuation. In Series 1, for example, we recreated the samples made of polyester in monofilament to compare the outcomes. While the deformation of actuators was

equivalent, the casting process of the monofilament substrates was more challenging. The substrate did not absorb the silicone and tended to curl in the mold during casting, resulting in bubbles in the silicone. Rather than achieving different properties through the thread, we explored variable material properties of the substrate through layering. Layering enables the creation of variable material properties on the substrate, including creating support pads that direct the inflation to one side. This could be explored to support fit around the body through areas of variable flexibility/stretch.

Deformation: we explored different factors that influence the actuation. In multi-state actuators (e.g. Series 1), for instance, the sewing direction had greater impact in deforming the actuator (pocket stretchiness) than small variations of density/spacing of the sew region types of embroidery. Size impacted the homogeneity of actuation. While multiple chambers allow for enlarging the actuation area of the inflatables, their actuation is gradual. For a homogeneous inflation of this kind of structure, multiple input points are likely to work better than one.of digital complexity in the designs.

Integration: open structured substrates allow for the silicone to flow to both sides of the embroidery during casting, creating a better bond between materials. Round edges further support the robustness of the actuators as they reduce the chances of breakage between embroidery and silicone through air pressure. This is particularly pertinent for actuators that use thin walls for enlarging the actuation area through compartmentalization. Employing cutneedles outwork creates a smooth integration of the inflatables into fabrics. Overlapping the substrate and the textile edge allows for a robust connection that works both for woven and knitted fabrics.



Fig. 5 Front views of Interaction Modes 1, 2 and 3, accompanied by their side views in neutral and actuated states. The red markings correspond to the water-soluble film that creates the actuators. M1 is a multi-state inflatable, M2 inflates symmetrically and M3 inflates unilaterally.

Accuracy: we observed accuracy in two instances. The first was the accurate translation of the design into embroidery. Excessive repetition of stitches can deform the embroidery or tear the water-soluble film. When sewing complex shapes, multiple layers of low-density Fill Stitch in various directions work better than Net Fill Stitch for achieving a flexible result. If flexibility is not a priority, a single layer of dense Fill stitch can be used. Alternatively, the outline of complex shapes can be sewn over a new sheet of water-soluble film on the substrate. The result is one-sided inflation. The second instance of accuracy related to using the embroidery frame throughout the various stages of fabrication. This improved the reproducibility of samples and allowed for combining techniques like cutout needle work or washing off the stabilizer for layering.

4 FABRICATION PROCESS

Reflecting on Series 1 to 5, we discern three actuation behaviors which we refer to as interaction modes 1, 2 and 3. The modes are defined by the deformation of the actuators (Fig. 5), consequence of their construction and the substrate structure.

The actuators are integrated by machine embroidery in woven fabrics through cutwork needles. The cutwork needles consist of four blades, each at a different angle, that are installed in the embroidery machine in place of regular needles. The blades punch through the fabric to cut it out. Using this technique allowed us to keep the fabric hooped through most of the fabrication process, supporting the reproducibility of samples. For casting locally, laser cut acrylic hoops were attached to the fabric. Another acrylic piece closed the bottom of the mold.

Below, we present the three modes, their fabrication and the experiences of students implementing them in their projects.

4.1 Mode 1

Mode 1 is made by embroidering two separate parts and a sheet of water-soluble film (Fig. 6). The top part is integrated into fabric and the second part is a freestanding substrate used as backing for the actuators. As seen on Figure 5, this actuator is a multi-state inflatable. It begins to inflate as a pillow until the cut-out shape on the embroidery starts to protrude.

4.2 Mode 2

Mode 2 is a double-sided inflation of the negative space in the embroidered substrate. The fabrication (Fig. 7) requires only one layer of embroidery. The most delicate part of the process is that, unlike the other two modes, the film used to create the inflatable pocket is the same as the one used for embroidering the substrate. This means that for a better interface with the silicone, parts of the film need to be carefully washed away from the substrate without dissolving the center part of the sample. Another downside of this mode is that, based on the experiences of Series 2 and 3, we could not create a complexshaped actuator that remains as flexible.

4.3 Mode 3

Mode 3 was created by layering a dense support pad over the substrate then adding a layer of water-soluble film to create the active area. This construction enables directing the inflation to one side only, which can be used to



Fig. 6 Mode 1 fabrication process. Two embroidered substrates are sewn separately, then assembled on the hoop-mold with a piece of water-soluble film in between parts.



1. Cutwork The shape of the actuator area is cutout from hooped fabric through cutwork needles



2. Embroidering Water-soluble film is placed over the cutout and substrate with actuator design is embroidered. Excess film is removed.



3. Casting Laser cut mold is used to cast the silicone.

Fig. 7 Mode 2 fabrication process. The substrate is embroidered as a single part containing a negative space with the shape of the inflatable.



1. Cutwork The shape of the actuator area is cutout from hooped fabric through cutwork needles



2. Embroidering step 1 Water-soluble film is placed over the cutout. Substrate and support pad are embroidered. Excess film is removed and washed away.



3. Embroidering step 2 Water-soluble film is placed over the support pad and the outline of actuator is embroidered. Excess film is removed.



4. Casting Laser cut hoop mold is used to cast the silicone.

Fig. 8 Mode 3 fabrication process. The embroidery process is divided in two parts. First the substrate and support pad are sewn in layers. The water-soluble film is washed away before another piece of water-soluble film is integrated by sewing the outline of the actuator shape.

implement directional cues in garments. The fabrication process requires washing off the sample, still on the embroidery frame, after step 2 (Fig. 8), then bringing the frame back to the machine to finalize sewing the actuation area. This way, the silicone can flow to both sides of the substrate, without dissolving the middle.

4.4 Case studies: interaction modes reproduced by design students

To begin to assess the reproducibility of the inflatables, we offered the designs of the interaction modes to one master and four bachelor and industrial design students. They had no prior experience with machine embroidery or casting. Their assignment was to reproduce the three modes and to explore possible applications in the context of physical rehabilitation as case studies for their research semester. They were given the freedom to use the inflatables in their projects as they saw fit, including how to actuate them.

For reproducing the samples, students received the embroidery files and the laser cut molds. The process was explained through an introduction workshop in which we reproduced mode 1 as an example, so all techniques could be demonstrated. A follow-up session addressed questions about the fabrication process and their research directions.

The four bachelor students worked as a group to examine the potential of correcting back posture through inflatables by comparing the three modes in three wearing locations. They actuated them manually. The second project, conducted by the master student, tested the use of mode 3 to provide directional cues on four trigger muscles involved in activating the arm to support physical physiotherapy. The inflatables were actuated through air pressure pumps and valves, controlled by a microcontroller. Combined, the students reproduced a total of 26 working samples for their studies, which involved twenty participants each.

At the end of their projects, we conducted a final group session to collect their experiences while reproducing the interaction modes for their studies. In this session, the students related that they struggled with the amount of novel information they received during the introduction session which, according to one of them, "made it hard to visualize the whole process". Thus, when they began to reproduce the samples, two parts of the process were misunderstood. The first was how to continue the embroidery process for fabricating mode 3 after washing off the water-soluble film (step 3, Fig. 8). The other involved understanding that the second embroidered part used in mode 1 was meant for all modes. They only realized this was a mistake while casting their first batch of samples.

When it came to learning about how to reproduce the substrates, one of the students said that "starting the process of embroidery was somewhat time consuming at first [and] it took us a day just to learn how to use the machine" but that it became easier with experience. The process of casting, on the other hand, was troublesome as they found it difficult to reproduce the same pressure on the mold as well as pouring equal amounts of silicone onto each sample. Also detrimental to the accuracy of reproducing actuators was the attachment of the air tubes to the samples. They glued them together, resulting in some samples being bulkier than others. depending on the amount of glue used.

The feedback given by the students suggests that, on the whole, replicating the process is easy, provided that novel information is presented through a handson experience. The number of samples they reproduced corroborates with our assumption that machine embroidery requires a low threshold of experience from designers. The difficulties they reported regarding casting and making the connection between actuators and air tubes are relevant for future work.

5 CONCLUSION

Following a RtD approach, we explored the possibilities of designing soft inflatable actuators by combining machine embroidered substrates and silicone. Our samples explored how to integrate embroidery-based inflatables into textiles and how to design complete form factors.

We contribute with an approach to machine embroidery, several lessons learned through our process and a detailed description of the fabrication process of our interaction modes. The techniques we presented extend the possibilities of designing interactive garments and soft interfaces through machine embroidery. Our reflections offer guidelines for design and open up research questions about potential applications and automatizing the production process of inflatable actuators based on digital machine embroidery. In our work, we dealt with complex shapes through layering pre-programmed sewn region fills in different directions, thus avoiding excessive repetition of stitches.

students without Design previous experience with embroidery or casting reproduced our designs and incorporated them in their research projects. Through their feedback, we found that the potential of scalability and accuracy of the current method of fabrication of the actuators is reduced by the casting procedure. Therefore, further exploration of the casting process is needed. Keeping the samples on the embroidery frame during the different stages of production supported accurate layering and allowed techniques and materials to be combined during the process. One way we envision improving the accurate reproducibility of the final outcome is to keep the fabrics hooped in the embroidery frame until the end of the fabrication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work is part of the i2-CoRT project, being carried out within the context of Interreg V-A Euregio Meuse- Rhine from the European Regional Development Fund. We would also like to acknowledge and thank the students involved in the project for their time and efforts.

REFERENCES

- Steven Ceron et al. 2018. Fiber Embroidery of Self-Sensing Soft Actuators. Biomimetics. 3, 3, 24.
- [2] Alexandra Delazio et al. 2018. Force Jacket. Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - CHI '18 (New York, New York, USA, 2018), 1–12.
- [3] Jiachun Du et al. 2018. ShapeTex. Proceedings of the Twelfth International Conference on Tangible, Embedded, and Embodied Interaction - TEI '18 (New York, New York, USA, 2018), 166–176.
- [4] Lucy E Dunne et al. 2005. Expanding Garment Functionality through Embedded Electronic Technology. Article Designation: Refereed JTATM. 4, 3.
- [5] Scott Gilliland et al. 2010. The Textile Interface Swatchbook: Creating graphical user interface-like widgets with conductive embroidery. International Symposium on Wearable Computers (ISWC) 2010 (Oct. 2010), 1–8.
- [6] Bruna Goveia da Rocha and Oscar Tomico. 2019. Flow: Towards Communicating Directional Cues through Inflatables. Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems - CHI '19 (2019).
- [7] Nur Al-huda Hamdan et al. 2018. Sketch&Stitch: Interactive Embroidery for E-Textiles. Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - CHI '18 (New York, New York, USA, 2018), 1–13.
- [8] Hexoskin: https://www.hexoskin.com/. Accessed: 2019-06-06.
- [9] Torsten Linz et al. 2008. Embroidered Interconnections and Encapsulation for Electronics in Textiles for Wearable

Electronics Applications. Advances in Science and Technology.

- [10] Liquid Printed Pneumatics Self-Assembly Lab: https://selfassemblylab. mit.edu/liquid-printed-pneumatics/. Accessed: 2018- 07-02.
- [11] Troy McDaniel et al. 2010. Vibrotactile stimulations for motor skill training. HAVE 2010 - 2010 IEEE International Symposium on Haptic Audio-Visual Environments and Games, Proceedings (2010).
- [12] Viktorija Mecnika et al. 2015. Technical Embroidery for Smart Textiles: Review. Materials Science. Textile and Clothing Technology.
- [13] Jifei Ou et al. aeroMorph Heat-sealing Inflatable Shape-change Materials for Interaction Design.
- [14] Rehmi Post et al. 2000. E-broidery: Design and fabrication of textile-based computing. IBM Systems Journal. 39, 3.4, 840–860.
- [15] Michael Raitor et al. 2017. WRAP: Wearable, restricted-aperture pneumatics for haptic guidance. Proceedings - IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation (2017).
- [16] Sensoria Fitness: http://www.sensoriafitness.com/. Accessed: 2019-04-01.
- [17] Lining Yao et al. 2013. PneUI. Proceedings of the 26th annual ACM symposium on User interface software and technology - UIST '13 (2013).
- [18] Clint Zeagler and Clint. 2017. Where to wear it. Proceedings of the 2017 ACM International Symposium on Wearable Computers - ISWC '17 (New York, New York, USA, 2017), 150–157

3.2 Crafting Research Products through Digital Machine Embroidery

Published as

Bruna Goveia da Rocha, Oscar Tomico, Panos Markopoulos, and Daniel Tetteroo. 2020. Crafting Research Products through Digital Machine Embroidery. In Proceedings of the 2020 ACM Designing Interactive Systems Conference (DIS '20). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 341–350. https://doi.org/10.1145/3357236.3395443



Figure 1. Overview of embroidery designs of the sensorized soles prototypes and research products for a smart sock. Machine embroidery allowed making precise alterations between designs while certain elements, such as relative sensor alignment could be preserved to facilitate comparisons and carrying through early design decisions across proofs of concept, prototypes and research products. Changes included, as marked above: substrate size (sz), substrate shape (sp), substrate attributes (sb), pressure sensor construction (sn), routing of conductive traces (r), contact pads (cp), the design of the flex PCB containing accelerometer (f).

ABSTRACT

Wearables combine practical and conceptualchallengesrelatedtoelectronics, clothing and interaction design. Research through design in this area is commonly done iteratively through prototypes of increasing levels of fidelity, often relying on manual fabrication. However, manual fabrication presents challenges when comparing prototypes due to their varying levels of realization and the inaccuracy of reproductions. We discuss how using digital machine embroidery, combined with chemical embroidery technique, supports fabricating consistent highfidelity prototypes for soft wearables in the form of research products. Our approach

involves creating the textile substrate together with integrating and embedding electronic components through a unified process whilst keeping high control over between prototypes. alterations We illustrate this approach through the design process of the Smart Sock, a sensorized sock for rehabilitation. We detail the challenges behind our process and reflect on the opportunities emerging from using digital machine and chemical embroidery techniques combined to craft research products.

AUTHOR KEYWORDS

Digital machine embroidery; soft wearables; Research Products; e-textiles; textile sensors; digital fabrication

INTRODUCTION

Textiles serve us in many ways that include cultural, aesthetic and functional purposes. In the form of clothing, textiles can elicit an intimate relationship with users, regardless of their sense of fashion [35], cultivating personal meanings and social functions [9]. Integrating electronics and interactive technology in garments can potentially help capitalize upon the inherent qualities of textiles to enable a wide range of on-body applications and interaction possibilities. In the field of healthcare, for example, wearables offer opportunities for continuous and unobtrusive monitoring of patients in everyday living which can improve their quality of life [3,14]. This potential has attracted many HCI researchers into the field of wearables and, especially, soft wearables.

Soft wearables are typically designed in an iterative process that explores material properties, progressively integrating sensing and interaction functionality [35]. Creating them is complex as it requires overcoming challenges related to electronics and wearability together with challenges specific pertaining to the application context [36]. Such combined challenges include comfort, unobtrusiveness, flexibility, stretchability, robustness of the connections between hard and soft electronics, or the reliability of the data outputs. To address these concerns, interaction design researchers are called to apply techniques and develop skills that are outside their traditional range, including selecting technologies that are or can become wearable, fabricating hybrid materials and designing garments. While examples of interesting design research concepts and applications abound, there is little guidance for interaction design researchers as to how to realize such prototypes in a high level of detail. This is in stark contrast to the

effort needed to realize the prototypes and learning or developing the techniques needed to effectively integrate technology into garments within an iterative design process [31,32].

Using ready-made garments as a base for prototyping and toolkits including sewable ready-made components, such as the LillyPad Arduino [7], is an approach often adopted by developers of various backgrounds entering this area, as it lowers the threshold of fabrication skills needed to experiment with wearable concepts [32]. The level of fidelity of the prototypes of such concepts, however, is hindered by the restrictions imposed by these off-theshelf solutions and the amount of manual work required for constructing prototypes. Next to being time consuming, relying largely on manual fabrication can also result in successive prototypes differing in more ways than intended, hampering comparisons between them. This can pose obstacles to the design process of creating soft wearables and it can be problematic when the design researcher needs to make the transition from a one-of-a-kind proof of concept to a design for scalable production. For this, we need to develop guidance, systematize and disseminate knowledge for how to make the best use of relevant fabrication techniques to support iterative processes of soft wearables in the form of research products (finished products designed for research [27,28]).

Integrating machine-logic into the project development can not only mean increasing the accuracy and reproducibility of prototypes through automation, it can also be used to support and inform the design research process [29]. The high level of fidelity of research products allows evaluating them for what they are rather than what they can potentially become [28]. This is particularly interesting for wearables as the conditions in which they will be tested (e.g. on curved and

moving bodies) demands a higher level of fidelity in terms of aesthetics and material properties than other kinds of prototypes might require. The Project Jacquard [34], for example, considered the complete production chain of garments to create touch-sensitive textiles through weaving in industrial scale. Various other digital fabrication methods have already been explored for creating textile-based research products. The Hybrid Bricolage [11] blends hand and digital crafting through laser cutting patterns into fabric to achieve high quality smocking effects on soft objects that are finished by hand. Lea Albaugh et. al [2] used digital machine knitting to create soft actuated objects through tendons. The approach allows rapidly fabricating finished products that are breathable, lightweight and soft to the touch.

We have chosen digital machine embroidery for its versatility. Digital machine embroidery has been used in many applications as means to create soft circuitry [33], different types of sensors [1,24,26], actuators [8,12,16], heating elements [5], resistors [17] as well as for interconnections with electronic components [4,22]. We argue that digital machine embroidery can also enable the fabrication of reproducible prototypes, supporting highly iterative processes while remaining a low entry fabrication technique for non-textile experts. During the development process, variables of the design can be isolated and precise changes canbemadebothforoptimizationbutalsoas a means of exploring alternative solutions. The stability granted by the embroidery frame and the accurate positioning of the needle allows for appliqué techniques, such as integrating pre-cut materials [38], that can be used to create or embed interactive components during the sewing process. Furthermore, the use of chemical embroidery technique (embroidering on

water-soluble stabilizer), allows creating a free-standing embroidered substrate. This technique, which is commonly used to create machine-made lace, has been used in HCl for creating inflatable actuators [16] and on-skin interfaces [19] but is still underexplored in the context of wearables. In our work, this technique enabled us fabricating the textile substrate in the shape of parts of the wearable and integrating technology through the same process, which further reduced the burden of constructing garments.

In this paper, we illustrate our approach through the design process of the Smart Sock, a sensorized sock for rehabilitation. By focusing on textile practice, we aim to develop and encode the knowledge involved in designing and fabricating our proofs of concept, prototypes and, more importantly, research products in a way that other design researchers can apply it. To achieve this, we will first explain the context of the project and our research through design process. Then, we will detail our approach to digital machine embroidery through the design elements used throughout the project (Figure 1). Lastly, we contribute with reflections on the implications of the techniques we used and, especially, on how digital machine embroidery can be beneficial for the development research products for soft wearable applications.

THE CASE OF THE SMART SOCK

We present a research through design (RtD) exploration of digital machine embroidery in supporting the process of crafting research products. Our approach builds on known techniques used to integrate technology into soft wearables through digital machine embroidery to deal with the challenges of designing reproducible soft wearables for healthcare. Through the case of the Smart Sock, we articulate a number of challenges and illustrate



Figure 2. Inside of the sole of the second proof of concept. Conductive traces were embroidered on cotton fabric to allow for soldering the FSR sensors in fixed positions. The cotton was attached to an off-the-shelf hallux sock.

how our approach can support forming a design language through embroidered design elements. Before detailing these, we first introduce the broader research context and design process of the Smart Sock project.

Research context and Approach

The work presented in this paper was part of a bigger research effort that aimed to develop solutions for the recovery of trauma patients with surgically treated fractures of the lower extremities through early weight-bearing. The project was developed between 2015 and 2017 by a multidisciplinary team that included a movement scientist, surgeons, physiotherapists, data scientists, engineers and industrial designers.

The sock was designed to measure several parameters related to weight division, unwinding of the foot and indicators of overload which are typically evaluated in clinical practice. The assessment of the quality of gait was determined by comparing the affected limb to the healthy one as baseline. Early explorations using conventional pressure sensors concluded that five pressure sensors and an accelerometer/gyroscope were the most essential sensors to be integrated into a textile-based prototype. As the system would compare the pressure sensors of the sock of the affected foot to each other as well as with their pairs on the sock on the healthy one, the reproducibility of the design and sensor alignment were essential for the development of the algorithms. Thus, rather than designing technology and form factor separately. our approach to crafting research products was inspired by a postphenomenological approach to wearable technology [10], in which technology is treated as a material, and the notion of wearable composition [15], in which the design of components evolves together with the wearable. Even to explore alternative sensor constructions, sensor samples were integrated onto the embroidered substrate and, with few exceptions, into the wearable form factor to account for the many aspects that can affect sensor performance when testing on a tabletop and on the body. In this paper, we focus on the use of digital machine embroidery as the primary fabrication tool throughout the design process of the wearable

Design process

The design research process was handson and highly paced, resulting in two proofs of concept, two prototypes and seven research products in a period of a year and a half. The proofs of concept were constructed with off-the shelf Force Sensing Resistor (FSR) sensors embedded on off-the-shelf hallux socks as a starting point. These had the purpose of determining the number and location of pressure sensors required under the foot as well as to collect data for initiating the algorithm development.

The number of sensors and corresponding conductive traces motivated the transition towards integrated textile solutions. Embroidery offered the advantage of accommodating the large number of conductive traces while creating a thin wearable that could withstand the stress



Figure 3. Sole of the second proof of concept. Embroidered pads were used to prevent the offthe-shelf pressure sensors from bending. Photo credit: Scott Delbressine

of the movement and weight of the body. Embroidery was first introduced in the project to substitute conventional wires with conductive yarn in the second proof of concept (figure 2) and to reduce the amount of manual work in placing the sensors into the ready-made sock. Additionally, embroidered patches were used as support pads for the FSR sensors to prevent them from folding (figure 3). Based on these, we started exploring how to unify the fabrication process of the sensors and the wearable form factor through two prototypes. The prototypes consisted of embroidered substrates in the shape of the sole, integrated or embedded pressure sensors, conductive traces and insulation layer (zigzag stitch, also known as couching stitch, sewn over conductive traces to protect them) through embroidery. In the prototypes we consider to be research products, two additional embroidered parts were used to form a ballerina sock, enabling them to be worn as finished products.

The process of developing prototypes towards research products and using them to collect data for developing or

for validating the algorithms continued throughout the project. While the proofs of concept were used to initiate the process of development of algorithms, research products were tested each in conditions of gradually increasing complexity: 1) testing sensors on a table bench (static testing), 2) testing sensors on the body while on a treadmill (dynamic testing under controlled conditions) and 3) testing sensors on the body during walking (dynamic testing under semi-controlled non-medical conditions). As devices. collecting data from patients through our prototypes was not possible, thus healthy individuals performed the different types of pathological walk patterns that the system should be able to identify to assess the quality of gait.

The final wearable, research product 7, included the five textile pressure sensors and an accelerometer positioned near the toe. The flex PCB containing the accelerometer (Figure 4) was designed to be embroidery friendly, its contact pads were wide and double sided to improve the robustness of the interconnections.



Figure 4. Detail of research product 7. The flexible PCB containing the accelerometer/gyroscope was designed to be embroidery friendly. The contact pads of the PCB were double-sided and wide to increase contact with conducive traces.

RESEARCH THROUGH DESIGN OF SOFT WEARABLES THROUGH DIGITAL MACHINE EMBROIDERY

Soft wearables explore solutions to replace conventional electronics with soft or textile alternatives to offer on-body interactive possibilities while preserving textile character of the garments. As not all electronic components can be substituted by textile or other flexible alternatives. it remains necessary to interconnect hard and soft materials. Approaches to interconnecting electronics and conductive yarns include soldering, gluing, crimping and embroidery [23]. Embroidery offers the advantage of creating textile wiring and interconnections [25] and allows the use of different kinds of yarn and finishes (insulated and non-insulated). these reasons. digital machine For embroidery has become a popular way of integrating conductive varns to soft wearables that allows for more freedom of routing of the conductive thread than knitting and weaving [25]. Researchers have also engaged in creating means for practitioners of varying levels of expertise to engage with digital machine embroidery to fabricate textile-based circuits and interfaces. The system presented in Sketch & Stitch [18], for example, allows users to create circuits through drawing directly on the fabric and using stickers as placeholders for electronic components. The colors in the drawing and stickers are recognized by a scanner and then converted into embroidery elements such as conductive traces, bridges (crossings of conductive traces), sensors and insulation. The system allows users to reach high quality outcomes without the need for programming. Although pre-set elements can support speedy explorations, the lack of freedom of making alterations on stitch level restraints the opportunities of such a technique.TheTextileInterfaceSwatchbook [13,37] proposes the use of interactive swatches created through embroidery to allow designers to experiment the feel and interactive possibilities of interfaces as inspiration for designing new ones. The embroidered elements used in the swatches also included embroidered sensors, conductive traces and insulation as well as raised embroidery, used to guide the fingers of users. To be experienced, the swatches need to be connected to a binder containing the electronics in its spine.

We combined techniques found in such examples with chemical embroidery, which means that the designs were sewn on a water-soluble stabilizer, to create the freestanding textile substrates in shape of the soles onto which components and circuitry were embroidered, fashioning garment parts in a single fabrication method.

In our RtD process, the use of digital machine embroidery was a strong tool for crafting soft wearables not only for the freedom but also for the stability provided by the embroidery frame, which allowed us to manually intervene in the process without compromising reproducibility.

Machine embroidery made our iterative process fast paced and allowed for high control over small alterations between research products. prototypes and Furthermore, contrary to a common assertion that knitting and weaving enable conductive yarn integration during fabric production while embroidery enables it as a post-treatment for a ready-made fabric [18,25], the textile substrate and conductive elements of our prototypes and research products were fabricated through the same process. Through this approach, it was possible to explore material qualities of the embroidery, including layering embroidered elements of varied sewing attributes to add functions to the substrate locally. These included protecting the interconnections with the flex PCB through a support pad

and using the programmable nature of machine embroidery to create stretchable substrates to support fit to the body.

Embroidery techniques and design elements

We based our RtD process on techniques and examples of previous work in the field. In this section, we describe the elements used in our process to consolidate knowledge on the possibilities of employing digital machine embroidery develop soft wearables and soft to applications. Our prototypes and research products were composed from different embroidered elements: substrate, support pads, placeholders, conductive traces, contact pads, sensor components and insulation. The designs were programmed in an embroidery digitizing software (PE-Design 10) and embroidered by a digital machine embroidery (Brother PR655) using conventional embroidery threads on a thick water-soluble stabilizer (Gunold Solvy 80).

Substrate

To reduce the number of steps needed to fabricate the prototypes, we explored embroidering free-standing substrates, used as a base for the soles (figure 5). This way, the final shapes of the prototype parts were determined completely through embroidery. Furthermore, it was possible to determine and explore its material properties. Different sewing attributes influenced the material properties of the embroidery, such as the use of underlay stitching (layer of stitches under the embroidered design, typically used for stability and support), density and sewing direction. In research products 2 and 3 (figure 5b), for example, the substrate of the sole could stretch in the length of the foot. The two other substrate parts used to turn the soles into ballerina socks stretched in the other direction, allowing them to conform to the heel and toes.



Figure 5. Substrates of research product 1 (a), research products 2 and 3 (b), and research products 4, 5, 6 and 7 (c). Sewing attributes were used to control the properties of the textile. The absence of underlay stitching (vertical lines seen in A) in substrate B, for example, enabled the sole to stretch.

Support pads

During test-wearing of our prototypes, preventing the connections to the PCB from getting loose due to friction between the different materials was a challenge. In research product 7, this issue was solved by sewing an additional layer of dense fill stitch over the substrate to serve as a support pad to the component (figure 6). The support pad prevented the PCB from bending, keeping connections tight. A support pad was also used in prototype 1 to create a flat surface for the pressure sensors as the substrate was textured. In a different use of the technique, the Textile Interface Swatchbook [13] used support pads as base for elevating embroidered sensors to highlight tactile features.

Placeholders

In conventional embroidery, adding extra layers of textiles or other materials to



Figure 6. Detail of research product 7 showcasing part of the conductive traces under insulation zigzag stitch exposed and placeholders (blue markings) for attaching sensors.



Figure 7. Detail of an electrode integrated on the sole of the research product 1 (left) and its corresponding top electrode (right), sewn as a free-standing patch. Eeontex was embedded in between them to form the pressure sensor.

the embroidery can be used to create embellishments known as appliqués. It is common to make them by placing a larger piece of material than the final appliqué onto the frame, stitch it down then cut away the excess material. The edges can be covered by a zigzag stitch for a neat finish. In some cases, appliqués are pre-cut or ready-made, such as when integrating electronic components onto the embroidery, thus their positioning onto the frame should be accurate. Creating placeholders by sewing placement lines onto the substrate supports aligning the contact areas of components with the conductive traces [22]. In our project, placeholders marked the position of components such as the flex PCB or preassembled textile pressure sensors (see blue markings on figures 6 and 7).

Sensor construction

Manually integrating sensors into the garment can be challenging. In the prototype 2 and research products 1 and 2, we fixed the position of pressure sensors by embroidering conductive yarn as the electrodes to construct the sensors (figure 7). Pressure sensitive textile (EeonTex) was embedded in between electrodes. The electrode sewn directly on the substrate was embroidered as part of the traces which also helped keeping

the prototypes thin and connections robust. The other main challenges related to sensors in this project were range and drifting. Later prototypes explored various alternative sensor constructions that included conductive textile in place of the embroidered electrodes (research products 3, 4, 6 and 7), the pressure sensitive fabric alone (research product 5), or pre-assembled sensors using conductive textile as electrodes (research products 6 and 7) or. In terms of integration, research product 5 was the most successful as its sensor was the simplest, requiring the least manual work.

Conductive traces & interconnections

Flexibility and robustness of the interconnections in soft wearables are challenges that can be solved in various ways. For our project, keeping them thin was also very important to prevent discomfort from stepping on thick interconnections components. Conductive or yarn (Shieldex 110/34 dtex 2 Plv HC+B) was used to embroider the conductive traces. Permanent interconnections were used to embed the flexible substrate with the accelerometer to keep the thinnest profile possible [25]. In this technique, the needle stitched through the PCB without pre-drilled holes to ensure a more robust connection [22].

Contact pads

Assembling the prototypes with the electronics of the control unit was time consuming in the early phase of the project. For the second proof of concept, we embedded pin headers into the sock to allow detaching the control unit, which enabled the subsequent prototypes to be rapidly fabricated and tested by using the same electronics. Sewing contact pads from conductive yarns can match the contact pads of conventional electronics [33]. In prototypes 1 and 2, we used this approach to connect the traces to electronics through conductive snap buttons that could be



Figure 8. Detail of research product 3. The contact pads facilitated the temporary connection to electronics or multimeters through testing clips.

soldered to conventional wires. In research products 1, 2 and 3 of the embroidered prototypes, we used embroidered contact pads to facilitate connecting conductive traces to electronics through alligator clips during the testing process (figure 8). From research product 4 onwards, we used Pomona Minigrabber® test clips instead. Those clips feature small hooks that allowed us to make tight connections with traces without having to use large contact pads.

Insulation

Non-conductive yarn sewn over noninsulated conductive traces can be used to insulate them [6,13,33]. In the case of the sock, the non-conductive yarn was sewn as a zigzag stitch (stitch width 1,2 mm and density 4,5 line/mm) over the conductive traces which allowed a close proximity between them without causing issues



Figure 9. Detail of research product 7 showcasing part of the conductive traces under insulation zigzag stitch exposed and placeholders (blue markings) for attaching sensors.



Figure 10. Detail of research product 5 showcasing the zigzag stitch sewn over the U shape pressure sensors made of Eeontex.

(figure 9). Furthermore, to avoid fraying, the entry and exit points of the embroidered paths that made the conductive traces was edited so that their ends were tucked under the insulation.

Integrated sensors

Although placeholders support aligning external materials to the embroidery, their exact position can still vary. Stitching through the Eeontex could thus mean that each sensor is pre-loaded differently. To avoid this issue, we integrated sensors by stitching through the conductive electrodes. In the case of research product 5, the sensor was made of the Eeontex only. A zigzag stitch was then used to embed the U shape sensor (figure 10). By using the stitch width wider than the shape, the machine did not stitch through the sensor. Instead, it wrapped the shape and allowed the pre-load to be even in all sensors.

IMPLICATIONS OF USING DIGITAL MACHINE EMBROIDERY IN CRAFTING RESEARCH PRODUCTS

In this section, we distill some lessons learned through addressing the challenges and opportunities presented in the previous section. While some of the embroidery techniques used to craft our prototypes are not new as such, knowledge about them is scattered in the literature and coupled to specific embroidered elements. In the section that follows, we organize
these techniques and compare them to examples in the literature thus providing a comprehensive resource for design researchers wishing to use embroidery as a means of crafting research products.

Sensor alignment

For the sock, ensuring that the sensor readings for both feet could he comparable was key. Therefore, sensor alignment was the main challenge in the project that motivated the use of digital machine embroidery. The importance of preserving the relative distance between sensors is not exclusive to our application. For example, applications that measure muscle activation [20] or that compare different segments of the body for movement analysis, also require sensors to be applied to specific areas of the body, making sensor alignment an important aspect of the system design.

By making use of digital machine embroidery to fabricate research products it was possible to preserve sensor alignment during our process while making incremental changes in the design in order to a) optimize them, b) explore their aesthetic and material properties, c) include new components and d) investigate the performance of various sensor designs.

Regarding optimization, small but accurate adjustments like changing the sewing attributes of elements were made possible through digital machine embroidery. Although of lesser impact to the design, changing the stitch type of contact pads at the end of conductive traces between research products 2 and 3, for example, avoided damaging the conductive yarn when connecting/disconnecting testing facilitating evaluations. Another clips, example was moving the entry and exit points of embroidered paths of conductive traces to tuck their ends under the insulation. This improved the finish of the embroidery, prevented fraying and,

consequently, avoided the risk of potential contact between traces. More substantial changes to the shape or the material properties of the substrate and other embroidered elements were also possible while preserving sensor alignment. For instance, while the shape of prototype 2 was conceived to match the sole of the hallux sock used in the proof of concepts, the shape was changed to a ballerina sock when moving towards research products. The ballerina socks also integrated the flexible PCB into the sole of the wearable, which in later versions changed location so it would not be positioned under the ball of the foot. These alterations did not interfere with the relative position of the sensors or other design features we wished to preserve. Finally, our approach allowed exploring different sensor designs through an integrated solution, that enabled testing them statically on a tabletop and dynamically on the body, in more or less controlled circumstances.

Layering & manipulating fabric character

Most of the time, early prototyping of wearables uses off-the-shelf fabrics which means that the material properties of the final design are based on those of the fabric of choice. Through the use of chemical embroidery, we saw the opportunity of creating our own material through layering embroidered designs. This resulted in a seamless integration of elements. In the course of the project, we explored how to create free-standing embroidered substrates to form wearables. This involved exploring how material properties of the substrate could be changed through variations in the sewing attributes and through layering. Note that, in our process, we do not mean layering as the multilayer soft circuits described by Orth and Post [33]. We mean layers of embroidery sewn directly on top of each other during



Figure 11. The ballerina sock form factor of the research products was created via chemical embroidery. It was composed by three parts: the sole, upper toes and heel.

fabrication. That does not mean we restrict our view to the creation of the substrate as, arguably, the embroidered electrodes together with conductive traces as well as insulation elements can be seen as layers and affect the material properties of the wearable. Examples from the bridge layers from Sketch & Stitch [18] or the layered sensor construction to make EMG sensors [21] show how this approach can be taken further into crafting complex soft circuits and textile sensors.

The attributes we explored were mostly the kind of fill stitch, the use of underlay stitching, the sewing direction and the

density/spacing of the fill. In research product 1, for instance, the substrate is formed by two layers sewn on top of each other. The first layer was a low-density fill stitch (with underlay stitching) to keep the form and structure of the final material stable after washing away the stabilizer. The second was a Zigzag Net Fill Stitch sewn in 450 angle. The result is flexible but stable in shape as the sewn lines of the first layer prevent stretch. Research product 2 has practically the same sewing attributes, with the exception of not having underlay stitching on the first layer. This difference was enough to make the structure stretchable in one direction. The



Figure 12. Size difference between research products 2 (top) and 7 (bottom). The relative distance between components was preserved while resizing the substrate shape.

same sewing attributes were used to craft the two pieces used to turn the soles into ballerina socks from research product 1 onwards (figure 11). For the sake of keeping the distance between the sensors fixed, the substrate used in prototypes 6, 7, 8 and 9 was composed by a denser structure made from one layer of running stitch without underlay stitching and a layer of net fill stitch. In research product 7, we also explored layering to change properties locally. Relatively dense fill stitch (4,5 line/ mm) support pads were sewn over the substrate to protect the flexible PCB and its interconnections.

Although it was not the focus of our project, we also briefly explored how yarn can affect the material properties by embroidering versions of the substrates in cotton or silk in place of the polyester used throughout the project. Both result in much softer substrates, cotton having a more course texture than silk. After washing, the materials relax differently resulting in different overall dimensions and texture. Polyester seemed to remain the truest to the original design in terms of its dimensions. Further explorations of the effects of sewing attributes as well as yarn choices in the material properties of substrates should be done to extend the understanding of how to design them.

Shaping & Construction

Exploring chemical embroidery technique for creating the substrate of the soft wearable presents the opportunity to reduce the amount of manual work in the assembly of the research products. Rather than embroidering soft circuits on fabric, cutting patterns and sewing them together to form the wearable, the final shapes are already produced by the embroidery machine. Similar to 3D printers and other digital fabrication machines, however, the trade-off for these benefits is the workenvelope. The maximum size of a part that can be fabricated is determined by the machine [30]. The embroidery machine we used in our project has a maximum area of 200x300 mm. Thus, repositioning the stabilizer would be needed to embroider larger parts, hindering the precision of the final piece.

If we were not limited by the size of the embroidery machine, it would have been possible to further explore shaping the full wearable through one step, rather than in three separate parts. Regardless, the technique allowed us to scale the shape of the sole while preserving the sensor dimensions and their relative position (Figure 12). We explored this due to the fact that, for collecting more data, the population of individuals available required a larger size than the size of the previous prototypes. This process of enlarging the soles was done manually through the embroidery digitizing software. Nonetheless, it was possible to keep the relative alignment and placement of the sensors through their center. The precision and workflow of such alterations could be further improved in the future through generative design.

CONCLUSION

The contribution of this paper is to propose a path of developing and fabricating soft wearables in the form of research products by means of digital machine embroidery. Adopting machinelogic into the design process has shown to resolve some substantial challenges that design researchers face in developing soft wearables. Specifically, it allowed for accurately reproducing prototype elements, providing a higher level of control over design alterations between research products when compared to the traditional approach where electronics are integrated manually in garments. This advantage could be gained while at the same time offering substantial flexibility and high level of fidelity regarding the material and aesthetic properties of the prototypes. We exemplified this approach in the context of the Smart Sock, where our prototyping techniques enabled combining concerns and solutions from different disciplinary perspectives into a series of research products, prototypes of equal levels of fidelity and realization. Our experience showed that digital machine embroidery can be a fruitful driver for innovation for designing soft wearables. Specifically, our work shows promise in further exploring how to design the material qualities and properties of free-standing embroidered substrates, opening up opportunities to research end-to-end fabrication of wearable research products through digital machine embroidery. Future steps could include moving further towards a design language of digital embroidery through software packages to handle scalability of designs and to manipulate material properties of the embroidered substrates and elements.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This project was funded by the AO Foundation Strategy Fund. The Smart

Sock was made through the collaboration between IDEE (Instrument Development, Engineering and Evaluation department), Maastricht UMC+, Maastricht University, Adelante and Eindhoven University of Technology. We thank all the team involved.

REFERENCES

- [1] Roland Aigner, Andreas Pointner, Thomas Preindl, Patrick Parzer, and Michael Haller. 2020. Embroidered Resistive Pressure Sensors: a Novel Approach for Textile Interfaces. In Proceedings of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI'20).
- [2] Lea Albaugh, Scott Hudson, and Lining Yao. 2019. Digital Fabrication of Soft Actuated Objects by Machine Knitting. In Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - CHI '19, 1–13. https://doi. org/10.1145/3290605.3300414
- [3] Fabrice Axisa, Pierre M. Schmitt, Claudine Gehin, Georges Delhomme, Eric McAdams, and André Dittmar. 2005. Flexible Technologies and Smart Clothing for Citizen Medicine, Home Healthcare, and Disease Prevention. IEEE Transactions on Information Technology in Biomedicine 9, 3: 325–336. https:// doi.org/10.1109/titb.2005.854505
- [4] Mary Ellen Berglund, Julia Duvall, Cory Simon, and Lucy E. Dunne.
 2015. Surface-Mount Component Attachment for E-Textiles. In Proceedings of the 2015 ACM International Symposium on Wearable Computers - ISWC '15, 65–66. https://doi. org/10.1145/2802083.2808413
- [5] Joanna Berzowska and Marguerite Bromley. 2007. Soft Computation Through Conductive Textiles. In Proceedings of the International Foundation of Fashion Technology Institutes Conference, 12–15.

- [6] Leah Buechley and Michael Eisenberg. 2009. Fabric PCBs, electronic sequins, and socket buttons: techniques for e-textile craft. Personal and Ubiquitous Computing 13, 2: 133–150. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00779-007-0181-0
- [7] Leah Buechley, Mike Eisenberg, Jaime Catchen, and Ali Crockett. 2008. The LilyPad Arduino: Using Computational Textiles to Investigate Engagement, Aesthetics, and Diversity in Computer Science Education.
- [8] Steven Ceron, Itai Cohen, Robert Shepherd, James Pikul, Cindy Harnett, Steven Ceron, Itai Cohen, Robert F. Shepherd, James H. Pikul, and Cindy Harnett. 2018. Fiber Embroidery of Self-Sensing Soft Actuators. Biomimetics 3, 3: 24. https://doi.org/10.3390/biomimetics3030024
- [9] Laura Devendorf, Joanne Lo, Noura Howell, Jung Lin Lee, Nan-Wei Gong, M Emre Karagozler, Shiho Fukuhara, Ivan Poupyrev, Eric Paulos, and Kimiko Ryokai. "I don't want to wear a screen": Probing Perceptions of and Possibilities for Dynamic Displays on Clothing. https://doi. org/10.1145/2858036.2858192
- [10] Pauline van Dongen, Ron Wakkary, Oscar Tomico, and Stephen Wensveen. 2019. Towards a Postphenomenological Approach to Wearable Technology through Design Journeys. https://doi. org/10.17028/RD.LBORO.9724649.V1
- [11] Tamara Anna Efrat, Moran Mizrahi, and Amit Zoran. 2016. The hybrid bricolage - Bridging parametric design with craft through algorithmic modularity. In Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - Proceedings, 5984–5995. https://doi. org/10.1145/2858036.2858441
- [12] Loe Feijs and Marina Toeters. 2016. Pied de Pulse: Packing Embroidered Circles and Coil Actuators in Pied de Poule

(Houndstooth). In Proceedings of Bridges 2016: Mathematics, Music, Art, Architecture, Education, Culture, 415–418.

- [13] Scott Gilliland, Nicholas Komor, Thad Starner, and Clint Zeagler. 2010. The Textile Interface Swatchbook: Creating graphical user interface-like widgets with conductive embroidery. In International Symposium on Wearable Computers (ISWC) 2010, 1–8. https://doi. org/10.1109/ISWC.2010.5665876
- [14] Constantine Glaros and Dimitrios I Fotiadis. 2015. Wearable Devices in Healthcare. In Intelligent Paradigms for Healthcare Enterprises. Studies in Fuzziness and Soft Computing. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, 237–264. https://doi. org/https://doi.org/10.1007/11311966_8
- [15] Bruna Goveia da Rocha and Oscar Tomico. 2019. Flow: Towards Communicating Directional Cues through Inflatables. In Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems - CHI '19. https:// doi.org/10.1145/3290607.3312828
- [16] Bruna Goveia da Rocha, Oscar Tomico, Daniel Tetteroo, and Panos Markopoulos. 2019. Inflatable actuators based on machine embroidery. https://doi. org/10.17028/RD.LBORO.9724688.V1
- [17] Ramyah Gowrishankar and Jussi Mikkonen. Pattern Resistors: Exploring Resistive Motifs as Components for E-embroidery. Retrieved January 31, 2020 from http://www.kobakant.at/ DIY/?cat=26.
- [18] Nur Al-huda Hamdan, Simon Voelker, and Jan Borchers. 2018. Sketch&Stitch: Interactive Embroidery for E-Textiles. In Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - CHI '18, 1–13. https://doi. org/10.1145/3173574.3173656
- [19] Hsin-liu Kao and Kent Lyons. 2018.

SkinWire: Fabricating a Self-Contained On-Skin PCB for the Hand. Proc. ACM Interact. Mob. Wearable Ubiquitous Technol 2, 116: 23. https://doi. org/10.1145/3264926

- [20] J Walter Lee, Stephanie Wang, Caroline Albers, and Lucy E Dunne. Garment-based EMG System for Intra-spacesuit Biomechanics Analysis. ISWC 18. https://doi. org/10.1145/3267242.3267300
- [21] Torsten Linz, Lena Gourmelon, and Geert Langereis. Contactless EMG sensors embroidered onto textile. Retrieved April 11, 2019 from https:// link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007%2F978-3-540-70994-7_5.pdf
- [22] Torsten Linz, Christine Kallmayer, Rolf Aschenbrenner, and Herbert Reichl. Embroidering Electrical Interconnects with Conductive Yarn for The Integration of Flexible Electronic Modules into Fabric. In Ninth IEEE International Symposium on Wearable Computers (ISWC'05), 86–91. https://doi.org/10.1109/ ISWC.2005.19
- [23] Torsten Linz, Christine Kallmayer, Rolf Aschenbrenner, and Herbert Reichl. 2005. New Interconnection Technologies for the Integration of Electronics on Textile Substrates. Ambience, September. Retrieved May 21, 2019 from http:// publica.fraunhofer.de/eprints/urn_nbn_ de_0011-n-1205423.pdf
- [24] Torsten Linz, Christine Kallmayer, Rolf Aschenbrenner, and Herbert Reichl. 2006. Fully integrated EKG shirt based on embroidered electrical interconnections with conductive yarn and miniaturized flexible electronics. In Proceedings - BSN 2006: International Workshop on Wearable and Implantable Body Sensor Networks. https://doi. org/10.1109/BSN.2006.26
- [25] Torsten Linz, René Vieroth, Christian

Dils, Mathias Koch, Tanja Braun, Karl Friedrich Becker, Christine Kallmayer, and Soon Min Hong. 2008. Embroidered Interconnections and Encapsulation for Electronics in Textiles for Wearable Electronics Applications. Advances in Science and Technology 60: 85–94. https://doi.org/10.4028/www.scientific. net/AST.60.85

- [26] Jan Meyer, Paul Lukowicz, and Gerhard Tröster. 2006. Textile Pressure Sensor for Muscle Activity and Motion Detection. In 10th IEEE International Symposium on Wearable Computers. https:// doi.org/10.1109/ISWC.2006.286346
- [27] Troy Robert Nachtigall, Oscar Tomico, Ron Wakkary, Stephan Wensveen, Pauline Van Dongen, Leonie Tenthof Van Noorden, and Leonie Suzanne. Towards Ultra Personalized 4D Printed Shoes. https://doi. org/10.1145/3170427.3174369
- [28] William Odom, Ron Wakkary, Younkyung Lim, Audrey Desjardins, Bart Hengeveld, and Richard Banks. 2016. From Research Prototype to Research Product. In Proceedings of the 2016 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - CHI '16, 2549–2561. https://doi. org/10.1145/2858036.2858447
- [29] Neri Oxman. 2007. Digital Craft: Fabrication-Based Design in the Age of Digital Production. In Workshop Proceedings for Ubicomp 2007: International Conference on Ubiquitous Computing, 534–538.
- [30] Nadya Peek and Ilan Moyer. 2017. Popfab: A Case for Portable Digital Fabrication. https://doi. org/10.1145/3024969.3025009
- [31] Hannah Perner-Wilson, Leah Buechley, and Mika Satomi. 2011. Handcrafting textile interfaces from a kit-of-no-parts. In Proceedings of

the 5th International Conference on Tangible Embedded and Embodied Interaction, TEl'11, 61–67. https://doi. org/10.1145/1935701.1935715

- [32] Irene Posch, Liza Stark, and Geraldine Fitzpatrick. 2019. eTextiles: Reviewing a Practice through its Tool/Kits. In Proceedings of the 23rd International Symposium on Wearable Computers - ISWC '19, 195–205. https://doi. org/10.1145/3341163.3347738
- [33] Rehmi Post, Margaret Orth, Peter Russo, and Neil Gershenfeld. 2000. E-broidery: Design and fabrication of textile-based computing. IBM Systems Journal 39, 3.4: 840–860. https://doi.org/10.1147/ sj.393.0840
- [34] Ivan Poupyrev, Nan-Wei Gong, Shiho Fukuhara, M Emre Karagozler, Carsten Schwesig, and Karen E Robinson. Project Jacquard: Interactive Digital Textiles at Scale. https://doi. org/10.1145/2858036.2858176
- [35] Oscar Tomico and Danielle Wilde. 2016.

Soft, embodied, situated & connected: enriching interactions with soft wearables. mUX: The Journal of Mobile User Experience 5, 1: 3. https://doi. org/10.1186/s13678-016-0006-z

- [36] Qi Wang. 2018. Designing smart garments for rehabilitation. Eindhoven University of Technology. https://doi. org/978-90-386-4516-
- [37] Clint Zeagler, Scott Gilliland, Halley Profita, and Thad Starner. 2012. Textile interfaces: Embroidered jog-wheel, beaded tilt sensor, twisted pair ribbon, and sound sequins. In Proceedings - International Symposium on Wearable Computers, ISWC. https://doi. org/10.1109/ISWC.2012.29
- [38] Pre-Cut Applique Tutorial. Retrieved April 17, 2020 from https://embroideryonline.com/project-hub/embroidery-101/embroidery-techniques/ pre-cut-applique-tutorial/

3.3 Becoming Travelers: Enabling the Material Drift

Published as

Bruna Goveia da Rocha and Kristina Andersen. 2020. Becoming Travelers: Enabling the Material Drift. In Companion Publication of the 2020 ACM Designing Interactive Systems Conference (DIS' 20 Companion). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 215–219. https://doi.org/10.1145/3393914.3395881

ABSTRACT

Materially driven research can often feel like a long series of failed experiments, which ends with us telling only the story of how we succeeded. We propose engaging with the making experience as travelers, losing ourselves in the making while preserving the outcomes of each experiment.

In doing so, we might be able to on one hand document this iterative journey as a research outcome in itself and, on the other, identify the roads not travelled as opportunities and starting points for new projects. We present an open- ended exploration that led us to articulating the possibilities of becoming travelers in the design process.

AUTHOR KEYWORDS

Research through design; Ways of drifting; Digital Craftsmanship

INTRODUCTION

As designers and makers, we conduct our research in deeply materially driven processes. Our outcomes are complex meetings between intention and artefact, material and skill, accidents and opportunities, – and also, we cannot help but desire that they are insightful, well executed and beautiful. As a result, it is easy to consider our making processes as a series of failed experiments or imperfectly executed ideas, and the sheer volume of documentation can be overwhelming.

Traditionally, the designer will keep going until "something works" or time runs out, and then retrace a path backwards that makes sense of the sample we have deemed successful. In such a process, we tend to self-evaluate harshly in the making process and are often left with a large amount of "failures" at the end. In recognizing this tendency in HCI, Heinzel et. al [5] proposes reconsidering concepts and prototypes that were considered failures at the time of their making. To put it simply, to work against our tendency to edit out knowledge that does not fit in the current narrative of a project.

We would like to propose applying this perspective in the making process of new things, recognizing that "in design research and in particular the professional practice of design, drifting or pursuing alternative opportunities in the vicinity of one's work is an embedded way of arriving at relevant and high quality work" [7].

In the following, we describe an embroidery exploration and the reflections on this process in order to identify the "failures" and missed opportunities through what we call the travelers mindset. We see this as a first step towards proposing a system for analyzing samples both within and outside their contexts of creation. Our aim is to look at the things we make, beyond the expectation of what is successful for a specific project. With that, we hope to create grounds for an exploitative design approach grounded in the opportunities of failure.

We believe this process can be seen in the context of a broader shift away from the positioning of the designer as a holder of solutions towards the emerging image of a practitioner who lingers within the problematic in order to expose the invisible structures, possibilities and complexities.

LOSING OURSELVES IN THE MAKING

"...to be lost is to be fully present, and to be fully present is to be capable ofbeing in uncertainty andmystery. And one does not get lost but loses oneself, with the implication that it is a conscious choice, a chosen surrender..." — Rebecca Solnit, A Field Guide to Getting Lost [9]

We brought the question of how to drift-through-making (while capturing opportunities for new starting points) to two hand embroidery sessions. To explore the experience of creative drifting, we focused on hand-embroidery, unusual material and and open-ended goals. As we worked we were systematic in our documentation and reflection, but deliberately abstained from any conversation about what a particular pattern might be "good for". Instead we simply let each sample follow the next. At the end of each session, we analyzed the collection of embroidered elements and discussed emergent patterns.

Session 1 - different designs

In the first session, the focus was to create a mindset of making, without (pre) determining success or failure. Our chosen tools were wooden embroidery hoops and needles. As for materials, we semi-curated a selection of threads and beads from what we already had at hand.

We deliberately used an open mesh as a non-traditional base fabric for hand embroidery to elicit new techniques. Although there was no goal to be achieved, we felt the need to decide on a place to start, so we each embroidered a marking of the center. We started by aiming for variety: volume, color, bump, pattern. In time, the materials themselves started to inspire us



Figure 1. We stitched label to each embroidery of session 1 with a corresponding concept.



Figure 2. We finished the session by reflecting on the process and attaching questions to the hoops. These were: "When did you know what you were going to make?", "When did you see what you were making?", "How did one thing follow the next?, and "What were the stages?"



Figure 3. For the second session, we choose 'hiding interlacing' as starting point.

to do different things and we each took our own path into the making. Next to each embroidery, we stitched in tags relating to the concepts that inspired them (figure 1). We wrapped up by discussing what had happened in the process and came up with questions about the process, which we also stitched into the hoops (figure 2).

The things we made remained attached to the context of their making. Each of the embroidered pieces informs what to look for in the next one by contrast. What if we isolate one and try to understand what is in its nature?

Session 2 - variations of a design

For the second session, we explored how to drift from an existing starting point. We chose one embroidery design from session 1, "hiding interlacing" (figure 3). We changed the base material from the mesh to a woven strip but the selection of threads remained the same as the first session. The format of the ribbon created a more structured way of forwarding qualities from one embroidery to the next (figure 4) forcing a linear progression and in turn making us see each design in its own timeline. This time, we did not tag each of them, but we still noted down insights from the overall experience and attached them to the ribbons.

We ended the session by selecting yarns to create a small embroidery kit to go (figure 5). These kits were executed on our respective train journeys that form part of our work commute.

WHAT HAPPENED HERE

Throughout these making sessions, we experimented with both limiting and opening up the possibilities by making hard decisions about materials and soft intentions about the aims. The final outcome was a set of making materials for travelling in the recognition of the experience of this process. It felt like



Figure 4. For the second session, we choose 'hiding interlacing' as starting point.

travelling, and it led us to questions to be asked of the things we make as travelers. What do I see? What else could I do? Is this finished? More importantly, it led us to an understanding of the circumstances needed to enter into a traveler's mindset:

• Create time to make things – this may sound obvious and silly, but the first three things you make will likely be boring. The following three might border on the edge of the obvious, after which you might get to something unexpected.

• Collaborate (with people, with ideas, with tools and with materials) – create a sensibility and critical eye to appreciate and identify what was done. Describe things and move on. Look over each others shoulders. It is also important to allow ideas to be forwarded from sample/ medium/person to sample/medium to medium/person.

• *Be systematic* – drifting meaningfully may require us to identify qualities and opportunities as we go. By just observing what we see, we allow the journey to be recorded without evaluation. Formalizing the rules of engagement not to enshrine processes but in order to potentially break or change them in the future [3].

MAKING AS DRIFTING

By setting simple rules and saying yes to challenges, we are committed to taking a performative approach to making and exploring [1, 2]. Colloquially the first rule of performance is to pick an act, execute it with absolute conviction and continue beyond a reasonable time. In a similar manner, we simply start somewhere and continue, picking challenges and new starting points as we go. This is of course similar to the first rule of brainstorming: Yes and...? [8]

THE OTHER PLACES

"the traveller who is lost should not ask themselves 'where am I?' but 'where are the other places?" — Alfred North Whitehead, Process and Reality [11]

Throughout this process, it has been our observed experience that making is more akin to travelling than finding solutions or executing a task. As a result we would like to propose an extrapolation of the Whitehead call-for-other-places, into a mantra for wayfaring, allowing us to consider the discovery of new things as a mode of adventurous designerly travel. In retrospect, this of course echoes Tim Ingold's notion of itineration where each "every step is a development of the one before and a preparation for the one following" [6].

We believe that by extension, the finding of new things also means looking at old things with new perspectives. In this sense, we can travel both forward and backwards [4]. The making techniques we use are ancient and



Figure 4. For the second session, we choose 'hiding interlacing' as starting point.

well established, and as we travel with our embroideries on public transport, fellow travellers will occasionally reach over and examine our degree of craftsmanship, turn the cloth over, and approve or sigh. But while such standards of craftsmanship and traditions are close to our hearts and upbringings, with this text we would like to suggest a different manner of crafting for exploration.

This may mean accepting the failure of craftsmanship, using the wrong materials, changing our minds as we go and generally staying with the knowledge that we will eventually get lost. So far, we have never seen a "detour we did not like the look of" [10]. However, the detour means nothing, if we are not able to return to it, to ask: Can we come back here, later? In other words, can this detour be the starting point of another journey?

REFERENCES

 Kristina Andersen, Bruna Goveia, Oscar Tomico, Marina Toeters, Angella Mackey, and Troy Nachtigall. 2019a.
Digital Craftsmanship in the Wearable Senses Lab. In Proceedings of the 23rd International Symposium on Wearable Computers (ISWC '19). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 257–260. DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.1145/3341163.3346943

- [2] Kristina Andersen and Ron Wakkary. 2019. The Magic Machine Workshops: Making Personal Design Knowledge. In Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI '19). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, Article Paper 112, 13 pages. DOI: http:// dx.doi.org/10.1145/3290605.3300342
- [3] Kristina Andersen, Ron Wakkary, Laura Devendorf, and Alex McLean. 2019b. Digital Crafts-Machine-Ship: Creative Collaborations with Machines. Interactions 27, 1 (Dec. 2019), 30–35. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1145/3373644
- Karen Barad. 2003. Posthumanist Performativity: Toward an Understanding of How Matter Comes to Matter. Signs: Journal ofWomen in Culture and Society 28, 3 (2003), 801–831. DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.1086/345321
- [5] Tincuta Heinzel, Hillevi Munthe, Teresa Almeida, Corina Andor, Anca Badut, Camille Baker, Anna Biro, Shih Wei Chieh, Renata Gaui, Maria Paulina Gutierrez Arango, Shary Kock, Ebru Kurbak, Aline

Martinez Santos, Ionut Patrascu, Veerle Pennock, Ioana Popescu, Zoran Popovici, Afroditi Psarra, Natacha Roussel, Annette Schmid, Kate Sicchio, Vitalii Shupliak, Rebecca Stewart, Milie John Tharakan, Giulia Tomasello, Bram van Waardenberg, Pauline Vierne, and DZNR Design Studio. 2019. Attempts, Failures, Trials and Errors. Notes on an exhibition of failed prototypes and rejected projects. The Design Journal 22, sup1 (2019), 1941–1956. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.10 80/14606925.2019.1594951

- [6] Tim Ingold. 2010. The textility of making. Cambridge Journal of Economics 34, 1 (2010), 91–102.
- [7] Peter Gall Krogh, Thomas Markussen,

and Anne Louise Bang. 2015. Ways of Drifting—Five Methods of Experimentation in Research Through Design. In ICoRD'15 – Research into Design Across Boundaries Volume 1, Amaresh Chakrabarti (Ed.). Springer India, New Delhi, 39–50.

- [8] Alex Faickney Osborn. 1963. Applied imagination: principles and procedures of creative problem-solving. Scribner.
- [9] Rebecca Solnit. 2017. A Field Guide to Getting Lost. Canongate Books.
- [10] Ron Wakkary. 2019. Graduation Speech for Troy Nachtigall. (2019).
- [11] Alfred North Whitehead. 2010. Process and reality. Simon and Schuster.

4 Making sense of sample making

"[In cat's cradling, at least] two pairs of hands are needed, and in each successive step one is 'passive', offering the result of its previous operation, a string entanglement, for the other to operate, only to become active again at the next stop when the other presents the new entanglement but it can also be said that each time the passive pair is the one that holds, and is held by the entanglement, only to let it go when the other one takes the relay."

Donna Haraway [37]

The previous chapter identified samples as a specific type of high-fidelity prototype that have their interactive qualities and material properties intrinsically connected to their production. This chapter builds on this insight to investigate what is unique about sample making through three studies. As a collection, these studies bring forth aspects that are common in the everyday practice of *digital craftsmanship* but that are often omitted from research publications in the area, such as how samples that remain on sight on the walls of a studio become able to cross project lines and inform new directions. They also propose strategies that have the twofold intention of bringing transparency to the reporting of such practices as well as to promote higher intra-activity in practice-based research.

The first study, published in "Embroidered Inflatables: Exploring Sample Making in Research through Design" (section 4.1), was a creative session with Pauline van Dongen, a design researcher specialized in a fashion tech. In this session, we revisited the Embroidered Inflatable samples to explore the implications of designing from sample. This experience showed that the ways we document our work and archive the resulting samples have significant implications in supporting designers to tap into the generative potential of samples. The second study, unpublished, was a longitudinal study in which I put my making practice in dialogue with the practice of a textile designer specialized in (digital) weaving, Milou Voorwinden (section 4.2). This dialogue was enabled by using a documentation form template for digital craftsmanship as tool for reflection. This version of the form expands the one proposed in chapter 2 by incorporating more from my own documentation system of the Embroidered Inflatables. Through her adoption and adaptation of this form over the course of a year, we could begin to unpack her practice. In turn, this supported my reflections on how different craft techniques and machines configure our practices, thus affect our making processes and, consequently, impact knowledge production in practice-based research. Lastly, the third study, published in "Making Matters: Samples and Documentation in Digital Craftsmanship" (section 4.3). This study was done in collaboration with the master student Janne Spork, who conducted a set of semi-structured

interviews with practitioners who engage with different digital crafts. While most published research in this area use samples to demonstrate techniques and interactive possibilities, this study aimed to reflect on how they are currently used in the design process. Therefore, this third study built on the insights from the previous two to inquire how these other practitioners handle samples within their processes.

Among other things, the third study supported identifying two types of roles taken by the designers interviewed, the researcher and the practitioner. The designers shifted between these two roles, which led to a reflection on how these two roles, or stances, can clash or contribute to each other. Seeing digital craftsmanship as a form of research through design, in which knowledge is generated through making, researchers will also need shift between the two stances. In my experience of emergence-led research, these two stances had to be negotiated, but they complement each other. As a practitioner, I followed a process of itineration, allowing insights that emerged from sample making in each project to (re)direct the research. As a researcher, I proposed the rigorous documentation of samples as a form of documentation of my autoethnographic process. This documentation extended the possibilities of both roles by keeping opportunities open for revisiting. The avoidance of reproducibility that practitioners might need or resort to was not part of my ethos. Rather, the documentation of samples meant to support practice through a notion of "designing from" which requires a relational understanding of each sample and making.

The three studies helped unpack how the process of *itineration* works in the practice of sample making in digital craftsmanship. In Making Matters, we describe the sample making process in four main activities: making, documenting, evaluating, and archiving. The latter three are inherently part of the *itinerative* way designers engage with *digital craftsmanship*. Building on Ingold's analogy to walking [41], the material sample can be seen to be akin to the stance phase of the gait cycle, when the foot is in contact with the ground. In the making process, this sample is a moment of stabilisation or, if we move back to the cat's cradle metaphor [37], a string entanglement of machine, designer, and material. Documenting, evaluating, and archiving are part of swing phase of walking, when the foot swings to move the body forward. Insights from these activities drive the process, informing the design of new samples or experiments. If we allow ourselves to keep on following insights and emerging ideas, the sample making process does not have a clear end. So, when do we stop walking? When discussing this with colleagues in a writing retreat, Pei-Ying Lin jokingly pointed out that the answer was simple: "when the deadline says so". I think this is true when thinking of projects, but not as much true for the practice of *digital craftsmanship*. By reflecting on both the practice of Milou as a weaver and my own experiences of sample making through embroidery, I suggest that a project is a cycle of making for the designer practicing digital craftsmanship. Insights and opportunities that emerge in the process linger with the designer as the next ideas to experiment with. These new journeys can be (partly) embodied in surprisingly interesting "failures" within the project or marked as annotations in sketchbooks or alike. Through the *revisiting* of the Embroidered Inflatables samples in the first study, it became apparent that the ways we document our work and archive the resulting samples have significant implications in supporting designers to tap into the generative potential of samples. An attention to sample making and how we document our designs opens the opportunity to encourage different forms of knowledge generation and dissemination, grounded on our real making experiences and the relational nature of samples.



Figure H. Spontaneous discussion about samples turned into an exercise of appreciating and regrouping samples based on different parameters. The value of samples as outcomes of making processes goes beyond narrating a journey chronologically. If we throw all samples on a table and examine what they are and do – as we did here –, they can tell different stories. From left to right: Lan Ge, Kristina Andersen, Milou Voorwinden, Suzanne Oude Hengel and Rosanne Bal.

By reflecting after the fact of making, we can see the things we did or did not do in relation to that specific process and whatever outcomes were considered as its final results. By reflecting-while-making and focusing on what was done, the samples, we also identify gaps in our making processes that open the space for making other things that are outside of our expectations. In other words, a focus on samples supports finding the road less travelled. To better explain how this can happen, it is important to look at how samples can gain agency in the making process. Karen Barad described the mutual constitution of objects and agencies within phenomena as *intra-action* [3]. While interaction assumes prior existence of distinct entities, intra-action means these presumed separate entities only come to exist through each other. When examining a physical sample made though digital machine embroidery, code cannot be isolated from structure or the yarn or the tension of the machine. This research proposes that analyzing a sample is an exercise of seeing "what's at hand" by unpacking the intra-actions between the entities, the entanglements embodied by the sample. This kind of analysis distributes agency with the material, which in turn unlocks the potential of a sample pointing to new directions of travel. To fulfill this potential, new strategies are needed to follow a number of these insights without eliminating the traces that could take us to other directions.

4.1 Embroidered Inflatables: Exploring Sample Making in Research through Design

Published as

Bruna Goveia da Rocha, Oscar Tomico, Daniel Tetteroo, Kristina Andersen, and Panos Markopoulos. 2021. Embroidered Inflatables: Exploring Sample Making in Research through Design. Journal of Textile Design Research and Practice: 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1080/20511787.2021.18 85586

ABSTRACT

This paper reflects on the experience of sample making to develop interactive materials. Sample making is a way to explore possibilities related to different materials techniques. In recent years design research has put an increasing emphasis on making as a mode of exploration, which in turn has made such exploration an increasingly popular and effective design research approach. However, sample making is a messy and complex process that is hard to document and communicate. To mitigate this, design researchers typically report their journeys from the perspective of their success, retroactively editing out or reducing the accounts of experiments that did not directly contribute to their goal. Although it is a useful way of contextualizing a design process, it can contribute to a loss of richness and complexity of the work done along the way. Samples can be seen as instantiations of socio-techno systems of production, which means that they can be looked at from different perspectives and can potentially become the starting points of new design explorations. In recognition of this quality, we aim to investigate ways that samples can be appropriated in future journeys. To do so, we analyzed and reflected on the sample making process of the Embroidered Inflatables as a design case. The project resulted in 27 samples that explored distinct challenges related to designing actuators for soft wearables through the combination of silicone casting and embroidery techniques. To explore

the potential of sample appropriation, we invited a fashion designer to a creative session that analyzed these samples from her personal perspective to identify new design directions. We detail the design process, reflect on our sample making experience and present strategies to support us in the process of reevaluating and appropriating samples.

KEYWORDS

Research through Design; sample making; design process; materials; embroidery; soft actuators

1 INTRODUCTION

The design research community is currently engaged in a process of creating a broader context for Research Through Design (RtD), beyond the well-established frameworks for HCI and user-centered design (Redström and Heather 2019). This broader context for RtD is supported through a series of concepts coming from different streams of thought in science and technology studies (STS) and philosophy, which share the interest in re-examining the relationship between humans and the material world from the perspective of the role of tools (Frauenberger 2020). Concepts like troubling design processes (Haraway 2016), correspondences (Ingold 2017) and radical interrelations (de la Bellacasa 2017) are opening new possibilities for design. In practice-led design research, we see similar ideas being articulated through digital craft (Oxman 2007), material assemblages (Wiberg et al. 2013), infrastructuring (Ehn 2008), intentional drifting (Krogh and Koskinen 2020) and traveling (Goveia da Rocha and Andersen 2020). They differ from user-centered design tradition in the way they embrace the full complexities involved in the act of making and designing, allowing a number of concerns and considerations to co-exist and take part in a common design space.

For decades, materiality of interaction has gained focus and interest in design research. Design researchers have begun to shift from metaphor-centered interaction design towards direct forms of interaction through material and their properties (Wiberg 2018). At the same time, the growing adoption of digital fabrication methods has opened up opportunities for more design researchers to explore design practices that are materially driven. By designing from the capabilities of digital fabrication machines, it is possible to transition towards a more integrated approach to designing with and through technology, which expands our views on the relationships between designers. machines and materials as well as between the physical and the digital (Nachtigall 2019).

Approaches based on material exploration allow the development of designs grounded in the real possibilities emerging from interacting with fabrication systems. As a part of this exploration, we are able to metaphorically stand next to the machines and materials we work with to ask them "what if?" and "what else?" (Andersen et al. 2019). In doing so, we emphasize the roles that machines and materials play in introducing opportunities, create intimacy with the making process, facilitate detours and, ultimately, develop different kinds of knowledge. The process is rich and multifaceted, and as a result it is difficult to document and communicate. This is in part due to the high number of samples or artifacts created in materially driven processes and the tendency to focus on

final outcomes rather than in the details of how we got there (Krogh, Markussen, and Bang 2015). As a result, this type of design research is often reported from the perspective of how certain experiments led to the reaching of a specific goal (Goveia da Rocha and Andersen 2020). Experiments that do not directly contribute to this "success" are usually unaccounted for or collectively summarized as part of an exploratory phase that mainly serves to provide the reader with a rationalization of the process and evidence of the quality of its outcome. This can create a gap between the reporting of design research and the actual experienced design practice (Scrivener 2000), but perhaps more importantly, it can be seen as a limiting and wasteful practice, as samples or prototypes are treated as a means to an end rather than valued in their own right for the potentially intricate relations that they embody.

By recognizing that the experiments we make may answer more questions than the ones we asked through their making, we join a broader discussion about drifting in design (Krogh, Markussen, and Bang 2015; Krogh and Koskinen 2020) and craftsmanship (Andersen et al. 2019) to consider the role of making samples in Research through Design. More specifically, we reflect on whether we can consider these samples research objects separated from their original context. As a guiding line through the discussion in this text, we will look at the sample making process of the Embroidered Inflatables project, which allowed drifting and complexity throughout the sample making process. In this project, we engaged in a materially driven exploration, making use of state-of-theart digital machine embroidery combined with silicone casting to create inflatables. Beyond the making experience, in this paper we explore the use of interactive material samples and their appropriation in design processes as a means to draw an outline of the complexities that samples embody. In doing so, we address the community of design researchers and makers engaged with material driven research and digital craftsmanship, and contribute a practical design case of the Embroidered Inflatables, an exploration of the possibility of considering samples research objects in a manner that is in part separated from their original context and a set of strategies to facilitate the revisiting of samples. As such, we aim to open up opportunities of appropriating the samples of Research through Design projects in other design journeys. In the following, we make use of the travelers metaphor (Goveia da Rocha and Andersen 2020) to look back at the Embroidered Inflatable samples as previous places that could be revisited and be appropriated as the starting points of other journeys.

1.1 The previous places

In this paper, we embrace the search for these other places (Goveia da Rocha and Andersen 2020) and aim to articulate how samples that may have been seen as failures within a design journey (van Dongen et al. 2019) can be seen as outcomes on their own terms. In other words, we aim to demonstrate that "failed" samples can be actionable (Rutkowska, Sleeswijk Visser, and Lamas 2019) as new starting points for other journeys. To demonstrate this approach, we build on two previous projects: Flow (Goveia da Rocha and Tomico 2019) and, mainly, the Embroidered Inflatables project (Goveia da Rocha et al. 2019), both aimed at investigating actuation in soft wearables.

Flow was a wearable artifact, made entirely of cast silicone, that aimed at supporting the learning of physical activities through directional cues given by elastic inflatables that push against the body. This one-sided behavior of the inflatables was achieved through a difference in the thickness of its walls, allowing them to push against the body to communicate the direction of movement to the user. The limitations of the fabrication technique were the bulkiness needed to create this asymmetrical inflation and size. Casting entire garments made of silicone alone is not convenient to fabricate or a comfortable solution to wear, limiting the application possibilities of the technique.

As a follow-up of Flow, the Embroidered Inflatables project was started to explore if the one-sided behavior of the inflatables could be achieved through a combination of silicone and a textile production technique to integrate elastic inflatable actuators in soft wearables. Inspired by techniques that use mesh to reinforce silicone or other materials, we opted to combine casting with chemical embroidery. Chemical embroidery (Mecnika et al. 2015) is a technique, typically used to create machine-made lace, that uses a watersoluble stabilizer to create self-supporting embroidery. Through this technique, we were able to take advantage of the accuracy and freedom of routing of digital machine embroidery to program the properties of this lace-like embroidered substrate and, in addition, to determine the shape and behavior of the inflatables.

By revisiting the analysis of these two works, we aim to unpack some of the opportunities that sample making offer beyond abstractions of the lessons learned. In the following sections, we articulate how samples may outlive the context of specific design journeys.

1.2 Old samples, new starting points

Our initial motivation was to recreate the specific behavior of the inflatables in Flow through a hybrid technique that combined a textile production technique and silicone casting. Nonetheless, we were open to explore emergent questions and ideas. As a result, we created 24 samples that explored different challenges: 1) sewing attributes to create properties of inflatables; 2) fit & support; 3) improving integration and resolution of complex shapes; 4) enlarging area of actuation; and 5) textile integration. From these samples, we identified three actuation behaviors, based on which we created three extra samples that we called Interaction Modes.

In the first account of this project (Goveia da Rocha et al. 2019), we presented the complete set of sample series generated in our project, including the Interaction Modes, together with lessons learned throughout the process of creating them. In the following, we propose a way that these samples may be seen to contribute beyond the traditional notion of lessons learned or guidelines.

By analyzing and reflecting on the design process, we observed how a goal-oriented approach could be combined with a more explorative process. Each sample can be seen to stand on its own and answer more questions than it was designed to answer. As such, samples can be seen as instantiations of a socio-technical system of production, and this view allowed us to look at them from different perspectives of the system, such as the interactive qualities of the material outcomes, the design of the digital assets or the experienced collaboration with the machines.

In the following, we present the design process of the Embroidered Inflatables project. Then, we detail findings from a session with a fashion tech design researcher, in which the sample series was used to identify opportunities and qualities that could be forwarded to the design of interactive garments. This session supported the reflection on strategies that can support us in making samples actionable beyond their original contexts of creation, such as how to store/ display and document them, presented in section 4. Based on this framing of samples, the following sections provide: 1) the description of the process of making samples by means of digital machine embroidery; 2) a reflection on how to support appropriation of samples as starting points for new journeys.

Our intention is to support our community in finding ways to acknowledge, produce and share knowledge about our material sample work. We hope this is a way towards a more explicit exchange of material knowledge across projects and design researchers.

2 CASE STUDY: EMBROIDERED INFLATABLES

As a design case, we look into the sample making process of the Embroidered Inflatables project. This project was developed in the context of investigating actuation in wearables (Markopoulos et al. 2020). Through this project, we were able to experience a highly paced process of making samples. The samples were executed on the same level of finish and explored different parts of the design space of creating inflatables based on digital machine embroidery. The variety in the collection of samples and their equal level of finish contributed for us to continue to revisit these samples for the purposes of advancing the project towards designing soft wearables based on inflatables, as well as in different contexts and discussions. Looking at them from the proposition of designing as travelers (Goveia da Rocha and Andersen 2020), we gained a new understanding of the potential role of samples in Research through Design. More than steps towards a goal or failures, samples have the potential of taking us to other places by answering different questions than the ones that originated them.

Before discussing our approach to samples (in section 3), we first present the specific challenges we aimed to address through our design process by introducing the context of existing work in actuation in wearables and techniques for creating inflatables.

2.1 Actuation in wearables and textile production techniques

From self-expression to health monitoring, (soft) wearable technologies can open many opportunities of up bringing technology close to the body in engaging and unobtrusive ways. The challenges of integrating technology into garments include bulk/weight/stiffness, thermal and moisture management, flexibility/ durability, sizing and fit, and device interface (Dunne, Ashdown, and Smyth 2005). Textile production techniques, such as knitting, weaving and embroidery have been widely employed for the creation of electronic friendly or electronic integrated wearable technologies (wearables) to overcome such challenges. Embroidery, in particular, has shown the potential of supporting the design of interactive garments as it offers more freedom of routing than knitting or weaving (Linz et al. 2008) to create soft circuits (Post et al. 2000; Hamdan, Voelker, and Borchers 2018) and it requires a relatively low threshold of experience. Moreover, it enables direct interconnections with conventional flexible electronics (Linz et al. 2008) and fabricating a variety of sensors (Linz, Gourmelon, and Langereis 2007; Aigner et al. 2020).

While textile-based sensors have reached a higher level of maturity, having been integrated into commercial products such as smart garments for sports ("Hexoskin" 2019; "Sensoria Fitness" 2019), soft alternatives to actuators remain relatively unexplored. Usually, wearables are actuated through external mechanisms, such as motors, which restrain their wearability (Du et al. 2018). Among other forms of actuation, inflatables have been gaining the interest of designers of wearable applications due to their versatility and the possibility to conform to the body. Although the integration of air pumps into wearables still needs to be further explored for a completely unobtrusive user experience, inflatables can be produced through many techniques and materials, offering opportunities for customizing their form factor, material properties and dynamic behaviors. Additionally, the air pumps can be removed from the area of actuation (Goveia da Rocha and Tomico 2019). This could be used to respect guidelines of wearability such as weight distribution or proxemics (Zeagler and Clint 2017).

Inflatables can be fabricated through a variety of processes and materials, both elastic and inelastic. The customization of the inflatable artifacts allows for creating simple to complex structures that behave in very specific ways. AeroMorph (Ou et al. 2018), for example, presented a heat-sealing approach that enabled the fabrication of inflatables made of different sheet materials coated in TPU (thermoplastic polyurethane) that are capable of curling, folding and changing Polvurethane heat-sealed texture. inflatables have also been adopted by The Force Jacket (Delazio et al. 2018) to support augmented reality experiences. The WRAP project (Raitor et al. 2017) also explored the heat-sealing technique to propose an alternative to vibrotactile stimulation in order to avoid sensory adaptation in haptic applications. The low-profile switchback channels are used to enlarge the actuation area. These actuators were implemented into a wristband to guide movement through directional metaphors by actuating four points around the wrist.

Reporting similar material dynamic behaviors as the Aeromorph, PneUI (Yao et al. 2013) presented approaches to create

soft composites, both inelastic and elastic. For their inelastic actuators, plastic welding was used. For the elastic composites, materials of varying elasticities were embedded into silicone to control their behavior. The difference in elasticities to control the behavior of inflatables was also explored to create self-sensing soft actuators based on machine embroidery (Ceron et al. 2018). Spiral patterns made of Kevlar fiber and optical fiber were embroidered on water-soluble film, then embedded in silicone to control the shape of inflation and sense the deformation. The project Flow (Goveia da Rocha and Tomico 2019) used a 3D printed mold and 3D printed PVA inserts to cast siliconebased inflatables that provide users with tactile motion instructions to support motor learning. The wearable was entirely made in silicone, which unified the process of form giving of the wearable with the design of the air pockets and paths.

While heat sealing enables the creation of textile-based inflatables, their integration into garments is limited by the inelasticity of airtight fabrics. Silicone-based inflatables, on the other hand, offer elasticity and work well for wearables designed for smaller areas of the body, such as the wrist/hand. For larger areas of the body such as the torso, however, crafting an entire wearable out of silicone presents challenges to fabrication and wearability. Therefore, solutions for integrating silicone-based actuators with textiles are needed in order to broaden the range of applications of this form of actuation. Chemical embroidery (Mecnika et al. 2015), the technique of embroidering on water-soluble film used by Ceron at al. to embed Kevlar and optical fibers in silicone (Ceron et al. 2018), was also used to create sensorized soft wearables as research products (Goveia da Rocha et al. 2020). In the Embroidered Inflatables project, we built on these techniques to develop reproducible textile-integrated and highly customizable inflatables for onbody applications. As such, we aimed to contribute with new ways of using digital machine embroidery to develop soft wearables and textile interfaces (Post et al. 2000; Gilliland et al. 2010; Mecnika et al. 2015).

For details about the fabrication techniques used in the project and implications of designing inflatables based on embroidery, refer to an earlier publication (Goveia da Rocha et al. 2019). In this paper, we are specifically looking at the complexity of the process of making samples above the specific outcome of the project.

2.2 The design process of the Embroidered Inflatables

The starting point of the explorative design process of the Embroidered Inflatables



Figure 1. Overview of the design process of the Embroidered Inflatables. The samples were divided into five series based on the different challenges they addressed.





Figure 2. (a) Flow was a wearable designed to support the learning process of physical activities through directional cues. (b) The wearables integrated six inflatable actuators corresponding to the fundamental joint movements of the wrist and forearm.

(Figure 1) was the Flow project (Goveia da Rocha and Tomico 2019). Flow (Figure 2a) was a wearable designed to support the learning process of physical activities. Fabricated as a single piece, cast in silicone, Flow integrated six inflatable actuators into a wrist-worn artifact designed to create pressure points for embodied guidance (Figure 2b). Our interests in the project were both the overall concept of using pressure to communicate with the body and, most importantly, the use of materials as extension of the pumps needed to actuate the inflatables. As such, our original intention with our exploration of embroidery-based inflatables was to transpose the fabrication method used to create Flow to textile (compatible) techniques that would allow implementing the concept of crafting soft wearables with integrated actuators to larger parts of the body.

Flow was made by casting silicone (ecoflex-030) in a 3D printed mold made of PLA filament, using a 3D printed PVA insert to create the cavities that operated as inflatable chambers. In the embroidervbased samples, we used the freedom of routing of the embroidery technique to flip the complexity of the design to the embroidery, which gave us more freedom to create the shapes of inflatables and facilitated the stacking of layers to achieve the single sided behavior. Instead of the 3D printed PVA inserts, the same PVA stabilizer film used to embroider the freestanding embroidery (Gunold Ultra Solvy 80) was used to create the chambers. The embroidery machine served multiple purposes, including creating a strong integration of silicone with textiles through its open structure, creating freestanding substrates, cutting out the film in the desired shapes, cutting out textiles through cutwork needles to integrate the substrates into ready-made fabrics and to assemble layers. The molds were simple,



Figure 3. In the samples of series 2, we recreated the design of Flow. The wearable shape with integrated inflatable air paths and pockets was complex, resulting in a repetition of stitches. This motivated us to explore layering and the sewing attributes of the embroidery.

needing to only demarcate the outside shape of the casting area while the shape of the inflatable area could be easily customized through the embroidery.

Interestingly, it was in series 2 (Figure 3), when we recreated the design of Flow, that we started to shift our design approach towards intentionally drifting. On the one hand, we continued to pursue the goal of exploring how to create the asymmetrical inflation through a textile-based technique. On the other, we deliberately drifted to explore the possibilities of designing inflatables through the embroidery technique.

In series 2, our aim was to recreate Flow through a similar approach to the one presented by the Smart Sock project (Goveia da Rocha et al. 2020), in which the chemical embroidery technique is used to create the free-standing embroidery already shaped as the wearable (parts). Different from the Smart Sock, this design

had a complex outline to integrate the paths of inflation and inflatable pockets into the shape of the wearable. To create the freestanding embroidery in the shape of Flow. the machine had to travel all around and back several times, resulting in excessive stitch repetition. Although it is possible to edit each stitch manually, the overlap of multiple stitches in the same spot made it impractical to edit the automatically generated net fill stitch pattern we used. Instead, to reduce the repetition of stitches, we recreated the net fill stitch pattern through four layers of low-density fill stitch, each in a different direction. To further investigate how to overcome the challenge of creating complex shapes, we moved onto exploring different structures and stitch types through other samples that we later identified as Series 3 (Figure 4).

As we proceeded in engaging with materials and techniques, we shifted our focus from a goal-oriented journey to also embrace



Figure 4. Series 3 explored complex shapes and varying sewing attributes.

questions and opportunities that emerged from the experience of making. The process of moving from one sample to the next happened organically. For the most part, we can see the process of moving through these questions as a process of itineration (Ingold 2010), in which every step is a development of the previous one and a preparation for the next. Because the questions we let lead our way were not incremental, our process could also be characterized as an expansive way of drifting (Krogh, Markussen, and Bang 2015), that aimed to explore the possibilities of creating inflatables through digital machine embroidery and, particularly, chemical embroidery technique.

In this process, we created twentyfour designs that addressed different emergent challenges and questions. Each sample was thoroughly documented. The documentation incorporated technical attributes of the embroidery designs, materials, methods of fabrication and reflections on the design journey (goal, behavior of the inflatable and insights). By revisiting the documentation and reflecting on our process, we identified how we addressed five main topics: 1) sewing attributes to create properties of inflatables; 2) fit & support; 3) improving integration & resolution of complex shapes; 4) enlarging area of actuation; and

5) textile integration. These topics were used to divide our process into five series of samples. Based on our experience and documentation, we reflected on the design implications of fabricating inflatables through machine embroidery.

Our reflection also allowed us to identify three actuation behaviors (Figure 5). We created three new samples, one per behavior, which we refer to as Interaction Modes 1, 2 and 3 (Figure 6). The modes are defined by the deformation of the actuators resulting from their construction and the substrate structure.

In the original account of our project (Goveia da Rocha et al. 2019), presenting the Interaction Modes as a final outcome seemed like the logical endpoint for the process. However, other emerging opportunities showed us otherwise. As an example, we improved the casting process reported in our previous publication through different mold methods for casting locally to avoid bleeding through the fabric. One method involved 3D printing the mold onto the embroidery (Goveia da Rocha, van der Kolk, and Andersen, forthcoming) and the other, using magnetic laser cut acrylic molds. These versions of the molds allowed us to keep the samples in the embroidery hoop so that they could return to the embroidery machine for possible post-production such as embedding



Figure 5. Front views of Interaction Modes 1, 2 and 3, accompanied by their side views in neutral and actuated states. M1 is a multi-state inflatable, M2 inflates symmetrically and M3 inflates unilaterally.



Figure 6. Embroidered substrates of Interaction modes 1, 2 and 3 integrated into woven tex- tile. (a) Mode 1 is made from two separate embroidered parts. (b) Mode 2 consists of a single embroidery part. (c) Mode 3 is a single substrate sewn as layers that integrate a sheet of water-soluble film over the substrate and support pad.



Figure 7. Embroidered sample with integrated tubing. To achieve this, production is carried out in three stages. First the substrate and inflatable area are embroidered, then the silicone is cast. Lastly, the tubing can be connected and integrated into the embroidered substrate using a couching stitch.

tubing, as seen in Figure 7.

While the Interaction Modes were considered an endpoint for the process, there were other possible outcomes to our process as well as interesting loose ends worth revisiting and pursuing in other design journeys. These relationships across projects likely happen in design practice, particularly for designers working closely with a specific craft. We would like to propose that samples can be approached as living things, prone to be revisited and re-signified by new questions which allow us to more explicitly forward concepts, insights, materials and techniques across projects and design researchers. Our process indicated that the formats of presentation and documentation are key to support a shift of approach and to enable a deeper understanding of the samples and artifacts we make.

3 SAMPLE MAKING AND THE SEARCH FOR OTHER PLACES

Unpacking design processes is challenging. For many years, our community has been engaging with questions over the nature of our work and how to expand our understanding over what is the knowledge we can generate by carrying out design actions (Wensveen and Matthews 2015). Therefore, the discussion on the role of prototypes and prototyping remains central in design research.

Peter Krogh et al (Krogh, Markussen, and Bang 2015), acknowledge that designers drift in design processes to continuously learn and adiust themselves to opportunities or challenges that emerge. There are multiple ways we drift in design research to gain depth, acknowledge complexity, systematize knowledge, broaden knowledge and to exploit opportunities that emerge along the way.

The notion of infrastructuring (Ehn 2008), also points at design objects as being more

than simply accomplished dead ends. The thingswedesignarealsorelationalandopen to being appropriated and appreciated in other contexts beyond the one in which they were created. Designing 'for design after design' involves considering the relationships between people, methods, facilities, tools, materials, machines. This relational view also supported the culture of prototyping developed within the Smart Textile Services project (STS), part of CRISP (Tomico and Wensveen 2014). The STS testbed is a platform in which prototypes are the drivers of design processes through a bottom-up approach, and the act of prototyping is seen as a craft that enables shared ownership and community building through dissemination of the work (exhibitions, facility sharing and designers in residence).

William Gaver (Gaver 2012) echoes the idea that designs objects should remain open for appropriation and appreciation by arguing that "an endless string of design examples is precisely at the core of how design research should operate, and that the role of theory should be to annotate those examples rather than replace them."

Seamful design presents yet another perspective that values the complexity of design processes that argues for making connections and gaps between the physical, digital and social spaces explicit (Rudström, Höök, and Svensson 2005). About design practice and collaborative work, Anne Galloway questions the political and ethical implications of "seams and scars" in design processes (Galloway 2007). More specifically, she argues that the "seams and scars" are markers of past actions or interventions - like things that are cut apart and put back together in a new way. Making them explicit supports us in questioning the conditions in which they occurred, meaning how processes unfolded and what was the role of the players involved. This can encourage a



Figure 8. Display setup for the INTERSECTIONS Collaborations in Textile Design Research Exhibition. All samples of the Embroidered Inflatables project were recreated and mounted on six acrylic displays. Visitors were encouraged to interact with the Interaction Modes samples by actuating them with syringes.

search for "places where interventions can be made, or where potential can be found and acted upon" (Galloway 2007).

While each of these design philosophies or research traditions articulates our relationships around practical work differently, all of these approaches look beyond user-centered design to acknowledge and embrace the social, technical and material complexities involved in design practice and. consequently, in Research through Design. In our work, we explore this understanding of the relational characteristic of design practice by questioning which strategies can assist us in opening our experiments up to new relations and opportunities.

We focus on samples because, in HCI and in design research, this is a broad term that has been used to refer to the outcomes of materially driven approaches, meaning that the value and interactive possibilities offered by these prototypes is intrinsically related to their fabrication methods and materials. Similarly to how research products are characterized (Odom et al. 2016), samples can be seen as prototypes that are evaluated by what they really are

and what they can do. When engaging with such samples, we may discover that more than the (interactive) qualities we planned materializing are present. These on qualities and behaviors of samples are composed by the negotiations between our intentions with those of the entire sociotechnical system of production: material, the machine and the circumstances. When judged based solely on our intentions, a sample may be a failure or a success within our journey towards a specific goal. Yet, that does not eliminate the other opportunities its gualities may offer to another process.

We build on these ideas together with the notion that this way of working is akin to traveling (Goveia da Rocha and Andersen 2020). The designer allows new ideas to emerge through a mindset that invests time in creating things in collaboration with people, ideas, tools and materials. The making process is curiosity driven, but the designer is systematic about documenting experiments so that they stay open for appropriation in other journeys.

3.1 Revisiting samples

We presented the Embroidered

Inflatables project at the "INTERSECTIONS: Collaborations in Textile Design Research Exhibition" (Morgan et al. 2019). The exhibition gave us the opportunity of seeing all the samples as a collection, with the same type of finish and level of importance.

In preparation for the exhibition, we recreated all samples and mounted them in acrylic displays (Figure 8). The sample series 1 to 5 were not cast in silicone to highlight the embroidery. The Interaction Modes, on the other hand, were cast in silicone and connected to syringes so that visitors could actuate them. While in design research we are most used to creating new things or improving them, experiencing the process of "reproducing" samples brought us different insights about the situatedness of sample making. We place "reproduce" here between quotation marks because, as Ingold points out, no two steps are the same (Ingold 2010). The final outcomes were highly reproducible because the embroidery files were the same, but everything else was slightly changed. Unlike in the original set, we embroidered all new samples in the same color for uniformity. The machine sometimes worked better, sometimes worse than before. There were different people in the lab asking us questions about digital machine embroidery, what were we doing or how long it would take before they could use the machine. Receiving questions about embroidery while making them was particularly interesting as it supported us in looking at our samples from new perspectives to use them as answers. This way, recreating the samples allowed us to deepen our appreciation of the technical attributes of the embroidery and, more importantly, our understanding of sample making.

Such samples do not only present a high level of fidelity of look and feel in relation to interaction capabilities. Samples are open

ended products with specific properties and behaviors. They are instantiations of the socio-technical systems of production. While their properties are concrete, their meaning is open for change through negotiations with and within a given context (Bergström et al. 2010). To us, this understanding of samples as becoming materials does also relate to how we should allow our work to be revisited. As designers who learn through making, the insights we gain from experiments are also situated in the level of experience we have with the production systems we interact with and the motivation that drives our process at a given time. As such, we propose separating the objects of design, the samples, from our design journey to allow ourselves to come back to them for new negotiations.

To further explore this possibility, we invited a fashion design researcher, specialized in wearable technology for a creative analysis session. In the session, we used the embroidered inflatable samples discuss possibilities of designing to interactive garments that included our actuators. A vest with three integrated embroidered inflatables (Interaction Mode 3 design), one on each shoulder and one on the lower back, was also used in the session as a starting point. Both sets of samples were present but the original set was used most because the samples could be easily taken out of the binder in which they were stored to be manipulated. This meant that the original ordering of items in a series became irrelevant during the session. Instead, they were all seen as a wide collection and samples were analyzed based on emerging questions.

The session included two parts. The first part was an embroidery workshop to explain the techniques used to create the samples. The second part was a discussion of possible applications and the possibilities of designing garments from the samples (bottom-up approach).



Figure 9. Samples used to discuss actuation and expressiveness. The three samples demonstrate three different active behaviors (9a) Multi-state inflation, (9b) symmetrical inflation, (9c) Unilateral inflation.

To allow unexpected topics to arise, we let her take the lead in the discussion to ask things she felt that she needed to know in order to ideate with and from the samples.

Her questions related to four main topics: actuation and expressiveness, color, layering of materials over the inflatables and transitions between materials (from embroidered substrates to other textiles). We detail the new opportunities that emerged through discussions in each of these topics below.

3.1.1 Actuation and expressiveness

Most discussion points about actuation and expressiveness related to understanding the possibilities of designing the inflatables through digital machine embroidery. Questions on this topic included what the size and shape limitations of the inflatables were and how the airways could be integrated. These questions could be easily answered through our samples (Figure 9) because this topic was directly related to challenges addressed during the process of making them. An interesting point that emerged from this session was what other possible functions the actuators could serve in wearables other than pushing against the body: "Is it an option to create active behaviors on the garments through this technique?" To create push against the body, the fit of a garment should be tight.

Looking at creating active behaviors on the garment instead, opened up a different view on possible silhouettes that could integrate the actuators. Consequently, a new perspective on the drapability of the samples emerged as a direction to explore. Some features like the shape, the density of embroidery, the direction of the embroidery and the thickness of the silicone could contribute to a higher malleability of the resulting inflatables.

3.2.1 Color

We were not concerned with color during the creation of the original samples. We only made active decisions on color for the exhibition, opting for white for the sake of uniformity and to highlight the embroidery attributes. From the perspective of the fashion designer, however. knowing "What is the impact of the silicone and the embroidery in color? Are there restrictions?" was essential to guide a bottom-up process of designing a garment from the samples. A few of the samples in the original set were embroidered in different colors. Therefore, we could analyze the effect of the silicone over the thread color by comparing the bright yellow and white samples with darker pink ones. While the bright colors seemed unchanged under the silicone, darker shades changed significantly, as seen in a sample from series 2 (Figure 10).



Figure 10. Sample 2.2 recreated Flow. The color changed significantly after casting, particularly on the denser areas.

The density of the embroidery and the thickness of the silicone also had an impact on color: the denser the embroidery or the thicker the silicone layer, the more it darkened the color. This could be used as a feature by exploring how to blend colors through embroidery gradations as well as through varying silicone thickness.

3.1.3 Layering of materials over the inflatables In our work, we overlayed embroidered designs and materials to create specific properties and actuation behaviors, such as the behaviors seen in Interaction Modes 1 and 3 (Figure 11). Although layering techniques were fundamental to design our samples, in our process we had not considered how layering could be used to change the surface of the inflatables. For the fashion designer, knowing whether it was possible to cover the silicone could open up opportunities for making decisions on concepts for application and look & feel of the inflatables: "Is it possible to cover the silicone? Say, add a liner for comfort or an outside material in case I do not wish the silicone to be visible?". Although we knew that layering could be used in multiple ways, including embedding or appliquéing extra materials, this helped us realize that the technique could be used to add lining, texture or other effects to the samples.

3.1.4 Transitions between materials

The question about the transition between materials pertains to fit. We explored fit in sample series 2 (Figure 10), in which the full form factor of Flow was recreated. From those samples, we knew that one interesting direction to explore was to manipulate locally the fabric character of the substrate and so create properties like stretch in parts of the wearable for improving fit. During the session, an alternative approach emerged. Looking at the vest as an example, she suggested that "for a more forgiving fit, the side panels of the vest could be stretchable." The samples created in series 5 demonstrated that we could achieve a robust integration between embroidered substrates and other textiles, both woven and knitted. However, these transitions only included straight lines. To explore a more organic and subtle transition, we created an extra sample together (Fig 12). In this sample, we already began to move towards a new direction to explore the delicate qualities of lace and transitions between lace and other textiles as seen in garments such as lingerie.

Through this session. could we demonstrate how samples can potentially be appropriated to open up new opportunities. As potential new directions, we identified opportunities of appropriating our samples, including: searching for qualities of drape; creating blends of color through the combination of silicone and thread; applying our layering for other ends such as lining to garments; and further exploring the delicate quality of our substrates.

3.2 Strategies

In design research processes we tend to treat our understanding of experiments as permanent and conclusive. In this view, an experiment is a failure when it does not offer us a direct way of progress towards



Figure 11. We used layering in many of our samples. (11a) To create Interaction Mode 3, we layered materials by adding two sheets of water-soluble stabilizer: the first as a base for integrating the embroidered substrate and the woven fabric, the second sheet is used to stitch the shape of the inflatable so it stays on the sample for casting. (11b) This sample was made by layering embroidery under the inflatable area to direct the inflation and appliquéing the water-soluble film to determine the inflatable shape.



Figure. 12 *Inspired by lace and lingerie, a new opportunity of combining the embroidered substrate and other materials emerged from samples of series 5 and Interaction Modes.*

our goal and it can therefore be discarded. In such an approach, new findings come from making other things towards new goals. Embracing ambiguity as a resource (Gaver, Beaver, and Benford 2003), the traveler approach sees that "the finding of new things also means looking at old things with new perspectives" (Goveia da Rocha and Andersen 2020). This means that instead of discarding samples that deviate from a given goal, they can be left as open opportunities for drifting (Krogh and Koskinen 2020) towards future journeys. To enable this, we need to explore strategies that support us in preserving encountered opportunities. Through our experience with the Embroidered Inflatables, we found that considering how we document and present our samples is key to ensuring they can be seen as open opportunities.

3.2.1 Documenting samples

The process of sample making through digital fabrication tools presents a challenge of decentralization of data over all the socio-technical systems of

production. The knowledge created from making a sample is divided between the experience of making, the digital file, the hardware we use, the post-production and our interactions with the samples. To appropriate a sample in a new journey, we need all of this data to be accessible. Therefore, we see the integration of data as a key factor of allowing samples to outlive the processes that create them.

As previously stated, emergent questions lead our process of making the Embroidered Inflatables. Considering that we did not know which samples would turn out to be the most interesting or when we would return to them, the likelihood that we would have forgotten the details of how a sample was made was high. To support this, we kept a spreadsheet with very detailed documentation of the samples. The format we used recorded data from a) the design journey, b) the software and hardware technical specifications, and c) our experience with the sample. During the process of making, we mostly used this documentation to reflect on our design journey, registering what happened with each sample and what could be done next. Later, the documentation also helped in identifying correlations between sewing attributes and material properties or active behaviors of the samples.

Integrating the data about each sample helped us develop a sensitivity about the relationships between materials, digital assets, and the machine that is necessary to appreciate what each sample is or can do. It allowed us to see the motivations and interpretations that carried us through our design journey, while preserving the details of how they are made and what they can do (properties and behaviors) in a way that allows for appropriation and new interpretations.

Documenting the design process can be time-consuming (Dalsgaard and Halskov

2012). Further investigation on the ways of documenting samples should be conducted to allow for as much data to be collected and centralized without overburdening designers.

3.2.2 Presenting samples

The way we present or store our samples carries an impact in their actionability. Our sample series were presented in two formats: a binder used to store all the samples with their corresponding documentation and annotations: and six acrylic displays that showcased the five-sample series and the Interaction Modes series. On its own, the binder emphasizes the apparent linearity of the process, supporting the telling of a story of how we succeeded in achieving our goal. The exhibition displays, on the other hand, put all samples at the same level of importance, supporting an overview of the design process.

Throughout our new analysis of our work, we began to explore these formats as ways of supporting revisiting samples. We found that it is important to create ways to reach the samples (the material and the documentation) both individually and within collections. Collections help us in identifying similarities and differences between samples but also gaps of opportunity regarding topics that we have not yet contemplated. Engaging with samples individually supports us to reinvestigate them, leading us towards engaging with other aspects of the sociotechno system of production they embody.

In our process, we dealt with samples as a collection, sub-collections (each sample series) and as individuals. We imagine that collections should expand beyond a single project to embrace an entire body of work, open to being revisited. For that to work, we should be able to easily access material samples and their documentation.

4 CONCLUSIONS

Inspired by the streams of thought in design research that aim to create a broader context for design research processes, we have presented a perspective on samples in Research through Design. This perspective builds on ideas presented by the travelers' approach, which proposes that not only the experiments that fit coherent stories should be valued. Seeing each sample as instantiations of socio-technical systems of production, valued for what it is and does, supports us in keeping samples open to potentially kick off new processes.

We developed this through a description of the sample making process of the Embroidered Inflatables and with our reflections on the strategies that enable the revisiting of samples to answer new questions. Suggested strategies included integrating the data about a sample into a single form of documentation and dealing with samples individually as well as in collections.

In our session with a fashion designer, examining samples for what they were and could do supported us in identifying opportunities for other design journeys. While the limitations and implications of taking this approach to samples still need to be explored further, we believe this approach offers the possibility of fostering different relationships with samples within and across projects. Further work in this direction should seek to further specify the characteristics of such samples and investigate documentation formats.

Lastly, we recognize the need for deepening our understanding of the moments when this approach may work. Our samples did lend themselves to the possibility of being revisited, and arguably, this happened because they are material samples, which makes it easier to disconnect them from their original contexts. In addition to this, with the exception of series 2, our samples

did not have form factors that connected them to a particular use. This may have facilitated us in playing with them to find interesting qualities to be explored elsewhere. Can other types of prototypes, constructed for specific application contexts, also be easily treated this way? In the future development of this approach, it would be valuable to explore whether research products (Odom et al. 2016), prototypes of high level of fidelity and finish, can be treated in the same way as our samples.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work is part of the i2-CoRT project, being carried out within the context of Interreg V-A Euregio Meuse- Rhine from the European Regional Development Fund.

REFERENCES

- Aigner, Roland, Andreas Pointner, Thomas Preindl, Patrick Parzer, and Michael Haller. 2020. "Embroidered Resistive Pressure Sensors: A Novel Approach for Textile Interfaces." In Proceedings of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI'20). Honolulu: ACM.
- Andersen, Kristina, Ron Wakkary, Laura Devendorf, and Alex McLean. 2019. "Digital Crafts-Machine-Ship:CreativeCollaborations with Machines." Interactions 27 (December 2019). Association for Computing Machinery: 30–35. doi:10.1145/3373644.
- Bergström, Jenny, Brendon Clark, Alberto Frigo, Ramia Mazé, Johan Redström, and Anna Vallgårda. 2010. "Becoming Materials: Material Forms and Forms of Practice." Digital Creativity 21 (3). Routledge : 155–72. doi:10.1080/14626268.2010.502235.
- Ceron, Steven, Itai Cohen, Robert Shepherd, James Pikul, Cindy Harnett, Steven Ceron, Itai Cohen, Robert F. Shepherd, James H. Pikul, and Cindy Harnett. 2018. "Fiber Embroidery of Self-Sensing Soft Actuators." Biomimetics 3 (3). Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute: 24. doi:10.3390/ biomimetics3030024.
- Dalsgaard, Peter, and Kim Halskov. 2012. "Reflective Design Documentation." In Proceedings of the Designing Interactive Systems Conference - DIS '12, 428-437. Association for Computing Machinery. doi:10.1145/2317956.2318020.
- de la Bellacasa, María Puig. 2017. Matters of Care. University of Minnesota Press.
- Delazio, Alexandra, Ken Nakagaki, Roberta L. Klatzky, Scott E. Hudson, Jill Fain Lehman, and Alanson P. Sample. 2018. "Force Jacket." In Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - CHI '18, 1–12. New York, New York, USA: ACM Press. doi:10.1145/3173574.3173894.
- Dongen, Pauline van, Ron Wakkary, Oscar Tomico, and Stephen Wensveen. 2019. "Towards a Postphenomenological Approach to Wearable Technology through Design Journeys," September. Loughborough University. doi:10.17028/ RD.LBORO.9724649.V1.
- Du, Jiachun, Panos Markopoulos, Qi Wang, Marina Toeters, and Ting Gong. 2018. "ShapeTex." In Proceedings of the Twelfth International Conference on Tangible, Embedded, and Embodied Interaction - TEI '18, 166–76. New York, New York, USA: ACM Press. doi:10.1145/3173225.3173245.
- Dunne, Lucy E, Susan P Ashdown, and Barry Smyth. 2005. "Expanding Garment Functionality through Embedded Electronic Technology." Article Designation: Refereed JTATM 4 (3).
- Ehn, Pelle. 2008. "Participation in Design Things." In Proceedings of the Tenth Anniversary Conference on Participatory Design 2008, 92–101. Indiana University.
- Frauenberger, Christopher. 2020. "Entanglement HCI The Next Wave?" ACM Transactions on Computer-Human Interaction 27 (1). Association for Computing Machinery: 1–27. doi:10.1145/3364998.
- Galloway, Anne. 2007. "Seams and Scars, Or How to Locate Accountability in Collaborative Work." In Uncommon Ground, edited by Cathy Brickwood, Bronac Ferran, David Garcia, and Tim Putnam. Amsterdam: BIS Publisher.

- Gaver, William. 2012. What Should We Expect From Research Through Design? Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - Proceedings. New York, New York, USA: Association for Computing Machinery. doi:10.1145/2207676.2208538.
- Gaver, William, Jacob Beaver, and Steve Benford. 2003. "Ambiguity as a Resource for Design." In Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI '03), 233–40. New York, NY, USA: Association for Computing Machinery (ACM). doi:10.1145/642611.642653.
- Gilliland, Scott, Nicholas Komor, Thad Starner, and Clint Zeagler. 2010. "The Textile Interface Swatchbook: Creating Graphical User Interface-like Widgets with Conductive Embroidery." In International Symposium on Wearable Computers (ISWC) 2010, 1–8. IEEE. doi:10.1109/ISWC.2010.5665876.
- Goveia da Rocha, Bruna, and Kristina Andersen. 2020. "Becoming Travelers: Enabling the Material Drift." In DIS '20 Companion, 215–19. Eindhoven: ACM. doi:10.1145/3393914.3395881.
- Goveia da Rocha, Bruna, and Kristina van der Kolk, Johannes M. L. Andersen, 2021 (Forthcoming). "Exquisite Fabrication: Exploring Turn-Taking between Designers and Digital Fabrication Machines." In CHI '21: CHI Conference on Human Factors Computing Systems Proceedings. in Yokohama, Japan: Association for Machinery. Computing doi:https://doi. org/10.1145/3411764.3445236.
- Goveia da Rocha, Bruna, and Oscar Tomico. 2019. "Flow: Towards Communicating Directional Cues through Inflatables." In Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems - CHI '19. ACM. doi:10.1145/3290607.3312828.
- Goveia da Rocha, Bruna, Oscar Tomico, Panos Markopoulos, and Daniel Tetteroo. 2020. "Crafting Research Products through Digital Machine Embroidery." In DIS '20: Proceedings of the 2020 ACM on Designing Interactive Systems Conference, 341–350. Eindhoven: Association for Computing Machinery. doi:10.1145/3357236.3395443.

- Goveia da Rocha, Bruna, Oscar Tomico, Daniel Tetteroo, and Panos Markopoulos. 2019. "Inflatable Actuators Based on Machine Embroidery." In Textile Intersections. Loughborough University. doi:10.17028/ RD.LBORO.9724688.V1.
- Hamdan, Nur Al-huda, Simon Voelker, and Jan Borchers. 2018. "Sketch&Stitch: Interactive Embroidery for E-Textiles." In Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - CHI '18, 1–13. New York, New York, USA: ACM Press. doi:10.1145/3173574.3173656.
- Haraway, Donna. 2016. Staying with the Trouble: Making Kin in the Chthulucene. Duke University Press.
- "Hexoskin." 2019. Accessed June 6. https:// www.hexoskin.com/.
- Ingold, Tim. 2010. "The Textility of Making." Cambridge Journal of Economics 34: 91– 102. doi:10.1093/cje/bep042.
- ———. 2017. Correspondences. University of Aberdeen. https://knowingfromtheinside. org/files/correspondences.pdf.
- Krogh, Peter Gall, and Ilpo Koskinen. Drifting 2020. by Intention: Four Traditions within Epistemic from Constructive Design Research. Springer International Publishing. doi:https://doi. org/10.1007/978-3-030-37896-7_1.
- Krogh, Peter, Thomas Markussen, and Anna Louise Bang. 2015. "Ways of Drifting – 5 Methods of Experimentation in Research through Design." In ICoRD'15 International Conference on Research into Design, 34:641–51. doi:10.1007/978-81-322-2232-3.
- Linz, Torsten, Lena Gourmelon, and Geert Langereis. 2007. "Contactless EMG Sensors Embroidered onto Textile." In 4th International Workshop on Wearable and Implantable Body Sensor Networks (BSN 2007), edited by Steffen Leonhardt, Thomas Falck, and Petri Mähönen, 29–34. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer. doi:https://doi. org/10.1007/978-3-540-70994-7_5.
- Linz, Torsten, René Vieroth, Christian Dils, Mathias Koch, Tanja Braun, Karl Friedrich Becker, Christine Kallmayer, and Soon Min

Hong. 2008. "Embroidered Interconnections and Encapsulation for Electronics in Textiles for Wearable Electronics Applications." Advances in Science and Technology 60 (September): 85–94. doi:10.4028/www. scientific.net/AST.60.85.

- Markopoulos, Panos, Qi Wang, Oscar Tomico, Bruna Goveia da Rocha, Martijn ten Bhömer, Luca Giacolini, Mantas Palaima, and Nita Virtala. 2020. "Actuating Wearables for Motor Skill Learning: A Constructive Design Research Perspective." Design for Health 4 (2). Routledge: 231–51. doi:10.1080/247351 32.2020.1807154.
- Mecnika, Viktorija, Melanie Hoerr, Ivars Krievins, Stefan Jockenhoevel, and Thomas Gries. 2015. "Technical Embroidery for Smart Textiles: Review." Materials Science. Textile and Clothing Technology. doi:10.7250/ mstct.2014.009.
- Morgan, Laura, Amy Winters, Ricardo O'Nascimento, and Emma Wood, eds. 2019. INTERSECTIONS: Collaborations in Textile Design Research Exhibition. London. www. textile-intersections.com.
- Nachtigall, Troy Robert. 2019. "Materializing Data." Technische Universiteit Eindhoven. doi:10.29147/2526-1789.dat.2016v1i2p2-14.
- Odom, William, Ron Wakkary, Youn-kyung Lim, Audrey Desjardins, Bart Hengeveld, and Richard Banks. 2016. "From Research Prototype to Research Product." In Proceedings of the 2016 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems -CHI '16, 2549–61. New York, New York, USA: ACM Press. doi:10.1145/2858036.2858447.
- Ou, Jifei, Mélina Skouras, Nikolaos Vlavianos, Felix Heibeck, Chin-Yi Cheng, Jannik Peters, and Hiroshi Ishii. 2018. "AeroMorph - Heat-Sealing Inflatable Shape-Change Materials for Interaction Design." ACM. Accessed September6.doi:10.1145/2984511.2984520.
- Oxman, Neri. 2007. "Digital Craft: Fabrication-Based Design in the Age of Digital Production." In Workshop Proceedings for Ubicomp 2007: International Conference on Ubiquitous Computing, 534–38. Innsbruck, Austria.

Post, Rehmi, Margaret Orth, Peter Russo,

and Neil Gershenfeld. 2000. "E-Broidery: Design and Fabrication of Textile-Based Computing." IBM Systems Journal 39 (3.4): 840–60. doi:10.1147/sj.393.0840.

- Raitor, Michael, Julie M. Walker, Allison M. Okamura, and Heather Culbertson. 2017.
 "WRAP: Wearable, Restricted-Aperture Pneumatics for Haptic Guidance." In Proceedings - IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation. doi:10.1109/ ICRA.2017.7989055.
- Redström, Johan, and Wiltse Heather. 2019. "Changing Things: Innovation through Design Philosophy." In Academy for Design Innovation Management Conference. London.
- Rudström, Åsa, Kristina Höök, and Martin Svensson. 2005. "Social Positioning: Designing the Seams between Social, Physical and Digital Space."
- Rutkowska, Joanna, Froukje Sleeswijk Visser, and David Lamas. 2019. "Towards Actionable Forms of Communicating and Sharing Design Knowledge." In EKSIG 2019: Knowing Together – Experiential Knowledge and Collaboration, 252–77.
- Scrivener, Steven. 2000. "Reflection in and on Action and Practice in Creative-Production Doctoral Projects in Art and Design." Working Papers in Art and Design 1 (1).
- "Sensoria Fitness." 2019. Accessed April 1. http://www.sensoriafitness.com/.
- Tomico, Oscar, and Stephan Wensveen. 2014. "Crafting a Culture of Prototyping." Crisp Magazine #3 "Fake It / Make It," May. https://issuu.com/crispnl/docs/ crisp_3_-fake_it_make_it_-issuu/40.

- Wensveen, Stephan, and Ben Matthews. 2015. "Prototypes and Prototyping in Design Research." In The Routledge Companion to Design Research, edited by J. Yee P.A. Rodgers, 14th ed., 262–76. Abingdon: Routledge Taylor & Francis Group.
- Wiberg, Mikael. 2018. The Materiality of Interaction: Notes on the Materials of Interaction Design. The MIT Press.
- Wiberg, Mikael, Hiroshi Ishii, Paul Dourish, Anna Vallgårda, Tobie Kerridge, Petra Sundström, Daniela Rosner, and Mark Rolston.
 2013. "Materiality Matters---Experience Materials." Interactions 20 (2). ACM: 54. doi:10.1145/2427076.2427087.
- Yao, Lining, Ryuma Niiyama, Jifei Ou, Sean Follmer, Clark Della Silva, and Hiroshi Ishii. 2013. "PneUI." In Proceedings of the 26th Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology - UIST '13. doi:10.1145/2501988.2502037.
- Zeagler, Clint, and Clint. 2017. "Where to Wear It." In Proceedings of the 2017 ACM International Symposium on Wearable Computers - ISWC '17, 150–57. New York, New York, USA: ACM Press. doi:10.1145/3123021.3123042.

4.2 In the Thick of Digital Craftsmanship: A Dialogue Between Weaving and Embroidery



Figure I. Photo from session 1. During the co-analysis of the sample making process, the designer narrated her process and explained the main insights that drove the process. Samples were arranged in chronological order to narrate the process, then rearranged based on emerging themes that motivated the development of new lines of inquiry.

The possibilities and limitations of digital fabrication machines, such as work envelope, are often discussed in material-driven research as ways to describe the kind of things that can be made through a given fabrication method, or the interactive possibilities these machines offer. Our making practices and the ways that such machines or techniques configure them, on the other hand, are less explored and described. Seeing this gap as an opportunity to unpack the relationality of digital craftsmanship, this study aimed to explore the relationship between making practices and the fabrication systems we make with. To do this, I put my practice in dialogue with the practice of Milou Voorwinden, a textile designer specialized in digital weaving, through a yearlong study in which she adopted a documentation form created from my practice of digital machine embroidery into hers as a weaver¹. We discussed her experiences and the sample work she documented in three sessions (Figure I).

Originally, this study also included Suzanne Oude Hengel, a textile designer specialized in knitting with a focus on footwear. The two designers were collaborating in a project and were exploring spacer fabrics in parallel processes. However, Suzanne chose to drop out of the study during the Covid 19 lockdown period, which had impacted her access to machinery. She participated in the first session in which we discussed her experience documenting 20 samples. This interview contributed to development of the concept of loose ends, described in chapter 6. Like Milou, Suzanne had in her collection a sample she called a "happy accident", a sample that had although did not perform as expected, had interesting behavior worth looking into in the future. In her documentation, she used a lot of visual and tangible elements like schematics of the knitting structure and pieces of the yarns used. At the end of this session, she suggested the inclusion of a field for finishing & post-production where information about dimensions before and after steaming would be included. Milou made a similar suggestion.

The dialogue between practices proposed in this study could be seen as a form of *diffractive reading*, meaning questioning one practice through the other. Inspired by Karen Barad's understanding of *diffraction* [4], *diffractive reading* has been used in design as a way of creating shared ownership between designers over the concerns located in subjective and lived experiences. without looking for a shared truth [13]. "Diffractions, such as the complex wave forms created when light is beamed through slits, are 'attuned to difference' and, specifically, the way that those differences, expressed as regions of light and dark, are produced under specific conditions of analysis" [14]. As such, using this notion of *diffraction* to analyze design or design practice is about reading "the way that multiple 'different' objects and memories can intermix to reveal new approaches, ideas, and understandings" [14]. In this study, the dialogue between practices was facilitated through a documentation form. The study did not aim to design an ideal form for documenting sample making processes, nor propose universal 'best practices' for *digital craftsmanship*. Rather, it contributes with accounts of how different fabrication machines configure the personal making practices of two designers differently, supporting an understanding of *digital craftsmanship* based on a relational view. Furthermore, intermixing experiences of weaving and embroidering technical/interactive materials supported revealing conditions for engaging with emergent opportunities in material driven-processes that can support explorative material-driven approaches.

In the following sections, I detail how this form supported our dialogue and her process of appropriating the documentation system. I also reflect on how our practices are configured differently by the fabrication systems we interact with.



Figure J. Profile of sample LW_3_22 created by Milou. In this development she explored weaving spacer fabrics. These samples were constructed by weaving multilayered structures. The points in which these layers are interlaced are called bindings. Her goal was to create a spacer with dense weave in the top and bottom sides.

Documentation form as a tool of dialogue

The dialogue between practices occurred through a longitudinal study that lasted about a year. The documentation form used to enable our dialogue was developed based on my practice of digital machine embroidery and research interests. The form included different reporting styles from industrial and textile designers with the aim of making the data that is usually distributed between digital file, machine, and project reports explicit and attached to specific samples. This with the intent of supporting designers in reflecting in action about their designs both within the design processes in which they are created and as stand-alone objects. The documentation form template was given to the textile designer to be used in her own projects as means to challenge the way she works and prompt reflection on her design process. For that, she had full freedom to incorporate the documentation into her workflow. She used them to document the development of woven spacer fabrics (Figure)). The access to the weaving machines she used in the project was limited, thus the project was developed through intense weeks of sample making at a time, varying in frequency. Sometimes developments weeks took place months apart from each other. Through her adoption and adaptation of the form to fit her own way of working, we created a shared ownership of the documentation system over time and progressively changed roles from participant/researcher to collaborators. In the next section I detail the structure of the study.

Interview and co-analysis sessions

We discussed her practice and experiences of using the form through three sessions. Each of the first two sessions lasted about 1,5 hours and included three parts (Figure K). The first part was a discussion about her documentation experience through an open-structured interview. In the second part, we co-analyzed her design journey through the samples. This was done by first laying down physical samples in chronological order. Then,



Figure K. Sessions 1 and 2 structure. Each session was divided in three phases (interview, co-analysis, and reflection), followed by a revision of the documentation form.



Figure L. Co-analysis of samples in session 2. This collection included 38 samples, divided in 7 columns. The 5 columns in the middle were themes that emerged in her process.

she narrated her process, explaining the motivation for each sample, or group of samples, and the insights she gained from them. As she mentioned interesting material qualities that she perceived in a sample that triggered new directions for exploration, we moved the sample into a theme column. Other samples associated with this emerging theme were placed in the same column (Figure L). At the end of each session, we co-reflected on potential changes to the template to support her practice. Based on this reflection, an adapted version of the documentation form was created for the following period of the study. Session 3 was a wrap up session based on the open-structure interview and a reflection on the overall experience.

Building a documentation practice

The changes to the form suggested between sessions were relatively small and consisted mostly in swapping the order of certain sections or changing division of content (Figure M). In our sessions, she reported that the On the Floor section was the most difficult for her to fill in due to time. Her access to the machines used in the processes documented in the study was limited, so she had to spend as much time as possible focused on making. Nonetheless, when asked if it should be removed from the form, she said no because it could be useful in the future. In our final section, she reaffirmed this section could be useful in the future, explaining it could be part of the process of revisiting a sample in new projects.

> "I can imagine that if I want to start a new process, a new project, I will try to take a few samples that I made before and get their forms. Maybe, I would fill that in at that time, just to review the sample. I think that's why I left it in."

After the second session, she shared a new version of the form she with adaptations she implemented in between sessions. According to her, the order of sections was modified to match the order she filled them in, bringing information that needs to be documented while making, like the machine setup, before information which can be filled in afterwards without as significant loss of details, such as the design journey. This helped mitigate the difficulty in balancing the need to document and the limited time allocated for making. Additionally, she made the form more visual by enlarging the field 'photo' and including color coded tags to track changes between designs, making it easier to recognize the form.

Over time, she also changed how she used the form, which supported her in creating her own system of documentation. At the beginning of the study, she began incorporating the documentation form into her practice by using the hardcopy version of the template filled in by hand. Each sample was tagged with an identification code to connect it to its respective form. By our second session, she had transitioned to filling the forms digitally, which supported

BEGINNING OF THE STUDY

AFTER FIRST SESSION

AFTER SECOND SESSION

ny manopine i Decontrace Dipy (his monto	Reference of manual Linear neuronal Depart Department.	Several interview & Decumentaries of Decision
Project earning Project	Project name	Franket name Franket
14ge Downerster Brenter Downsonwer Departmention	Step Downstill Hass Directorial Internetiation	tage [] Gen mins] sector] foreserved] Management
Part name Decision/discrimentary Champed by Date-	Part name Revision/Revision Changed by Dane	Fars name Changed by join
Reparieds.	Reywords	figyweirds
kurney	January	rightgring -
feel multipleases problems and	Seal (Decimi) expenses (compaying)	Merchand conservation de-
Fraces & approach Insult (work to Apploy 7	Prisons & appreading +lowel / your to imploy /	
Incontractory - mail of the day	Order under and Addition	Ced Intel and and advertation to be adverted as
Benghip Bild Synthesis () Bild and a conserver () Bild and a second second	Prolights #Dar happoint/ Kindt time Laucommunic Presi count for rauce without	Franks & appendix House Company
Mid Most . White White is the first state	Mersing Moved to	Projection and a state of the state
	the top of	The process way of the any second Wine part & decay and the part of the second Wine part & and the part of the second of the sec
Creation (Service)	Dente floor Dente floor To belo	Mexit SCope - Print dans multiply met
Properties Rect a d Ser	Medical Annual International International International	
Refeerie Wilcoms Unt	Reference attendence	Perchanoni Spect Firsteinn
Technique Etscher I entry	Technique (Lorivoid hoov) Samples	Miceliander (1994cat)
Pegnignes There's Issue Innered a sources?	Mightighte Workflood Investige disafter	Mactine elititie
Pendets Mich dat Léguer meria da un"	Praches Alex of Country and Art	former entropy
Nos	direc.	Materiality -
Service Inter. Whe constitutes to be of orthographic tasks to do the order	Several states Wand could that a class for the state of the second research	
Manual Providence of the State	Manufacture Landson Lands	Alter and
Mashine temporatilitys	> Washington	
Marythey	Machine Letting:	
the state of the s	Marcin	And a remember
All down		
	Lange 1	Dr. De fair
		This instantation and a state of the same in the second seco
		Properties (Information)
Separation between the machine		Teologie marine marine
setup and settings. Setup can include	and a rad of the faith -	Deserver 1
the arrangement of varns or other		Propriés des de la facer de la contra de la
hardware realted aspects. Machine		
settings are the changes that can be		
seconds are the changes that Call De	Notes became a space to	
input directly on the machine	different kinds of information	
	including drawings. Milou had	ł
	already been adding graphic	2
Inclusion of a field fo	r representations of the weave	2
finish and nost-production	structures at the end of her files	
		·

Figure M. Comparison between forms. On the left, is the form given at the beginning of the experiment. The two on the left are the adapted versions based on the reflection during the first and second session.

her in filling them in faster by copying and pasting parts of content that were the same in multiple samples.

> "I filled them in on my laptop and I think that was working quite well because in one day I had all the documents open on my computer and I was just going through it while weaving and steaming the samples and I could just close them after the day was done."

She also started to employ versioning as a strategy to update forms when changes to the design were considered optimization only.

"That's a thing I find a little bit difficult sometimes to decide 'when do I change the form or when do I keep the form. For example, at (name of company), if I make a change I would name it x number, then stripe A or B or C or D. I used to make a new page for every one of them but that's too much if it's a really small change in the design. Now I try to put them all in one form."

Additionally, she started to integrate her notation system for the weave binding patterns she created with the documentation of individual samples. The structure of each binding was documented separately and received a code. The documentation form of new samples based on one of her bindings would refer to it through its code. At the end of the study, she had rebuilt our form into a digital system based on Notion, a note-taking software, which facilitated searchability of the content in all forms through tags and search filters. She also developed the visual identity of her studio, which was applied to the documentation system.

> "I have a logo and a lot of identity things so there's also a label. This is the label that I use for my samples. Just to write the document number and stuff. And there's also a template. The information stayed the same [as the template we had been using]. I use this part a lot [Journey] but I hardly ever fill in this [on the floor]. The biggest difference has been that I started working with Notion. It's basically like a big Excel sheet with all the information: the file number, the name, the reference if there's a design I used before, date of when I created it, instructions, how many picks – that's the density of the weft yarns –, how many yarns I used, then a lot more. I also use tags and I added pictures so it's really easy to recognize what kind of design I used."

Through this process of appropriation of the form into her practice, she found her own way of using documentation to see samples both within their design process and as stand-alone designs. The system she created for her practice allows appreciating samples for their individual qualities.

An important insight from reflecting on her reported experience is choosing the moment to document different kinds of data. Time is a known challenge in design documentation. According to Löwgren and Stolterman [53], although the importance of good documentation is widely known, "when a deadline approaches, documentation is not a priority compared to the production of working code." Through the long-term engagement with the documentation form, Milou revealed different strategies to achieve a more consistent documentation practice, such mapping the timing of documentation certain kinds of data with its level of detail. She documented kinds of detailed information that could be forgotten otherwise, such as material specifications or machine setup, before making. Data as goals, has a lower level of detail and could be retrieved from memory, so she reported filling these in while the machine was running. As previously mentioned, the reflections from the 'on the floor' section were mostly left blank with the expectation of being filled in future revisiting. Timing should be considered and further explored designing future documentation systems and to building individual practices of documentation-while-we-make.

Different machines, different practices

The discussions about the form and the strategies Milou used to document her work helped reveal specific ways the weaving loom shapes her making practice. In turn, this supported me in reflecting on my own.

Although both of our practices are informed by turn-taking with our samples and the fabrication systems we make with, – as well as both of us using layering as a key concept in our designs –, the weaving loom configures her practice in a fundamentally different way than the embroidery machine configures mine. While my way of working has largely been configured by the possibilities and limitations of freedom of routing and the stability provided by the embroidery frame, her practice as a weaver is largely configured by the warp. The warp (yarns on the length of the fabric [25]) is an important variable in the structure of woven textiles that can be changed both in density and material. In our first session, Milou pointed out that changing the warp is always a cumbersome task. For this reason, she most often uses the warp entirely before setting up a new one. In the process she documented, this either made it so she had to wait before being able to act on certain insights until she could change the warp, or she had to seek work-around methods.

> "that's the thing with weaving, you are stuck with your warp so that's something for me to look at for the next [development] week. Then we will add a few yarns and see what type of bindings we can make on top of this."

As an example of work-around, she mentioned an instance in which she had found a structure she was interested in further exploring, but to do so would require a denser warp. To remedy it, she explored different strategies of making the binding denser using two weft yarns. This allowed her to pursue her insights further until the following development week, when the warp would be changed.

> "What I did in this sample is that here there are two weft yarns and instead of using them in the same warp opening, I changed that. So that it could be a bit denser."

More than limiting creative possibilities, the amount of work needed for changing or retying the warp after cutting away samples has implications to her itinerative processes and reflective practice. The warp is tensioned on a roller in the loom, which gives stability to the process. The intra-action between the tension on the warp, the structure of the weave and kind of yarns used determine the material behavior and qualities of the samples. This entanglement can only be assessed once the samples are removed from the loom and the sample has been through any finishing processes needed, such as steaming. This kind of finishing process can significantly change the sample dimensions and impact the sample qualities due to shrinkage of the yarns.

> "Especially with weaving, there's a lot I cannot really say unless it's off the machine. And then I'm already working on a different sample. It is a bit like, changing something then making a few variations"

To reduce the workload of redoing the warp and to optimize time, Milou reported that weaving a batch of samples that can be taken out of the loom at the same time to be a common practice in her material explorations. This means that the moment for reflecting on her woven samples is postponed from the immediacy of making to sometime later, when dealing with the warp is considered worthwhile. At the same time, Milou explained that creating samples in batches pushes her to intercalate processes and to pursue several lines of investigation in parallel, such as shown in Figure L. While one batch of samples is on the loom, the previous one can be evaluated, and its insights can be forwarded to new designs. This way of making can be considered a form of revisiting, concept explored in section 4.1.

"I also made this one [LW_3_36] that becomes round [meaning tubular] with using different materials in both sides. That also goes back to samples I made before, in the previous development weeks, I also made this kind of round samples so I also wanted to try if it would work with the extra warp yarn."

Like in weaving, the behavior of embroidered samples can only be assessed once they have been removed from the embroidery frame and the stabilizer has been washed away. However, depending on the size of samples, it is possible to embroider and reflect on samples either as a batch or a single sample at a time. This enables me to choose the mode of exploration I am interested in and to act on emergence quickly.

The point of specifying how the fabrication systems we make with configure our practices is to open opportunities to reconfigure them. In my case, unpacking the practice of another designer provided a rich example of how goal-oriented, although not the conventional understanding of goal, and emergent approaches can co-exist in a material-driven practice through parallel lines of inquiry.

Findings

The long-term engagement in this study revealed aspects about the relationship of fabrication systems and making practices that supported me to further understand digital craftsmanship from a distributed and relational point of view. Documentation was explored here both as a tool to support

building a reflective making practice and as a tool to unpack how a practice is configured by the fabrication system the designer *makes with*. Our experiences of digital craftsmanship were shaped differently by the specific machine or techniques we each engage in. With this, we revealed that technique and material choices do not only impact the interactive qualities and properties of a sample, but they also have an impact in our ability to reflect on our making processes and individual material outcomes.

Our discussions during the three sessions and the analysis of the process Milou went through of building her practice of documentation enabled identifying three other points for reflection: *the last meter; content, detail, and timing;* and *positionality in ways of documenting*. While the latter two focus on the design of documentation systems, the first point is an opportunity for explorative making.

The last meter

Furthermore, as the result of diffractively reading of one practice through the other, the study also enabled me to identify opportunities to nurture explorative making in digital craftsmanship. By focusing on difference rather than convergence between practices, this study revealed different opportunities of engaging with emergence and explorative making. As one of such opportunities, we can highlight the 'last-meter' of the warp in the loom as a potential mode of exploration through parallel lines of inquiry. This can be an alternative or complementary understanding to the notion of detours that had been introduced in chapter 3. In weaving, having to work with the warp that is already setup to finish that 'last meter' is an implication of the technique that could be taken as an opportunity to experiment with structures or other materials freely, without the expectation of specific outcomes. Extrapolating this for other techniques in digital craftsmanship, the last meter of warp in the loom could be seen as a metaphor to recognize and take advantage of the conditions for emergence. The machine is already turned on and setup, the materials are on the table, and other makers are around, so we can take 'the road less travelled'. What are we going to make?

> "For the samples that were very different, it was a matter of having the time and the material together with the warp being already there. I think also that I always have lists of ideas of things that I want to follow but you have to make priorities. These experiments may have been lower in the priority list but because we had some warp and material we could try it."

Content, detail, and timing

In digital craftsmanship, the number of produced samples, the diversity of information involved in making with systems that are both physical and

digital, and other kinds of restraint make it difficult to create comprehensive documentation. Like previous literature, time to document was also brought up in this study as a significant constraint. Defining what to document and the level of detail in documentation, a problem also identified in previous work on reflective documentation tools, were challenges I faced while formulating the original form. These concerns continued to be a point for debate throughout the process. This study did not aim to validate the right way to define content and level of detail, but it enabled reflecting on these. Based on the changes between sessions, it is possible to say we did not have considerable differences regarding content, but the importance of certain kinds of data and how we filled those in varied but due to the needs of the technique we each engage in. In her version of the form, for example, a bigger field for 'software' in the technical specifications enabled her to include visual elements of weaving notation systems. As such, matters of content and level of detail depend on the configuration of the fabrication system and the intentions of the designer. What could be recommended is trying to document as much as possible, while exploring means to make information retrievable in the future. Photos, for example, can capture rich data that could be easily forgotten or not evident at the time of making. Such data can include technical aspects like labels of yarns, machine setup, and machine settings but also contextual data, which we might want to retrieve in the future. Time is often mentioned as a challenge in design documentation. but an important insight from this study was timing. It was possible to identify an interesting relationship between timing and level of detail of data in how Milou incorporated the documentation form into her practice. Further work in the direction of developing approaches for documenting-while-we-make and other documentation systems could consider timing as a solution for the lack of time.

Documentation as reflection of the designer

As a final point for reflection, this study enabled considering the importance of reflecting on the documentation formats we propose and our positionality. According to Laura Devendorf and Kimiko Ryokai [16], "the way a fabrication system is designed configures relationships between humans, machines, materials, and digital models, and reflects the ideology of the designers: ideas of who or what should have agency or control in the making process". Like the design of fabrication systems, the ways of documenting can reflect the ideology of designers: the kind of information we prioritize and how we choose to notate it say something about how we design, with what we design and what we expect of our designs. The documentation form used in this study originally reflected my set of values and design philosophy. My aim with the form was making explicit kinds of information distributed throughout the socio-technical system of production to support explorative approaches. Other formats, such as workbooks [30, 78], could be used to document rich and multifaceted of material-driven processes. However, my aim was also to enable the notion of revisiting which I judged easier to do with individual pages because they enable the creation and reconfiguration of collections, as well as reordering and isolation of samples. The section "On the floor" aimed to emphasize this potential by enabling the appreciation of samples outside of the process of their creation, extending them agency to open new directions of investigation. The prompts added to each field reflect my own background as an interaction designer. Over time, Milou adapted the form to reflect her own set of values and interests. In an approach of documentingwhile-making, documentation means not only recording data about the process and individual samples, but it can also configure our practice. As such, it is important to be critical and explicit about the assumptions and values about making and knowledge that a given format embodies.

Conclusion

Unpacking making processes and personal practices is a difficult task. This study approached this challenge by employing the notion of diffractive reading to create a dialogue between practices. A documentation form created from my experience of making with digital embroidery machine was used as tool to facilitate this dialogue. Through a long-term engagement with this form, Milou could build her own practice of documentation further. Three sessions allowed us to discuss her experience and slowly unpack the specificity of her practice, which also helped me unpack my own. As a result, the dialogue between our practices enabled evaluating the ways the fabrication systems we make with configure our practices. This study makes a methodological contribution to unpack individual practices of digital craftsmanship. Furthermore, the reflections on this process contribute with insights regarding documentation systems that support explorative making.

4.3 Making Matters: Samples and Documentation in Digital Craftsmanship

Published as

Bruna Goveia da Rocha*, Janne Spork*, and Kristina Andersen. 2022. Making Matters: Samples and Documentation in Digital Craftsmanship. In Sixteenth International Conference on Tangible, Embedded, and Embodied Interaction (TEI '22). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, Article 37, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1145/3490149.3502261

ABSTRACT

Digital fabrication machines enable the creation of a wide range of artifacts and materials. In the process of exploring the possibilities within these digital modes of creation, many samples are made. To encourage cross-pollination between different practices and strive for a community that shares more information, this research investigates the state of the art of sample making and documentation practices in the context of Digital Craftsmanship. Through in-depth interviews with designers with a focus

on digital craftsmanship, in this paper we unpack some of the practices and challenges in material driven processes related to how to design, evaluate, document and archive material samples. We reflect on making practices, what forms of knowledge are produced through making and how the use of samples in different design processes can be supported through documentation.

KEYWORDS

Digital Craftsmanship; Fabrication; Design practice.



INTRODUCTION

The production of tangible things is largely driven by making. In recent years, we have seen the work of designing tangible and interactive things expand the making of satisfying and working prototypes towards the making and experimenting process inherent in the design itself. As we involve increasingly complex systems of technology for both the function and the production of our designs, the balance between human craftsmanship and digital production is renegotiated again and again. We consider this re-negotiation the core method concern of digital craftsmanship as it evolves in the meeting between design and fabrication.

Digital fabrication machines enable the creation of a wide range of artifacts and materials. This way of working has created a new perspective on making where the digital meets the hand in ever evolving ways. We consider this a kind of digital craftsmanship, which leans equally on the capabilities of the digital machinery and the skill and craft of human hands at the intersection of the digital and nondigital [1]. In this way, digital systems are creating new possibilities for the practice of craftsmanship that then may unlock the potential of existing expressive media and encourage the creation of others [8]. Within digital craftsmanship, as in other kinds of crafts, the physical execution of an idea is not considered the final step of the process, but the starting point. In this hands-on approach of working, material exploration, physical craftsmanship and digital ways of making take center stage [2]. As designers learn by doing, they go through loops of trial and error. Here, making is a way of thinking with the hands and then letting the resulting things support imagining and talking about ideas that are difficult to fully understand or articulate solely in language [2]. Within design research, making is taking on an increasingly important role as a way of exploring. As a result, making is gaining popularity as a research method in itself [6].



Samples

In design research, the term "samples" is used to refer to the outcomes of materialdriven approaches, meaning that the value and interactive possibilities offered by these prototypes are intrinsically linked to their manufacturing methods and materials [5]. The material-driven processes result in complex encounters between intention and artifact, material and skill, chance, and opportunity [5]. This way of working is complex and multifaceted, and as a result, difficult to document and communicate [3]. The large number of samples created in materialdriven processes can make documentation overwhelming, causing designers to focus instead on the communication of the end result [10].

such We believe that selective documentation of sample process is a missed opportunity. The high fidelity of digital fabrication makes them uniquely suited to be revisited in other design journeys [6]. However, in order for new projects to benefit from the tacit knowledge gained through previous sample making, thorough documentation is required. Such documentation may also play an important role in sharing (tacit) knowledge that can facilitate new collaborations.

To arrive at a better understanding of both common, established practices of designers and the differences that may be machine/technique dependent, we wanted to explore sample making and documentation practices in the context of digital craftsmanship. To do this, we conducted a series of in-depth interviews with design researchers and practitioners with a focus on digital craftsmanship through a wide range of techniques.

In this pictorial, we unpack their experiences and highlight some of the practices and challenges in materials-driven processes related to the tasks of making, evaluating, documenting, and archiving material samples.

In this, we do not seek to formalise ways of making or documenting, but rather to begin the work of identifying challenges and opportunities that may be encountered in how designers deal with samples within their design practices. We recognise that practices are diverse and multifaceted, and we focus on reflecting and broadening our understanding on the knowledge created in digital craftsmanship, and how digital fabrication tools support or affect these. We hope that engaging in such matters can encourage our community towards crosspollination between techniques, practices, and ideas.

INTERVIEWS

To gain more insight in the way designers create, archive, document and use their samples, we interviewed nine design researchers and practitioners engaged with what we would consider digital craftsmanship. The selected participants had expertise in a wide range of practices based on digital fabrication machines like weaving, embroidery, 3D printing, and laser cutting.

The in-depth interviews were conducted in two parts. The first part of the session was set up as an expert interview [11] to gain more insight about their expertise and their sample making and documentation practices. The second part was a coreflection session [12] in which they picked a sample they had previously made as a starting point for deepening the discussion on their practices of making.

Data Analysis

During the interviews the designers highlighted the importance of having the physical and visual presence of their work around them by hanging samples on the wall. For this reason, we used the same material driven design to explore the limitations and potentials of digitally controlled manufacturing techniques. They combine laser cutting, sublimation printing and 3D-printing with an expertise in textiles.

Designer 4 has

D

expertise in industrial embroidery, particularly technical embroidery. They focus on textiles across technology, fashion and interiors. The design process is conducted through the combination of research on culture, industrial design, technology and craftsmanship.

Designer 7 is

Designer 2 explores the design of digital domestic technologies using speculative deisgn. They focus on how the material can guide the design process. Designer 2 has an expertise in textile processing techniques like laser cutting, 3D-printing and digital weaving.

2

Designer 5 has expertise in knitwear and textile design. They are drawn to unusual textures, intricate structures, and organic shapes. With a particular interest in the intersection of philosophy and knitting, their work explores materiality, contradiction, metaphor, and intuition.

9

Designer 8 guides othei

with a focus on the emotional expressivity of interactive products with programmable material qualities. They investigate shape-changing materials and how to design for the expressive and aesthetic qualities of interactive products.

Designer 9 focuses on material and textile development. They have a specialization in knitted textiles. By using techniques in an unconventional way, deisgner 9 tries to reshape making to show the countless possibilities of textile innovation.

6

Designer 6 is interested

Expertise of the designers interviewed

8

Designer^{*}

engages with digital manufacturing like laser cutting, 3D printing and digital embroidery. Through a learningby-doing approach, designer 3 investigates the advantages and disadvantages of a technique or machine to explore new manufacturing possibilities.

-

5

method for the analysis. We transcribed relevant points of the interviews, printed them and clustered their experiences related to the tasks of making, evaluating, documenting, and archiving material samples.

A good deal of the information provided by the designers was in visual form. For that reason, photos provided by the designers as examples of their practices were added next to the clusters of quotes extracted from the transcribed interviews. The resulting collages or image-clouds, as we called them, attempts to preserve the richness of the designs and practices of designers engaged in the interviews. By making the clusters visual, we also leave them open for new interpretations. making, evaluating, documenting and archiving. We believe this division can support us in articulating challenges and knowledge gained throughout our design processes. In doing this, we aim to support furthering the efforts done by researchers in the field in finding language to discuss the outcomes and the emerging practices in digital craftsmanship [4].

Overall, it was noticeable that designers often associated the task of making samples with evaluating them. Although the documenting was sometimes part of this process of making/evaluating, the documentation itself was often grouped with the archiving of samples.

In the following sections we present our image-clouds and findings related to each of the four tasks.

FINDINGS

Our findings were clustered in four tasks:

MAKING

The designers interviewed for this study have a wide variety of practices. From highly intuitive and exploratory methods such as material speculation, where the material drives or shapes the process, to more systematic and structured approaches. All designers are experts in digital craftsmanship: their affinity with digital production is where all their practices converge. While some focus on designing systems and delve deeper into the manufacturing process itself, for others, the creation of the physical sample is the goal.

Process

We observed that for some designers the emphasis is on the making rather than the made thing. Following the ethos of learning by doing, they determine the advantages and disadvantages of different approaches and gain knowledge through the making itself. Often the unpredictable things that occur in the development process of sample making are addressed and used as starting points for new explorations.

Outcome

For other designers interviewed, the physical sample itself plays a big role in their practice. Samples can serve as a way to take the next step. It is a way to make an idea tangible, validate it and put it into practice.

I think samples don't play a big role. It's usually about the process of making the sample. The sample itself, whether it was successful or not, is not that important to me. If it went well, then you know that it worked, so that is a kind of validation of the process that you have set up. If it doesn't work, then you know it doesn't work and you probably know where it goes wrong and what you have to change. But the sample itself, as it is usually not the objective... Once the sample is ready, it is also ready again; then the sample is no longer needed

early explorations of interaction possiblities using conductive thread through digital machine embroidery no matter how efficient I want to work, I sometimes need those physical samples in order to take another big step, it's always the physical sample that takes us a step further. For me, the samples are very important.

With only the documentation they really only know the ingredients of the recipe but not the recipe itself. Then you will be able to go in all directions.

material selection for tactile interface to control light system

4

machine knitted samples exploring shaping and material behavior

2-22

10

The West

"NO MATTER HOW EFFICIENT I WANT TO WORK

SOMETIMES I HAVE TO HAVE THOSE PHYSICAL SAMPLES TO TAKE ANOTHER BIG STEP."

EVALUATING

Depending on the type or stage of the project, samples are evaluated in different ways such as putting the samples in context, pinning them to mannequins and testing them with electronics. Some of the interviewed designers use input from others to evaluate their work. Others are more individually oriented and use their own insights as instruments of evaluation.

Collaborative

Some of the designers work collaboratively and seek outside perspectives to evaluate their process. Through showing their samples and talking about them with other people, they have a broad range of input into the process.

Individual

6

For others, the creative process is a very involved process with themselves. They motivate their work through their own insights. HARDWARE PROTOTYPING

Testing Conductive Thread Silvertexh + Amann Group testing |



comparing performance of conductive materials

> xploring materials for tactile interface

You also talk to people and then they contribute ideas and then you come to something. So you never did it all by yourself.

> We work in teams a lot in projects, which I really like because then you always have more people to bounce ideas off of, a bit of a back-and-forth



l often work on my own so you are a walking library yourself

Everyone has their own way of writing code, the same with the setting of a 3D printer, there is a lot of feeling involved. Just a little thing needs to change and everything is lost.

Documentation mainly happens in my head, that is more of a mental note and I make some notes but it is mainly a very involved process with yourself



0

drawing schematics

creating valleys, mountains and cuts as weaving drafts



determining fold lines in illustrator



Ņ



The section proof tages were proof unique. The section of the section were also as a finite with the section of the section of



discontinuous weft in photoshop

4

7

nnotating screenshots

DOCUMENTING

What the designers interviewed agreed on was that documentation should happen immediately after a sample is created. This can be contradictory. If you are in the right workflow, many iterations are made in a short period of time, making it difficult to keep up with their documentation. To keep documentation up to date, continuity is important. However, this can be easier said than done due to the different forms and formats that samples can take and because of the enthusiasm for the next steps. Next to this lack of structure, a lack of time is also a common challenge within sample documentation. The way designers document varies from notes in text, sketches or mental notes, labels, or tags on the samples themselves (sometimes provided with a distinctive code) and photographs taken of the samples. Since all designers work with digital crafts, there are also the digital files and settings of the machinery, which are often documented within the used software.

Reproduction

Documentation can be used as a tool to enable reproduction. The importance of this varies per project and per designer. Some of the design researchers we spoke with indicated that documenting in a way that allows for future reproduction is of great importance or even value of their work. For other designers, the value of their work is not stored in the documentation. In some cases, they even have to prevent others from copying their designs.

Communication

In collaborative ways of working, documentation can play an important role. When several people are working on a project, samples and their documentation are used as a communicative tool for sharing knowledge. linking physical samples with their digital files through unique codes

If I make all the samples myself and then the other person doesn't know how to work with them, it won't help, you won't get anywhere.

The samples and the documentation are really about communication.



ARCHIVING

The way the samples are archived can play a role in applying the knowledge gained in future work. Among the interviewed designers, a physical and visible way of archiving is preferred, but samples often end up hidden from view or even disappear after the project is finished.

Physical

Designers stressed the importance of the physical presence of samples and the ability to feel, see and experience them. Hanging samples on the wall is one of the methods designers use to facilitate this presence and to visualize the design process. Digital imaging plays a significant role. Through photographs of samples, designers archive in a digital yet visual way. This is done for several reasons: storage along with the digital files is easy, a timestamp is automatically added to a sample, and photos are convenient to share with others.

Absence

While the designers we spoke with agreed on the importance of having samples physically present, they said that when a project is finished, samples often travel from their spot on the wall to boxes, or they disappear entirely. Some designers have a structured approach in labelling their archived samples sorted by project and date of making. For others, this structure has less value. keep the samples visible

Hanging the samples on the wall is more like you have a lot of puzzle pieces in your head and then you put them down so you can zoom out.

But a lot of iterations that don't work are not really saved or anything like that. Then you try something with them or you adapt them or you break them and then they disappear.

We take an awful lot of photos and videos because you can stream super-fast and store them in a reasonably organised way. In research projects with other designers, you then share a photostream.

6

It is much easier to retrieve much more information from a photo.



project box: Treatly have a whole stack of black boxes and I have a timestamp on them. Then I have a folder with everything I made around that time all together."

samples, illustrations and planning on the wall of a studio as a way to visualize the design process

Sometimes I keep them in sketchbooks with notes next to them and other,

older samples get put into Tupperwares.

(5)

I try to keep them organized by the type of structure it is.

DISCUSSION

For this process, we spoke with both design researchers and practitioners, and we found that they have distinctly different sample making practices. While practitioners are more concerned with the made thing, researchers are more concerned with the lessons they learn during the making of the artifacts or the new opportunities that a technique may open. For design researchers, it is important that they document in a way that enables other researchers to analyse the same data in order to obtain the same results as the original research study, thereby reinforcing the conclusions of the original study. For practitioners, in some cases the concern is the avoidance of reproducibility. Here it is important to mention that most designers role shift between the two identities depending on the phase of a project and their focus.

The type of crafts the designers are involved in also influences their working methods. A flat woven sample is easier to archive than a 3D-printed sample of a large volume. But whereas a 3D-printed sample can be taken straight out of the machine after creation, woven samples are often not made one by one but in batches before being taken out of the loom. This also impacts how and when designers can reflect on their proces and outcomes. With designers who work on commission, it may be that the samples they make are given away to the client, or sold separately as craft objects.

In the context of digital craftsmanship, there is an ongoing conversation about the possibilities of materials and techniques, however the ways in which these tools shape our practice are not as widely scrutinised. By exploring the current making practices, we aim to open up a conversation about practices in the context of digital fabrication and crafts. attention to how this process is currently managed by a series of designers active in this field. We propose that the craft technique of sample making is emerging as a key area of design work, and that paying attention to how these samples are made, interpreted, integrated and documented, provides us with suggestions as to how we may continue to incorporate new technologies and materials into our design processes.

CONCLUSION

The possibilities of exploring material properties and creating complex artifacts through digital fabrication has attracted many design researchers and practitioners into digital craftsmanship. For some of the designers we interviewed, the focus is on the making process rather than the made thing. For others, the physical sample retains the core value as an outcome. Depending on the phase and end-goal of a project, designers document more or less methodically. While some of the designers work collaboratively and seek external perspectives to evaluate their process, others motivate their work through their own insights and experiences. As a result, documentation plays different roles in different practices like supporting the reproducibility of the designs, reflecting on the knowledge gained through making or as communication tools for those working in teams. Documentation is done in text, sketches, or mental notes, labels on the samples themselves and pictures of samples. One of the main challenges reported was archiving samples. While the designers agreed on the importance of having samples physically present, they said that often when a project is finished, the samples are packed down or discarded. Other challenges include time, lack of continuity, and an over-enthusiasm for the next steps.

This pictorial is an attempt at paying

We are not providing guidelines or

practical frameworks to how this should be addressed, nor are we proposing that there is one unique method or strategy that should be incorporated by designers in the field. This pictorial simply aims to draw attention to the processes that are already in use in digital craftsmanship, but rarely discussed or described. As designers we prefer to show that final versions and describe our process in hindsight as if there were little deviation or error. This pictorial is an attempt to pay attention to designerly strategies used inside the process, before the final design and as we are still "in the thick of it".

We believe that it is the cross-pollination between different forms of applied craftsmanship that will show us the broader range of possibilities afforded by the meeting between craft and fabrication. We hope that this short pictorial may inspire and encourage paying closer attention to the material and samples we make while working towards our design goals, in turn allowing a deeper understanding of the tools we use and the ways we might work together.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank all the designers who generously shared their working practices with us during the interviews.

REFERENCES

- Kristina Andersen, Bruna Goveia da Rocha, Oscar Tomico, Marina Toeters, Angella Mackey, and Troy Nachtigall. 2019. Digital craftsmanship in the wearable senses lab. In Proceedings of the 23rd International Symposium on Wearable Computers. https://doi. org/10.1145/3341163.3346943
- [2] Kristina Andersen, Ron Wakkary, Laura Devendorf, and Alex McLean. 2019. Digital crafts-machine-ship. Interactions 27, 1. https://doi.org/10.1145/3373644
- [3] Peter Dalsgaard and Kim Halskov. 2012. Reflective design documentation. In Proceedings of the De-

signing Interactive Systems Conference on - DIS '12. https://doi. org/10.1145/2317956.2318020

- [4] Raune Frankjær and Peter Dalsgaard. 2018. Understanding Craft-Based Inquiry in HCI. In Proceedings of the 2018 Designing Interactive Systems Conference (DIS '18). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 473–484.tt
- [5] Bruna Goveia da Rocha and Kristina Andersen. 2020. Becoming Travelers. In Companion Publication of the 2020 ACM Designing Interactive Systems Conference. https://doi. org/10.1145/3393914.3395881
- [6] Bruna Goveia da Rocha, Oscar Tomico, Daniel Tetteroo, Kristina Andersen, and Panos Markopoulos. 2021. Embroidered Inflatables: Exploring Sample Making in Research through Design. Journal of Textile Design Research and Practice. https://doi.org/10.1080/20511787.2021 .1885586
- [7] Bruce Hanington and Bella Martin. 2019. Universal methods of design expanded and revised: 125 Ways to research complex problems, develop innovative ideas, and design effective solutions. Rockport publishers.
- [8] Tim Ingold. 2010. The textility of making. Cambridge Journal of Economics 34, 1. https://doi.org/10.1093/cje/bep042
- [9] Jennifer Jacobs, David Mellis, Amit Zoran, Cesar Torres, Joel Brandt, and Theresa Jean Tanenbaum. 2016. Digital Craftsmanship. In Proceedings of the 2016 ACM Conference Companion Publication on Designing Interactive Systems. https://doi. org/10.1145/2908805.2913018
- [10] Peter Gall Krogh, Thomas Markussen, and Anne Louise Bang. 2015. Ways of Drifting—Five Methods of Experimentation in Research Through Design. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-81-322-2232-3_4
- [11] Michaela Pfadenhauer. 2009. At eye

level: the expert interview—a talk between expert and quasi-expert (pp. 81-97). Palgrave Macmillan, London, 81–97.

[12] Oscar Tomico and Iolanda Garcia. 2011. Designers and stakeholders defining design opportunities "In Situ" through co-reflection. In Proceedings of the 3rd Conference on Participatory Innovation : 58–64.

5 Collaborative practices in sample making

"If a computer interface is hooked up to a given instrument, is the computer part of the apparatus? Is the printer attached to computer part of the apparatus? Is the paper that is fed into the printer? Is a person who feeds the paper? How about the person who reads the marks on the paper how about the community of scientists who judge the significance of the experiment and indicate support or lack of support for future funding? What precisely constitutes the limits of the apparatus that gives meaning to certain concepts at the exclusion of others?"

Karen Barad [3]

Up until this point, the practice of *designing with* machines has been explored mostly as a relationship between a single designer and a digital fabrication machine. In this chapter, I expand the exploration of *designing with* in *digital craftsmanship* to include multiple machines, as well as more designers, into the sample making process. Two projects were developed in this direction, FabriClick and Exquisite Fabrication, in collaboration with industrial design students. These projects were published in *"FabriClick: Interweaving Pushbuttons into Fabrics using 3D Printing and Digital Embroidery"* and *"Exquisite Fabrication: Exploring Turn-taking between Designers and Digital Fabrication Machines"*, respectively. The two publications propose different strategies to add complexity to samples by moving them between machines, and, together, support a reflection on collaborating with our socio-technical systems of production.

FabriClick was a serendipitous collaboration with Maas Goudswaard and Abel Abraham, who were exploring on-body textile interfaces based on 3D printing on stretched fabric. One day, I was walking towards the lab, when I saw bright red and blue cool looking samples on their table and asked them about their project. They explained their experiment and asked me if I had suggestions of possible fabrication techniques that could be used to turn their samples into functional pushbuttons. As mentioned in chapter 3, during the development of the Embroidered Inflatable samples, I identified the stability given by the embroidery frame as an opportunity for moving the work out of the machine to add layers of other materials or perform other processes (Figure N), then bring it back to the machine for new embroidery steps without compromising the alignment of the designs. The problem of how to fabricate the pushbuttons emerged as an opportunity to further explore the possibilities of combining other digital fabrication processes with the embroidery, while the work was still on the embroidery frame. This led us to collaborate in developing a jig system and workflow that unified



Figure N. The frame gives stability to embroidery, allowing the work to be removed from the machine for different steps. In the Embroidered Inflatables, this was used to locally wash the water-soluble film off from samples for facilitating the silicone casting process as well as to add layers of material for creating more complex structures.

digital machine embroidery and 3D printing to fabricate their FabriClick pushbuttons. The molds I had previously used for casting silicone on the embroidery samples were composed by separate laser cut pieces that could be reconfigured depending on the side of the fabric I was casting on (to make the inflatables airtight, casting was done in both sides). Based on this idea, the jig system was designed to be reconfigured depending on the stage of fabrication.

The pushbuttons were composed by two layers of fabric, each processed separately, then assembled by the embroidery machine to become an interface. Combining fabrication processes through the jig was not only pertinent but necessary for this application: the precise alignment of both layers required them to remain stretched until the end of fabrication. However, if we extrapolate the idea for other cases, the need of custom frames introduces important limitations. First, the design must fit all machines involved in the fabrication process. Secondly, introducing other techniques to the workflow will likely require adaptation or redesign of the hardware of the jig, making it more complex to explore new ideas.

The proposal of *Exquisite Fabrication* was to continue to explore combining digital fabrication processes into a single workflow through an alternative approach that traded-off accuracy for more flexibility to the process. I invited Jori van der Kolk to participate of the project because of his expertise as a maker. He also had previously built a silicone printer for another project which allowed us to address the casting process of Embroidered Inflatables as design case. Until then, the best method for casting silicone to create the inflatables I found was using laser cut molds pressed together with magnets (Figure O). The technique worked well but presented inconsistencies between castings, such as exact amounts poured and leveling, caused by manually

pouring the silicone. Therefore, in Exquisite Fabrication, we chose to address both the mold and the casting process, replacing the laser cut mold by a 3D printed dissolvable one. This improved the reproducibility of the silicone casting process and gave us the possibility of changing designs of the molds. Additionally, this included a third digital fabrication machine to the same workflow of sample making. Rather than connecting processes through hardware, like in FabriClick, Exquisite Fabrication approached interoperability through two software tools designed by Jori, MOAS SD and MOAS TT. The tools supported the alignment of the designs done by each machine through placement stickers and coordinates for resetting the zero point of the printers. The sample created in this process traveled between machines and back and forth between designers to complete four steps of fabrication. In doing this, we recognized the value of leveraging the capabilities of each machine, as well as the expertise of each maker. The process allowed us to reflect on some of the implications of engaging with multi-machine and multimaker collaborations and to propose strategies for nurturing an attitude for collaboration between designers and machines.

Previously in this research, I had pushed the capabilities of digital machine embroidery to create things that might not usually be associated with the technique, such as defining the form factor and behavior of inflatables, by approaching the machine as a collaborator. FabriClick and Exquisite Fabrication expanded my understanding of collaborative making by taking the next step of including others (human and non-human) into the same process of designing with. In both projects, the proximity between machines and makers in the lab was key to initiate collaborations. This is compatible to findings from prior research in collaborative craft. In exploring collaborative practices and hybrid processes, Nimkulrat et al. [63] found that "meaning is created not only through the maker's interaction with materials and tools in space but also through interactions with them over time." In this, they refer to the proximity of the skilled makers with the tools in the lab where they worked



Figure O. A laser cut mold put together with magnets was used to cast silicone onto the embroidery sample without removing it from the frame (left). This allowed bringing the frame back to the digital embroidery machine for a new embroidered design (right).

as well as between each other as important resources to foster crossingover between (analogue to digital) practices and tools. The experiences of FabriClick and, especially, Exquisite Fabrication enabled reflections on how to extend this idea of co-presence.

Turn taking is the term I use in this dissertation to the feedback loop between collaborators. It is this process that allows machines to have more agency in the designing process and designers to leverage on the knowledge and skills of others. Beyond performing a sequence of actions in the way we intended, what happens when we watch the machine at work is the enactment of new opportunities unfolding. These opportunities are grounded in the edge capabilities of the machine entangled with materials, design choices, skill & practices of a community. To support collaboration in explorative making, the guiding principles for designers according to Becoming Travelers are simple: create time to make things, create a sensibility to appreciate what was done and be systematic (section 3.4). When more designers and machines become collaborators in the same process, these principles are joined by the importance of nurturing an attitude of trust in each other's expertise to allow for shared ownership & risk. Turn taking between designers also means understanding that collaboration is not so much about compromise but co-inhabiting a space and a timeline.

In the context of this dissertation, the forms of collaboration in these projects demonstrate how the entanglements within socio-techno system of the lab are more complex than our initial model of digital craftsmanship described. As previously mentioned, the concept of intra-activity, proposed by Karen Barad as an extension of Bohr's epistemological framework based on the two slit diffraction experiment [3, 4] influenced my view on samples. When reflecting on FabriClick and Exquisite Fabrication, Barad's argumentation about the boundaries of apparatuses that led to them articulating intraactivity also supported me in reflecting on the model of feedback loop in digital craftsmanship presented in chapter 2 (Figure C). This model shows the inside boundary of the apparatus, but not the outside one. Our samples are not observation-independent objects, and they are not created within independent, isolated spaces. Directly or indirectly, the ideas, samples, people, and machines that co-inhabit the lab in a timeline rub off on each other. To engage with the potential of collaborative practices and explorative making, we need not only to 'look backwards and forwards', as it was suggested in chapter 2, but also 'look to the sides', to widen our view of who and what is part of our socio-technical system of production (or apparatus). This requires developing a sensitivity towards what is at hand and the intra-actions that occur in the lab to enable collaborations with this "extended" socio-technical system of production. Secondly, it is important to find ways of acknowledging the part the co-inhabitants of our timelines play into our processes. Chapter 6 proposes one of such ways through accounts of collaborations with other designers working in the Wearable Senses lab and their samples.
5.1 FabriClick: Interweaving Pushbuttons into Fabrics Using 3D Printing and Digital Embroidery

Published as

Maas Goudswaard, Abel Abraham, Bruna Goveia da Rocha, Kristina Andersen, and Rong-Hao Liang. 2020. FabriClick: Interweaving Pushbuttons into Fabrics Using 3D Printing and Digital Embroidery. In Proceedings of the 2020 ACM Designing Interactive Systems Conference (DIS '20). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 379–393. https://doi.org/10.1145/3357236.3395569

ABSTRACT

Mechanical pushbuttons, which provide physical landmarks and clear tactile feedback, are easily accessible and highly reliable in eyes-free use. Potentially, their merits can improve the experiences of on-body or wearable HCI. However, they are not commonly adopted as a user interface of smart textiles because the physical mechanism of conventional pushbutton hardware requires further integration, which should be seamless enough to be comfortably worn. In this pictorial, we present a design exploration of the methodologies for interweaving mechanical pushbuttons into fabrics. The exploration used a frame system, which unifies the workflow of digital embroidery and 3D printing and enables the exploration of the physical design. Throughout the process, we investigated methods of integration and fabrication by making and presented our findings with proof-of-concept implementations. We also discussed the alternative designs and interaction methods as well as their implications to enlighten future research directions and opportunities.

KEYWORDS

Fabrication; Pushbuttons; Embroidery; 3D Printing; Wearables

1 INTRODUCTION

On-body and wearable user interfaces boosted the availability of humancomputer interaction [11, 35]. Exploring smart textiles is one of the promising approaches to realizing them [32]. Wearable interfaces augment their users' bodily expression and ease their access to digital information. Furthermore, their closeness to the skin enables the users to exploit their skin sensation and bodily proprioception for eyes-free inputs [18]. Hence, they afford private and subtle interactions that are socially acceptable [30].

Researchers investigated ways to improve the user performance of eyesfree interactions, such as adding physical landmarks and tactile feedback [42]. Nonetheless. tactile pushbuttons, the conventional eyes-free user interface that is ubiquitously deployed surrounding us, are often opted out from their considerations due to their hardware composition. Tactile pushbuttons provide physical landmarks that feedforward [43] the input location and feedback clear and expressive tactile sensation when the user is pushing on it. However, generating such clear and expressive tactile sensation requires a physically constrained spring hardware structure, which is a non-trivial implementation for soft wearables. A straightforward solution is installing or embedding the hardware on or into fabrics. Still, such a loose integration with the rigid components may compromise its wearability and create undesirable user experiences.

In this pictorial, we present the FabriClick,



FIGURE 1 The frame system enabled us to create functional pushbuttons, composed by two layers of textile. (a) Print or embroider patterns on one pre-stretched Lycra sheet as the Button layer; (b) Embroider conductive and insulation traces on another pre-stretched Lycra sheet as the Circuit layer; (c) Align the two layers and stitch them together; (d) Remove them from the frame to form the 3D pushbuttons.

a design exploration of the fabrication methods and processes of interweaving mechanical pushbuttons into textiles. The goal is threefold: 1) to afford the textile's physical landmarks, 2) to enable clear tactile feedback when the users are pressing them, and 3) to form reliable electrical connections. To achieve the goal, we utilize digital machine embroidery and FDM-based 3D printing techniques. A digital embroidery machine was used for creating the conductive traces and for accurately assembling the layers. An FDM-based 3D printer was used as an assistive method that facilitates our exploration. We use the embroidery machine and the 3D printer to add physical and electromechanical components to each of the fabrics while keeping them soft and comfortable.

We also developed a frame system (Figure 1) that leverages on the stability granted by the embroidery frame to combine different techniques. The frame system functions as an extension of both the 3D printer and the embroidery machine, enabling the machines to print 3D models and embroider on the pre-stretched fabric sheets directly without compromising the alignment between the layers needed to make the final integration possible. Through iterative design, we used the frames to research how to make reliable pushbuttons on textiles in different ways, including isolated and tiled buttons, for on-body interactions. The findings and implications were discussed and presented with proof-of-concept implementations.

The main contributions of this work are two-fold:

- The frame system, which unifies the workflow of digital embroidery and 3D printing and enables exploration, and
- The FabriClick, textile pushbuttons which are the results of the exploration, that tightly integrated the functional elements into soft fabrics.

RELATED WORK

Related work is organized into the following categories: textile sensors, digital fabrication for passive haptics, and fabrication machine augmentation.

Textile Sensors

Textiles have functioned for millennia as wearable materials that afford warmth. modesty, fashion, and protection [34]. To enable interactivity in wearables, HCI researchers developed textile sensors for user inputs such as touch and gestures by capacitive [24, 32, 33], resistive [17, 26], or inductive [7] sensing through incorporating sewing, weaving, braiding, embroidery techniques. and digital Nonetheless, although the textile sensors provide some inherent haptic can feedback for the user inputs through its texture, the feedback is not as clear and coherent to the sensing state as those of tactile pushbuttons, which allows for eyesfree inputs such as blind typing. As a result, the users may need to confirm their inputs with additional visual, audio, or tactile feedback. Otherwise, the users can be very cautious about using the textile touch sensor if they think the sensing algorithm cannot reliably deal with false-positives, as if typing on a touchscreen. The lack of clear haptic feedback and the support of errorfree haptic feedforward limits the user

experiences of tactile sensors in eyes-free wearable applications.

Digital Fabrication for Passive Haptics

Passive haptic feedback, such as the tick heard when pressing a push-button, can help the users to ascertain their eyes-free inputs. Wearable researchers leverage passive mechanisms such as SensorKnits [25] or utilize the haptics from conventional electronic modules such as MakerWear [14] to provide haptic feedback. Researchers also use 3D printing to make customizable haptic controllers such as springs [12], tines [36], and magnet-embedded mechanisms [46]. Although they can be attached to the fabrics or sandwiched between lavers of fabrics, these rigid materials are not like fabrics. Without further miniaturization. these rigid modules may reduce the flexibility, stretchability, and softness of fabrics. Miniaturizing these phidgets, however, may make them more difficult to use. To use them as ta computer user interface, they need to be paired with an additional sensor as they do not include a solution in the mechanism.

Fabrication Machine Augmentation

Jigs or add-ons can augment or extend the capabilities of fabrication machines without requiring extensive hardware modification on them. Various work combined a robotic arm with a 3D printer to increase its degree of freedom of printing to five or six [4, 5, 39, 45]. There are various conventional 3D printers, such as the SnapMaker printer (www.SnapMaker.com) or the Dubot Magician printer (https://www.dobot.cc/), supporting interchangeable modules that can transform a 3D printer into a CNC machine, laser milling machine, robotic arm, or a pen holder. Some modules can be retro-fit to industrial machines, such as the Coloreel unit which enables realtime thread coloring during processing in industrial digital embroidery machines (https://www.coloreel.com/).

Researchers also proposed adding sensors to enable an additional interaction loop between human and machine during 3D printing [44], laser cutting [9], manual milling [47], CNC milling [40], or digital embroidery [10]. Adding an additional effector next to the original one allows functional devices to be made, such as adding a coil winding mechanism for making electromagnetic devices [28].

Passive add-ons can be easily customized, made and maintained. LaserOrigami [23] added a support grid to allow users to laser cut 3D structures through bending rather than a manual assembly of parts. Scotty [22] added an additional material removal mechanism to remove layers of physical objects. Katakura et al. [13] used physical add-ons to repurpose a 3D Printer head as a robotic arm for attaching/detaching printed end-effectors for model assembly. In augmented reality, RoMA [27] added a simple rotating platform for users to communicate with a 3D printer by rotating it.

The frame system that we presented in this work is another passive add-on that not only allows for unifying the workflow of both 3D printing and digital embroidery but also serve as a jig during the manual crafting process.

FABRICATION METHODS

The fabrication methods that we use in this exploration should satisfy three main criteria. First, the buttons should be highly wearable (C1), which means that the product should be soft, flexible, possibly stretchable, and comfortable to wear. This can be achieved with methods that can tightly integrate the functional elements with fabrics so that the introducing functionalities will not override the material characteristics of fabrics. Second,

the buttons should be functional (C2). which means that the product should provide clear tactile feedback and reliable signals; furthermore, the product should be durable enough to withstand repeated use and the casual movements from being worn. This can be achieved with methods that produce reliable materials that can withstand the uses in a wearable context. Last but not least, the methods and techniques should be generalizable (C3), which means that the fabrication methods be versatile should vet repeatable, therefore the future designers can adapt the buttons as functional elements in their own applications.

Based on the three design considerations, two digital fabrication methods, digital embroidery, and 3D printing were chosen for this exploration. Both digital embroidery [3, 20] and 3D printing [16, 29, 37] can directly add physical components to the fabrics and keep them soft and comfortable (C1). By leveraging the tensions of fabrics and origami patterns, it is possible to implement spring-like behaviors that can render clear haptic feedback [1, 16, 29, 37, 38] (C2). Electromechanical components can be introduced by using conductive threads [6, 31] or filaments [41], which can carry reliable electrical signals even when the fabrics are pressed or stretched (C2). Embroidery machines allow for making 2D models with variable thickness (a.k.a., 2.5D patterns) by manipulating the stitching methods [15], whereas 3D printing provides the freedoms to make 3D models. Both methods provide versatile and precise controls that are both reliable and repeatable (C3).

THE FRAME SYSTEM

To facilitate the exploration, we developed a novel frame (Figure 2) system to unify the 3D printing and embroidery process. The frames system consists of four layers: 1) Baseplate, 2) 3D print frame, 3)

Embroidery frame, and 4) Inner support plate. The Baseplate is installed onto the print bed to force the alignment of all frames placed on the print bed of the 3D printer (Figure 3a). The 3D print frame and Embroidery frame (Figure 3c) are made for aligning the 3D printing and embroidery patterns, respectively. The Inner support plate provides physical support when it is needed to 3D print the back of the fabrics with embroidery. Both the 3D print and Embroidery frames provided guidance for placing binder clips, which are used for affixing the stretched Lycra fabrics and keep the fabric under tension while changing machines. Each frame can be used separately with a pre-stretched fabric mounted, and put together as a whole when alignment between two layers is needed.

Figure 3b shows the process to calibrate the mounted base plate on the 3D print bed. We first embroider a cross in the center of the machine, and then mount it on the frames and place it on the print bed with the base plate. Then, we 3D print the same cross pattern on the embroidery one to know the offset, and translate the base plate to the center of print bed accordingly.

FABRICATING THE FABRICLICK

With the frame system, we began with embroidering onto pre-stretched fabrics. To transform the fabric into a 3D structure when the fabric is de-stretched, we experimented with a layering technique to locally manipulate the fabric character of the Lycra through sewing layers of various sewing attributes on top of each other, which allows the buttons to rise evenly. The Lycra fabric that we used has a blend of 80% nylon and a stretch ratio of 500%, which provides a wide range of stretchability for us to adjust the tension needed.

Star-like patterns, which consist of a central point and several legs, were chosen in the exploration. The topology of a star unit provides one degree of freedom, and the numbers of legs can control the tension. A









FIGURE 3 (a) Base-plate installed on a 3D printer; (b) Calibration; (c) embroidery frame mounted on an embroidery machine.

star unit with at least four legs provides a desirable balance. Nonetheless, with more than eight legs, the button also does not provide the required flexibility with our current button size. Since units with 3, 4, 6 legs are tileable, we make tesselation patterns with the star units of 4 to 6 legs.

pre-stretched fabric On layer, а embroidering a star-like topology will result in a button-like 3D geometry when the fabric is de-stretched. We experimented various parameters of the star-like patterns, such as numbers of legs, width and thickness of the stitches, and different ways of stitching. A Brother 655 digital embroidery machine and the Brother PE-Design 10 software were used in the exploration. As a result, we found that using a stem stitch in opposed directions over a dense zigzag stitch significantly increases the sturdiness of legs with the layer thickness increased. We also increased the thickness of embroidery using a 3D puff embroidery technique, which creates volume by placing a foam material on the embroidery frame before sewing a design and then using a dense satin stitch that will both cut the outline of the foam and cover it in the desired shape. Still, we found that when the complexity of the pattern increases, the friction between the stitches stiffened the pattern, making the button's behavior less predictable, as shown in Figure 4; also, due to the frictions, we noticed subtle differences between samples. Since the factors potentially burdened our exploration, we sought for an alternative solution.

3D printing, therefore, was used as an approximation of ideal threads in which the internal frictions are negligible. We used a conventional FDM-based 3D printer (Creality Ender 3) to print the star-like structures onto pre-stretched fabrics. We choose the Tronxy Flexible TPU Filament for printing over the common PLA ones because it provides both structural



FIGURE 4 Buttons made by an embroidery machine. (a) Pressed a button. (b) Released a button.



FIGURE 5 Buttons made by a 3D printer. (a) Pressed a button. (b) Released a button.



FIGURE 6 Isolated buttons: (a) star-like pattern; (b) a touch point added on the top; (c) 1x3 matrix of isolated buttons.

integrity and flexibility. We printed the model at 230 degrees celsius, so the print did not melt the Lycra fabric. The width and thickness of edges were controlled by G-codes using Cura 4.3.0. As a result, the 3D-printed button provides more consistent properties among different samples of the same design, and the behavior of buttons is more predictable (Figure 5). The distinction between the haptic sensation in different designs (i.e., thickness, width) is also clearer. Taking to our design considerations into account, we choose this 3D printing method to facilitate our further exploration.

Making Button Layer

Making Isolated Buttons

Star-shaped buttons (Figure 6a) acted bistably yet differed in terms of consistency. We found that hexagonal structures with double-barred legs worked best to form reliable button-like structures. Nonetheless, the force distribution around the legs was still unstable. We stabilized them by adding a round touchpoint, which constrains the bounce-back movement and makes the button more comfortable to press (Figure 6b).

We adjusted the structure tension by modifying the thickness of prints. A more

rigid form with thicker prints rendered clear tactile sensation through its shape change, and sunk in deeper once clicked. To compensate for the additional tension, we added double-barred legs within the hexagonal shape by connecting neighboring leg pairs to increase the stability. With this design, we are able to create a matrix of isolated buttons, as shown in Figure 6c.

Making Tiled Buttons

We further arrange the buttons into a matrix of tiled buttons, so the buttons can be used as a collective as an interactive surface. Then, we noticed the button state interfered with the surrounding ones. We also noticed a distinct variation in the tension between the buttons located in the center of arrangements as opposed to those on the edges. Therefore, we further manipulated the tension distribution along with the button structure by using a 2.5D taper structure (Figure 7a), which gradually increased the thickness throughout the

length of the structure legs. This technique further softened the surrounding of each button and consequently, reduced the crosstalks between the buttons in the matrix, as the comparison shown in (Figure 7b and 7c. Consequently, the buttons can be reliably used when tiled as a hexagonal (Figure 7d) or a rectangular grid (Figure 7e). Lastly, we further improve the stability of buttons by minimizing the distances between each leg so the functioned as hinges that limited the movement of buttons to one degree of freedom. The circular touchpoints were enlarged to 1cm to better fit the human finger and offer slightly less key travel. The detail of the final design of the button layer is shown in Figure 8.

Making Circuit Layer

To make the Circuit layer, we first used 2 ply Adafruit stainless steel conductive threads (https://www.adafruit.com/product/640) for prototyping. We began with a simple analog resistive circuit by embroidering



FIGURE 7 Tiled buttons: (a) design and results in a 2.5D taper structure; (b) buttons with the taper design; (c) Buttons without the taper design; (d) ten buttons in a hexagonal tile; (e) nine buttons in a 3x3 tile grid.



CENTER TOUCHPOINT

Sizing variance adjusts fabric tension, affecting button stability and height

Hollowed structure creates more user-friendly touchpoints



LEG BAR HEIGHT-WIDTH RELATION

Leg bars width strengthens fabric adhesion, while height strengthens structure stability and sturdiness

BAR SPACING

Bar and touchpoint spacing supports and limits depth of press







LEG BAR TAPER

Tapering leg bars by adjusting height adapt rigidity and flexibility at specific points along the length of the leg, approximating curvature and shape





MATRIX TILING PATTERN

Hexagonal button design provides ease of tiling and adaptable arrangement possibilities to position consecutive buttons and other matrix patterns



LEG COUNT

Higher leg counts stabilize the button better, and equal length leg bars give best results by diffusing fabric tension evenly



TRIANGULAR SPACERS

- Miniature button-like spacers distribute buttons evenly, improving usability by isolating buttons to draw individual focus and prevent accidental button presses
- Spacers retain tension in the empty, tension dead-zones created by button distribution, reducing overall instability
- Spacer legs are tapered to accurately adjust tension in dead-zones and surrounding areas



CONNECTOR POINTS

- Connector points are located between adjacent button legs at the hinge, sharing diagonal force from the underlayer









FIGURE 9 Circuit layer: (a) resistive circuit design; (b) button matrix circuit design; (c) the intersection; (d) conductive pad under each button.

a zig-zag stitch pattern along each row of buttons (Figure 9a). By manipulating the length of trace like a potentiometer, we can use the resistance measurement to infer the location of the button pressed. Although it is easy to fabricate, we found the resistive values are changed by stretching the fabrics as the same circuit acted as a stretch sensor as well. Also, the resistance of each sample differs so reliable sensing requires calibrations, which is a crucial burden for scalable deployment.

Towards a more scalable design, we adopted a button matrix circuit, which has rows and columns (Figure 9b). This digital circuitry is more reliable when the fabric is stretched and bent, but also more complicated to fabricate because of the crossed wires. We resolved this problem by incorporating non-conductive threads for the insulation layer and adjusting the circuitry (Figure 9c) to prevent short-circuit failures.

To make the button press events detectable, we manually attached an additional conductive pad (Figure 10d), which is made from vinyl-cut thin copper tapes to the bottom of each button. This manual assembly effort can be replaced by incorporating conductive threads with the embroidery button layers in the future iteration. Pressing a button shorts the corresponding circuit crossing and enables the event to be detected. Like conventional button matrices, multi-press events can be detected through time-multiplex sampling, which scans the states of one row of buttons at a time. The schematic circuit diagram of a 10-button matrix is shown in Figure 10.

In our final design, we replaced the stainless steel yarn into the HC 40 highly conductive thread (https://www.madeira. com/) to make the textiles more resilient in dealing with a higher range of resistivity. The circuitry was then adapted to be

embroidered onto a pre-stretched Lycra fabric. Eventually, we were able to build flexible circuitry that can reliably detect button presses.

Integrating Two Layers and Forming the Pushbuttons

After the two layers are fabricated, we integrate the two layers through machine embroidery by fitting the frames together. The frames force the alignment between two layers so they can be simply stitched together in one more pass of stitching. After the two layers are stitched together, the frames can be removed and the tension forms the buttons into a 3D structure (Figure 11).

To evaluate the tactile sensation, we test three implementations of different design, which is of different leg length with or without the tapering technique, using an Imada digital force gauge. We plot the results as the reaction force-displacement graph as shown in (Figure 12a). The results show that, in every sample, the reaction force clearly reduced after the displacement, which is correlated to the



FIGURE 10 The schematic circuit diagram of a 10 button grid.







FIGURE 11 Layer integration: (a) button layer and circuit layer in the same design; (b) two layers of pre-stretched fabrics are aligned by the frames and placed on the embroidery machine; (c) result of 3D buttons after the fabrics were removed from the frames.

exerted force, surpassed a threshold. This shows clear evidence of the haptic feedback. The two tapered buttons are both easier to press down than the nontapered ones.

The durability of fabrications was tested by pressing a button 4000 times using the same apparatus and measuring the forcedisplacement relationships again. The results show that, although the FabriClick becomes softer, the force feedback still exists (Figure 12b). Also, the resistance of the circuitry only slightly increased from 49 ohms to 52 ohms after the button was pressed 4000 times, which also suggested promising reliability.

Using the Pushbuttons as a Computer User Interface

To use the FabriClick as a computer user interface, we connect the conductive yarn to a signal processor through a circuit board (Figure 13). 10K ohm pull-down resistors were added into the circuitry. As the yarn cannot be soldered, we attached the conductive thread to a thin isolated copper wire with a small crimp, so we can form a reliable permanent connection between the thread and signal processor, which is Arduino in our implementation. The computer can, therefore, detect the button events through serial data communication.

Summary

With our frame system, a 3D printer and an embroidery machine, we describe the walkthrough of fabricating a functional pushbutton on textiles as a user interface as the following six steps (Figure 14):

- 1. Print the Button layer: Stretch and fix a Lycra fabric on 3D Print Frame, apply it on the base plate of a 3D printer and print the button layer.
- 2. Post-process the Button layer: Attach connecting pads at the bottom of each

button after the print is finished.

- 3. Embroider the Circuit layer: Stretch and fix another Lycra fabric onto the Embroidery Frame, install it on the embroidery machine and embroider the circuitry in an order of rows, isolation, and columns.
- 4. Integrate the two layers: Add 3D Print Frame with the buttons layers with the

connecting pads facing the circuitry.

- 5. Form the FabriClick pushbuttons: Remove3DPrintFrame and Embroidery Frame from the embroidery machine and detach the fabric from both frames.
- 6. Connect to computer: Build the physical connection and data communication between the pushbuttons and



FIGURE 12 Haptic feedback measurement: (a) Reaction force-displacement plot on different designs: (blue) tapered long legs, (red) tapered short legs, (gray) non-tapered short legs; (b) Reaction force-displacement plot after 10 (blue) and 4000 (red) on a sample design.







FIGURE 13 Connecting the FabriClick to a computer. (a) Connecting the embroidered circuitry to an Arduino using crimps; (b) Circuitry on the breadboard. (c) Results as an on-screen visualization of real-time signal processing.

computers.

Although the current system still requires human intervention in step 2 and 6 as well as moving the frames and/or buttons between each step, the proposed frame system does unify the workflow of both 3D printing and digital embroidery and make a straightforward integration possible.

User Experiences of On-Body Deployment

To explore the possible interaction design, we made several samples of sleeves based on our hexagonal button structure design in a different scale (Figure 15a). We tested them in an informal embodied ideation session with five subjects to acquire early user experiences. Overall, the participants recognize and appreciate the haptic feedback of the textile pushbuttons, and think the samples are soft and comfortable to wear. We further summarize the findings as follows.

A matrix of isolated buttons, if the density is low, can easily be laid flat (Figure 15c). Therefore, it is flexible enough to be deployed on most of the body locations. However, the appropriateness of button locations is highly dependable on the cultural and social appropriateness as well as the meaningfulness of the intended semantic mappings.

In contrast, a large tiled panel consists of a high density of buttons, which tends to curl into themselves due to the amount of tension that the buttons apply to the textiles. Therefore, it wraps well around smaller limbs like an arm, but it is less suitable for a large flat surface, such as the trunk or larger limbs of the body.

Compared with isolated buttons, a larger array of button structures looked and felt like a collective, so the experience of using it is more like pressing on the larger felt pad, which is flexible and stretchable.



FIGURE 14 The workflow of making the FabriClick through the frame system. (a) Print the button layer; (b) Post-process the button layer; (c) Embroider the circuit layer; (d) Integrate the two layers; (e) Form the pushbuttons; (f) Connect to Computer.







FIGURE 15 On-body deployment of the FabriClick: (a) sample sleeves with buttons; (b) pressing one of the isolated buttons; (c) squeezing the tiled buttons.

Therefore, it not only affords touching and swiping but also rich interactivity, such as squeezing and rubbing (Figure 15c).

We also found that button arrays placed on the location of soft parts (e.g., upper arm) or moving parts (e.g., elbow joints), were not completely reliable. During the body movement, some pressed buttons recovered to the released state and became 'clickable' again, while others reached another state of the bi-stability, which is in a negative height that required the users to reset them by pulling on the other side of the sleeve, lifting or shaking their arm, or pushing the button back up from the underside. The stability problem could be mitigated if the sleeve fits users' body tightly: otherwise, the instability still can be hedonic features that invite its wearer to interact with the buttons playfully.

These findings helped us proceed with a better focus on the final implementation by developing a better understanding of the interaction dynamics of the interface.

Applications in Example Scenarios

The FabriClick interface is generic enough to be implemented in a broad range of contexts. The always-available, textilebased buttons could assist patients to alert medical staff when in need or be used as a life-logging or self-reporting interface that is easy to access (Figure 16a). In whole-body or VR gaming (Figure 16b), the buttons can be rich-haptic controllers that provide haptic feedback without asking the users to hold a remote controller or to wear a bulky controller that may impede their movements. In social contexts, the buttons from the wearer could be either extruding, exaggerated to attract others attention and curiosity of others, so that could become an icebreaker that facilitating social conversation (Figure 16c). Or it can be hidden or made implicit as a private object that can soothe the wearer when pressing on them through the haptic sensation.

DISCUSSION

Alternative Designs

Tactile Switch

In addition to push buttons, a switch can be made by exploiting the bistability of buttons. The rectangular button (Figure 17a) reached another stable state after it was pressed (Figure 17b). Squeezing the button can recover its state (Figure 17c). However, the challenge of this design is to retain a reliable electrical connection between the upper and lower layers, which are both flexible. Adding magnets to the corresponding location of each layer could achieve the desired reliability, but the strength of magnets should be carefully chosen to ensure the state recovery.

Pressure Sensing

Pressure sensing can be realized by incorporating digital embroidery using resistive yarn [26] or with a resistive sheet [2].

2.5D Landscape

The height of a raised structure can be manipulated through 3D printing or embroidery [21] topology. Therefore, future work can consider leveraging computational design to realize a continuous, 2.5D landscape, such as Geodesy [8].

Scale

Beyond further optimizing the FabriClick push-buttons for finger and hand inputs, which is the main objective of this work, future work can further perpetuate more scalable techniques and methods that can embed functional tactile elements into a different scale of objects. For instance, making body-scale buttons as part of furniture can facilitate embodied interactions, or making imperceptible, micro-scale buttons into the fabrics as lightweight impact absorbers. The sensing circuitry embedded in these buttons could empower new data-driven services.

Richer Tactile Sensation

For a higher-level embodiment in the eyesfree applications, one can also consider deploying various embroidered textures on the top of buttons to provide an additional layer of information that can ease the users to target the button in need. Adding an embroidered actuator to the button can further deliver digital information through a more expressive tactile communication, but also increase the deployment and maintenance cost accordingly.

Reducing the Manual Assembly

One of the prerequisites of this technique is the pre-stretched fabrics, which should be applied to the frames with an uniformlydistributed tension before printing and embroidery. In other words, low tension



FIGURE 16 Possible application scenarios of wearing the FabriClick pushbuttons: (a) A self-reporting interface for a patient; (b) Tactile input devices for VR gaming; (c) Ice-breaker for social interaction.



and wrinkles cued by wrongful stretching may fail the later procedures. This is currently done manually with experienced makers, but it can be achieved and automated through robotic machinery. A repeatable and consistent way to apply pre-stretched fabrics on the frames will make the technique more scalable.

Instead of adding crimps to each thread manually, aggregating the embroidery circuitry to a printed circuit board (PCB) mounted on a standard connector (e.g., Dupont) can make the interfacing efforts easier. A reliable electrical connection between the threads and the PCB can be established using previous techniques [19]. With an interactive system such as a Sketch&Stitch [9], the placement of PCB can be decided after the circuitry is fabricated so further customization is possible.

The placement of a conductive pad can be automated by embroidering a pad using conductive thread before printing the button layer. Using conductive 3D printing to print the conductive pad at the backside of the button is also possible, if the printing of both layers are strictly aligned.

The loose ends of the threads after the embroidery usually needs to be trimmed. The post-processing efforts of the additional techniques, such as the 3D puff embroidery method that we explored for increasing the layered thickness, also need to be considered. Future work should also investigate the reduction of these postprocessing work to decrease the amount of the human labor required.

After the adaptation of the above techniques is achieved, a straightforward approach toward full automation could be to use a robotic arm system and jigs to move and install the frames on the machines in different stages of manufacturing. Like the highly-automated PCB manufacturing processing, testing and quality assurance can also be achieved during the process

FIGURE 17 A 3x3 grid of tactile Switch: (a) No switch is pressed; (b) One switch is Pressed; (c) Squeeze the pressed switch to recover it.

С

while the fabrics are still in its stretch states. This can maximize the scalability of the fabrication towards a larger quantity, therefore the users can better focus on designing their applications rather than making and testing the functional buttons.

Customization and Creativity Supports

As both 3D printing and digital embroidery machines are versatile devices, additional customization can be added during the process of making. For instance, additional features such as labels of buttons can be added by either machine in different stages of fabrication, depending on the desired effects. Software tools for 3D printing and embroidery design can consider such creativity supports, so these features can be seamlessly integrated into the final product as well as the workflow.

CONCLUSION

In this pictorial, we have presented the FabriClick and its fabrication method using a new passive add-on to interface two existing machines without the need for retooling. This augmentation allows us to directly fabricate the mechanical structure and electrical circuitry on each pre-stretched Lycra fabric layer, using digital embroidery and FDM-based 3D printing, and integrate these two layers together as textile-based push-buttons. The result is a highly stretchable, flexible, and comfortable material, which is useful for wearable and on-body interactions. In addition to this, our project suggests that the making of such low technological additions to machines of fabrication opens new possibilities for design innovation in smart textile applications. As a result, we feel that this area warrants further and investigation explorations into the possibilities on the edges of digital fabrication. By limiting the technological sophistication of these devices we imagine that this can be done in explorative and experimental ways, preserving the

flexibility and designerly approach to the fabrication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We sincerely acknowledge the helpful comments of the Associate Chairs and the anonymous reviewers. We also thank Indigo Tolhurst, Duco Warnaar, Mark Thielen, Nicole Gruithuijzen, Nita Hannele Virtala, Chet Bangaru and Troy Nachtigall for their assistances on implementation.

REFERENCES

- [1] Asterios Agkathidis, Yorgos Berdos, and André André Brown. 2019. Active membranes: 3D printing of elastic fibre patterns on pre-stretched textiles. International Journal of Architectural Computing 17, 1 (2019), 74–87. DOI:http:// dx.doi.org/10.1177/1478077118800890
- [2] Roland Aigner, Andreas Pointner, Thomas Preindl, Patrick Parzer, and Michael Haller. 2020. Embroidered Resistive Pressure Sensors: a Novel Approach for Textile Interfaces. In Proceedings of the 2020 ACM Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI '20). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, Article (To appear).
- [3] Joanna Berzowska, Alex Mommersteeg, Laura Isabel Rosero Grueso, Eric Ducray, Michael Patrick Rabo, and Geneviève Moisan. 2019. Baby Tango: Electronic Textile Toys for Full-Body Interaction. In Proceedings of the Thirteenth International Conference on Tangible, Embedded, and Embodied Interaction (TEI '19). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 437–442. DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.1145/3294109.3300973
- [4] Chengkai Dai, Charlie C. L. Wang, Chenming Wu, Sylvain Lefebvre, Guoxin Fang, and Yong-Jin Liu. 2018. Support-Free Volume Printing by Multi-Axis Motion. ACM Trans. Graph. 37, 4, Article Article

134 (July 2018), 14 pages. DOI: http://dx. doi.org/10.1145/3197517.3201342

- [5] Wei Gao, Yunbo Zhang, Diogo C. Nazzetta, Karthik Ramani, and Raymond J. Cipra. 2015. RevoMaker: Enabling Multi-Directional and Functionally-Embedded 3D Printing Using a Rotational Cuboidal Platform. In Proceedings of the 28th Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software Technology (UIST '15). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 437-446. DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.1145/2807442.2807476
- [6] Scott Gilliland, Nicholas Komor, Thad Starner, and Clint Zeagler. 2010. The Textile Interface Swatchbook: Creating graphical user interface-like widgets with conductive embroidery. In Proceedings of the 2010 International Symposium on Wearable Computers. 1–8. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/ ISWC.2010.5665876
- [7] Jun Gong, Yu Wu, Lei Yan, Teddy Seyed, and Xing-Dong Yang. 2019. Tessutivo: Contextual Interactions on Interactive Fabrics with Inductive Sensing. In Proceedings of the 32nd Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology (UIST '19). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 29–41. DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.1145/3332165.3347897
- [8] Jianzhe Gu, David E. Breen, Jenny Hu, Lifeng Zhu, Ye Tao, Tyson Van de Zande, Guanyun Wang, Yongjie Jessica Zhang, and Lining Yao. 2019. Geodesy: Self-Rising 2.5D Tiles by Printing along 2D Geodesic Closed Path. In Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI '19). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, Article Paper 37, 10 pages. DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.1145/3290605.3300267

- [9] Nur Al-huda Hamdan, Simon Voelker, and Jan Borchers. 2018a. SketchStitch: Interactive Embroidery for E-Textiles. In Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI '18). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, Article Paper 82, 13 pages. DOI: http:// dx.doi.org/10.1145/3173574.3173656
- [10] Nur Al-huda Hamdan, Simon Voelker, and Jan Borchers. 2018b. SketchStitch: Interactive Embroidery for E-Textiles. In Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI '18). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, Article Paper 82, 13 pages. DOI: http:// dx.doi.org/10.1145/3173574.3173656
- [11] Chris Harrison, Desney Tan, and Dan Morris. 2010. Skinput: Appropriating the Body as an Input Surface. In Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI '10). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 453–462. DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.1145/1753326.1753394
- [12] Liang He, Huaishu Peng, Michelle Lin, Ravikanth Konjeti, François Guimbretière, and Jon E. Froehlich. 2019. Ondulé: Designing and Controlling 3D Printable Springs. In Proceedings of the 32nd Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology (UIST '19). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 739–750. DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.1145/3332165.3347951
- [13] Shohei Katakura, Yuto Kuroki, and Keita Watanabe. 2019. A 3D Printer Head as a Robotic Manipulator. In Proceedings of the 32nd Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology (UIST '19). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 535–548. DOI: http://dx.doi.

org/10.1145/3332165.3347885

- [14] Majeed Kazemitabaar, Jason McPeak, Alexander Jiao, Liang He, Thomas Outing, and Jon E. Froehlich. 2017. MakerWear: A Tangible Approach to Interactive Wearable Creation for Children. In Proceedings of the 2017 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI '17). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 133–145. DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.1145/3025453.3025887
- [15] Nicholas Komor, Scott Gilliland, James Clawson, Manish Bhardwaj, Mayank Garg, Clint Zeagler, and Thad Starner.
 2009. Is It Gropable? - Assessing the Impact of Mobility on Textile Interfaces. In Proceedings of the 2009 International Symposium on Wearable Computers (ISWC '09). IEEE Computer Society, USA, 71–74. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/ ISWC.2009.21
- [16] Agata Kycia. 2018. Material Form-Finding of Modular Textile Structures. In Ca2Re Proceedings. 330–341.
- [17] Joanne Leong, Patrick Parzer, Florian Perteneder, Teo Babic, Christian Rendl, Anita Vogl, Hubert Egger, Alex Olwal, and Michael Haller. 2016. ProCover: Sensory Augmentation of Prosthetic Limbs Using Smart Textile Covers. In Proceedings of the 29th Annual Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology (UIST '16). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 335–346. DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.1145/2984511.2984572
- [18] Shu-Yang Lin, Chao-Huai Su, Kai-Yin Cheng, Rong-Hao Liang, Tzu-Hao Kuo, and Bing-Yu Chen. 2011. Pub - Point upon Body: Exploring Eyes-Free Interaction and Methods on an Arm. In Proceedings of the 24th Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology (UIST '11). Association

for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 481–488. DOI:http://dx.doi. org/10.1145/2047196.2047259

- [19] Torsten Linz, Christine Kallmayer, Rolf Aschenbrenner, and Herbert Reichl. 2005. Embroidering electrical interconnects with conductive yarn for the integration of flexible electronic modules into fabric. In Ninth IEEE International Symposium on Wearable Computers (ISWC'05). IEEE, 86–89.
- [20] Viktorija Mecnika, Melanie Hoerr, Ivars Krievins, Stefan Jockenhoevel, and Thomas Gries. 2015. Technical Embroidery for Smart Textiles: Review. Materials Science. Textile and Clothing Technology (2015). DOI:http://dx.doi. org/10.7250/mstct.2014.009
- [21] Sara Mlakar and Michael Haller. 2020. Design Investigation of Embroidered Interactive Elements on Non-Wearable Textile Interface. In Proceedings of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI '20). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA. DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.1145/3294109.3300973
- [22] Stefanie Mueller, Martin Fritzsche, Jan Kossmann, Maximilian Schneider, Jonathan Striebel, and Patrick Baudisch. 2015. Scotty: Relocating Physical Objects Across Distances Using Destructive Scanning, Encryption, and 3D Printing. In Proceedings of the Ninth International Conference on Tangible, Embedded, and Embodied Interaction (TEI '15). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 233–240. DOI:http:// dx.doi.org/10.1145/2677199.2680547
- [23] Stefanie Mueller, Bastian Kruck, and Patrick Baudisch. 2013. LaserOrigami: Laser-Cutting 3D Objects. In Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI '13). Association for

Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 2585–2592. DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.1145/2470654.2481358

- [24] Alex Olwal, Jon Moeller, Greg Priest-Dorman, Thad Starner, and Ben Carroll. 2018. I/O Braid: Scalable Touch-Sensitive Lighted Cords Using Spiraling, Repeating Sensing Textiles and Fiber Optics. In Proceedings of the 31st Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology (UIST '18). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 485-497. DOI: http://dx. doi.org/10.1145/3242587.3242638
- [25] Jifei Ou, Daniel Oran, Don Derek Haddad, Joseph Paradiso, and Hiroshi Ishii.
 2019. SensorKnit: Architecting Textile Sensors with Machine Knitting. 3D Printing and Additive Manufacturing
 6, 1 (2019), 1–11. DOI:http://dx.doi. org/10.1089/3dp.2018.0122
- [26] Patrick Parzer, Florian Perteneder, Kathrin Probst, Christian Rendl, Joanne Leong, Sarah Schuetz, Anita Vogl, Reinhard Schwoediauer, Martin Kaltenbrunner, Siegfried Bauer, and et al. 2018. RESi: A Highly Flexible, Pressure-Sensitive, Imperceptible Textile Interface Based on Resistive Yarns. In Proceedings of the 31st Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology (UIST '18). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 745–756. DOI:http://dx.doi. org/10.1145/3242587.3242664
- [27] Huaishu Peng, Jimmy Briggs, Cheng-Yao Wang, Kevin Guo, Joseph Kider, Stefanie Mueller, Patrick Baudisch, and François Guimbretière. 2018. RoMA: Interactive Fabrication with Augmented Reality and a Robotic 3D Printer. In Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI '18). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, Article Paper 579, 12 pages. DOI: http://dx.doi.

org/10.1145/3173574.3174153

- [28] Huaishu Peng, François Guimbretière, James McCann, and Scott Hudson. 2016. A 3D Printer for Interactive Electromagnetic Devices. In Proceedings of the 29th Annual Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology (UIST '16). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 553–562. DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.1145/2984511.2984523
- [29] Jesús Pérez, Miguel A. Otaduy, and Bernhard Thomaszewski. 2017. Computational Design and Automated Fabrication of Kirchhoff-Plateau Surfaces. ACM Trans. Graph. 36, 4, Article Article 62 (July 2017), 12 pages. DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.1145/3072959.3073695
- [30] Henning Pohl, Andreea Muresan, and Kasper Hornbundefinedk. 2019. Charting Subtle Interaction in the HCI Literature. In Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI '19). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, Article Paper 418, 15 pages. DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.1145/3290605.3300648
- [31] Ernest Rehmatulla Post, Maggie Orth, Peter R Russo, and Neil Gershenfeld.
 2000. E-broidery: Design and fabrication of textile-based computing. IBM Systems journal 39, 3.4 (2000), 840–860.
- [32] Ivan Poupyrev, Nan-Wei Gong, Shiho Fukuhara, Mustafa Emre Karagozler, Carsten Schwesig, and Karen E. Robinson. 2016. Project Jacquard: Interactive Digital Textiles at Scale. In Proceedings of the 2016 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI '16). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 4216–4227. DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.1145/2858036.2858176
- [33] Narjes Pourjafarian, Anusha Withana,

Joseph A. Paradiso, and Jürgen Steimle. 2019. Multi-Touch Kit: A Do-It-Yourself Technique for Capacitive Multi-Touch Sensing Using a Commodity Microcontroller. In Proceedings of the 32nd Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology (UIST '19). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 1071–1083. DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.1145/3332165.3347895

- [34] Michael L. Rivera, Melissa Moukperian, Daniel Ashbrook, Jennifer Mankoff, and Scott E. Hudson. 2017. Stretching the Bounds of 3D Printing with Embedded Textiles. In Proceedings of the 2017 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI '17). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 497–508. DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.1145/3025453.3025460
- [35] T. Scott Saponas, Desney S. Tan, Dan Morris, Ravin Balakrishnan, Jim Turner, and James A. Landay. 2009. Enabling Always-Available Input with Muscle-Computer Interfaces. In Proceedings of the 22nd Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology (UIST '09). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 167–176. DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.1145/1622176.1622208
- [36] Valkyrie Savage, Andrew Head, Björn Hartmann, Dan B. Goldman, Gautham Mysore, and Wilmot Li. 2015. Lamello: Passive Acoustic Sensing for Tangible Input Components. In Proceedings of the 33rd Annual ACM Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI '15). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 1277–1280. DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.1145/2702123.2702207
- [37] David Schmelzeisen, Hannah Koch, Chris Pastore, and Thomas Gries. 2018.4D textiles: hybrid textile structures that

can change structural form with time by 3D printing. In Narrow and Smart Textiles. Springer, 189–201.

- [38] Scott E. Stapleton, Dorit Kaufmann, Helga Krieger, Jan Schenk, Thomas Gries, and David Schmelzeisen. 2019.
 Finite element modeling to predict the steady-state structural behavior of 4D textiles. Textile Research Journal 89, 17 (2019), 3484–3498. DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.1177/0040517518811948
- [39] Alexander Teibrich, Stefanie Mueller, François Guimbretière, Robert Kovacs, Stefan Neubert, and Patrick Baudisch. 2015. Patching Physical Objects. In Proceedings of the 28th Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software Technology (UIST '15). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 83–91. DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.1145/2807442.2807467
- [40] Rundong Tian, Vedant Saran, Mareike Kritzler, Florian Michahelles, and Eric Paulos. 2019. Turn-by-Wire: Computationally Mediated Physical Fabrication. In Proceedings of the 32nd Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology (UIST '19). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 713–725. DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.1145/3332165.3347918
- [41] Guanyun Wang, Tingyu Cheng, Youngwook Do, Humphrey Yang, Ye Tao, Jianzhe Gu, Byoungkwon An, and Lining Yao. 2018. Printed paper actuator: A low-cost reversible actuation and sensing method for shape changing interfaces. In Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. 1–12.
- [42] Martin Weigel, Aditya Shekhar Nittala, Alex Olwal, and Jürgen Steimle. 2017.
 SkinMarks: Enabling Interactions on Body Landmarks Using Conformal Skin Electronics. In Proceedings of the 2017

CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI '17). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 3095–3105. DOI: http:// dx.doi.org/10.1145/3025453.3025704

- [43] S. A. G. Wensveen, J. P. Djajadiningrat, and C. J. Overbeeke. 2004. Interaction Frogger: A Design Framework to Couple Action and Function through Feedback and Feedforward. In Proceedings of the 5th Conference on Designing Interactive Systems: Processes, Practices, Methods, and Techniques (DIS '04). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 177–184. DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.1145/1013115.1013140
- [44] Karl D.D. Willis, Cheng Xu, Kuan-Ju Wu, Golan Levin, and Mark D. Gross. 2010. Interactive Fabrication: New Interfaces for Digital Fabrication. In Proceedings of the Fifth International Conference on Tangible, Embedded, and Embodied Interaction (TEI '11). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 69–72. DOI:http://dx.doi. org/10.1145/1935701.1935716

- [45] Rundong Wu, Huaishu Peng, François Guimbretière, and Steve Marschner.
 2016. Printing Arbitrary Meshes with a 5DOF Wireframe Printer. ACM Trans.
 Graph. 35, 4, Article Article 101 (July 2016), 9 pages. DOI: http://dx.doi.
 org/10.1145/2897824.2925966
- [46] Clement Zheng, Jeeeun Kim, Daniel Leithinger, Mark D. Gross, and Ellen Yi-Luen Do. 2019. Mechamagnets: Designing and Fabricating Haptic and Functional Physical Inputs with Embedded Magnets. In Proceedings of the Thirteenth International Conference on Tangible, Embedded, and Embodied Interaction (TEI '19). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 325–334. DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.1145/3294109.3295622
- [47] Amit Zoran, Roy Shilkrot, Suranga Nanyakkara, and Joseph Paradiso. 2014. The Hybrid Artisans: A Case Study in Smart Tools. ACM Trans. Comput.-Hum. Interact. 21, 3, Article Article 15 (June 2014), 29 pages. DOI:http://dx.doi. org/10.1145/2617570

5.2 Exquisite Fabrication: Exploring Turn-taking between Designers and Digital Fabrication Machines

Published as

Bruna Goveia da Rocha*, Johannes M. L. van der Kolk*, and Kristina Andersen. 2021. Exquisite Fabrication: Exploring Turn-taking between Designers and Digital Fabrication Machines. In Proceedings of the 2021 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI '21). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, Article 434, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1145/3411764.3445236



Figure 1. Detail of sample created in the project through a process of Exquisite Fabrication. The fabrication of this embroidery- based infatable sample took four steps, done in three diferent machines: digital machine embroidery, a flament 3D printer and a custom Liquid Deposition Modeling (LDM) 3D printer. The steps were a) embroidering the substrate, b) 3D printing a mold on the embroidery, c) 3D printing the silicone and d) integrating the tubing through a couching stitch.

ABSTRACT

Digital fabrication and craftsmanship is entering into a new phase with increasing levels of complexity and a renewed desire for composites and cross-material experimentation. However, allowing work to travel from machine to machine remains a challenge in terms of workflow, communication, orientation and material. Based on an exploration to combine embroidery and 3D printing in the pursuit of inflatable solutions, we propose the metaphor of the drawing game Exquisite Corpse to outline the three emerging concerns: turn taking, orientation and trade-offs. We propose a set of guidelines

that suggest ways in which we may allow different digital fabrication machines to be used in sequence, as a method for adding complexity to the things we make and the ways our machines may talk to one another.

KEYWORDS

Fabrication, Digital Craftsmanship, Turn-taking, Prototyping

1 INTRODUCTION

The way we design and fabricate things is changing due to the growing adoption of digital fabrication technologies like 3D printing, laser cutting, and digital embroidery. The levels of reproducibility, accuracy and fidelity of finish of such

^{*}Both authors contributed equally to this work 167



Figure 2. Example of a Exquisite Corpse drawing. Photo by Alan Levine, 2012, CC BY 2.0 via Wikimedia Commons (https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/ File:Exquisite_ Corpse_Art_(7356894034).jpg)

technologies allow for new possibilities that were not available with more traditional design processes, in which concept development preceded the inclusion of fabrication methods and material considerations into the process [18]. More specifically, these technologies enable designers in exploring real implications of production systems, supporting bottomup approaches to design based on the capabilities and opportunities offered by the machines and materials [11]. We see this shift reflected both in research and industry by the growing interest in different methods of fabrication from

companies such as Adidas, New Balance and others implementing 3D printing for mass manufacturing of shoe soles [21].

The close collaboration between designers and machines brings the experience of using digital manufacturing closer to that of traditional craftsmanship, where a constant dialog exists between the craftsman and the material [20]. To enhance this experience, researchers have been exploring the interaction between human- machine [7], digital craftsmanship [4, 6, 8], Interactive Fabrication [16, 24], digital manufacturing practices [23] and production systems for personalisation [17].

Although examples of designs based on digital fabrication techniques and systems abound [13], there is little cross-pollination between techniques. Some efforts in this direction combine several technologies into one machine, such as Popfab [19] and Jubilee [22]. Here, multiple technologies are combined into one, but in order to achieve this, compromises are needed to allow multiple technologies to work within the same machine. This limits each technology and narrows down the potential combinations to techniques that are similar. Combining a 3D printer and a CNC milling machine, for example, is much more feasible than bringing together a 3D printer with a digital embroidery machine. In 3D printers and the CNC milling machines, the bed position is fixed and the nozzle or bit moves in the 3 axis. In the digital embroidery machine, the stitch is formed by interlocking top and bottom threads. As moving top and bottom would be unstable, the embroidery frame moves instead.

In this paper, we introduce an approach that encourages exploration, crosspollination and improvisation in the fabrication process, which we refer to as Exquisite Fabrication. In this, we

refer to the classic surrealist art game, Exquisite Corpse [5], where different people collaborate on a drawing in stages, knowing only the transition points of body parts such as the neck or legs (see example in figure 2). We propose that our contribution is the notion of the exquisite corpse as a cultural metaphor to facilitate a practical approach to working between multiple machine systems for fabrication. In this approach, each machine can remain itself, and instead the samples travel between various machines to get the advantages of combining multiple fabrication technologies. To take turns in the making process, only the transition or the starting point for the new process needs to be known. To make this work, we focus on supporting the alignment of the sample across different machines. In this way, the system of production available to the designer is flexible enough to include, exclude or replace machines. If a new digital machine comes on the market with new functionality, this machine can be incorporated into the workflow, without having to be fully compatible with the other machines.

In order to facilitate this approach, we designed a machine operation alignment system (referred to as MOAS), a system created to support the alignment between different digital fabrication tools. In this paper, we provide a description of an example design process, that focuses maintaining the designerly on and collaborative qualities of the work, while providing a simple system that facilitates interoperability of two existing fabrication systems. This example is the detailed process of implementing MOAS to develop an inflatable actuation sample (see figure 1), fabricated by combining digital machine embroidery and 3D printing techniques, as a design test case. While the design focus of the process is the creation of an embroidered inflatable, this paper is

entered on the broader possibilities for exploring turn-taking between disparate systems and distant collaborators. We propose the metaphor of the Exquisite Corpse to outline the ways in which we may allow different machines for fabrications to be used in sequence, as a method for adding complexity to the things we make and in turn new ways for our machines to talk to each other.

2 RESEARCH CONTEXT

The project was started with the explicit aim to explore the possibilities and implications of transporting samples across the machines in a lab. Inspired by the challenges found in previous work in the area of actuation in soft wearables [12], we used the Embroidered Inflatables as a design case of combining 3D printing, digital embroidery and silicone casting to create textile-integrated inflatable actuators. The Embroidered Inflatables already combined the processes of digital machine embroidery and manual silicone casting. We expected that by automatizing the casting process and creating a system transporting the sample for across machines, we would not only solve a technical issue (interoperability) but also develop an approach and a working metaphor (Exquisite Fabrication) to support different crossovers between skill sets and distinct machines.

As silicone adheres only to itself, combining it with other materials requires an open structure or a porous surface it can sink into. In our test case, we aimed to create self-supporting substrates by using digital embroidery as an open structure to facilitate integration of the silicone with textiles (see figure 3). The material qualities of the substrates and, consequently, the interactive possibilities of the final inflatables can be changed depending on the sewing attributes or layering of the embroidered designs. While



Figure 3. Sample created in our process of Exquisite Fabrication being actuated

the advantage of this fabrication method is shifting the complexity of fabrication from the casting mold towards the embroidery, which is more reproducible, the casting is still crucial. Manually placing the mold and manual pouring of the silicone hinders the reproducibility and control of the actuators. Even slight tilts of the mold or small differences between the amount of silicone in each pour can cause the inflatable actuators to behave differently from each other.

For the purpose of this exploration, we decided to approach the casting process through two kinds of 3D printing, one for creating the molds and the other for pouring the silicone, and create a system to facilitate the transition between the machines. As previous work has shown [10, 11] it is possible to use an embroidery frame as a fixed device that travels between machines. However, we wanted to overcome the limitations of the maximum operation areas of the machines involved as well as to remove the need of retrofitting machines with compatible hardware. In the following, we detail the design process of the system and report on the implementation and outcomes.

3 INTRODUCING THE MACHINE OPERATION ALIGNMENT SYSTEM

In order to support the creation of multiplemachine samples, we designed a Machine Operation Alignment System (MOAS). The system was developed recognizing the value of leveraging the capabilities of each machine, as well as the expertise of each maker. As such, instead of creating a multipurpose machine, our goal was to allow separate digital fabrication machines to interact as a system without changing how they normally operate.

We realized that the game Exquisite Corpse could be used as an effective metaphor for how each process builds on the other, making turn taking between machines the core concept of MOAS. Rather than designing and envisioning all steps upfront, the work practice we propose leans towards exploration and improvisation. Each new machine does not need to know all that happened before. Rather, it only needs to know where to start the new process. As such, the design of MOAS took into account the following factors: 1) The operations done by a machine should align with the operations done by the other machines; 2) The system should support decisions to be made on the fly; and 3) MOAS should intervene as little as possible on the regular use of each fabrication machine, allowing easy and rapid implementation of a machine into the system.

The result is an open system that consists of the digital fabrication machines and software tools designed to facilitate turn-



Figure 4. Workfow of 3D printing a thin mold on top of the embroidered sample: (a) received embroidered samples; (b) preparing 3D model. (c) making sticker in MOAS SD based on an SVG from the 3D model; (d) Placing sample in the 3D printer; (e) placing stickers. (f) recording marker coordinates; (g) removing sticker; (h) positioning fle with MOAS TT; (i) 3D printing mold.

taking between them. These software tools aim to create a common language between machines that may function very differently from one another, enabling design researchers to combine techniques by adding, removing or replacing machines from the subsystem used in a given project. This language is mediated by a main software tool, the MOAS sticker designer (MOAS SD), which generates markers to help position a sample into a new machine. While some machines allow positioning the file in the working area through an interface, others need this process to be done via software. For such cases, we designed a second software tool, which we called MOAS Translation Tool (MOAS TT), to give the needed X and Y positions of the operation as well as rotation.

As a design case, we combined digital machine embroidery and two kinds of 3D printing through MOAS. Through the design process of creating an embroidered inflatable sample, we experienced through a first-person perspective the challenges of combining techniques and of turn taking, not only between machines but



Figure 5. Screenshots of MOAS applications. (a) MOAS SD creates the stickers with markers that support the alignment of the sample in diferent machines. (b) For machines that do not have an interface that allows changing the alignment, like in 3D printers, MOAS TT takes the coordinates of the markers to give the center point and rotation for input in the proprietary software of the machine.

also between designers. Based on this experience, in the following we articulate our findings about multi-machine collaborations. We introduce a new method for design researchers to work with digital manufacturing, not as isolated technologies but as a larger system.

Every digital fabrication machine carries with it its own coordinate system, i.e. it knows its own zero position. Every operation needs to be aligned based on this reference frame. MOAS uses this principle as a basis for alignment. By finding points in the reference frame of the machine, the location and rotation of an operation can be calculated with simple trigonometry. To place an operation in the machine, a sticker is made with the MOAS SD software. Each sticker contains a number of markers. The amount and shape of the markers may differ per machine. The machine is aligned to the marker in a way that works with the standard operation of the machine (see figure 4).

Different kinds of machines as well as different models of machines have features that pose different implications when using them with MOAS for alignment. These differences may include access to the working area of the machine, work envelope and interfaces. Some machines, like digital embroidery machines, allow for positioning an operation through the interface of the machine itself. In such cases, the markers on the MOAS sticker are used to find the offset and rotation within the machine.

Machines like 3D printers, on the other hand, do not offer the ability to change the location of an operation once it is prepared for printing. For such machines a second piece of software is needed to calculate the position of the operation so it can be placed in the right position before slicing. In this case, the stickers feature two markers. The X and Y locations of these makers are used by the translation tool to calculate the position of the sticker within the machine. This piece of software gives the coordinates of the operation and its rotation. These values are then used to position the model or file in the software of the machine. To participate in Exquisite Fabrication, each following operation needs a starting point. Through the stickers, MOAS provides this starting point to the machine. Independently of the machine, MOAS is used for alignment of each new operation that is done. New machines can be added to the process seamlessly due to the starting point provided by MOAS.

When making multiple versions of the samples, machines can be replaced when another machine can be used to achieve a similar outcome, or machines can be removed when their operation is no longer needed or easily substituted. As a result, Exquisite Fabrication turns all machines and people in a design or research lab into collaborators. Where previously each machine was used individually, they can now work together to create a shared outcome. Different designers can each apply their expertise and combine techniques to create new artifacts that would not exist without the cross-pollination between technologies and makers.

4.1 Stickers and translations

Two pieces of software were created to support Exquisite Fabrication: the MOAS sticker designer (MOAS SD) and the MOAS Translation Tool (MOAS TT) (figure 5). Both tools were created using Processing [2] and can be run as standalone applications.

The sticker designer is the backbone of MOAS. It creates the stickers that are used for alignment. The stickers serve as placeholders for operations within a machine and feature a set of markers that the machine can align to. The number of markers and their shape depends on the machine. All types of machines work slightly differently and, for that reason, the

markers are tailored to work best with a specific machine.

Using the MOAS SD works as follows. The outline of the operation is exported as an .SVG file. This can be derived from the file used for embroidery or an export of the bottom of a 3D model. The machine the sticker is designed for is selected, and based on the width and height of the file, the software determines the placement of the markers. A new .SVG can be exported that includes both the outline as well as the markers.

In some cases, a machine cannot be aligned to the sticker directly e.g. a 3D printer. The MOAS TT was created for this. MOAS TT is auxiliary software that takes the coordinates of two markers on a sticker and provides the center point and orientation of the sticker i.e. operation, within the machine. This information can be used to position the operation in the software of the machine.

4.2 What the machine knew already

Digital fabrication machines usually come with proprietary software. This software is used to prepare digital files compatible with the machine. For 3D printers, this software is the slicer, which converts three-dimensional models into code for the machine. For embroidery machines, embroidery digitizing software is used to program the sewing order and sewing attributes of embroidery patterns. Final adjustments, including size, position and rotation can be added on the machine via its screen interface. Other software, such as CAD (e.g. Solidworks) or a vector graphic editor (e.g. Adobe Illustrator) can be used in the design phase. MOAS works alongside the existing software for a machine rather than replacing it. This way, MOAS has a minimal impact on the operation of a machine. The digital file of the new part of the sample is created as the design researcher normally would, using the appropriate proprietary software. From the design file, an alignment sticker is created by the MOAS SD. This sticker is used for alignment, either directly through the interface of the machine or with the use of the MOAS TT. MOAS TT works in conjunction with the machine's own software by providing the coordinates and orientation of the model.

5 FABRICATING EMBROIDERED INFLATABLES THROUGH MOAS

Based on the Embroidered Inflatables [12] as a design case, MOAS was developed to combine digital embroidery with 3D printing. The differences between the two techniques supported us in designing a software tool that is flexible to adapt to how each machine operates. 3D printing and digital machine embroidery have been combined on several occasions. The paper Combining Strings & Fibers details the use of digital embroidery to embed wires into 3D printed objects [3]. With this approach, the yarn embedded in the 3D printed parts adds functionality that cannot be achieved otherwise. FabriClick combines the 3D printing of soft materials with embroidery on stretched fabrics to create textile pushbuttons [10]. The FabriClick iigs build on the embroidery frame to allow the fabric to remain under tension when changing machines and keep the alignment between machines. From these implementations it became apparent that a system can be created to let samples travel between machines where each machine can add something to the final outcome. In the case of FabriClick, the jigs only work with machines that are modified to work with the jigs. A solution that does not rely on these kinds of modifications would make the process of transporting samples between machines much easier to implement and not limited to certain technologies or work envelopes of machines. The Embroidered Inflatables [12] demonstrated that one

possible fabrication process for soft actuators is a hybrid of digital machine embroidery and silicone casting. Laser cut acrylic molds can be used for the casting, but performing the casting manually can result in errors and low repeatability as both the placement of the mold and the quantities of silicone in each pour are hard to control. In using MOAS, the goal was to improve such casting by 3D printing the mold onto the embroidery and using a custom 3D printer to deposit silicone when and where needed. For this action to be successful, the 3D printers need to be able to print in the right location. Due to the isolation measures against the spread of COVID-19, the 3D printers and embroidery machines were located in different cities. This physical separation meant that each type of machine was operated by a different researcher. Therefore, the material samples travelled through mail back and forth between the two designers involved in the fabrication process. MOAS facilitated this collaboration by allowing each design researcher to draw from their own expertise, using the machine in question to fulfill the next step in the fabrication process.

6 THE DESIGN AND FABRICATION PROCESS OF THE SAMPLE

The design process of the new Embroidered Inflatable sample was done in four fabrication steps (figure 6): embroidering the substrate, 3D printing a mold on the embroidery, 3D printing the silicone and couch stitching the tubing via digital machine embroidery.

The main aim of each step was predetermined. The research team agreed on which fabrication processes would be combined and what would be done in each step (substrate, mold, casting, tubing integration). However, we allowed opportunities to emerge when deciding on how to proceed with each process,



Figure 6. The sample was transported between three machines to perform four fabrication steps: (a) embroidering the substrate, (b) 3D printing a mold on the embroidery, (c) 3D printing the silicone, and (d) couch stitching the tubing via digital machine embroidery.

including which technical specifications would be used in the design of each part. The embroidery steps were carried out by one design researcher and the 3D printing steps by another. This meant that turn-taking happened not only between machines, but also between collaborators and techniques.

The first fabrication step was straightforward. A free-standing substrate was embroidered including the outline of the inflatable, a support pad and appliquéing [1] an extra layer of the water-soluble stabilizer that will create the pocket to create a unilateral inflation (similar to the design of Interaction Mode 3, described by Goveia et. al [12]). The sample was removed from the embroidery frame and sent by mail to the other design researcher. MOAS SD was used to create an alignment sticker for the 3D printers. Since the 3D printing of the mold and the silicone had the same general shape and would happen in the same area of the

sample, this sticker could be used for both 3D printing fabrication steps. The sample was attached to the bed of the 3D printer and the sticker was placed over the outline of the inflatable. Using the MOAS TT and the 3D printer's software, the digital file was aligned to the position of the sticker. The digital model is raised slightly from the bed of the printer to account for the thickness of the sample. The sample with the mold was then transferred to the silicone printer and the same steps of placing the sticker, aligning and printing were executed.

To support us understanding the implications of different machine features to alignment through MOAS, we also used two different digital embroidery machines to compare experiences. For that, we carried out one last embroidery step, couch stitching the tubing, on both a domestic embroidery machine (Brother Innov-is 750e) and a professional one (Brother PR1050X). The latter has a built-in camera that supports precise



Figure 7. To engage in this kind of making, we had to accept the shared risks and ownership of the process. The last step was high risk because it was the most experimental. This step consisted of integrating tubing through couch stitching. The tube had to be manually arranged as the machine stitched.

alignment of designs. The camera is also already meant to support alignment by scanning a specific sticker design, which we incorporated into the MOAS SD. The domestic machine we used, on the other hand, had no LED pointer or any other indicator of the precise position of the needle on the frame. To check whether the position is correct, the needle had to be lowered into the fabric. Typically, the process of precisely positioning the design onto the frame can be done in two methods that can be combined. The first method of precisely positioning the design is making sure the material onto which the design will be embroidered is aligned with the center of the embroidery frame while setting the fabric (or stabilizer) in the embroidery frame. The second method is to adjust the position and rotation of the design on the display of the machine. For this machine, we used nine markers on the MOAS sticker to skip the first method.

7 WHAT DID WE LEARN

Our design case allowed us to experience through first person perspective some of the implications of engaging with multimachine and multi-maker collaborations. In this process, we experienced the making like a game of Exquisite Corpse, each action was followed by the next until we arrived at a result that was more than the sum of its parts. This had implications in different aspects: turn taking, improvisation and trade-offs.

7.1 Turn taking

While an obvious aspect of a system designed to move work from one machine to another, turn taking emerged as a much more complex and personal aspect of the work. As makers we found ourselves not just aligning our samples and materials, but also our dedication to the process and our individual making ethos. We were forced to share our craft and machines in closer ways than we had expected.

In the process of making, designers gain intimate knowledge of the materials, techniques and tools they use. We learn how the machine works so that we can encode and decode potential errors or interesting effects based on our understanding of the process. The turn taking between design researchers brought interesting dynamics to our collaboration and our relationship with the process of making. In our process, whenever one maker gave the sample away for the other one to continue, this next maker had to play a game of Exquisite Corpse in order to be able to build on what was already done. In turn, each maker became attached to the sample and, as such, the sample encoded a piece of each maker and how they each approached their craft.

Our experience was that this turn taking between makers was a close and instinctive exchange and that it was quite different to more traditional co-creating. When cocreating, all parties involved stay in control of the creative process and can negotiate the compromises to be made. Sharing a sample with someone else to let them take a turn in making meant sharing a part of ourselves through the sample and letting go of the control over the outcome. We had to trust that the other person would treat the sample with the same level of care and dedication we did.

Besides building trust in each other, we learned that to enter this type of collaboration, we had to accept the shared risks and ownership of the process (Figure 7). Every time the sample changed hands (and machines), the risk of something going wrong increased. Likewise, the lucky chance of one of us receiving the sample with a positive unexpected result was also part of turn taking. Accepting these risks required a strong feeling of shared ownership and shared responsibility.

Although the turn taking between people

facilitates the letting go of control over the design to allow opportunities to emerge, we believe that Exquisite Fabrication can also be carried out by the same maker engaging with machines. In our experience, the turn taking between machines may also be an interesting dynamic as the order of operations and nature of each machine/ technique effects the opportunities for future steps. To make our inflatable, for example, the first step in the process is to embroider the free-standing embroidery that served as the base of the sample. As the embroidery is relatively fat, it enabled the 3D printer to add the walls of the mold without problems. Inverting the order of processes would not have allowed us to execute the same sample. Different opportunities would have to be explored. This shows that the order of operations may open up different kinds of opportunities for next steps of Exquisite Fabrication. In future work in this direction, exploring the other paths inverting operation orders or types of machines would be an interesting way of further exploring what it means to design bottom-up, from the sample one has at hand.

7.2 Improvising & understanding machines

While the system we devised was designed to make a complex process easy and less prone to error, we found that even with these new guidelines a certain level of improvisation was required in order to micro adjust each turn. There are a number of aspects to this, one is the inherent tolerance in each machine and how they may amplify each other, another is a simple inherent precision of the hand. Micro adjustments and improvisations remained important aspects of the way we worked.

The initial vision for the system was that it would provide a technological solution to the transfer of work-in-progress between
machines. In our experience, however, we found that each step required some level of improvisation on how to implement MOAS to transport the sample between machines. This moment of picking up the sample to think "what now?" created anchoring points or seams [9] in the process that pushed us into investigating the possibilities of the machine and the material.

The MOAS application allowed us the simple flexibility to replace the marker designs and the number of markers on stickers to adjust to each machine/ process. To check the alignment of the last step with the marker in the domestic embroidery machine, the position of the needle needed to be lowered into the sample. However, lowering the needle into the silicone would damage the inflatable. To increase the chances of there being two or more markers that could be used for alignment, the stickers for embroidery contained nine markers. Their positions around the outline of the part match points the machine can move to when the starting point key is pressed on the display.

The markers were adapted differently when testing the system using the professional machine with a built-in camera. The central marker was changed to match a design that the machine could automatically recognize through its scanning feature. The machine correctly recognized the marker and aligned the file accordingly. A visual check and some final adjustments were necessary to achieve the best alignment. The rotation was usually of by one or two degrees. As such, we found that to engage in Exquisite Fabrication, improvisation worked together with exploring and understanding how the machines we use work to make the best use of the capabilities of each machine. Rather than pushing towards the technological solution, the tool is used as much as it is needed.

The area or volume in which each machine can operate is different and machines treat their work envelope differently. 3D printers are rather straightforward in this respect, they have a set volume they can work in, always building up in layers from bottom to top. Scaling up the size of a printed object can be achieved through strategies like modularity. Digital embroidery machines present different challenges. While they are limited to a maximum sewing area, it is possible to reposition the material in the embroidery frame to overcome this limitation. When deciding on doing an operation with a machine, you must work within its workable area or seek viable strategies to overcome its limitations. In Exquisite Fabrication, this also means you have to investigate what your material sample is/does to inform what you want to make next.

7.3 Trade-offs

Every engagement with a tool, a machine or a collaborator comes with its own risks and promises. The trade-offs inherent in every system is the one aspect we as designers appear unable to anticipate. The MOAS system generated a number of tradeoffs between efficiency and flexibility and precision, and in turn offers suggestions for best practice.

Our proposal of Exquisite Fabrication aims to foster exploration and cross pollination of techniques. This proposal builds on ideas of corresponding with the materials/ tools [14] and intentionally drifting in the design process [15]. We propose using the moments of turn-taking between machines or people to be anchoring points to enable drift. Steps should not be fully planned in advance, but instead, be open to emerging opportunities and improvisation. This way, the concrete possibilities of a step can inform the possibilities for the next.

While working with MOAS, we found the process of being open with the sample

and the machine to be a trade-off between precision and flexibility. When aiming for precision, the whole process needs to be thought through. The result might be the most accurate and polished. However, the process is carried out with the expectation of a specific result as a measure of success, leaving little chance for the possibilities that arise along the way to be taken into account. When engaging with Exquisite Fabrication, the results of every step can become the starting point for consideration for new directions. To allow this process to happen, design researchers also trade control over their outcomes for discovery by letting others and machines offer new opportunities and starting points, like in the game Exquisite Corpse. To add something to a sample, the only thing a maker or machine needs to know is where to start. What comes after is not of importance for the current step, decisions can be made on the fly. We found this to still be true in our design case, even though we pre-determined which actions we would perform. In our case, we wanted to be as precise as possible about the alignment of steps to make a functional actuator that would be more reproducible than those poured by hand. The planning ahead of how each step would be carried out was not important. Each maker had the freedom to choose which machine they would use and how they would incorporate MOAS in its use, letting the sample, the software and the machine inform the way.

8 CONCLUSION

With this project, we have attempted to create a common language between machines and makers to practice turn taking, while playing a game of designerly Exquisite Corpse. The resulting process allows each machine and maker to take turns by building on the actions carried out previously. This aims to foster collaborative exploration and cross pollination by deliberately breaking up the process between machines/makers. As we have described here, the collaboration between people and systems are both technical and cultural in nature.

This means that alongside the design and distribution of a system for the technical coordination of work, it is of equal importance to provide a cultural narrative these collaborations. for А distant collaborator does not only need to know what work must be done, but also perceive that the turn taking is explicit, meaning that the potential risk and outcomes are shared and understood. As such, we aim for these systems to allow a shared understanding of "what is at hand". Rather than imagining a full plan of operation and executing it, the breaks of each turn should invite makers to ask the sample material and the machines they are using what kinds of processes can be done next. We experienced and explored this first hand through the making of our soft-inflatable sample as a design case. To complete this Embroidered Inflatable, we moved the sample between three different machines to complete four steps of fabrication. Through this process we showed the possibilities that arise when allowing turn-taking between machines while letting each machine be itself. We discussed the trade-off between precision and exploration as well as the implications of collaborating with multiple machines and makers on the same sample. Entering this kind of process in collaboration with other makers required building trust in the expertise of each other, which supported us in letting go of control over the outcomes during the turn taking process. Based on our experience, we believe that engaging in Exquisite Fabrication can be a fruitful exercise or approach for designing bottom-up processes, allowing decisions to be made based on the real implications of the production systems we have at hand and facilitating the creation flexible systems of production.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work is part of the i2-CoRT project, being carried out within the context of Interreg V-A Euregio Meuse- Rhine from the European Regional Development Fund.

REFERENCES

- [1] [n.d.]. Appliqué. https://trc-leiden.nl/ trc-needles/techniques/applique/applique
- [2] [n.d.]. Processing.org. https://processing.org/
- [3] CJ Kimmer and CK Harnett. 2016. Combining Strings and Fibers With Additive Manufacturing Designs. International Design Engineering Technical Conferences and Computers and Information in Engineering Conference, Vol. Volume 4: 21st Design for Manufacturing and the Life Cycle Conference; 10th International Conference on Micro- and Nanosystems. https://doi.org/10.1115/ DETC2016-59569
- [4] Kristina Andersen, Bruna Goveia, Oscar Tomico, Marina Toeters, Angella Mackey, and Troy Nachtigall.
 2019. Digital Craftsmanship in the Wearable Senses Lab. In Proceedings of the 23rd International Symposium on Wearable Computers (London, United Kingdom) (ISWC '19). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 257–260. https://doi. org/10.1145/3341163.3346943
- [5] A. Brotchie and M. Gooding. 2004. A Book of Surrealist Games. Shambhala.
- [6] Malcolm Clark. 1991. Post Congress Tristesse. In TeX90 Conference Proceedings. TeX Users Group, 84–89.
- [7] Laura Devendorf and Kimiko Ryokai. 2015. Being the Machine: Reconfguring Agency and Control in Hybrid Fabrication. In Proceedings of the 33rd Annual ACM Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (Seoul, Republic of Korea) (CHI '15). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 2477–2486. https://doi.

org/10.1145/2702123.2702547

- [8] Raune Frankjær and Peter Dalsgaard. 2018. Understanding Craft-Based Inquiry in HCI. In Proceedings of the 2018 Designing Interactive Systems Conference (Hong Kong, China) (DIS '18). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 473–484. https:// doi.org/10.1145/3196709.3196750
- [9] Anne Galloway. 2007. Seams and Scars, Or How to Locate Accountability in Collaborative Work. In Uncommon Ground, Cathy Brickwood, Bronac Ferran, David Garcia, and Tim Putnam (Eds.). BIS Publisher, Amsterdam. iteseerx.ist.psu. edu/ viewdoc/download;jsessionid=0A4E-AEF6CE8294425AE9FA2376EE8C85? doi=10.1.1.174.4460{&}rep=rep1{&} type=pdf
- [10] Maas Goudswaard, Abel Abraham, Bruna Goveia da Rocha, Kristina Ander- sen, and Rong-Hao Liang. 2020. FabriClick: Interweaving Pushbuttons into Fabrics Using 3D Printing and Digital Embroidery. In Proceedings of the 2020 ACM Designing Interactive Systems Conference (Eindhoven, Netherlands) (DIS '20). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 379–393. https:// doi.org/10.1145/3357236.3395569
- [11] Bruna Goveia da Rocha, Oscar Tomico, Panos Markopoulos, and Daniel Tetteroo. 2020. Crafting Research Products through Digital Machine Embroidery. In Pro- ceedings of the 2020 ACM Designing Interactive Systems Conference (Eindhoven, Netherlands) (DIS '20). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 341–350. https:// doi.org/10.1145/3357236.3395443
- [12] Bruna Goveia da Rocha, Oscar Tomico, Daniel Tetteroo, and Panos Markopoulos. 2019. Infatable actuators based on machine embroidery. In Textile Intersections. Loughborough University. https:// doi.org/10.17028/RD.LBORO.9724688. V1
- [13] Nur Al-huda Hamdan, Simon Voelker,

and Jan Borchers. 2018. Sketch&Stitch: Interactive Embroidery for E-Textiles. Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 1–13. https://doi. org/10.1145/3173574.3173656

- [14] Tim Ingold. 2017. Correspondences. University of Aberdeen, Aberdeen. https://knowingfromtheinside.org/fles/ correspondences.pdf
- [15] Peter Gall Krogh and Ilpo Koskinen. 2020. Drifting by Intention: Four Epistemic Traditions from within Constructive Design Research. Springer International Publishing. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-3-030-37896-7_1
- [16] Joanne Leong, Jose Martinez, Florian Perteneder, Ken Nakagaki, and Hiroshi Ishii. 2020. WraPr: Spool-Based Fabrication for Object Creation and Modifcation. In Proceedings of the Fourteenth International Conference on Tangible, Embedded, and Embodied Interaction (Sydney NSW, Australia) (TEI '20). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 581–588. https://doi. org/10.1145/ 3374920.3374990
- [17] Troy Robert Nachtigall. 2019. Materializing data. Ph.D. Dissertation. Technische Universiteit Eindhoven. https://doi.org/10.29147/2526-1789. dat.2016v1i2p2-14
- [18] Neri Oxman. 2007. Digital Craft: Fabrication-Based Design in the Age of Digital Production. In Workshop Proceedings for Ubicomp 2007: International Conference on Ubiquitous Computing. Innsbruck, Austria, 534–538.
- [19] Nadya Peek and Ilan Moyer. 2017. Popfab: A Case for Portable Digital Fabrication. In Proceedings of the Eleventh International Conference on Tangible, Embedded, and Embodied Interaction (Yokohama, Japan) (TEI '17). Association for Computing Ma- chinery, New

York, NY, USA, 325–329. https://doi. org/10.1145/3024969.3025009

- [20] Donald A Schon. 1984. The refective practitioner: How professionals think in action. Vol. 5126. Basic books.
- [21] David Sher. 2020. Five footwear industry leaders using 3D printing for production today. https://www.3dprintingmedia. network/fve-footwear-industry-leadersusing-3d-printing-for-production-today/
- [22] Joshua Vasquez, Hannah Twigg-Smith, Jasper Tran O'Leary, and Nadya Peek. 2020. Jubilee: An Extensible Machine for Multi-Tool Fabrication. In Proceedings of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (Honolulu, HI, USA) (CHI '20). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 1–13. https://doi. org/10.1145/3313831.3376425
- [23] Anton Vedeshin, John Mehmet Ulgar Dogru, Innar Liiv, Dirk Draheim, and Sadok Ben Yahia. 2019. A Digital Ecosystem for Personal Manufacturing: An Architecture for Cloud-Based Distributed Manufacturing Operating Systems. In Proceedings of the 11th International Conference on Management of Digital EcoSys- tems (Limassol, Cyprus) (MEDES '19). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 224–228. https://doi. org/10.1145/3297662.3365792
- [24] Karl D.D. Willis, Cheng Xu, Kuan-Ju Wu, Golan Levin, and Mark D. Gross. 2010. Interactive Fabrication: New Interfaces for Digital Fabrication. In Proceedings of the Fifth International Conference on Tangible, Embedded, and Embodied Interaction (Funchal, Portugal) (TEI '11). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 69–72. https://doi. org/10.1145/1935701.1935716

6 Making as a traveler

"If emergence is underrepresented in reports and even in practice, then at best this leads to misrepresentations of practice-based design research, and at worst to a constraint on designers' ability to use their skills. A better appreciation for emergence would benefit both research practitioners with a clearer view of how their work can count as research, and the wider community in engaging with practice-based design research."

Gaver et al. [29]

This chapter presents the last publication of the collection that forms this dissertation, the Portfolio of Loose Ends. Presented in a pictorial format, this publication extends the notion of making as travelers by reflecting on the implication of putting this approach into practice in the WS lab and providing practical strategies for its implementation. The Portfolio of Loose Ends is an exploration of how to communicate material-driven research in a way that supports a traveling approach. It included design memoirs, (technical) documentation, and embedding vector files into the publication itself. The design memoirs unpack the complex inner workings of the lab and how relationships between co-inhabitants might develop in this environment. Who were the people in the room, which machines were running, and which samples were on sight all had an impact in the making of the four samples presented in the pictorial. The format of documentation proposed is a combination of different reporting styles that contextualize the sample within a project (journey) and detail its technical and experiential qualities (technical specifications and on the floor) so that the sample can be appreciated on its own. Together with these practical strategies, this pictorial further explores travelling as a metaphor for explorative making practice by introducing two key concepts to the travelers' approach: loose ends and fellow travelers.

Loose ends are successful samples that are not suitable to the main inquiry of the present design research process, but that under certain circumstances can become starting points for new investigation lines. It is an attempt to highlight the potential of samples being analysed both within and outside their contexts of creation, first identified in chapter 3. The idea particularly evolved from the dialogue between weaving and embroidery, shown in chapter 4. One of the samples continued to re-emerge in my conversations with Milou (Figure P). According to her in one of our sessions,

"This was a mistake, this was not supposed to happen, but it looks really nice. It was like this because the warp yarns are shrinking. So that's what I wrote down. This mistake is actually really nice. It's happening here as well... it took us a while to realize that it was the warp



Figure P. "Mistake" sample that supported thinking of the concept of loose ends

yarns, not weft yarns, that were doing this."

This sample did not shift the direction of her process, but it was turned into a loose end to be revisited in another journey because of the time she invested in documenting and analysing it. I experienced similar situations in the process of the Embroidered Inflatables and in the process of samples of the Portfolio of Loose Ends, in which certain samples and ideas were pinned for a future revisit.

The figure of the *fellow traveler* was first mentioned in "Becoming Travelers" (section 3.4) in the literal sense, as a person in the train who might "occasionally reach over and examine our degree of craftsmanship, turn the cloth over, and approve or sigh" of the embroidery work we would take with us in our commute to and from work. The recognition that a continuous process of experimentation could be informed and enriched by attuning ourselves with the space in which we work and the people around us (even if just in passing) led to simple rules of engagement for making as travelers in digital craftsmanship: make time to make things, collaborate with materials/people/ ideas and be systematic about documentation. These rules are simple but allow us crafting things in collaboration with the whole lab, provided we nurture strategies and practices to revisit samples as starting points for new journeys. In this chapter, the figure of fellow traveler is presented as metaphor for a potential collaborator. Fellow travelers are the human and non-human collaborators that co-inhabit our working timelines. They may join us in (part of) a journey without necessarily sharing our same goals and outcomes. It is a different view on collaboration than, say, co-creation in which collaborators come together to achieve a common goal.

Together with introducing these two concepts, the Portfolio of Loose Ends builds on ideas and strategies explored in previous chapters to better articulate traveling as a metaphor for making. To support a process of looking backwards, forward and to the sides, we need strategies to make previous work remain actionable and open to revisit. Previous chapters proposed documentation and archiving as key activities to enable this process. This means rethinking what we consider worth putting down 'on paper', how we do that, and how we connect it to future work. In chapter 2, some of the work done at the Wearable Senses lab was analyzed through a practice of "looking forward and backwards" that allowed us to formalize the shared understanding of digital craftsmanship of our lab. In chapter 3, this idea of looking back appeared too as a practice need to join 'the search for other places', which requires sometimes looking at (old) things with new perspectives, and in the form of revisiting samples in chapter 4. Chapter 5 highlighted serendipitous encounters as drivers for collaboration, which can occur when we 'look to the sides', open to collaborate with the sociotechnical system of production we are in. By making explicit how co-presence in the lab can play a role in emergent-friendly processes through the design memoirs, this chapter supports expanding how a focus on samples enable new opportunities for making with our socio-technical systems of production. At the same time, by sharing the technical specifications and vectorial files as open invitations to a broader audience for traveling with these samples, this chapter also proposes the dissemination of documentation about our material samples as an alternative to physical co-presence, turning its logic inside out. The approach to turn taking used in Exquisite Fabrication (section 5.2) can be seen as an example of how these asynchronous collaborations can take place, but other approaches can and should be explored. In any case, my hope is that the ideas proposed in this pictorial inspire others to continue to seek for new ways to articulate practice into theory in our publications.

6.1 Portfolio of Loose Ends

Published as

Bruna Goveia da Rocha, Kristina Andersen, and Oscar Tomico. 2022. Portfolio of Loose Ends. In Designing Interactive Systems Conference (DIS '22). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 527–540. https://doi.org/10.1145/3532106.3533516

ABSTRACT

Craftsmanship, Digital and other explorative design research practices using digital fabrication, depend on sample making and material exploration. Rather than describing a method of making use of the information present in samples coinhabiting a timeline, this pictorial reports on the loose ends that may emerge out of the main journey, when taking a traveler's approach to making. By loose ends, we mean successful samples that are not suitable to the main inquiry of the present design research process, but that under certain circumstances can become starting points for new investigation lines. We describe four examples of such loose ends and introduce the concept of fellow travelers as a metaphor for describing the process of co-inhabiting a timeline and a journey while ultimately having diverging goals and outcomes.

KEYWORDS

Digital Craftsmanship; Research through Design; Digital Fabrication; Design Processes; Sample Making

FROM FAILURES TO LOOSE ENDS

The field of Digital Craftsmanship has been developing at the intersection between maker culture, HCI and design research. As a result, sample making is emerging as a key area of design research [14]. In this context, sample making is a fast-paced process of thinking-through-making which investigates new materials, emerging technologies, and ways of working with and through digital fabrication machines. The deep engagement with making practices, with digital machines and with the knowledge produced through their creation process have prompted a departure from a utilitarian approach to samples and prototypes, towards more exploratory ones. This caused designers to seek theory that support more multiplicity in design work [18,22,32] and bottomup ways of working from the capabilities of machines and properties of materials [1,2,5,10,17,24,28,29].

Making samples can be seen as is a process of itineration [22] in which each sample is both a consequence of the previous one and preparation for the next. Rather than always incremental, each step in a sample making process can explore different possibilities of fabrication and, as consequence, each sample can embody different qualities. Furthermore, making itself is a multifaceted practice in which knowledge is distributed across the whole socio-technicalsystem(meaningthepeople, the machines, the software, the materials, and the outcomes) of production. Each sample offers potential insights related to application, programming, skill, technique, material and so on. Making sense of all this knowledge and appreciating the potentials of each sample is difficult, which is reflected in the reporting of such processes. Even in journeys that are not goal- or solutiondriven, the difficulty of reporting materialdriven processes often leads designers to describe design journeys from the perspective of the final sample as a reached goal. In order to build a clear narrative of how a final outcome is successful, samples



or experiments created along the process that directly contribute to this success are more carefully described while others are often unaccounted for or summarized as part of an exploratory phase [15]. This way of folding "failures" into iterative cycles that lead towards a successful narrative partly stems from a solutionist and functionalist standard [21].

Design researchers have been exploring alternative notions to failure in design research and practices to deal with them [3,6,8,19]. Rather than discarding such experiments, Becoming Travelers [11] proposes that we look at making as an activity akin to traveling by seeing them as opportunities of new journeys.

Traveling can be used as a metaphor for explorative practice in design projects. In both project and travel, a set of constraints, curiosities and motivations support our decision-making process over the journey. Unlike a goal-oriented design process, when we travel, we tend to allow emerging opportunities to affect our plans. If we see or learn of a cool place to visit, we spontaneously change our plans or we make plans to (re)visit another time. We take photos, and we talk about these places to friends. Why not do the same with our samples?

Making as travelers

Making as travelers requires us to observe what is at hand: what are the actors of the sociotechnical system in which I am situated? How can I collaborate with them? It also requires us letting go of strictly

pursuing goals or accepting detours for the sake of emerging opportunities. We would like to propose that loose ends are the unexpected samples we make when we create time to collaborate with the sociotechnical system. They could be the "failures" of a project in that they are not suitable to the main inquiry of the present design research process, but also the quick explorations or serendipitous encounters with other makers or ideas co-habiting a timeline. We would like to propose turning so called 'failures' or (porous) dead ends [3] into loose ends, meaning samples that can be revisited and carried over to new journeys, as a strategy for staying committed to our processes without losing the chance of finding the other places.

In this pictorial, we explore the notion of loose ends as digital craftsmanship outcomes that emerge from serendipitous collaborations with people, materials, and opportunities. We illustrate this through four samples as cases of such collaborations. We present these samples and the stories behind their making as contributions to the field of Digital Craftsmanship with 1) reflections about the implications of this way of working, 2) recommendations for how to nurture explorative making and 3) a proposal for a way of documenting samples so they can be revisited within and outside the design processes in which they were created. As a result, we propose that the practice of sample making as travelers can be extended with the notion of fellow travelers as a co-inhabitant of a timeline who has diverging goals for a journey. This pictorial also proposes a new way of sharing and publishing sample work in the pictorial format itself by embedding vector files into the layering of its digital pages. Through these files, readers are invited to become travelers and to take our loose ends forward into new journeys. Building on the growing interest in sharing more of the knowledge revolved in making (and making things well) and exploiting potential of physical samples the [9,15,20,23,30], we propose this as a way of using our publication platforms as actionable archives that are independent of external links or supplemental materials. We expect that through the telling and reflection of these stories, we can support opening opportunities for cross-pollination through samples, which in turn can lead us in the direction of turning our labs and communities into more flexible and permeable systems.

MEETING FELLOW TRAVELERS

The samples described here are all explorations created in opportunistic collaborations alongside other more goal orientated design processes. The main intention was staying lost in the thick of making and letting one collaboration lead to the next. The process of sample making followed the simple rules from Becoming Travelers [11]: create time to make things; collaborate (with people, ideas, tools and materials); and be systematic about the documentation.

In practice, this meant that time was created in between other activities to continuously make, searching for loose ends or new opportunities. This process was driven by collaborations that happened organically by working in person in our lab. This lab is populated by a community of students, researchers and occasional industry partners gathered around interests of emerging technologies and new ways of engaging with production systems. Labs are complex environments where the people working next to each other, the samples they were working on, the other machines in the lab, the materials that were available, are all prospective collaborators.

Our main finding from this process is the identification of the figure of the fellow traveler. The fellow traveler is a metaphor for describing the process of co-inhabiting a timeline and a journey while ultimately having diverging goals and outcomes. As a fellow traveler, you share the road for a bit, then separate when your paths diverge. In the context of making as a traveler, this means fellow travelers are people, ideas and machines that are available for new collaborations. In this pictorial, we focus on the processes of making with human fellows and the samples they were working on with at the time.

THE PORTFOLIO

In the following section, we share stories, told in first person, and the documentation of four samples created during an itinerative [22] processes of making as a traveler and meeting fellow travelers. These samples were selected as exemplars of different ways of traveling to support our twofold intention to reflect on the potential of this way of working and to contribute with an open invitation for future travelers to take them over into new journeys. For each of the samples, we detail how the collaboration took place and include its corresponding documentation.

Documentation form

The documentation form used to document the samples was informed by existing publications documenting sample making processes and insights from the wider area of research on documentation [7,15,26,27]. We see such documentation as an actionable tool for new developments, and documenting as a lively process of reflection-in-action that can be refined

over time. The form combines reporting styles from industrial and textile designers. It seeks to make explicit the data that would normally be distributed between the digital file, the digital fabrication machine, and the designer. In doing so, it also aims to facilitate revisiting samples both within a design journey and as a stand-alone sample. The form we use contains four main sections: general header, journey, on the floor and technical specifications. The fields "keywords" and "highlights" are meant to further support re-visiting samples as starting points for new journeys by envisioning searchability within an archive and giving clues for what should we know or remember about a sample to take it over into a new making process.

PICTORIAL AS AN INVITATION TO TRAVEL ALONG

This pictorial takes the form of an open invitation to travel along with us. making use of the documentation of the samples shared in the following sections. To enable this, each sample is presented through two pages. The first page takes the form of a design memoir [4]. It narrates the story of how the collaboration that led to a sample happened from a first-person perspective [31]. Annotations on the page also help to point out technical specifications directly on the embroidery designs of each sample, used as background image. This is a layered PDF. A vector file of the base design of each sample is included as an underlayer. On the right side of the page, the stitch view of the sample

The lab is populated by a community of students, researchers and occasional industry partners gathered of engaging with production systems. The lab houses a

indicates what the embroidery design should look like. As a fellow traveler, feel free to extract and explore with the vector designs integrated into this pictorial as under layers. After editing it as you wish, export it as an .emf file to open it into an embroidery digitizing software to convert it into a stitchable design. In the second page, you can find the form used to document the process containing the stitch design details and other information about the sample.

THIS WORKFLOW WAS TESTED USING ADOBE ACROBAT. ADOBE ILLUSTRATOR AND PE-DESIGN 11

printe

cutting table

storage for materials and tools

THE BEST WAY WE FOUND TO EXTRACT THE VECTOR FROM ADOBE ACROBAT PRO: OPEN "EDIT PDF" > (HIDE PICTORIAL LAYER TO) SELECT THE VECTOR > CLICK IN "EDIT USING" > "OPEN WITH" ILLUSTRATOR



ving machine

machin

LIGHT EMITTING EMBROIDERY

My fellow traveler in this journey was a visiting PhD with expertise in weaving and light emitting textiles. She devoted a good deal of her time in our department learning how to get started with the TC2 weaving loom that had just arrived in the lab. Next to that, she also used our smaller hand looms to create samples related to her work with polymeric optical fibers (POF) fabrics. At the time, I was working on embroidery-based soft actuators [16], and I was pursuing a way to improve the casting process of the silicone on the embroidered fabric.

While spending a lot of time together in the lab, we had the opportunity of sharing a lot about the technical features of the crafts we used to create interactive materials. She explained to me that one of the main limitations of working with the POF fibers was that if they got too bended or damaged during processing, they could no longer emit light from the point of breakage onwards. This was the main reason, according to her, for it not being used in other techniques such as machine embroidery. I became interested to explore whether it could work, and she offered me some of the POF and the LED device she had been using to test her samples.

As obvious as it sounds, being open to (and making the time to) collaborate with others or starting experiments with completely new materials is not trivial. Having a person in the lab with the material and the knowledge (as well as the willingness to share both) made it possible for me to ask the questions I would otherwise not ask about the technique I was investigating: can digital machine embroidery combined with chemical embroidery technique offer advantages or different opportunities for creating light emitting fabrics compared to those offered by weaving?

As a result, five light emitting embroidered fabric samples were created. To reduce the chances of damaging the POF during processing, the fiber was used in the bobbin and the stitch length used was long, reducing the number of times the needle could hit it. The first three samples aimed at getting at the basic technique: how to program, stitch and what post-production would the sample need to emit light. The other two explored freedom of routing to create shapes that weaving could not as easily create.

The ends of the POF need to be collected in a bundle for the light effect to be visible. In the case of embroidery, the ends need to be included in the design within the active area of the machine, meaning that the technique is limited in the scalability of the sample. Having said that, the samples created show promise in creating shapes, such as arcs, with the integrated optical fibers. The embroidered textile with integrated optical fibers behaves similarly to a woven structure, particularly a leno weave. When carefully programmed to avoid overlapping stitches, the points in which the needle lightly damages the fiber create the effect of bright light dots on its length.

LONGER STITCHES ON LAYER 1 AVOID DAMAGE TO POF



Project name	Light Emitting Embroidery
Project description	Exploring how to embroider light emitting fabric using POF
Sample name	20200205_POF_4
Keywords	POF, light emitting, machine embroidery, weaving

Journey

Setup

Goal	Explore the implications of making light emitting fabrics through digital machine embroidery patterns
Process & Approach	Create a two-layer construction to create a substrate similar to a woven textile

Design process - end of the day

Insights	The light shines towards the ends of the substrate (meaning most fibers were not damaged in the process)
Next steps	all-in-the-machine: explore connectting the light emitting fabric to a an embroidered LED and soft circuit

Technical specifications

Hardware	
Machine	Brother PR1050x
Machine setup	POF at the bobbin (L1); polyester at the bobbin (L2)
Machine settings	400 spm (L1); 1000 spm (L2)
Materials	POF, polyester thread, water soluble film (solvy 80)

Software

L1: Fill stitch 1line/mm, 0o – step pitch 10mm, 0% frequen L2: Fill stitch 1line/mm, 90o – step pitch 10mm, 50% freque	cy ency
Manually (re)move stitches from L2 that coincide with L1	
Finish & Post-production	
 Wash away stabilizer Separate and expose the POF bundle POF ends together and cut for flat contact area 	



On the floor

Outcomes

The sample

An embroidered substrate similar to leno woven structure which emits light **Properties & Behavior**

The sample is flexible, but holds shape

Technique

Embroidered on water soluble film. Sewing was done in two stages. The first had the optical fibers at the bobbin, the second used conventional polyester threads.

Evaluation

Method	1p.p. explorations manually manipulating light source at the end of the fibers
Insights	light is brightest in inner arc; as contact of the fiber/LED is key, moving the light source creates a dynamic effect

Highlights

The frequency of stitches was manipulated to prevent damaging the fibers during the sewing process – especially for organic shapes, automating it would require control on stitch level

TUNABLE LACE

The Tunable Lace originated from a teaching partnership with a faculty professor passionate for generative design. For a few years, we shared a lecture about creative coding and digital machine embroidery. In these lectures, he approached Digital Craftsmanship from the generative design side while I did it from the machine side, creating a feedback loop between them.

When I began to explore the potential of revisiting samples, I went through all the samples made for the project I was working on [16], looking for loose ends. The project consisted of a series of samples that investigated different possibilities of creating soft actuators based on digital machine embroidery. As part of this series, I created an embroidered wrist-worn wearable that included six soft actuators meant to give directional cues to the body through push. Due to its complex outline, filling the design with a standard net fill stitch caused an excessive repetition of stitches on the edge of the design, causing the water-soluble film to break. This was a problem as the film was needed for creating the air chambers of the actuators during the casting process. To mitigate it, I recreated the grid in four separate layers, each with a different sewing direction.

2220

One day, my fellow traveler was embroidering designs based on a pied-de-poule tessellation while I was integrating the soft actuators into a garment. We talked about our designs and the issues I encountered before. A few days later, he called me to show a program in Processing he created to automate the process of making the layers of the net. He demonstrated it through an image he was already using in his work. The program worked by scanning a black and white image then generating the grid pattern to fill it with the rule of avoiding traveling through the edge of the design.

By watching the routing created by the program being stitched, another loose end of the original sample emerged as a possible new direction: generate areas of variable properties to create stretch to better support fit on the body, like a fully fashioned embroidery. For that, the code was updated to allow for exclusion areas in the fill of each of the four layers. The new sample created from this featured seven different types of regions within the fabric, each with different stretch directions. Taking it further into the direction of a fully fashioned embroidery remains open for revisit.



Project name	Tunable Embroidery
Project description	Exploring variable properties of embroidered fabrics
Sample name	20200219_TE_ SpecialAreas 02
Keywords	Processing, variable properties, stretch, generative design

Journey

,	
Goal	Experiment with generating embroidered fabric with variable properties through Processing
Process & Approach	Create different overlaps of sewing directions (horizontal, vertical, diagonals) with exclusion areas (SpecialAreas)
Design process - end of	the day

0 1	-	5
Insights		The contours of SpecialAreas are less defined than SpecialAreas 01, creating a smoother gradient between fills
Next steps		Explore variations of the SpecialAreas through overlaps, different polygons and sizes – explore gradient transitions

Technical specifications

Hardware	
Machine	Brother Innov-is 750e
Machine setup	standard
Machine settings	650 spm
Materials	Sulky 40 (1071), Bobby, water solluble film (Solvy Ultra)

Software

Setup

DY=8; DX=8; DDY=16; DDX=16 SPECIALCONTOUR=14 specialArea1 (250,370); specialArea2 (165,370); specialArea3 (370, 200); specialArea4 (285, 200) [PE-Design] Line sew type: Running stitch, run pitch 2 mm

Finish & Post-production

Wash away stabilizer



On the floor

Outcomes

The sample An embroidered fabric with different stretch directions Properties & Behavior Fabric has 7 types of regions that allow for variable properties locally Technique Embroidered on water soluble film

Evaluation

Method	1p.p. explorations manually stretching the sample
Insights	The stretch is quite playful. Could potentially be used to create a sort of "fully fashioned" embroidered thing

Highlights

Contours of SpecialAreas are not too clear, making transitions between properties more subtle

SUBLIME EMBROIDERY

The Sublime Embroidery started from a very serendipitous encounter at the lab. My fellow traveler was a bachelor student who was working on coloring the surface of 3D printed auxetic materials (materials that become wider in the transverse direction when stretched and narrower when compressed [25]) by using the heat of the extrusion to activate the color transfer from sublimation printing. While she was taking her work out of the printer, I was embroidering small samples in different colors to explore the relationship and impact of color in the embroidered fabrics covered by silicone. The finish of the colored 3D print was glossy and the deformation of the image when the sample was stretched was a great effect.

As she had also tried to create auxetic materials through digital machine embroidery before, we began to discuss what could be done to the embroidery files to improve them. The talk shifted to the possibility of mixing both experiments. She had the print ready to go and I had samples made in polyester that had both dense fill and open structure for us to see whether sublimation printing would work well on the embroidered material. An interesting finding was that the heat and pressure needed to saturate the color onto the embroidery also makes it quite silky smooth, giving it an extra shine.

For many reasons, this sample stayed as a loose end for more than a year. When I returned to it, I was already exploring fringes and floats by warping thread on a jig that fits the embroidery frame, then stitching over the warp to create a free-standing fabric. Forwarding ideas from both samples, I created a new sample to explore the combination of print with embroidery and the deformation of the image. The effect on the denser fabric was even shinier than in the small samples, making the yarn look almost metallic. The deformation of the sample, and consequently of the image, can happen both by moving the fringe around and by stretching the sample. In future revisits, I would like to further explore how the overlap of the embroidery design with the image of the print can complement each other.

> ENOUGH OVERLAP TO HOLD THE FRINGE

STREEST CONTRACTOR







L3 SATIN STITCH (5 LINE/MM, NO UNDERSEWING, AUTODIRECTION, PULL COMPENSATION 0.5 MM)

Project name	Sublime Embroidery
Project description	Exploring sublimation printing on embroidered fabrics
Sample name	20210928_SE_Floats_01
Keywords	Sublimation printing, floats, fringe

Journey

Setup

Goal	Combine techniques and explore interactive surface design possibilities, such as deforming the print
Process & Approach	Apply sublimation printing on embroidered fabric created by stitching on "warped thread" of add-on inner frame
Design process and of the day	

Design process - end of the day

Insights	Image needs to be sharper; Fringe added volume and depth to print, but too short for image deformation effect
Next steps	Explore how image and embroidery can compliment each other; further explore image deformation/glitch effects

Technical specifications

Hardware	
Machine	Brother Innov-is 750e + wooden frame add-on
Machine setup	Top and bottom thread the same + add-on frame warped
Machine settings	650 spm
Materials	Sulky 40, water solluble film (Solvy Ultra)

Software

PE-Design 11

L1: running stitch (run pitch 2 mm; run times 2)

L2: decorative fill stitch (df_pat051; 40x40mm) (run times 2)

L3: satin stitch (5 line/mm, undersewing, autodirection, pull compensation 0.5 mm)

L4: zigzag stitch (undersewing, width 2 mm, density 4.5 line/mm, miter limit 0 mm)

Finish & Post-production

- 1. Heat transfer print to embroidery
- 2. Wash away stabilizer
- 3. Cut away threads from L2 (from the back) to make fringe



On the floor

Outcomes

The sample An embroidered fabric with one way stretch **Properties & Behavior** Fabric has 3D effects, fringe can be disturbed but bounces back into place **Technique** Embroidered on water soluble film + heat transfered sublimation print image

Evaluation

Method	1p.p. explorations manually stretching the sample
Insights	The fringe and the floats have potentital to be two different playful ways to deform the image (brushing and stretching)

Highlights

Ironing the sample for the heat transfer enhances the shine of the thread; image needs to be very sharp for best results; L3 is important to keep fringe in place

ORIGAMI EMBROIDERY

My fellow traveler in this journey was a post-doc specialized in wearable tech. She was beginning an exploration of origami technique applied to woven structures. Her goal was to define the fold as mountains or valleys based on the structure of the weave pattern, but to better understand the origami designs she began by folding and pressing origami designs made of a lightweight textile (organza). While she carefully ironed the organza in an origami pattern known as miura, I was working on the pattern of a top to investigate the potential challenges of crafting garments with integrated embroidered inflatables.

By going through our samples, we discussed turning flat textile designs into three-dimensional objects. Based on this conversation, I became curious to explore whether the fact the embroidery has a top and bottom thread could be an advantage to creating hinges with defined folding directions (mountains and valleys) in embroidered textiles. I explored this in four samples of three different designs.

The first three samples have variations in a) the construction of layers of the textile, b) the proximity between the faces of the miura pattern, c) the properties of the lines the connect the faces and d) the uses of the shrinking yarn. The fourth sample is the same design of the third sample, but made in monofilament thread which holds the memory of the folds better than polyester.

The third design was made in three layers: a base layer of the overall miura shape open sewn in low density, a second layer of separate objects forming the faces of the miura pattern and a third layer of lines in between the separate objects. The base and first layer made sure that there were well defined faces of the miura and hinges in between them. The third layer was where I attempted to define the direction of the fold by using shrinking yarn (30% shrinkage). A yarn of higher shrinkage and further exploration of how to implement it would be needed for the mountains and valleys to be programmed into the textile itself without the aid of post-production.

OVERLAP TO TRY TO CAUSE FOLD DIRECTION 12 FILL STITCH 1,5 LINE/MM, DIRECTION 0°, MEDIUM DENSITY UNDER SEWING

NO UNDER SERVINGE MAR 1 SINE/MM

13 TEGAG STICH WIDTH 5,5 MM, 1 UNE/MM,

L1 FILL STITCH 1,5 LINE/MM, DIRECTION 0°, MEDIUM DENSITY UNDER SEWING



Project name	Embroidered Origami
Project description	Exploring hinges, mountains/valleys in embroidered fabrics
Sample name	20200223_EO_Miura03
Keywords	Processing, variable properties, stretch, generative design

Journey

Setup

Goal	Explore whether it is possible to define fold and their direction (mountain/valley) based on machine embroidery
Process & Approach	Layered strcuture of fabric + use of shrinking thread (smocking thread) on the top and bobbin of folding lines
Design process - end of t	he day

	-
Insights	The direction of the folds was not clear, but the fabric holds shape very well when folded by hand/ironed
Next steps	Loosen tension of bobbin so the length of shrink yarn is the same on both sides. Look for yarn of higher shrinkage rate

Technical specifications

Hardware	
Machine	Brother Innov-is 750e
Machine setup	L1, L2 Standard; L3 shrinking thread (top); L4 shrinking thread (bottom)
Machine settings	650 spm
Materials	Sulky 40, Bobby, water solluble film, smocking thread (30%)

Software

L1: fill stitch 1,5 line/mm, direction 0o, medium density under sewing

- L2: fill stich 4,5 line/mm, direction 45o and 135o, medium density under sewing
- L3: zigzag stitch width 5,5 mm, 1 line/mm, no under sewing

L4: zigzag stitch width 5,5 mm, 1 line/mm, no under sewing

Finish & Post-production

- 1. Iron to shrink the smocking yarn
- 2. Wash away stabilizer

I RECREATED THIS DESIGN USING MONOFILAMENT. THE SHRINK YARN WAS Still not strong enough to define fold direction. However, the qualities of the monofilament make for very well-defined folds.





On the floor

Outcomes

The sample

An embroidered fabric with sturdier areas and hinges

Properties & Behavior

Material contains hinges that supports folding/holding it into (origami) shape **Technique**

Embroidered on water soluble film. L1 is the full part shape; L2 makes the polygon areas sturdy; L3 and L4 try to program the folding direction mountains and valleys

Evaluation

Method1p.p. explorations manually stretching the sampleInsightsThe fringe and the floats have potentital to be two different
playful ways to deform the image (brushing and stretching)

Highlights

The addition of a tear away layer helped the way the folds behave (similar to paper)

DISCUSSION

The four design memoirs and the loose ends we shared in this pictorial allowed us to consider the implications of the practice of making as travelers in three aspects: samples as outcomes of a community of practice, ways of traveling, and the role of documentation.

Samples as outcomes of a community of practice

In this pictorial, we mean to unpack aspects of making that are often omitted from our accounts of projects, but that we consider crucial for enabling makers to become travelers. One important aspect we recognized is the role of the lab as a sociotechnical system that offers opportunities for new work to flourish both through its infrastructure and, more importantly, the permeability of the community of practice formed around it.

Starting from wearable electronics, the work developed in our lab has become broader in how the relationships between computation, materials and practice are negotiated [12]. We observe how the interests of individual researchers and students influence the overall work in the lab. As an example, a PhD candidate was engaged in a deep exploration of 3D printing and we saw how his presence in the lab opened opportunities for investigating tunable materials and production systems, transforming the way our fabrication machines were used in the lab in general. Although we see these waves occur, they are difficult to track. This pictorial is part of our attempt to get a deeper understanding of how these influences might happen and what they mean.

Different than "inspired by", the collaborations seen here are ideas, technique principles, and materials combined and forwarded to new samples. Because samples have very concrete

properties, the exchanges are based on analyzing what is at hand. In other words, understanding the sample itself and what causes it to behave like it does, allows us to explore the possibilities and the conditions of moving the work to a new place.

Ways of traveling

The rules of becoming a traveler [11] suggest a few basic practices to nurture an attitude of explorative making. As we explored these basic practices of making, the figure of the fellow traveler emerged.

The stories shared here demonstrate different ways of being (fellow) travelers. in the Light Emitting Embroidery and the Origami Embroidery samples, we could say that the fellow travelers acted as tour guides who provided the knowledge and basic resources needed to engage with their samples. Different types of collaborations happened in the other cases. In Tunable Lace, both collaborators entered a process of turn taking between solutions and exploring new opportunities. The openness and trust built between collaborators fostered the willingness to share (knowledge, resources, responsibility, risks) needed to enter this process of traveling together. A similar relationship was built in the case of the Sublime Embroidery. However, instead of turn taking, the collaborators combined efforts and resources to let a new idea emerge. Later, the sample that was created in this collaboration became a new travel companion in a process that resulted in the sample documented in page 9.

The different ways of being a fellow traveler also demonstrate that there are many ways of traveling that include doing together, sharing advice, taking a tool for a new walk and turn taking. In the cases presented here, an important enabler for these collaborations was the physical co-presence. Standing next to each other around the same cutting table while surrounded by different fabrication machines created opportunities for serendipitous making.

The role of documentation

Understanding that making is а multifaceted process, we propose а documentation form informed by different reporting styles to support reflection-inaction, and to make explicit as much data - and as many types of data - related to a sample as possible. We expect that in doing so, makers can nurture their sensibility to the qualities of their samples and the implications of the fabrication methods used. As such, documenting should be seen as an extension of the act of making itself.

We recognize that the physical proximity in the lab and the time spent together building relationships played a big role in the collaborations shown here. These factors contribute to filing in gaps of knowledge (simply ask questions as they come) and building the intimacy needed for makers to engage with each other's work As evidenced by previous work [13], we believe that the practices of making as travelers and traveling together can happen over distance and asynchronously. However, different strategies and tools are needed to allow us to design from the samples of others. We believe the format and way of disseminating sample documentation is certainly one way of shortening this gap.

We integrated vector files of loose ends in this pictorial as a way of proposing a workflow that is supportive of learningthrough-making and of getting intimacy with each sample. We hope this strategy supports others into getting more directly engaged with the samples shown in this work. These and other formats of (sharing) documentation as well as new archiving practices should be further explored to expand the practice of making as a traveler and of becoming fellow travelers.

CONCLUSION

Exploration is often used to indicate a phase of looking for a direction. Our proposal with making as travelers is to shift the notion of exploration from "not knowing where we are headed" to embracing that "we are here". This is not the same as being aimless. We believe that explorative making can be conducted even in more goal-oriented projects, provided we nurture practices that allow us acknowledging what we have at hand and coming back to it within and outside design journeys.

In this pictorial we propose different strategies of nurturing such practices through our traveling design memoirs, a documentation form and by integrating the digital file on the pictorial. We expect that the reflections presented here can prompt further investigation of strategies for sharing material knowledge and nurturing more permeability of ideas, cross-pollination of techniques, and new forms of collaboration in our field.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank all the fellow travelers who cohabited this timeline and supported the search for the other places.

REFERENCES

- [1] Lea Albaugh, Scott Hudson, and Lining Yao. 2019. Digital Fabrication of Soft Actuated Objects by Machine Knitting. In Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - CHI '19, 1–13. https://doi. org/10.1145/3290605.3300414
- [2] Kristina Andersen, Ron Wakkary, Laura Devendorf, and Alex McLean. 2019. Digital Crafts-machine-ship: Creative Collaborations with Machines. interactions 27, December 2019: 30–35. https://doi.

org/10.1145/3373644

- [3] Audrey Desjardins and Cayla Key.
 2020. Parallels, Tangents, and Loops.
 In Proceedings of the 2020 ACM on
 Designing Interactive Systems Conference, 2133–2147. https://doi.
 org/10.1145/3357236.3395586
- [4] Laura Devendorf, Kristina Andersen, and Virginia Tech. 2020. Making Design Memoirs : Understanding and Honoring Difficult Experiences. 1–12.
- [5] Laura Devendorf and Kimiko Ryokai. 2015. Being the machine: Reconfiguring agency and control in hybrid fabrication. In Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - Proceedings, 2477–2486. https://doi. org/10.1145/2702123.2702547
- [6] Anne Galloway. 2007. Seams and Scars, Or How to Locate Accountability in Collaborative Work. In Uncommon Ground, Cathy Brickwood, Bronac Ferran, David Garcia and Tim Putnam (eds.). BIS Publisher, Amsterdam.
- [7] Bill Gaver and John Bowers.
 2012. Annotated portfolios. interactions 19, 4: 40. https://doi.org/10.1145/2212877.2212889
- [8] William Gaver, John Bowers, Tobie Kerridge, Andy Boucher, and Nadine Jarvis. 2009. Anatomy of a Failure How We Knew When Our Design Went Wrong, and What We Learned From It. Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. https://doi.org/10.1145/1518701
- [9] Scott Gilliland, Nicholas Komor, Thad Starner, and Clint Zeagler. 2010. The Textile Interface Swatchbook: Creating graphical user interface-like widgets with conductive embroidery. In International Symposium on Wearable Computers (ISWC) 2010, 1–8. https://doi. org/10.1109/ISWC.2010.5665876

- [10] Maas Goudswaard, Abel Abraham, Bruna Goveia da Rocha, Kristina Andersen, and Rong-Hao Liang. 2020. FabriClick: Interweaving Pushbuttons into Fabrics Using 3D Printing and Digital Embroidery. In Designing Interactive Systems, DIS '20. https://doi. org/10.1145/3357236.3395569
- [11] Bruna Goveia da Rocha and Kristina Andersen. 2020. Becoming Travelers: Enabling the Material Drift. In DIS '20 Companion, 215–219. https://doi. org/10.1145/3393914.3395881
- [12] Bruna Goveia da Rocha, Kristina Andersen, and Oscar Tomico. 2019. Crafting Soft Wearables, with and through digital technologies. Temes de Disseny 0, 35: 76–89. Retrieved August 27, 2019 from https://www.raco.cat/index.php/Temes/ article/view/358641/451648
- [13] Bruna Goveia da Rocha, Johannes M.
 L. van der Kolk, and Kristina Andersen.
 2021. Exquisite Fabrication: exploring turn-taking between designers and digital fabrication machines. In CHI '21: CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems Proceedings, 1–9. https://doi.org/https://doi. org/10.1145/3411764.3445236
- [14] Bruna Goveia da Rocha, Janne Spork, and Kristina Andersen. 2022. Making Matters: Samples and Documentation in Digital Craftsmanship. In Tangible Embedded and Embodied Interaction, TEI'22. https://doi. org/10.1145/3490149.3502261
- [15] Bruna Goveia da Rocha, Oscar Tomico, Daniel Tetteroo, Kristina Andersen, and Panos Markopoulos. 2021. Embroidered Inflatables: Exploring Sample Making in Research through Design. Journal of Textile Design Research and Practice: 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1080/20511787. 2021.1885586
- [16] Bruna Goveia da Rocha, Oscar Tomico,

Daniel Tetteroo, and Panos Markopoulos. 2019. Inflatable actuators based on machine embroidery. In Textile Intersections. https://doi.org/10.17028/ RD.LBORO.9724688.V1

- [17] Jianzhe Gu, David E. Breen, Jenny Hu, Lifeng Zhu, Ye Tao, Tyson Van de Zande, Guanyun Wang, Yongjie Jessica Zhang, and Lining Yao. 2019. Geodesy: Self-rising 2.5D Tiles by Printing along 2D Geodesic. In Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - CHI '19, 1–10. https:// doi.org/10.1145/3290605.3300267
- [18] Donna Haraway. 2016. Staying with the Trouble: Making Kin in the Chthulucene. Duke University Press.
- [19] Tincuta Heinzel, Hillevi Munthe, Teresa Almeida, Corina Andor, Anca Badut, Camille Baker, Anna Biro, Shih Wei Chieh, Renata Gaui, Maria Paulina Gutierrez Arango, Shary Kock, Ebru Kurbak, Aline Martinez Santos, Ionut Patrascu, Veerle Pennock, Ioana Popescu, Zoran Popovici, Afroditi Psarra, Natacha Roussel, Annette Schmid, Kate Sicchio, Vitalii Shupliak, Rebecca Stewart, Milie John Tharakan, Giulia Tomasello, Bram van Waardenberg, and Pauline Vierne. 2019. Attempts, Failures, Trials and Errors. Notes on an exhibition of failed prototypes and rejected projects. The Design Journal 22, sup1: 1941-1956. https:// doi.org/10.1080/14606925.2019.15949 51
- [20] Anja Hertenberger, Barbro Scholz, Beam Contrechoc, Becky Stewart, Ebru Kurbak, Hannah Perner-Wilson, Irene Posch, Isabel Cabral, Jie Qi, Katharina Childs, Kristi Kuusk, Lynsey Calder, Marina Toeters, Marta Kisand, Martijn Ten Bhömer, Maurin Donneaud, Meg Grant, Melissa Coleman, Mika Satomi, Mili Tharakan, Pauline Vierne, Sara Robertson, Sarah Taylor, and Troy Robert Nachtigall. 2014. 2013 E-Textile

swatchbook exchange: The importance of sharing physical work. In Proceedings - International Symposium on Wearable Computers, ISWC, 77–81. https://doi. org/10.1145/2641248.2641276

- [21] NouraHowell,AudreyDesjardins,andSarah Fox. 2021. Cracks in the Success Narrative: Rethinking Failure in Design Research through a Retrospective Trioethnography. ACM Transactions on Computer-Human Interaction 28, 6: 31. https://doi.org/10.1145/3462447
- [22] Tim Ingold. 2010. The textility of making. Cambridge Journal of Economics 34: 91–102. https://doi.org/10.1093/cje/ bep042
- [23] LeeJones, SaraNabil, and Audrey Girouard. 2020. Swatch-bits. In Proceedings of the Fourteenth International Conference on Tangible, Embedded, and Embodied Interaction, 893–897. https://doi. org/10.1145/3374920.3374971
- [24] ElvinKarana, Elisa Giaccardi, Niels Stamhuis, and Jasper Goossensen. 2016. The tuning of materials: A designer's journey.
 In DIS 2016 - Proceedings of the 2016 ACM Conference on Designing Interactive Systems: Fuse, 619–631. https://doi. org/10.1145/2901790.2901909
- [25] Yanping Liu and Hong Hu. 2010. A review on auxetic structures and polymeric materials. Scientific Research and Essays 5, 10: 1052–1063. Retrieved November 29, 2018 from http://www.academicjournals.org/SRE
- [26] AnnaMaaritMäkeläandNithikulNimkulrat. 2011. Reflection and Documentation in Practice-led Design Research. In 4th Nordic Design Research Conference (Nordes 2011). Retrieved February 11, 2021 from www.nordes.org
- [27] Iván Sánchez Milara, Georgi V. Georgiev, Jani Ylioja, Onnur Özüduru, and Jukka Riekki. 2019. "Document-while-doing": a

documentation tool for Fab Lab environments. Design Journal 22, sup1: 2019–2030. https://doi.org/10.1080/146 06925.2019.1594926

- [28] Stefanie Mueller, Bastian Kruck, and Patrick Baudisch. 2013. LaserOrigami: Laser-cutting 3D objects. Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - Proceedings: 2585–2592. https://doi. org/10.1145/2470654.2481358
- [29] Neri Oxman. 2007. Digital Craft: Fabrication-Based Design in the Age of Digital Production. In Workshop Proceedings for Ubicomp 2007: International Conference on Ubiquitous Computing, 534–538.
- [30] Hannah Perner-Wilson and Irene Posch.2022. How Tangible is TEI? Exploring Swatches as a New Academic Publica-

tion Format. Sixteenth International Conference on Tangible, Embedded, and Embodied Interaction: 1–4. https:// doi.org/10.1145/3490149.3503668

- [31] Oscar Tomico, Vera Winthagen, and Marcel van Heist. 2012. Designing for, with or within: 1st, 2nd and 3rd person points of view on designing for systems. In Proceedings of the 7th Nordic Conference on Human-Computer Interaction Making Sense Through Design - NordiCHI '12, 180. https://doi. org/10.1145/2399016.2399045
- [32] Ron Wakkary. 2020. Nomadic Practices: A Posthuman Theory for Knowing Design. International Journal of Design 14, 3: 117–128. Retrieved February 2, 2022 from www.ijdesign.org



7 What happened here

As described in the introduction of this dissertation, my biggest aim with this research was to be both the researcher and the practitioner. Recognizing that emergence is an inherent aspect of design practice, I also took it as an approach to research and attempted to communicate this process as a traveler's journey, meaning that the detours and parallel lines of inquiry that were pursued are accounted for. Keeping in line with the ideas proposed by this body of work, rather than ending this dissertation with a closing statement, I would like to end it with an invitation to travel. Therefore, in section 7.1, I reflect on what happened as a result from taking an emergencebased approach and summarize the contributions of this doctoral research. In the final section of this dissertation, I return to the main contribution of this work, the *Becoming Traveler's* approach. I summarize the definitions of concepts I identified and developed through my engagement in *digital craftsmanship* as a form to consolidate the approach and to reinforce my call for other *fellow travelers*. Such fellows might include people engaging in *digital* craftsmanship, digital fabrication, other kinds of material-driven process, and textiles. The transferability of the perspective of *becoming travelers* is based on promoting multiplicity and richness of design outcomes. As such, this call is also extended towards a wider audience of people engaged in research through design, who might benefit from the reflections on the mindset and the conditions that promote and leverage on emergence in design proposed by this work.

7.1 Research as traveling

Through a more-than-human and relational view on making, this research through design project sought to identify aspects of *digital craftsmanship* that were obscured in the ways we describe its practice. By focusing on practices of sample making, I embraced serendipitous opportunities and the complexities (and even messiness) of material-driven processes both as a way of working and as objects of investigation. In doing so, this research joined a broader discussion on the relationship between theory and practice in research through design that has been questioning how we communicate plural designerly ways of knowing [28, 29, 45, 47], and valuing the material design outcomes produced throughout our processes as academic outputs in themselves [10, 66, 73, 80]. While any doctoral research through design project includes elements of emergence and serendipity through experimentation, these are typically considered corrections or shortcomings in terms of the convergence to a final result [48]. Rather, emergence and serendipity have been cast here as fundamental aspects that should be highlighted as drivers of exploration, and for which we needed to develop novel ways of expression and reporting. Embracing emergence as core methodology meant that the research questions evolved or emerged over time through a series of experimental projects. The collection of publications that compose this dissertation documented these projects and the evolution of our understandings of essential concepts related to *digital craftsmanship* and exploration in design research. This collection was also an exploration of how to communicate this kind of research. As result, this research contributes to the fields of *research through design* and HCI as an exemplar of research led by emergence as well as with situated accounts of sample making within complex socio-technical systems of production and reflections that support unpacking *digital craftsmanship*.

Like how machines configure our design practice in *digital craftsmanship*, publication formats configure our research practice. The formats we use define what kinds of data get documented and what kinds of knowledge are disseminated in our communities [76]. In this, formats such as the pictorial, first introduced in HCl as a Designing Interactive Systems (DIS) conference track in 2014, has been offering researchers an alternative to the dominant mode of publishing by enabling researchers to foreground image over text to articulate knowledge [8]. This format, which builds on long standing traditions of creating and articulating knowledge through visual form in other design and artistic fields [8], has been one of the main formats explored in this research. Referencing this track as a sign of a shift in design research, Odom et al. [66] sought to also create space to present and discuss design research artifacts at the CHI conference. To do so, they ran workshops in which the artifacts brought by participants stimulated discussions without the need of prompts. According to them, "there is a maturity to things — a weight, a feel, a presence, an expressiveness— that will and did steer the discussion" [66]. Perner-Wilson and Posch [73] also propose attending to the physical outcomes of design research as a way to broaden how academic publishing can be more inclusive towards different forms of design and knowledge [73]. Based on their experiences organizing swatch exchanges [39,71,72], they initiated a discussion of the implications and possibilities of considering swatches as a new form of physical publication format. The Research Through Design (RTD) conference, initiated in 2013, has been foregrounding design research artifacts through visual papers, a curated exhibition and roundtable sessions [88]. The conference has also been paying attention to documenting the event itself [87] by using different methods, such as scribing and other mediums. This documentation is envisaged as both a way to enrich the experience of conference delegates and to open possibility of engaging other audiences who may access these materials [93].

Workshops, interactive exhibitions, and physical formats are unique opportunities of experiencing design work that enable the conditions needed for designs to drive the debate on their own. While I believe it is extremely important to promote these opportunities, their reach is limited to the few individuals who can join or access the materials in person. Strategies such as the documentation of the RTD sessions can increase this reach and should be
explored in different venues. However, papers will continue to be important vehicles of dissemination of research through design, as they that have a wider reach. As such, multiple and complementary strategies should be continually explored by design communities to 'carve space' for valuing the things we make, including efforts to expand the possibilities of our current publication systems and research programs. In this direction, the Portfolio of Loose Ends (section 6.1) can be seen as an exemplar of how different reporting styles can be combined to support a multifaceted analysis and dissemination of design work. It proposed an approach to exploration and collaborative practices in digital craftsmanship, while it also included the vector file, design memoirs and documentation of each sample into the pictorial. With these, this publication extends both the possibilities of pictorials and the notion of annotated portfolios [26] of retaining the specificity and richness of the designs through an approach that supports the analysis of each sample through different lenses. The designs remain open for reproduction, appropriation, and reinterpretation by others, who are welcome to partake in traveling. Digital craftsmanship was a good practice to investigate how to support emergent processes because the appreciation of the specificity and richness of the designed artifacts is inherently part of it. Further exploring how to successfully communicate the value of this kind of research can help mapping how to also appreciate and communicate the specificity of design in other fields, in which their importance might be less explicit.

By making samples the unit of observation in this research, it was possible to question the notions of failure and exploration in digital craftsmanship, which led to the proposal of an approach for explorative making. This approach, called Becoming Travelers, proposes that we embrace detours from our main lines of inquiry and consider our samples both within and outside our design journeys. In doing so, samples can be seen as loose ends, which can serve as starting points for new journeys through *revisiting*. To support this practice, ways of documenting-while-making and archiving are explored as tools that enable documenting simultaneously the journey of material-driven processes (how each experiment led to the outcome), while also promoting a practice of reflecting on each sample for their qualities. In this approach, detours and revisiting are seen as specific forms of drifting in explorative sample making processes that could be extrapolated to support designers in embracing emergence in other design practices. A detour can mean working in parallel lines of inquiry or a complete shift of focus in a design process. Through a lens of traveling, revisiting is the return to old experiments with new perspectives or picking up a loose end as the starting point to a new journey. We can engage with past experiments to learn new things, re-annotate our designs, maybe group them in different collections and enrich our documentation with different kinds of knowledge. This form of revisiting depends on the ability to document our processes while preserving the design work open to reinterpretation, appreciation, and appropriation.

Beyond these conceptual and methodological contributions, this body of work also contributes:

Documentation form. The assumption that the use of digital assets and digital fabrication machines guarantees that designs can always be reproduced shifts our attention away from the decisions, preferences, and insights embodied by them. The knowledge generated in *digital craftsmanship* is distributed across the whole socio-technical system of production. This means knowledge can remain hidden in digital files or potentially lost in processes that were not documented. Therefore, this dissertation proposed a documentation form for *digital craftsmanship* (chapters 4 and 6) that supports making this knowledge explicit and enables the appreciation of each sample within and outside projects. Informed by different reporting styles, this form combined technical specifications, situated accounts of the design journey and a reflection on the qualities of the sample (on the floor). Although sustaining a rigorous and consistent practice of documentation of each sample can be difficult due to time or other restraints, as discussed in chapter 4, I believe that it is a valuable exercise to increase one's sensibility towards the intra-actions embodied by samples. Different techniques and kinds of projects might configure practice differently and have very different needs regarding the kinds of data that need to be documented. As such, this form should be seen as an invitation to experiment with multiple reporting styles rather than a standard of documentation.

Technical solutions for crafting interactive materials and research products based on digital machine embroidery. This research contributes to the field of wearable computing by extending the possibilities of employing digital machine embroidery to develop high fidelity soft wearables and soft applications. By exploring the accuracy of the machine and stability given by the embroidery frame, it was possible to create the textile substrate in the shape of parts of the wearable and integrating technology through the same process of fabrication. As demonstrated during the development of the Smart Sock (chapter 3), variables of the design can be isolated and precise changes can be made between prototypes both for optimization but also as a means of exploring alternative solutions. Due to the high fidelity of the prototypes created, it was possible to evaluate and explore each research product in different conditions. Differently than in iterative processes, this level of fidelity enables other kinds of comparisons between prototypes which supports identifying the range of possibilities of a technique together with progressing toward a project goal. This kind of approach can be applied to other developments beyond wearables as well as to other

digital fabrication techniques. The family of embroidered elements and techniques developed in this work can be appropriated and extended by others in the field.

Strategies and conditions for combining fabrication processes into a single workflow. Building on the experience of combining embroidery and casting in the fabrication of the Embroidered Inflatables, chapter 5 contributes with two projects that combine digital fabrication techniques. These projects, FabriClick and *Exquisite Fabrication*, present different strategies that machines can be combined into a workflow. FabriClick supported precision in the fabrication of parts and their assembly through the creation of a jig system. Exquisite Fabrication, on the other hand, aimed at flexibility of the fabrication system through a combination of software to facilitate the alignment of the sample in each machine and through practices that create the conditions for *turn-taking* with machines and other designers. With these, we open the possibility of engaging our whole labs to reflect on the future of manufacturing. Digital fabrication machines already support manufacturing on demand, high-quality small-to-large scale production, and personalization. The examples presented in this body of work can support us, for example, in envisioning future systems of production that enable local fabrication by trading off the precision and optimization of dedicated production lines for flexibility and improvisation in (shared) fabrication facilities.

7.2 A traveler's guide

I expect that this body of work can be seen as a provocation to seek ways to open our processes to new interpretations and to each other, fostering permeability of ideas, cross-pollination, *turn-taking*, and collaboration with and through our material samples. To support this, I summarize the definitions of concepts I identified and developed through my engagement in *digital craftsmanship* as a form to consolidate *Becoming Travelers* as an approach to explorative making.

Digital Craftsmanship

Digital craftsmanship is a design research methodology concerned with generating knowledge through making with socio-technical systems of production that include digital fabrication tools. As making is the main strategy used for this kind of research, samples are important material outcomes of design processes in this practice. This making with process is itinerative (each sample is both the result of a previous development and preparation for the next) and informed by the real implications of the fabrication systems

and materials involved. As result, this knowledge, which is embodied by physical samples, is rich, multifaceted, and situated. Agency is decentered from the designers to be distributed across the socio-technical system of production. Digital craftsmanship is practiced through a workmanship of risk [59], meaning that the outcomes of the process of sample making cannot be predetermined and the quality of the outcomes of the whole process is continually at risk. In other words, emergence is inherently part of the practice. This is evidenced by the design process of the Embroidered Inflatables, in which new directions emerged from each series of samples. The work done in Exquisite Fabrication (chapter 5) shows a different exploration of risk in digital craftsmanship through a trade-off between accuracy and flexibility, but also in the relationship between makers and machines. Differently, the Portfolio of Loose Ends (chapter 6) demonstrates a more extreme form of digital craftsmanship by means of explorative making, in which we include the whole community of co-inhabitants of the lab as potential collaborators.

Samples

In digital craftsmanship, the term "samples" refers to the material outcomes of the process of making with socio-technical systems of production. Samples embody intra-actions between all entities that constitute digital craftsmanship - meaning the entanglement of machines, designers, materials, ideas, and environment. Samples are created through processes of itineration, in which each sample is both a development of the previous and its analysis is the preparation to the creation of the next. When the material properties and interactive possibilities of a sample created through digital machine embroidery are examined, for example, code, structure, thread, and tension cannot be considered separately from each other. As such, samples can be considered instantiations of the socio-technical system of production within which they are created. The complexity of these relationships enables us to look at them from different perspectives. Therefore, each sample offers potential insights related to application, interaction, programming, skill, technique, machines, material, collaborators and so on. Such potentials can be appreciated on the individual samples or through collection of samples, which might be curated based on a particular perspective or variable. This complexity also means that the qualities and properties of the outcomes of making processes, as well as the knowledge generated through them, are not predictable. Upon engaging with a sample, we may discover that more than the (interactive) qualities we planned on materializing are present. When judged based solely on our intentions, a sample may be a failure or a success within our journey towards a specific goal. Yet, that does not eliminate its other qualities, and consequently, the other opportunities they embody. Under this perspective, analyzing a sample is an exercise of seeing "what's at hand?" by unpacking the intra-actions that compose it, seeing each sample for what it is and does on its own right. This kind of analysis supports seeing samples both within and outside the context in which they were created. In turn, this distributes agency with samples and unlocks their potential of pointing to new directions of exploration. In essence, if we embrace emergence in the way we evaluate samples, they become both embodiments of past journeys (the process that originated them) and invitations for future ones.

Becoming travelers

This dissertation proposes that we see the making process as akin to traveling. The proposal of becoming travelers extends the digital craftsmanship methodology through an approach for explorative making that seeks to expand the material repertoire of design.

"When we travel, we tend to allow emerging opportunities to affect our plans. If we see or learn of a cool place to visit, we spontaneously change our plans or we make plans to (re)visit another time. We take photos, and we talk about these places to friends. Why not do the same with our samples?" (Section 6.1)

As an extension to digital craftsmanship, the traveler's approach is based on collaborations with our socio-technical systems of production. The core of the approach is understanding that samples are instantiations of this system and open for renegotiations of meaning. As such, they can answer other questions than the ones we asked when creating them. Making as travelers requires nurturing practices that enable the appreciation of what was made, recognizing the potentials of each sample, both within and outside design journeys. This means a departure from a solutionist approach towards one that is driven by emergence, actively welcoming detours from the main inquiry of a given project and making time to pursue them.

Traveler's mindset

To enter the traveler's mindset, it is important to: create time to make, collaborate with, be systematic (section 3.3). The first two are inherited from the practice of digital craftsmanship. Creating time to make is allowing ourselves to get lost in the process of making itineratively. Collaborating with is recognizing that making is relational and situated.

The understanding of what being systematic means is particular to supporting the practice of making as a traveler. For the traveler, 'being systematic' is achieved through an attitude of care towards the things we make, which means staying responsible for their future becomings [50]. Documentingwhile-making is a strategy to nurture such care, making time to appreciate and reflect on each sample or experiment for what they are, how they contribute to the current project and how they can lead to other journeys. By documenting-while-making, a practice that has been well-known to maker communities to generate instructions for open-source platforms and is an integral part of the education and research model proposed by Fablabs [56], it is possible to capture a good deal of the richness of the process, including technical details that contributed to specific outcomes, and support a reflective practice. In turn, this can support making loose ends explicit and actionable. This dissertation introduced one format for this documentation as an invitation for further investigation of this area. The sections proposed in the format mean to describe types of data that could be captured and to emphasize the need to make the knowledge integrated into digital assets and their connection with the physical outcomes explicit. The ways of capturing such type of data remain open to be investigated. Different techniques and the level of access to machines might affect the time designers have to reflect on the work at hand and so require different strategies for documenting. As discussed in chapter 4, digital tools and photos can be used to capture a lot of data that would otherwise be difficult to recall afterwards or time consuming to write/type down, such as machine setup or settings. Along with finding ways to effectively capture more data with less effort and time. new ways of documentation should find means to retrieve this data in the future and to acknowledge factors that contribute or limit findings, such as the expertise of the maker, type of technique, field of application. These can support investigating why specific phenomena is happening but also open opportunities for future inquiries. Therefore, documentation in this field should be lively and open for revisit as much as the samples themselves. The way we archive - or, instead of archive, live with - our samples can complement this practice. The choice for surrounding ourselves with certain material samples facilitates transforming them into collaborators in future journeys. Treating and presenting a collection of samples all at the same level allows identifying qualities and opportunities beyond 1) what we aimed to explore when conceiving them and 2) beyond the judgement we made of them during a given design process.

Conditions for emergence (to support collaborating with)

In engaging in making through the traveler's mindset, different notions or strategies that support the practice of making as travelers were identified:

Looking backwards and forwards – Acknowledging the work - first identified in chapter 2, this idea inspired the notion of *revisiting* samples which was further explored in chapters 3 and 4. This notion considers that "the finding of new things also means looking at old things with new perspectives" (section 3.3 [32]). This is made possible through an exercise of appreciating samples for their qualities and interactive possibilities. This reflective practice of seeing what is at hand, which is assisted through documentation, supports identifying *loose ends* in sample making processes as well as activating them in other journeys. Loose ends are samples that might not have contributed for the main line of inquiry in which it was created but that embody possibilities for new starting new

journeys. In an ongoing process of making as traveling, loose ends can also be created as deliberate detours within a given process, taking advantage or creating the of circumstances to pursue different outcomes and parallel lines of inquiry at the same time.

Looking sideways - Acknowledging co-inhabitants of a timeline introduced in chapter 5, to "look to the sides" means acknowledging the value of co-inhabitance of a timeline in a shared working space, widening our view of who and what is part of our sociotechnical system of production. Our samples are not observationindependent objects, and they are not created within independent, isolated spaces. Directly or indirectly, the ideas, samples, people, and machines that co-inhabit the lab in a timeline rub off on each other. Looking sideways is an exercise of identifying possible **fellow** travelers and seeking for opportunities for collaboration with the socio-technical system of production. Collaboration between *fellow* travelers can take many forms include making together, sharing resources, and *turn-taking*. *Turn-taking* was explored in this work as a particular form of collaboration in explorative making and as the mechanism that supports the process of *itineration* in sample making. This notion first appeared in this work through the string figuring metaphor [37] to support my understanding of sample making through a relational view (chapters 1 and 2). The game of string figuring is played by two pairs of hands taking turns in reconfiguring an entangled string. In chapter 5, this notion was reintroduced as a specific form of collaboration that enables shared risk, agency, and ownership between collaborators. Through the notion of turn-taking, drift and opportunity are emphasized in the design process by allowing the capabilities and skills of others (nonhuman and human, respectively) to contribute and redirect the process of making.

Throughout this dissertation, I have explored making through the lens of itineration and traveling. This journey has taken me to a different understanding of collaborative practices, exploration and sample making in the context of digital craftsmanship. I hope that through this body of work, I have gotten closer to understanding how to pay attention to the physical things made in design research. I see this work as directly linked to the broader fields of fabrication and design research as a way of rethinking the way we approach design practice and knowledge dissemination in HCI. My hope is that becoming travelers can support design communities to devise systems and to inspire other approaches that open our making processes and material samples to new interpretations and to each other, breaking boundaries between fields.

References

- [1] Lea Albaugh, James McCann, Scott E. Hudson, and Lining Yao. 2021. Engineering Multifunctional Spacer Fabrics Through Machine Knitting. In Proceedings of the 2021 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, 1–12. https://doi. org/10.1145/3411764.3445564
- [2] Kristina Andersen, Ron Wakkary, Laura Devendorf, and Alex McLean. 2019. Digital Craftsmachine-ship: Creative Collaborations with Machines. interactions 27, December 2019: 30–35. https://doi.org/10.1145/3373644
- [3] Karen Barad. 2007. Meeting the Universe Halfway: Quantum Physics and the Entanglement of Matter and Meaning. Duke University Press. Retrieved from https://books. google.nl/books?id=4qYorOpfB6EC
- [4] Karen Barad. 2014. Diffracting Diffraction: Cutting Together-Apart. https://doi.org/10.108
 0/13534645.2014.927623 20, 3: 168–187. https://doi.org/10.1080/13534645.2014.927623
- [5] Patrick Baudisch and Stefanie Mueller. 2016. Personal fabrication: State of the art & future research. In Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems Proceedings, 936–939. https://doi.org/10.1145/2851581.2856664
- [6] Patrick Baudisch and Stefanie Mueller. 2017. Personal fabrication. Foundations and Trends in Human-Computer Interaction 10, 3–4: 165–293. https://doi. org/10.1561/1100000055
- [7] Martijn ten Bhömer. 2016. Designing Embodied Smart Textile Services. Eindhoven University of Technology.
- [8] Eli Blevis, Sabrina Hauser, and Will Odom. 2015. Sharing the hidden treasure in pictorials. Interactions 22, 3: 32–34. https://doi.org/10.1145/2755534
- [9] Mark Blythe. Research Fiction: Storytelling, Plot and Design. Proceedings of the 2017 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. https://doi.org/10.1145/3025453
- [10] John Bowers and John. 2012. The logic of annotated portfolios. In Proceedings of the Designing Interactive Systems Conference on - DIS '12, 68. https://doi. org/10.1145/2317956.2317968
- [11] Rafael Cardoso. 2008. Uma introdução à história do design. Blucher, São Paulo.
- [12] Audrey Desjardins, Oscar Tomico, Andrés Lucero, Marta E. Cecchinato, and Carman Neustaedter. 2021. Introduction to the Special Issue on First-Person Methods in HCI. ACM Transactions on Computer-Human Interaction. https://doi.org/10.1145/3492342
- [13] Laura Devendorf, Kristina Andersen, and Aisling Kelliher. 2020. The fundamental uncertainties of mothering: Finding ways to honor endurance, struggle, and contradiction. ACM Transactions on Computer-Human Interaction 27, 4. https://doi. org/10.1145/3397177
- [14] Laura Devendorf, Kristina Andersen, and Virginia Tech. 2020. Making Design Memoirs : Understanding and Honoring Difficult Experiences. 1–12.
- [15] Laura Devendorf and Daniela K Rosner. Beyond Hybrids: Metaphors and Margins in Design. Proceedings of the 2017 Conference on Designing Interactive Systems. https://doi.

org/10.1145/3064663

- [16] Laura Devendorf and Kimiko Ryokai. 2015. Being the machine: Reconfiguring agency and control in hybrid fabrication. In Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems -Proceedings, 2477–2486. https://doi.org/10.1145/2702123.2702547
- [17] Pauline Van Dongen. 2019. A designer's material-aesthetics reflections on fashion and technology. Eindhoven University of Technology.
- [18] Abigail C. Durrant, John Vines, Jayne Wallace, and Joyce S.R. Yee. 2017. Research Through Design: Twenty-First Century Makers and Materialities. Design Issues 33, 3: 3–10. https:// doi.org/10.1162/DESI_A_00447
- [19] Tamara Anna Efrat, Moran Mizrahi, and Amit Zoran. 2016. The hybrid bricolage -Bridging parametric design with craft through algorithmic modularity. In Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - Proceedings, 5984–5995. https://doi. org/10.1145/2858036.2858441
- [20] Carolyn Ellis, Tony E. Adams, Arthur P. Bochner, and Arthur P. Bochner. 2010. Autoethnography: An Overview. Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research 12, 1. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-12.1.1589
- [21] Jodi Forlizzi, Erik Stolterman, and John Zimmerman. 2009. From Design Research to Theory - Evidence of a Maturing Field. Proceedings of the 3rd Conference of the International Association of Societies of Design Research (IASDR'09): Rigor and Relevance in Design, October 2015: 2889–2898.
- [22] Frikk Fossdal, Rogardt Heldal, and Nadya Peek. 2021. Interactive Digital Fabrication Machine Control Directly within a CAD Environment. In Proceedings - SCF 2021: ACM Symposium on Computational Fabrication. https://doi.org/10.1145/3485114.3485120
- [23] Christopher Frayling. 1993. Research in Art and Design. Retrieved March 19, 2019 from http://researchonline.rca.ac.uk/384/3/frayling_research_in_art_and_design_1993.pdf
- [24] Christopher Frayling. 2017. On Craftsmanship: Towards a New Bauhaus. Bloomsbury Academic.
- [25] Mikhaila Friske, Shanel Wu, and Laura Devendorf. 2019. AdaCaD: Crafting software for smart textiles design. Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - Proceedings. https://doi.org/10.1145/3290605.3300575
- [26] Madeline Gannon, Tovi Grossman, and George Fitzmaurice. 2016. ExoSkin: On-Body Fabrication. In Proceedings of the 2016 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, 5996–6007. https://doi.org/10.1145/2858036.2858576
- [27] William Gaver and John Bowers. 2012. Annotated portfolios. interactions 19, 4: 40. https://doi.org/10.1145/2212877.2212889
- [28] William Gaver. 2012. What Should We Expect From Research Through Design? Association for Computing Machinery, New York, New York, USA. https://doi. org/10.1145/2207676.2208538
- [29] William Gaver, Peter Gall Krogh, Andy Boucher, and David Chatting. 2022. Emergence as a Feature of Practice-based Design Research. Designing Interactive Systems Conference: 517–526. https://doi.org/10.1145/3532106.3533524

- [30] William Gaver. 2011. Making spaces: How Design Workbooks Work. In Proceedings of the 2011 annual conference on Human factors in computing systems - CHI '11, 1551. https:// doi.org/10.1145/1978942.1979169
- [31] Connie Golsteijn, Elise Van Den Hoven, David Frohlich, and Abigail Sellen. 2014. Hybrid crafting: Towards an integrated practice of crafting with physical and digital components. Personal and Ubiquitous Computing 18, 3: 593–611. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00779-013-0684-9
- [32] Bruna Goveia da Rocha. 2023. Fabrication files and documentation about the Embroidered Inflatables Sample Series. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.4121/22104908.v1
- [33] Bruna Goveia da Rocha and Oscar Tomico. 2019. Flow: Towards Communicating Directional Cues through Inflatables. In Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems - CHI '19. https://doi. org/10.1145/3290607.3312828
- [34] Jianzhe Gu, David E. Breen, Jenny Hu, Lifeng Zhu, Ye Tao, Tyson Van de Zande, Guanyun Wang, Yongjie Jessica Zhang, and Lining Yao. 2019. Geodesy: Self-rising 2.5D Tiles by Printing along 2D Geodesic. In Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems CHI '19, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1145/3290605.3300267
- [35] Nur Al-huda Hamdan, Simon Voelker, and Jan Borchers. 2018. Sketch&Stitch: Interactive Embroidery for E-Textiles. In Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - CHI '18, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1145/3173574.3173656
- [36] Donna Haraway. 1988. Situated Knowledges: The Science Question in Feminism and the Privilege of Partial Perspective. Feminist Studies 14, 3: 575. https://doi. org/10.2307/3178066
- [37] Donna Haraway. 2016. Staying with the Trouble: Making Kin in the Chthulucene. Duke University Press.
- [38] Shiqing He and Eytan Adar. 2020. Plotting with Thread: Fabricating Delicate Punch Needle Embroidery with X-Y Plotters proach enables the production of a wide range of artifacts and textures. In Proceedings of the 2020 ACM on Designing Interactive Systems Conference. Retrieved July 8, 2020 from http://dx.doi.org/10.1145/3357236.3395540
- [39] Anja Hertenberger, Barbro Scholz, Beam Contrechoc, Becky Stewart, Ebru Kurbak, Hannah Perner-Wilson, Irene Posch, Isabel Cabral, Jie Qi, Katharina Childs, Kristi Kuusk, Lynsey Calder, Marina Toeters, Marta Kisand, Martijn Ten Bhömer, Maurin Donneaud, Meg Grant, Melissa Coleman, Mika Satomi, Mili Tharakan, Pauline Vierne, Sara Robertson, Sarah Taylor, and Troy Robert Nachtigall. 2014. 2013 E-Textile swatchbook exchange: The importance of sharing physical work. In Proceedings - International Symposium on Wearable Computers, ISWC, 77–81. https://doi.org/10.1145/2641248.2641276
- [40] Scott E. Hudson. 2014. Printing teddy bears: A technique for 3D printing of soft interactive objects. Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - Proceedings: 459– 468. https://doi.org/10.1145/2556288.2557338
- [41] Tim Ingold. 2010. The textility of making. Cambridge Journal of Economics 34: 91–102. https://doi.org/10.1093/cje/bep042
- [42] Tim Ingold. 2012. Thinking through Making [Conference presentation]. Tales from the

North 2012 Conference, Inari, Finland. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Ygne72-4zyo

- [43] Alexandra Ion, Robert Kovacs, Oliver S. Schneider, Pedro Lopes, and Patrick Baudisch.
 2018. Metamaterial Textures. In Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems CHI '18, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1145/3173574.3173910
- [44] Jennifer Jacobs, Joel Brandt, David Mellis, Joshua Tanenbaum, Amit Zoran, and Cesar Torres. Digital Craftsmanship: HCI Takes on Technology as an Expressive Medium. https:// doi.org/10.1145/2908805.2913018
- [45] Tom Jenkins, William Odom, James Pierce, Kristina Andersen, Andy Boucher, David Chatting, and William Gaver. 2020. RtD in Situ: Discussing the Domains and Impact of Design Research. New York, NY, USA. Retrieved October 11, 2022 from https://doi. org/10.1145/3393914.3395913
- [46] Tobias Klein. 2018. Augmented Fauna and Glass Mutations: A Dialogue Between Material and Technique in Glassblowing and 3D Printing. Leonardo 51, 4: 336–342. https://doi. org/10.1162/LEON_a_01640
- [47] Peter Gall Krogh and Ilpo Koskinen. 2020. Drifting by Intention: Four Epistemic Traditions from within Constructive Design Research. Springer International Publishing, Cham, CH. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-37896-7_1
- [48] Peter Krogh, Thomas Markussen, and Anna Louise Bang. 2015. Ways of Drifting 5 Methods of Experimentation in Research through Design. In ICoRD'15 International Conference on Research into Design, 641–651. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-81-322-2232-3
- [49] Kristi Kuusk. 2016. Crafting sustainable smart textile services. Eindhoven University of Technology, Eindhoven. Retrieved March 28, 2019 from http://www.kristikuusk.com/ wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Kristi-Kuusk-PhD-thesis.pdf
- [50] María Puig de la Bellacasa. 2017. Matters of Care. University of Minnesota Press, Minnesota, USA.
- [51] Joanne Leong, Jose Martinez, Florian Perteneder, Ken Nakagaki, and Hiroshi Ishii. 2020. WraPr: Spool-based fabrication for object creation and modification. In TEI 2020 - Proceedings of the 14th International Conference on Tangible, Embedded, and Embodied Interaction, 581–588. https://doi.org/10.1145/3374920.3374990
- [52] Bernd Löbach. 2001. Design industrial: Bases para a configuração dos produtos industriais. Editora Blücher, São Paulo.
- [53] Jonas Löwgren and Erik Stolterman. 2004. Thoughtful Interaction Design: A Design Perspective on Information Technology. The MIT Press.
- [54] Angella Mackey. 2021. Rethinking Dynamic Fabric through Wearing and Designing. Eindhoven University of Technology. Retrieved from https://pure.tue.nl/ws/portalfiles/ portal/188891438/20211027_Mackey_hf_v2.pdf
- [55] Viktorija Mecnika, Melanie Hoerr, Ivars Krievins, Stefan Jockenhoevel, and Thomas Gries. 2014. Technical Embroidery for Smart Textiles: Review. Materials Science. Textile and Clothing Technology 9: 56–63. https://doi.org/10.7250/mstct.2014.009
- [56] Iván Sánchez Milara, Georgi V. Georgiev, Jani Ylioja, Onnur Özüduru, and Jukka Riekki. 2019. "Document-while-doing": a documentation tool for Fab Lab environments. Design

Journal 22, sup1: 2019-2030. https://doi.org/10.1080/14606925.2019.1594926

- [57] Stefanie Mueller, Bastian Kruck, and Patrick Baudisch. 2013. LaserOrigami: Laser-cutting 3D objects. Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - Proceedings: 2585– 2592. https://doi.org/10.1145/2470654.2481358
- [58] Stefanie Mueller, Pedro Lopes, and Patrick Baudisch. 2012. Interactive construction: Interactive Fabrication of Functional Mechanical Devices. In Proceedings of the 25th annual ACM symposium on User interface software and technology (UIST'12), 599. https://doi. org/10.1145/2380116.2380191
- [59] Bruno Munari. 1981. Das Coisas Nascem Coisas. Edições 70, Lisboa.
- [60] Troy Robert Nachtigall. 2019. Materializing Data: Craftsmanship and Technology for Ultra-personalization. Technische Universiteit Eindhoven. https://doi.org/10.29147/2526-1789.dat.2016v1i2p2-14
- [61] Troy Robert Nachtigall, Oscar Tomico, Ron Wakkary, Stephan Wensveen, Pauline Van Dongen, Leonie Tenthof Van Noorden, and Leonie Suzanne. Towards Ultra Personalized 4D Printed Shoes. https://doi.org/10.1145/3170427.3174369
- [62] Troy Nachtigall, Oscar Tomico, Ron Wakkary, and Pauline Van Dongen. 2019. Encoding materials and data for iterative personalization. In Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - Proceedings, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1145/3290605.3300749
- [63] Nithikul Nimkulrat, Aaron Oussoren, Hélène Day Fraser, and Keith Doyle. 2019. Collaborative Craft through Digital Fabrication and Virtual Reality. Proceedings of the 4th Biennial Research Through Design Conference, March: 19–22.
- [64] Nithikul Nimkulrat. 2010. Material inspiration: From practice-led research to craft art education. Craft Research 1, 1: 63–84. https://doi.org/10.1386/crre.1.63_1
- [65] Michael Nitsche and Anna Weisling. 2019. When is it not craft? Materiality and mediation when craft and computing meet. In TEI 2019 - Proceedings of the 13th International Conference on Tangible, Embedded, and Embodied Interaction, 683–689. https://doi. org/10.1145/3294109.3295651
- [66] William Odom, Tom Jenkins, Kristina Andersen, Bill Gaver, James Pierce, Anna Vallgårda, Andy Boucher, David Chatting, Janne Van Kollenburg, and Kevin Lefeuvre. 2017. Crafting a place for attending to the things of design at CHI. Interactions 25, 1: 52–57. https://doi. org/10.1145/3161605
- [67] William Odom, Ron Wakkary, Youn-kyung Lim, Audrey Desjardins, Bart Hengeveld, and Richard Banks. 2016. From Research Prototype to Research Product. In Proceedings of the 2016 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - CHI '16, 2549–2561. https://doi.org/10.1145/2858036.2858447
- [68] Daniëlle Ooms, Nick Voskuil, Kristina Andersen, Hanna Ottilia Wallner, Nick Voskuil, and Hanna Ottilia Wallner. 2020. Ruta, a loom for making sense of industrial weaving. In DIS 2020 Companion - Companion Publication of the 2020 ACM Designing Interactive Systems Conference, 337–340. https://doi.org/10.1145/3393914.3395815
- [69] Jifei Ou, Mélina Skouras, Nikolaos Vlavianos, Felix Heibeck, Chin-Yi Cheng, Jannik Peters, and Hiroshi Ishii. aeroMorph - Heat-sealing Inflatable Shape-change Materials for Interaction Design. https://doi.org/10.1145/2984511.2984520

- [70] Neri Oxman. 2007. Digital Craft: Fabrication-Based Design in the Age of Digital Production. In Workshop Proceedings for Ubicomp 2007: International Conference on Ubiquitous Computing, 534–538.
- [71] Hannah Perner-Wilson. 2020. E-Textile Swatch Exchange. Retrieved November 10, 2022 from http://etextile-summercamp.org/swatch-exchange/category/2020/
- [72] Hannah Perner-Wilson and Irene Posch. 2020. Student Design Challenge TEI 2021. Retrieved November 10, 2022 from https://tei.acm.org/2021/participate/student-design-challenge/
- [73] Hannah Perner-Wilson and Irene Posch. 2022. How Tangible is TEI? Exploring Swatches as a New Academic Publication Format. In Sixteenth International Conference on Tangible, Embedded, and Embodied Interaction, 1–4. https://doi. org/10.1145/3490149.3503668
- [74] Irene Posch. E-textile tooling: new tools-new culture? https://doi.org/10.1186/s13731-017-0067-y
- [75] David Pye. 1968. The Nature and Art of Workmanship. A&C Black Publishers.
- [76] Søren Rasmussen, Jonas Fritsch, and Nicolai Brodersen Hansen. 2019. A design archival approach to knowledge production in design research and practice. In OZCHI'19: Proceedings of the 31st Australian Conference on Human-Computer-Interaction, 233–243. https://doi.org/10.1145/3369457.3369476
- [77] Horst W.J. Rittel and Melvin M. Webber. 1973. Dilemmas in a general theory of planning. Policy Sciences 1973 4:2 4, 2: 155–169. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01405730
- [78] Niek Rutten, Jef Rouschop, Louise Mathiasen, Oscar Tomico Plasencia, Bruna Goveia Da Rocha, and Kristina Andersen. 2022. Flipping Pages: Exploring Physical Workbooks as Reflective Method for Documentation. 22: 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1145/3546155.3547296
- [79] Richard Sennett. 2009. The Craftsman. Penguin Books Ltd.
- [80] Nick Taylor, Jon Rogers, Loraine Clarke, Martin Skelly, Jayne Wallace, Pete Thomas, Babitha George, Romit Raj, Mike Shorter, and Michelle Thorne. Prototyping Things: Reflecting on Unreported Objects of Design Research for IoT; Prototyping Things: Reflecting on Unreported Objects of Design Research for IoT. In Designing Interactive Systems Conference 2021. https://doi.org/10.1145/3461778
- [81] Oscar Tomico, Lars Hallnäs, Rung Huei Liang, and Stephan A.G. Wensveen. 2017. Towards a next wave of wearable and fashionable interactions. International Journal of Design 11, 3: 1–6.
- [82] Oscar Tomico and Stephan Wensveen. 2014. Crafting a Culture of Prototyping. Crisp Magazine #3 "Fake it / Make it," 36–39. Retrieved July 21, 2020 from https://issuu.com/ crispnl/docs/crisp_3-_fake_it_make_it_-_issuu/40
- [83] Oscar Tomico, Stephan Wensveen, Kristi Kuusk, Martijn ten Bhömer, René Ahn, Marina Toeters, and Maarten Versteeg. 2014. Day in the lab: Wearable Senses, Department of Industrial Design, TU Eindhoven. Interactions, volume 21, number 4, 16–19. https://doi. org/10.1145/2628193
- [84] Oscar Tomico, Vera Winthagen, and Marcel van Heist. 2012. Designing for, with or within:

1st, 2nd and 3rd person points of view on designing for systems. In Proceedings of the 7th Nordic Conference on Human-Computer Interaction Making Sense Through Design - NordiCHI '12, 180. https://doi.org/10.1145/2399016.2399045

- [85] Natalia Triantafylli and Spiros Bofylatos. 2019. "Poke it with a stick", using autoethnography in research through design. Conference Proceedings of International Conference 2019 of the DRS Special Interest Group on Experiential Knowledge: 87–102. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/334762162_Poke_it_with_a_stick_using_ autoethnography_in_research_through_design
- [86] Ron Wakkary. 2021. Things We Could Design: For More Than Human-Centered Worlds. MIT Press, Cambridge.
- [87] Jayne Wallace, Jon Rogers, Joanna Foster, Sean Kingsley, Nantia Koulidou, Erika Shorter, Mike Shorter, and Natasha Trotman. 2017. Scribing as Seen from the Inside: The Ethos of the Studio. Design Issues 33, 3: 93–103. https://doi.org/10.1162/DESI_a_00454
- [88] Jayne Wallace, Joyce S.R. Yee, and Abigail Durrant. 2014. Reflections on a synergistic format for disseminating research through design. Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - Proceedings: 781–790. https://doi.org/10.1145/2559206.2578865
- [89] Karl D.D. Willis, Cheng Xu, Kuan Ju Wu, Golan Levin, and Mark D. Gross. 2011. Interactive fabrication: New interfaces for digital fabrication. In Proceedings of the 5th International Conference on Tangible Embedded and Embodied Interaction, TEI'11, 69–72. https://doi. org/10.1145/1935701.1935716
- [90] Clement Zheng, Hyunjoo Oh, Laura Devendorf, and Ellen Yi Luen Do. 2019. Sensing kirigami. In DIS 2019 - Proceedings of the 2019 ACM Designing Interactive Systems Conference, 921–934. https://doi.org/10.1145/3322276.3323689
- [91] Amit Zoran. 2013. Hybrid Basketry: Interweaving digital practice within contemporary craft. In ACM SIGGRAPH 2013 Art Gallery, SIGGRAPH 2013, 324–331. https://doi. org/10.1145/2503649.2503651
- [92] Amit Zoran, Seppo O Valjakka, Brian Chan, Atar Brosh, Rab Gordon, Yael Friedman, Justin Marshall, Katie Bunnell, Tavs Jorgensen, Factum Arte, Shane Hope, Peter Schmitt, Leah Buechley, Jie Qi, and Jennifer Jacobs. 2015. Hybrid Craft: Showcase of Physical and Digital Integration of Design and Craft Skills. Leonardo 48, 4: 384–399. https://doi.org/10.1162/ LEON_a_01093
- [93] RTD2019 | Documentation. 2019. Retrieved from http://researchthroughdesign. org/2019/documentation.html

Acknowledgements

Many travelers shared parts of this journey with me, so I would like to thank:

To all **committee members**, I am honored you took the time to evaluate my work. Thank you for your encouraging words and the input needed to give this dissertation its last push. Similarly, I need to thank every reviewer who came across my work during this journey: I might not have always loved you – especially in my first attempts to publish –, but I learned so much from you.

Panos, you have a unique way of supporting people to grow into their own. I cannot thank you enough for trusting and encouraging me to experience and investigate what it means to explore.

Daniel, juggling two projects at the same time could have been close to impossible, but you made it a lot easier. Thank you for always bringing a different perspective to our discussions.

Oscar, it has been a long journey and it would not have been the same without your mentoring. You have undoubtedly been the person who most encouraged me to not conform to whatever I thought was expected of me professionally, and to craft my own way of being a design researcher. Thank you both for pushing me and for understanding when not to push.

Kristina, you have been an awesome mentor and even better friend. Thank you so much for the collaboration, for the support, for the inside jokes, for all the times we ambushed coworkers into talking about drag, and for showing me the ropes of writing.

Loe, our exchanges over the years were crucial to my understanding of digital craftsmanship and the development of my practice. Be it coding or stitching, your work is amazing and an inspiration to us all.

Ron, thank you for your generosity. You have a special way to invite people to think of new places, talking to you has always made me feel inspired.

The **community of Wearable Senses lab** is lively and lovely. Thank you to everyone who sat next to me at some point at the cutting table. I am particularly thankful to **Kristi, Martijn, Pauline, Angella and Troy**. I had the chance of having closer collaborations or exchanges with some of you than others, yet all of you had formative roles in my journey. Thank you for directly paving the way for my research.

Troy, I owe you an extra thank you for your friendship as well as for the trust in creating space for me at HvA while I was finishing up this dissertation.

To the members of the Everyday Matters Reading Group, thank you for "committing to commit". Our discussions about ways of knowing and how to reconcile our design practice with our academic outcomes are splattered all over this work.

Marina, thank you for the immense support you have given me since my master and for all the opportunities you gave me of disseminating my work.

Elvita, Renee, Svetlana and Pei, it was great to be part of a group of women interested in changing the game through completely different kinds of research. I look forward to seeing your work evolve.

I had a great time working with **ID students**. Thank you to all students I coached throughout the years. Janne Spork, Jori van der Kolk, Maas Goudswaard, Abel Abraham, Marit Her, Iris Bekkers, Max Palmans, Elisa van der Maas, Femke Fine and Lio Huntjes: thank you for being my fellow travelers at one point or another during this research. I really appreciated collaborating with you.

Nita, Chet, Rosaline, Melanie and all ID staff, thank you for creating such a supportive community at ID!

Chris, I appreciate you much more than it would be appropriate to express in the acknowledgements of a doctoral thesis. I lost count of how many times and ways you cheered me up or made me laugh mid cry. I could not have done this without you and **Mocca**.

Mom, Dad, I am so proud of my roots, and I am humbled by all the years of dedication and sacrifices you made so that I could get to this moment. *Tenho muito orgulho da minha origem e me sinto honrada por todos os anos de dedicação e sacrifícios que vocês fizeram para que eu pudesse chegar aqui. Amo muito vocês.*

Joice, I cannot put it into words how much your belief in me has encouraged me up to go through with this process. My gratitude for you can only be said through the silence and deep connection that only our hug can bring.

Nikki, you helped me starting and finishing this journey. Thank you for the support – and the grammar checks!

Maria Clara, as always, you came along for the ride and made the journey much better. I am lucky to have you as a friend.

Halfway through this work I fell into the darkest mental state I have ever experienced. It took a lot of time, effort and (self) love to find my way back from that and many people (many already listed above) supported me in achieving this. A special thank you to my psychotherapists, my family, colleagues, and students who, knowingly or unknowingly, helped me.

Lastly, I would like to dedicate this work to **my grandmothers**. Knowing you were proud of me and how far I have come with needles at hand has a significance I find hard to describe. Every stitch makes me feel more connected to you. Thank you for the gifts.

Curriculum Vitae

Bruna Goveia da Rocha was born in Curitiba, Brasil, on the 10th October 1990. She studied product design at Universidade Positivo. In 2015, she received her master's degree from the department of Industrial Design from the Eindhoven University of Technology with the project "Flow: In the path towards embodied guidance". After her studies, she worked as a design researcher within the Wearable Health team of the department of Instrument Development Engineering & Evaluation (IDEE) of the Maastricht University, creating soft wearables for healthcare in interdisciplinary teams.

Bruna started her PhD research at the Eindhoven University of Technology as part of the i2-CoRT project, carried out within the context of Interreg V-A Euregio Meuse- Rhine from the European Regional Development Fund, in 2018 with results presented in this dissertation. During her doctoral research, she supported education in the Industrial Design Wearable Senses Lab, Health squad and Crafting Everyday Soft Things squad as a lecturer and coach. Her research through design practice has been dedicated to reflecting on sample making practices and its outcomes through a more-than-human perspective. In her work, she collaborates closely with other designers, materials and production systems to explore emerging technologies and cross pollination between techniques. Dissemination of this work has included exhibiting projects at Dutch Design Week exhibitions and the Kantfabriekmuseum, as well as through publications in international conferences and journals, including design exhibitions and publications at the International Symposium of Wearable Computing, the Intersections Conference, the Journal of Textile Design Research and Practice, Temes De Disseny Journal, ACM CHI Conference in Human Factors, the ACM DIS Designing Interactive Systems (Netherlands), and the ACM TEI Tangible Embedded and Embodied Interaction. She is currently doing postdoctoral research at the Amsterdam University of Applied Sciences within the context of the Erasmus+ TRANSITIONS project which aims to support the skilling and upskilling of professionals towards the circular and digital transition in fashion and textile fields.